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THE WAR WITH MEXICO.

CHAPTER I.

General Scott's Memoranda on Vera Cruz and its Castle Concentration of

Forces under the Island of Lobos Organization of his Army Arrival at

Anton Lizardo Landing opposite Sacrificios Investment of Vera Cruz

Siege and Bombardment Capitulation of Vera Cruz and San Juan d'Ulloa

Affair of Puente del Medio Affair at Medellin Observations.

MAJOR-GENERAL SCOTT submitted his first written

memoranda on " Vera Cruz and its Castle" to the

Secretary of War at Washington on the 27th of

October.^ He had had a previous conversation

with the Secretaries of War and Navy on the same

subject, and, by a comparison of the dates with

those of the letters to General Taylor, in which

the subject is treated of, it appears that the con

sideration of the attack on Vera Cruz, with a view

to positive action, was entertained about the latter

part of the month of October. On the 12th of No
vember the general-in-chief added a supplement to

his memoranda, which, with some few important

exceptions, contained expressions ofthe same views

as the first of the papers.f

In both, Vera Cruz was spoken of as the first

great object to be attacked, but with a view to a

* "Vera Cruz and its Castle." Executive Document, No. 59, House of

Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 54.

t
"
Supplement." Idem, p. 56.
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movement thence on the capital of Mexico. Un
less with that in view, in the opinion of the gen-

eral-in-chief it was not worth one tenth of the lives,

time, and money which its capture and that of the

Castle of San Juan d'Ulloa would cost. The estima

ted necessary force for the immediate ohject was an

army of at least 10,000 men, consisting of cavalry

(say) 2000, artillery (say) GOO, and the remainder

infantry. This estimate was not diminished in the

supplement, although General Scott averred that

personally he would be willing to undertake the

capture of Vera Cruz, and, through it, the Castle of

San Juan d'Ulloa, with a less number and the as

sistance of the blockading squadron.^

The estimate of force was not based upon the

capacity of either city or castle for resistance
; for,

although the locality and strength of both were

known to a degree, no definite plan of attack on

either was proposed ;
and the discrepancies in the

views presented on the 27th of October and on the

12th of November, in reference to this matter, are

remarkable enough to induce the belief that no

very serious consideration was given to the subject

by General Scott. In the first it was said,
" The

castle, after the loss of the city, might still hold out

for many weeks, perhaps months, until compelled
to surrender from want of subsistence," &c.f In

the supplement, with no statement of additional

* "
Supplement." Executive Document, No. 59, House of Representative?,

first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 57.

t
" Vera Cruz and its Castle." Idem, p. 55.
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information, it was given, as the opinion of the

general-in-chief,
" that the fall of the castle ivould

necessarily soon follow that of the city"*

Although it can hardly be believed that the esti

mate of numerical strength necessary for the in

vestment and capture of the town and castle was

too large under any anticipated state of things, yet
the data which were enumerated as the basis of

the estimate were in some degree erroneous. They
were, however, speculative rather than real, for it

can hardly be deemed that General Scott knew

any thing of the condition of things in Mexico on

the 12th of November. The principal of these

was, that Mexico could assemble at Vera Cruz, or

in the vicinity, an army of " some twenty or thirty

thousand men to garrison and cover (in the
field)''

the city ;f and this at the time when her main

army was at San Luis, when the Mexican govern
ment was bankrupt, and, without success, was

straining every nerve to supply Santa Anna's army,
and when the whole tierra caliente of Mexico, in

the vicinity of Vera Cruz, could not support an

army of half the greater number estimated.

About the date of the supplemental memoranda

the idea of assigning General Scott to the com

mand of the expedition was entertained, and per

haps as remarkable a portion of the document as

any is that in which he assumes to be careful of

the credit of the administration, to which he was

* "
Supplement." Executive Document, No. 59. House of Representa

tives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 57. t Idem ibidem.
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known to be hostile. After enumerating many
considerations, he said, "All these calculations

(many of them probabilities) ought to be carefully

considered before fitting out an expedition, the

failure of which, from inadequate means, would be

fatal to the credit of the administration and the

character ofour country."^ This expressed anxiety,

taken in connection with the suggestion that he,

"the highest in army rank," was "the proper officer

to carry out on the spot the instructions of the gov
ernment in respect to that division" (of troops be

tween the lines of operation),
" and to direct the

principal attacking columnon and fromVera Cruz," f

and with the discrepancies existing in his memo

randa, would induce the belief that the chief object

of the papers was to obtain the assignment to such

command of " the highest in army rank."

With regard to the division of the forces, he es

timated, on the 12th of November, that he could

draw the entire requisite number of troops for the

expedition against Vera Cruz from General Tay
lor's command, leaving to that officer 11,000 men,
of which 2500 should be regular troops. With
that force he supposed that General Taylor could
"
threaten, and probably take, Saltillo, if not San

Luis de Potosi, &c., &c., combined with the move
ment on the new line of operations from Vera

Cruz ;" for he did not, at the time, advise that op
erations on the northern line should be confined to

*
"Supplement." Executive Document, No. 59, House of Representa

tives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 57. t Idem. Idem, p. 59.
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defense, although it was apprehended, with refer

ence to that line, that the people of Mexico pre

sented this dilemma :
"
If you come with few, we

will overwhelm you ; if you come with many, you
will overwhelm yourselves"*
On the 16th he addressed additional memoran

da to the Secretary of War, in which the numbers

for the different lines were stated to be estimated

at 13,250 men for the northern line, and 14,000 for

the expedition against and from Vera Cruz. To

make up these numbers, he depended upon the ar

rival at Brazos San Jago of nine new regiments
of volunteers by the time he was in readiness to

sail from that point.

Having proved upon paper, to his own satisfac

tion, that it was practicable to raise the force from

the troops then and soon to be in service, and the

expedition having been determined upon by the

President, he received orders to hold himself in

readiness to proceed to Mexico and take the direc

tion of the expedition. He considered the assign

ment as a personal favor, and was personally grate

ful ;f and having obtained the command, of which

he had deprived himself, originally, by his own act,

* " Vera Cruz and its Castle." Executive Document, No. 59, House of

Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 54.

t
" I left Washington highly flattered with the confidence and kindness the

President had shown me in many long personal interviews on military mat

ters. For more than two months my expressions of gratitude were daily and

fervent, nor were they much less emphatic toward the head of the War De

partment." General Scott to Mr. Marcy, February 24th, 1848. Executive

Document, No. 59, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth

Congress, p. 4.
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he set about making his estimates for material on

such a scale as should leave little chance of a fail

ure, which might ruin his own and the credit of

the administration. Some of these, including
" 140

flat boats, to put ashore at once say 5000 men, with

eight pieces of light artillery," and
" a pontoon train

to pass rivers,"^ had been included in his memoran
da of November 16th. The last item, which was

strongly urged, is evidence sufficient of the knowl

edge possessed by the general-in-chief of the coun

try in which he was to operate ; for, on the whole

route between Vera Cruz and the capital of Mex

ico, there is not one stream deserving the name of

any thing larger than a creek, and which is not

fordable.

The estimates for ordnance and ammunition

were left with the Secretary of War before the de

parture of General Scott from Washington, and in

cluded, besides a large siege train of twenty-four

pounders and eight-inch howitzers, from forty to

fifty mortars, and from eighty to one hundred thou

sand ten-inch shells. f Among other provisions for

his expedition, he obtained a sum of money for se

cret service, and was given verbal instructions to

prosecute operations as his judgment, under a full

view of all the circumstances, should dictate.^

General Scott desired more explicit instructions
;

* " Memoranda for the Secretary of War." Executive Document, No. 59,

House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 60.

t Mr. Murcy to General Scott, April 21st, 1848. Idem, p. 24.

t Idem, November 23d, 1847 (not sent). Executive Document, No. CO,

House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 836.
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and, having mentioned the subject to the Secretary

of War, in compliance with a request, he submitted

a projet which went more fully into details, and

expressed more fully the confidence reposed in the

general by the President ;^ but it was not adopted
or signed, and, since it was not, it may be believed

that the submitted projet expressed more than the

President felt, and that he did not choose to com
mit himself in full to the support of General Scott.

On the 24th of November the general-in-chief

left Washington for Mexico, by way of New York

and New Orleans. The quarter-master, General

Jessup, had proceeded to the latter place, to be

nearer the seat of war, and to further the business

of his department, and with him General Scott com

pleted his arrangements for the transportation req

uisite for his expedition. While at New Orleans

he employed several spies to proceed to Mexico and

obtain information, and opened a correspondence

with Commodore Connor upon the subject of the

expedition and making arrangements for the recep

tion of the intelligence obtained.! He then pro

ceeded to Brazos San Jago, and, upon his arrival,

took the action and issued the orders which have

been noticed in chapter eighth of the first volume

of this narrative.

The troops from General Taylor's command con

centrated rapidly at their different points of em-
* Executive Document, No. 59, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 61, 62.

t Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

ihe thirtieth Congress, p. 842, 847.
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barkation, all being in position at or near Brazos

San Jago and Tampico by the end of January ;
but

various delays and disappointments occurred in the

arrival of transports, which prevented the speedy

sailing of the expedition. Most of them had their

rise in natural causes
; but, when taken in connec

tion with the attempt to supersede him by the ap

pointment of a lieutenant general, some were sub

sequently attributed by the general-in-chief to the

intention of the authorities at Washington to sacri

fice him.^ And it is a somewhat remarkable fact,

that, while engaged in directing the Vera Cruz ex

pedition, General Scott had arrived at the same con

clusion with reference to himself, which, in conse

quence of his action, General Taylor had expressed

in his own case, that he was doomed to be sacrificed.

But in the month of February the transports be

gan to arrive at Brazos San Jago, and the embark

ation of the troops was commenced. Each vessel,

as soon as she received her complement, proceeded

at once to the rendezvous, under the island of

Lobos, some sixty miles to the south of Tampico.

Scott sailed on the 15th, leaving Worth to super

intend the embarkation of the remaining troops,

and, touching at Tampico, made arrangements to

leave a competent garrison, and hastened the move

ment from that point. On the 21st he arrived at

the general rendezvous. On the 25th Worth sail-

* General Scott to Mr. Marcy, February 24th, 1848. Executive Docu

ment, No. 59, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 11.
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ed from Brazos San Jago, having seen all the troops

afloat from that point except the battalion of the

second regiment of dragoons, which was to embark

on the two following days.

From Tampico, Twiggs's division was on board

ship by the 28th, and Patterson's embarking rap

idly.

While at Lobos General Scott organized his

army.
The first brigade of regulars, under Worth, was

made up of Duncan's field battery, the second and

third regiments of artillery, the fourth, fifth, sixth,

and eighth regiments of infantry, and two inde

pendent companies of volunteers. The second bri

gade, under Twiggs, of Taylor's field battery, the

first and fourth regiments of artillery, the first, sec

ond, third, and seventh regiments of infantry, and

the regiment of mounted riflemen.

The A^olunteers were organized into a division of

three brigades, under General Patterson.

The brigade under General Pillow consisted of

the first and second Tennessee and first and second

Pennsylvania regiments, and Steptoe's battery of

twelve pounders. General Quitman's brigade was

made up of the South Carolina, Georgia, and Ala

bama regiments, and General Shieids's of one regi

ment of New York troops and two of Illinois.

In addition to this force of infantry and field ar

tillery was the cavalry, consisting of detachments

from the first and second regiments of dragoons, and

one regiment of Tennessee horse.

II. B
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The whole numerical force of the army was over

twelve thousand men.

The order of landing was also issued at Lobos,

and constituted Worth's brigade the first line, Pat

terson's division the second, and Twiggs's brigade

the third.

Worth having arrived on the 2d of March, the

fleet of transports broke up from the anchorage un

der Lobos, although the entire force had not then

reached the rendezvous, and made sail for Anton

Lizardo. By the 6th the greater part of the whole

fleet was concentrated there, and preparations were

made for the descent. On the 7th, General Scott

and Commodore Connor, accompanied by most of

the general and staff officers present with the fleet,

and many naval officers, reconnoitered the coast

with a view to select a point of landing. The
whole party was on board a small steamer, which

passed in close proximity to the Castle of San Juan

d'Ulloa, whence the enemy opened several heavy

guns, but all of his shot missed
;
a fortunate cir

cumstance for the Americans, for one heavy shell,

had it struck, would have sunk the steamer, and

destroyed the organization of both the army and

squadron.

The point finally determined upon as that of de

barkation was on the shore immediately west of

the island of Sacrificios, some three miles south of

the city and castle. The island afforded shelter

for the fleet, and no batteries or other preparation
for resistance were discovered at the point or in the
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immediate vicinity. The order was issued for the

debarkation to take place on the morning of the

8th, and the troops were in readiness, hut the weath

er indicated a norther, and, by the advice of the

naval officers, the descent was postponed until the

following day.

Vera Cruz, a city of about 15,000 inhabitants, is

immediately upon the shore of the Gulf of Mexico.

It is surrounded, on its land fronts, by a continual

line of fortifications, which, although neither en

tirely regular nor strong for defense against regular

approaches, are nevertheless formidable to a direct

assault. The northwestern side of the town is

washed by the waters of the Gulf. At the south

eastern angle, on the beach, is Fort San Jago, a

bastion of considerable capacity, with a cavalier,

mounting several heavy guns. A continued line

of bastions and redans, ten in number, encircles the

town, ending at Fort Conception, a bastion similar

to Fort San Jago, at the most northern point, and

on the shore of the Gulf. The intermediate bas

tions and redans are small, though solidly built,

and capable of mounting from eight to ten guns
each. The curtains by which they are connected

are of thin wall, proof only against musketry, and

of but little use. None of the defenses of the city

are protected by ditches, as the heavy northers

which prevail would soon fill them with the driv

ing sand
; but, upon the receipt of intelligence of

the intended attack, efforts had been made to sup-
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ply their place by digging a system of troux de

loups about the walls. Within them and between

the bastions, the ground was covered with a thick

growth of prickly pear, in itself a serious obstacle.

At the time of the American attack, the fortifi

cations of the city were armed with eighty-six can

non of different calibers. The greater number were

of heavy metal, including six eight-inch sea-coast

howitzers and eight heavy mortars. The garrison

was of some 3000 men, including artillery and in

fantry of the line, active battalions of states in the

vicinity, and the national guards of Vera Cruz.

The country about Vera Cruz is generally a lev

el, sandy plain, bounded by sand-hills at different

distances from the town. On the south and west,

the first of these are at a distance of about one

thousand yards. On the north the plain extends

nearly two miles, to the hamlet of Vergara. The

sand-hills are of different heights, and the valleys

between them are filled with thorny underbrush.

The Castle of San Juan d'Ulloa is upon a reef

immediately opposite, and a thousand yards from

the city. The body of the work is a quadrangle
of great capacity. The southern bastion has a cav

alier ofhigh command. The sea front, which, how

ever, looks upon the Gallega reef, is covered by a

demi-lune and redoubts of re-entering place of

arms, and beyond these by a water battery, ex

tending entirely along the front. These outworks,

however, as they look only seaward, give but little

additional strength to the castle, for the channels
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of approach to the city are either from the north

or the south, and the direct fire upon them must

be given from the body of the work.

One hundred and twenty-eight guns were mount

ed upon the castle. Most of them were heavy, and

many of modern manufacture, including eight-inch

sea-coast howitzers and ten-inch Paixhan guns. Its

garrison consisted of about 1000 troops of the line.

Both city and castle, at the time of the descent,

were scantily supplied with subsistence. The gov
ernor of the state had endeavored to provide it, but

with little success
; for, in the various struggles of

the factions in the capital, his representations and

requests had been unheeded. Nevertheless, with

what he had been able to collect, General Morales,

the commandant, resolved to make good the de

fense as long as possible, trusting for aid to the

speedy coming of the vomito, and possibly of a re

lieving army.

The full amount of material for which General

Scott had estimated had not arrived at Anton Li-

zardo when he contemplated landing ;
but of the

one hundred and forty-four surf-boats, sixty-five

were at hand, and with these the arrangements
were made to disembark.

Early on the morning of the 9th the troops of

Worth's command were placed on board the differ

ent men-of-war and steamers
;

Patterson's and

Twiggs's were concentrated upon those still capable

of containing troops, and upon transports, and all
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taken in tow by the steamers of the squadron and

transport fleet. By noon these arrangements had

been completed, and the vessels having troops on

board had made the passage from Anton Lizardo

to Sacrificios.

Meanwhile, a close reconnaissance had been

made of the point of landing from on board a small

steamer, without discovering any preparation for

resistance. The small vessels of the squadron were,

however, stationed close in shore, to sweep the

beach and cover the landing, if necessary.

Worth's troops entered the boats, which were

manned by the officers and sailors of the navy. It

had been ordered that they should be formed in

line, but a strong current setting round the island

of Sacrificios prevented this. Being heavily laden

and with but little room to handle oars, as they

pushed off from the ships, the boats soon got in

confusion, and many drifted toward the shore. A
hawser was in consequence thrown out from the

steamer Princeton, to which the different boats

made fast, and all were mixed up without the pos

sibility of arrangement until the movement com

menced.

Worth therefore contented himself with placing

the colors of the different corps in proper order, and,

with directions for each boat to pull for its own,

gave the order to cast off, and the whole mass of

boats swept toward the shore. It had hardly been

believed by any that the landing would be unop

posed, and the opening of an action was anxiously
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looked for. For a short distance from the beach

the sand-hills afforded excellent positions for mask-

ing either artillery or infantry, and as the landing.

if opposed, was the most hazardous part of the un

dertaking, it was unreasonable to expect that the

enemy would permit it without a struggle. But no

resistance was made
;
and as the boats struck the

beach, the troops jumped into the water, gained

the shore, formed instantly, and with a cheer rush

ed to the top of the sand-hills in search of an ene

my, but none appeared.

Positions were taken up on the beach and sand

hills for the night, and the boats returned to the

fleet for the landing of the remaining troops. This

was effected without accident, and the main body
of the army was on shore before the following

morning.

During the night, two officers, examining the

shore toward the town in search of fresh water, fell

upon an outlying picket of the enemy and drew its

fire. The Mexicans, having once opened, kept it

up for some time, though with only the effect of

slightly wounding one or two men who were land

ing at a distance of nearly half a mile, for they
fired at random and at great elevation. No atten

tion was paid to it by Captain C. F. Smith, who
commanded the American pickets in that direc

tion
;
but Colonel P. F. Smith, having landed with

the rifle regiment, moved it in that direction, and

opened a spattering fire, with no more effect than

the Mexicans. Finding himself relieved in this
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manner, the captain withdrew his company, and

left the rifles to see it out.

When morning
1 broke upon the 10th, Worth pro

ceeded to take up the line of investment. The

party of Mexican infantry which had made the dis

turbance during the night showed itself upon the

sand-hills in the direction of the city. It was first

fired upon by the battery of mountain howitzers,

but the range was too great, and a gun from Tay
lor's battery was brought up, which soon dispersed

it. The investment was then commenced.

A high sand-hill near the beach, about one and

three quarter miles from the city, was occupied by
Worth's division, arid thence the different corps ex

tended to the left into the interior. The weather

\vas exceedingly hot and sultry, and the movement

through the deep sand was tedious and difficult.

Worth's brigade was, however, in position during
the morning, and Patterson's troops were moved to

the left to continue the line.

When actually convinced of the landing of the

American army, the governor of the State of Yera

Cruz issued a proclamation to the inhabitants in

citing them to continue the resistance, but an

nouncing his determination of leaving the town

with the cavalry, and serving the garrison by cut

ting off the supplies and scouting parties of the in

vading army. He put his intention of leaving into

execution, and, accompanied by a force of infantry,

took post among the sand-hills to oppose the con

tinuation of the investment.
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This force was first encountered by Patterson,

who found the infantry in position about an old

stone building, the hacienda Malibran, near a la

goon which was upon his route, and in a maga
zine some hundred yards to the south. The cav

alry occupied the sand-hills overlooking the lagoon.

Taylor's battery was directed upon the magazine,
and Pillow's brigade advanced against the hacien

da, from which the Mexicans were driven after a

short skirmish. Pillow then turned with one regi

ment toward the magazine, which was abandoned

by the enemy on his approach. Leaving one regi

ment at the magazine, and another at Malibran,

with the remaining two the enemy was pursued.

His parties steadily retired, keeping up a scatter

ing fire upon the pursuers, until they collected in

force on the hills occupied by the cavalry. A short

but spirited skirmish ensued, but the enemy was

quickly driven from the hill, and retired under the

protection of the guns of the city.

The heavy guns of both city and castle played

upon Worth's and Pillow's commands whenever

they came within view, but the distance was too

great for most of them, and it was not until late in

the afternoon that any attempt to reach the Ameri

can positions was successful. Then, with great

elevation, a shell was thrown from a ten -inch gun
in the castle, which exploded in the vicinity of

Worth's troops. They were at once drawn back

behind the sand-hills, out of range. Pillow's, upon
the hill which had been taken, were exposed to
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the fire from the city, but the men lay close behind

the crest, and suffered no loss.

The landing of subsistence and baggage was

continued as fast as the boats could ply between

the fleet and the shore
;
but it was a slow process,

and bat a small quantity of subsistence and only

part of the baggage were landed during the day.

On the morning of the llth Quitman's and

Shield s's brigades advanced to relieve Pillow's

troops (which had passed the night without water)

and to continue the investment. While the relief

was taking place, the Mexican skirmishers reap

peared, advanced, and opened a noisy fire. Quit-

man attacked them with a detachment, and after

a skirmish, in which Lieutenant-colonel Dicken-

son and several privates were wounded, drove the

whole with loss from his vicinity.

Twiggs's brigade took up the movement during

the day, and after continued skirmishing, in which

it met with but little loss, drove the enemy from

the ground to be occupied. In passing the position

of Patterson's troops, a random shot had killed Cap
tain Alb mils, of the second infantry, and wounded

a private. But by noon on the 12th, with no other

hinderance, Twii^s arrived, and fixed his head-
7 O O /

quarters at Vergara, on the beach north of the

town, and the investment was complete.

The principal difficulties encountered in these

movements were in the nature of the ground, and

the thick chaparral in the valleys, the scarcity of

water along the route, and the almost insupporta-
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ble heat of the weather. The guns from the city

and castle had indeed kept up a continual fire upon

any point where the troops wrere visible, hut with

out other effect than to occasion the loss and an

noyance which has been mentioned.

On the morning of the 12th a heavy norther set

in, and interrupted all communication between the

fleet and the shore. It ceased for a few hours on

the 13th, during which four mortars and a small

quantity of ordnance stores were landed, after

which it returned with renewed violence. Active

operations were therefore prevented, and all which

could be done was to reconnoiter, with a view of

selecting sites for batteries.

Soon after landing, General Worth had noticed

Point Hornos, a sandy bluff which extended to the

beach some fourteen hundred yards south of the

city, as being a good position whence to commence

approaches. A number of ridges of sand extended

around it, forming natural traverses, and the beach

furnished a hard and firm road for the transporta

tion of guns and material, protected by the point

from observation, and in great measure from direct

fire. Finding it unoccupied by the enemy, he at

once detached two companies, under Captain Vin-

ton, third artillery, to take possession of it. The

party took position in some lime-kilns on the point,

and, notwithstanding the continued fire from both

city and castle, with which the enemy sought to

overwhelm it, held possession without loss for some

eight or ten days.
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Colonel Totten, chief engineer, after much re

connaissance, determined upon a point further from

the shore. The Campo Santo, a square stone in-

closure containing a chapel and vaults, some eleven

hundred yards from the city and about the same

distance from the beach, had been seized and oc

cupied during the reconnaissance. The ground

directly in its front was generally level to the city,

though covered in part by chaparral. The sand

hills rose in its immediate vicinity, and the ap

proaches from the American camp, though tedious,

were in general protected from direct fire by the

inequalities of the ground. The vicinity of the

inclosure was selected as the position for the bat

teries.

The norther, which interrupted the communica

tion between the fleet and the shore, brought into

the anchorages at Anton Lizardo and Sacrificios

many transports, having on board the troops, muni

tions, and subsistence. In the boisterous weather

several vessels broke from their moorings, and were

wrecked, causing the loss of many cavalry horses

and of valuable material. On the 17th the storm

abated, and the landing of material was recom

menced with all the energy which could be com

manded.

On the 18th, six mortars, four twenty-four pound
er guns, the eight-inch siege howitzers, and a large

quantity of ammunition, were brought ashore. Be

sides this ordnance, the dragoons, a company of

light artillery, with all their equipment and the



THE WAR WITH MEXICO. 9

horses which remained to them, were landed, and

commenced refitting. A quantity of quarter-mas

ter's property, trains, draught animals, and forage,

sufficient to afford means for commencing opera

tions, were also ohtained, although hut a small part

of the large estimate and order had arrived.

On the night of the 18th ground was broken near

the Campo Santo, upon the parallel and hatteries.

Of these, hattery No. 1 was located hehind a sand

hill, some three hundred yards to the east of the in-

closure. The parallel ran thence along its front.

Battery No. 2 was placed at the foot and in front

of a sand-hill, ahout one hundred and fifty yards

in rear and to the left of hattery No. 1. Battery
No. 3 was along the parallel, and immediately west

of the Campo Santo.

The working parties which could he spared from

so long a line of investment (some six miles) were

necessarily small, hut, by strenuous exertions, the

different works were commenced, and cover ob

tained during the night for exposed positions, and

the labor was continued on the following day.

No other attempt was made by the enemy to re

tard the construction, except by cannonading the

troops whenever they showed themselves. His

guns were admirably served, but the range was too

great for accuracy ;
the working parties kept close

in the trenches, and the fire produced no delay
Without other interruption, the construction was

continued during succeeding days, and in the mean
time the landing of material went on.
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The main army remained quiet in its camp.
Some few skirmishes took place between pickets ;

and parties of soldiers and sailors, which straggled

off into the country and committed depredations

on the inhabitants, were, in some instances, cut up

hy the rancheros. At different times during the

nights, the Mexicans, becoming alarmed by the ap

proach of single individuals engaged in reconnais

sance, would open a noisy fire of musketry from

the walls of the city, and occasionally would over

whelm the position at Point Hornos with a shower

of shells and bullets. These bursts of indignation

were "
full of sound and fury, signifying nothing,"

and no attempt was made to reply in any manner.

By the evening of the 21st, however, the first

three mortar batteries had been constructed, with

their magazines and traverses, the parallel and boy-

aux widened, the parapets, in most places, made

exceedingly strong, and the approaches from the

camp protected, for the passage of troops, by trench

es, in those places where the natural features of the

ground did not cover them. During the night sev

en ten-inch mortars and a quantity of ammunition

were transported to the batteries from the beach
;

a proceeding requiring much caution, for the Mex
icans watched with great vigilance, and, aiming in

the direction of the noise, threw shells and rockets

at the carts as they passed the open ground be

tween the beach and the batteries, and impeded
the labor by several times stampeding the draught

animals. Nevertheless, the partial armament was
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brought up, and the trains retired without loss or

serious damage.
On the morning of the 22d the firing parties of

artillerymen took possession of the batteries and

planted the mortars. The ordnance men arranged

their materials in the magazines, and by noon ev

ery thing was in preparation for opening the bom

bardment on the city. In addition to the ten-inch

mortars, six coehorns had been brought up and

planted along the parallel, under the impression

that they might possibly throw to the city, but

without much calculation upon their effect.

At two o'clock General Scott summoned the city

to surrender. As the city was his immediate ob

ject of attack, he offered to stipulate, in considera

tion of a surrender without resistance, that no bat

teries should be located in the city against the

Castle of San Juan d'Ulloa, unless a fire should be

commenced from the latter upon the American gar

rison which should occupy the town. General Mo

rales, who commanded both city and castle, return

ed a peremptory refusal, ending with the assurance

that he would make good the defense to the last,

and informing his excellency (General Scott) that

he could commence his operations of war in the

manner which he might consider most advanta

geous.^

The reply having been received, at four o'clock

in the afternoon the bombardment commenced, and

*
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was at once replied to by the enemy, with every

gun and mortar, in either city or castle, which could

bear upon the trenches. The American shells were

at first inefficient
;
but a few rounds gave a correct

knowledge of the range, and from that time they
were showered with surprising accuracy into the

devoted city. The small vessels of the squadron,
as the bombardment commenced, crept up under

Point Hornos, and added their heavy guns to the

American armament, in spite of the fire with which

the enemy endeavored to reach them from the castle.

The Mexican fire was kept up with great vigor

for an hour, and both guns and mortars were ad-

mirably served
;
but against the trenches it was

almost inefficient, for they were too small a mark

for the mortars, and, notwithstanding the direct

shot grazed the crest of the parapets, it did no dam

age to the sunken batteries of the Americans. The
ten-inch shells from the guns in the castle, striking

in their descending curve, had more effect, for in

some cases they penetrated the parapet, killed Cap
tain John II. Vinton, a gallant and accomplished

officer, who commanded the firing party of that day,

and wounded several privates. Bat, as night ap

proached, the Mexican fire slackened, and that of

the smaller guns ceased. The mortars in the city

and castle, however, kept up the fire, and the shells

fell thick about the trenches during the night, but

none struck inside or in the batteries.

The American fire had been so rapid at the open

ing of the bombardment that the first supply of
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shells was nearly expended in three hours, and it,

too, slackened for a time
;
but an additional quan

tity was sent from the beach as soon as it was dark.

Although the boyaux between batteries 2 and 1,

through which the powder and shells were carried,

was exposed to a raking fire, and a rocket actually

passed its whole length while several powder-bar
rels were being carried to the magazines, no acci

dent occurred, and, with the additional supply, the

bombardment was resumed, and steadily continued

throughout the night.

The work of landing material had progressed

during the day, and the stores on the beach oppo
site the camp of Worth's division were considerably

increased.

A separate battery, to be manned by officers and

seamen from the squadron, was located at a point

upon a sand-hill in front of General Patterson's

command, at a distance of about a thousand yards
from the city, and the construction of the battery
was commenced. It was hidden by thick chap
arral and sand-hills, and the work progressed with

out interruption from the enemy. Three thirty-

two pounders and three eight-inch Paixhan guns
were landed from the different vessels of war for

its armament, and were transported over a portion

of the route during the afternoon.

Three mortars were brought up to the trenches

and planted in battery No. 3 during the night,

and the supply of ammunition was increased. The

rapid fire of the preceding day had, however, cut up
II. C
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the platforms, and rendered repairs necessary, which

delayed the firing on the following morning.

The smaller vessels of the squadron returned on

the 23d to their station under Point Hornos, and

resumed the cannonade of the town
;
hut the guns

of the castle were opened in reply, and after a short

time they were withdrawn to the anchorage under

Sacrificios.

During the day a norther again sprung up, pre

venting communication with the fleet, while the

supply of shells was still limited, and, in conse

quence, the mortar practice, although continued,

was less lively than it had been on the previous

afternoon.

The Mexicans replied sparingly to the fire from

the batteries, and though at times an apparent en

deavor would be made to overwhelm them, it was

kept up for only a few minutes together.

The Americans were meanwhile busily at work

in constructing the battery for the naval guns, and

another along the parallel west of No. 3 for the

siege guns of the army. The work was extremely

difficult, for the norther blew the sand about so as

to fill up the trenches
;
but nevertheless it progress

ed, and the battery for the naval guns was finish

ed and partially armed during the night.

Three twenty-four pounders were brought up to

the trenches for the new battery along the paral

lels, but it was not finished, and could not be open
ed on the following morning.
As the supply of shells on shore was limited, the
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mortar firing on the morning of the 24th was only

at the rate of one shell in five minutes. The Mex

icans, apparently encouraged hy this falling off,

opened all their batteries which would bear in a

continual cannonade upon the trenches. It had

the effect of dismounting one of the ten-inch mor

tars, and wounding a few men.

In the mean time, battery No. 5, which was arm

ed with the naval guns, was nearly ready for ac

tion. All the guns were in position except one,

which was at the hacienda Malibran. The order

of the general-in-chief was, that the battery should

not be opened until completely armed, and its firing

was likely to be delayed until the following day,

for the only practicable approach to the battery for

so heavy a piece of artillery was by a road having
one of the bastions of the city directly upon its pro

longation. This bastion, however, was enveloped
in the smoke of its own cannonade upon the Amer
ican mortar batteries, the air was still, and Gen
eral Pillow determined to place the gun in posi

tion. He detailed a strong party from his brigade,

and hauled it rapidly over the exposed route with

out being observed, and it was soon after safely

mounted. The chaparral in front of the battery

was then cleared away, and its fire was opened.

Until that time the enemy had been in ignorance
of its existence

; but, turning attention from the

mortar batteries, every gun which could bear was

at once directed upon the new object, in a fierce

cannonade, which was kept up for many hours.
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The deep embrasures which it had been necessary

to construct for the service of the naval guns pre

sented marks to the enemy which he did not hesi

tate to avail himself of, and his shot, sent with

great accuracy, often penetrated them, by which

four sailors were killed, and several others, besides

soldiers of the guard, were wounded during the

day. The sailors at the guns in the battery at first

fired wildly, and directed their shot at the houses

of the city ; but, having gratified themselves by

shooting away one or two flags, they brought their

heavy battery to bear upon the bastion of Santa

Barbara, the most westerly bastion of the town,

with marked effect.

The norther abated during the 24th, and addi

tional ammunition of all kinds was landed. The

new battery, No. 4, having been completed during

the day, another twenty-four pounder and two

eight-inch howitzers were placed in it during the

night, which completed its armament. All the

batteries wrere furnished with a full supply of am
munition, and early on the morning of the 2oth all

were in full play.

The spectacle was exceedingly animated. Ten

ten-inch mortars, four twenty-four pounders, two

eight-inch siege howitzers, three long thirty-two

pounders, and three long eight-inch Paixhan guns,

all constituting an exceedingly heavy artillery

force, were worked with all possible rapidity. The

mortars kept up an unceasing shower of shells,

which, crashing and tearing into the town, did great
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mischief, and set on fire every building which was

combustible. The siege guns were kept in play

upon the Mexican batteries at the gate of Merced,

south of the city ; but, although the fire was rapid,

a clump of chaparral interfered with the aim and

its efficiency. The heavy guns of the naval bat

tery were, however,worked upon the bastion ofSan

ta Barbara with great effect. Although the dis

tance was great for breaching purposes, the heavy
shot cut deep into its solid walls, knocked two or

three embrasures into one, dismounted two or three

pieces, and demolished the thin curtain north of

the bastion for fifty yards.

The enemy, with his much larger armament, did

not fail to reply, and his artillerymen kept bravely

to their posts, sending their shot with as much ra

pidity as they received that of the besiegers. Fort

San Jago and the bastion of Santa Barbara were

exceedingly active. In. spite of the fire of the

naval battery upon the latter, and the occasional

shower of shells which was directed at the former

from the mortar batteries, they could not be si

lenced, and for many hours the cannonade and

bombardment was unceasing on both sides.

But the mortar practice had done its work upon
the city. The shower of shells which had for four

days been poured upon it had become perfectly in

supportable to the inhabitants, and its violence, in

stead of diminishing, was daily increasing. For a

chance of security, they crowded upon the mole

and in the northern part of the town
;
but the ranges
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of the shells were steadily increased, and it might
be expected that in a short time they would fall

thickly also in that quarter. The place had heen

closely invested for twelve days, and the stock of

provisions, never ahundant, was nearly exhausted.

Many poor people, who had been detained in the

town, were without the necessaries of life, and

while prowling about the streets in search of sub

sistence, fell before the American fire. Women
and children suffered alike from it in their houses,

and in a greater degree than the soldiers, who were

crowded around the walls and protected by trav

erses, and therefore escaped without great loss ex

cept from the direct fire.

A great portion of the population of Vera Cruz

was of foreigners, and, notwithstanding the large

fleet which they had seen approaching, many had

been insensate enough to suppose that the defense

would be made good, or had no idea that the town
would be attacked by a bombardment, although

they could in reason have hoped for but little im

munity if the place had been carried by assault.

After the results of the bombardment of the 22d,

23d, 24th, and 25th, they became convinced of the

futility of the resistance, and in the afternoon of

the 25th their consuls obtained permission of the

Mexican governor to send a flag of truce to the

American general. The communication which ac

companied it prayed for a suspension of the bom

bardment, in order to allow time for the foreigners

with their families, and for the Mexican women
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and children, to leave the town. The firing of the

Mexican batteries, which had slackened, was dis

continued, and, upon the appearance of the flag,

that of the besiegers ceased likewise.

As General Scott had sent safeguards to the

foreign consuls so soon as the investment had been

completed, and as, with a full knowledge of the

impending siege, they had remained in the town

when they had a free egress until that time, and

a free communication with the neutral vessels of

war under Sacrificios until the 22d, he refused to

grant the petition, and informed the consuls that

their prayer must be addressed through the Mexi

can governor.^

So soon as the flag had returned to the city, the

American batteries resumed, and continued their

fire as vigorously as during the previous part of the

day ;
but the Mexican batteries remained silent,

and during the evening a bugle call for a parley

was sounded from the walls of the town. It was

misunderstood and unheeded, and the bombard

ment was continued without interruption through
out the night. Four additional mortars were placed

in battery along the parallel, between battery No.

1 and the Campo Santo, and were ready for service

by daylight on the morning of the 26th. When
the firing parties were relieved at four o'clock in

the morning, a heavy norther had again com

menced, which made it a difficult matter to serve

*
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the mortars
; but, in spite of the blinding sand, ten

were kept in play, and continued the fire until

after daybreak. At that time a flag- was displayed
on the beach near Fort San Jago ;

but it was un

heeded from the batteries, and proceeded on down
the beach until it was received at the picket guards
of the main camp.
The consuls had presented the situation of the

foreigners to General Morales, but, disliking the

responsibility of agreeing to any terms of surrender,

he had feigned sickness, and turned over the com
mand to General Landero, who received and en

tertained the requests. In consequence, he pro

posed to surrender, and requested that General

Scott would appoint commissioners to arrange the

terms of a convention with commissioners on the

Mexican side.^

Scott at once ordered a cessation of fire, and

from eight o'clock on the morning of the 26th, the

time at which the order was received at the bat

teries, the cannonade and bombardment was dis

continued.

Generals Worth, Pillow, and Colonel Totten

were appointed commissioners on the part of Gen
eral Scott, and during the afternoon met Colonels

Herrera, Villanueva, and Lieutenant-colonel Ro-

bles, commissioners on the part of General Lan

dero, at the lime-kilns on Point Hornos.

The instructions of the American commissioners

*
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were to demand the surrender of the garrisons of

the Castle of San Juan d'Ulloa and Vera Cruz as

prisoners of war, with the intention of sending the

rank and file to the United States. As it was not

known whether Landero had authority to surren

der the castle, they were instructed, in case of his

inability or refusal, to refer the case back to the

commanding general.^

The Mexican commissioners demanded that the

troops included in the capitulation should be al

lowed to march out, without parole, with all their

arms, accouterments, stores belonging to the differ

ent corps, and the allowance of field artillery cor

responding to the force
;
and that the exercise of

their religion and rights of property should be

guaranteed to the inhabitants of Vera Cruz.t

After discussion, without agreement, the commis

sion broke up at night, and reported. The de

mands of the Mexican commissioners were laid be

fore General Scott, who submitted his ultimata in

reply to General Landero on the following morn

ing, demanding, at the same time, that the commis

sion should meet again at ten o'clock, and proceed
at once to the definite conclusion of terms of capit

ulation.J

It reconvened at the appointed hour, and the dis

cussion was continued throughout the day. The
surrender of the castle was one point of difference,

for Morales had not turned over the command of it

* Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 233. t Idem, p. 234, 235. t Idem, p. 235,236.
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to Landero. But by nine o'clock at night the

terms had been agreed to, and the articles of capit

ulation had been signed by the commissioners, and

approved by General Scott, Commodore Perry (who
had been represented in the latter part of the discus

sion by Captain Aulick), and by General Landero.

By the convention Vera Cruz and the Castle of

San Juan d'TJlloa, with all their armaments and

munitions of war, were surrendered. The garrisons

were permitted to retire, after laying down their

arms, the officers giving their parole for themselves

and their men not to serve during the war until

regularly exchanged. The Mexican troops were

permitted to inarch out of the city with the honors

of war, to the field where the surrender of arms

was to take place, to salute their flag when struck,

and the civil and religious rights of the inhabitants

of Vera Cruz were guaranteed.^
The surrender took place on the 29th. Worth's

command was drawn up on the east of the plain,

south of the city, and Pillow's brigade of volun

teers upon the west. The Mexican troops inarched

from the gate of Merced at ten o'clock in the morn

ing, and halted between the lines. The officers

gave in their paroles, and, with the exception of a

single company, the troops laid down their arms.

They then marched off on the Orizaba road, and

Worth's command entered and took possession of

the city and the Castle of San Juan d'Ulloa.

* Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 237.
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The interruptions to the operations of the siege

from the interior of the country had heen few and

unimportant. The exertions of the cavalry force

which had left the city, and of scattered hands of

rancheros, had heen confined to the attempt to stop

supplies of cattle and vegetables, and skirmishing

with parties of the besieging army.
A guerilla had taken post at the Puente del

Medio, some three miles from Vergara, on the road

to Jalapa, for those purposes and for observation.

Its presence did no particular injury; but on the

24th Colonel Smith sent a company of rifles to ex

amine the position and obtain information of the

strength of the enemy. Upon its approach to the

bridge, which was obstructed by abattis, the offi

cer in command was met by a white flag. Sup

posing that the Mexican force would surrender, he

met the flag on the bridge ; but, instead of an offer,

he received a demand, and learned that a surrender

was expected from him. Withdrawing his com

pany to the sand-hills east of the bridge, he sent

information of the strength and position of the party
to the camp. General Twiggs sent Smith with 200

men to his support, and, upon his arrival, the Mex
icans opened a fire of musketry from the hills on

the west of the bridge. Smith immediately sent

two companies across the rivulet on the left, one

on the right, and advanced the remaining force by
the road and bridge. A short skirmish ensued

;
but
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the Mexicans broke and fled in a short time. They
were pursued some distance, several of them were

killed and wounded, and at sundown Smith re

turned to camp, having had four men severely

wounded in the affair.

A considerable force of Mexican cavalry, princi

pally of rancheros and national guards, had its

head-quarters at Medellin, a village several miles

south of Vera Cruz, whence parties were detached

to annoy the American lines. On the 25th Scott

ordered Colonel Harney to proceed in that direc

tion, with his mounted and dismounted dragoons,

to break it up. Upon arriving at the Puente de

Morena, over the Medellin river, he found the ene

my in some force. The bridge was barricaded and

defended by infantry, and parties of lancers were

in position to the rear.

As the dismounted dragoons approached a skirm

ish ensued, in which the Mexicans killed a corpo

ral and wounded two privates. Finding the force

and position of the enemy stronger than had been

anticipated, Harney drew back, and sent a request

for two pieces of artillery to camp. They were

ordered from Steptoe's battery ; and, as the news of

the affair reached the camp, various straggling par

ties of volunteers and dismounted dragoons march

ed without orders to the scene of the skirmish.

General Patterson proceeded thither with Judd's

section of twelve pounders, and a regiment of Ten

nessee volunteers, but did not interfere with Har-

ney's arrangements. Upon the arrival of the ar-
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tillery, it was directed upon the bridge, which it

cleared with a few shots. The footmen ran for

ward and tore down the barricade, when the cav

alry advanced at speed, sabering and dispersing

the enemy, who fled in haste and utter confusion.

The pursuit was continued for six miles to the

village of Medellin, and the Mexican force in that

direction was completely broken up. At night the

various parties returned to the camp. The total

loss in the affair was two killed and thirteen

wounded, one officer being included in the latter.

By the capture of Vera Cruz and the Castle of

San Juan d'Ulloa, General Scott obtained a secure

base of operations for the advance, by the direct

and shorter line, upon the capital of Mexico
; and,

what was of as much importance as the possession

of the particular points, he inflicted another pow
erful blow on the morale of the Mexican nation.

As important, because the possession of either,

for a base, was not absolutely indispensable. It is

true that in the vicinity of Vera Cruz were the best

anchorages on the Gulf, and the buildings of the

rity afforded conveniences for the different depots

required ;
but Sacrificios and Anton Lizardo were

both out of gun-shot of the fortifications. Had a

sufficient number of troops been at the disposal of

the American general, he might have established

a temporary depot on shore opposite either, left a

force of some three or four thousand men to have
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blockaded Vera Cruz, and marched at once with

his main army to Jalapa, clearing the tierra cali-

ente, and preventing the approach of a relieving

army at the same time. If it were expected to

bring down the Castle of San Juan by the capture

of Vera Cruz, it being isolated, it would have been

reasonable to expect that the isolation of both, by
such a movement, would have brought down both

at once.

But the great reputation which the castle had

for strength, and the pride and confidence with

which it was regarded by the Mexican people,

which had been in no way diminished by the fact

that the American fleet had lain off it for a year

without attempting an attack, induced the belief

that its possession was necessary for future opera

tions
;
and this, with the desire of capturing the

most formidable fortification of Mexico, caused the

expedition to be undertaken as it was. It was suc

cessful, and the point was gained ;
but time was

lost, and the Mexican president took advantage of

it to quell the disturbances in the capital, and to

reorganize his army for future defense. Of the par

ticular state of things which existed, General Scott

was, of course, ignorant, and could only take action

with reference to the capture of the city and castle

in the manner which had been determined upon.

The various causes of delay were great causes of

annoyance to him, for he was anxious to effect his

object and get out of the tierra caliente before the

season of the vomito, and the operations of the
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siege were pushed as vigorously as the various nat

ural difficulties would allow.

These natural difficulties were the most serious,

hy far, w~hich were encountered
;

for the enemy's

opposition to the investment was comparatively

nothing, and a cannonade from a distance of over

a thousand yards can seldom he efficient against

troops covered partially by their own intrench-

ments and the inequalities of the ground.

As for the works of attack, they were of the sim

plest character, including hut the parallel and the

different batteries. That they were well and sci

entifically constructed is evident from the exceed

ingly small loss from even the distant cannonade
;

but as the approaches were not continued, they
can hardly be mentioned as works of great magni
tude or as evidences of particular military skill.

The labor bestowed upon them, and, in fact, the

labor of the whole siege, was great, from the na

ture of the ground, the difficulty of communication

with the fleet, and the heat of the climate
;
and

the fact that the labor was accomplished and the

investment kept up, speaks much for the energy
of the army.
The bombardment of the town has been censured

by foreigners, and has been termed an unnecessary
act of cruelty. How much humanity might have

been favored by taking the place by direct assault

is very questionable ; and, since the town was to

be attacked, there were but the two methods. The

loss on the American side must have been heavy



48 THE WAR WITH MEXICO.

in case of the assault
; for, although the curtains

were thin, and useless against a cannonade, they

were obstacles, and the houses of the city were

strong enough to make good defenses against such

an attack. The armament of the bastions, too,

was powerful and well served, and would have cut

down the assaulting columns in great numbers in

their approach ;
and under no circumstances is a

commander called upon to sacrifice his own troops

to save the suffering of the enemy. General Scott,

having the necessary material and position to re

duce the city by bombardment, did all which hu

manity could have required of him when he offered

to stipulate that, if the town was surrendered, he

would establish in it no batteries against the cas

tle
;
which not being accepted, the bombardment

followed as a matter of course, and, with the in

vestment, brought down the city.

The castle fell by its isolation and the want of

provision. Its capture did quickly follow that of

the city, but it would not necessarily have been a

direct consequence if it had been properly defend

ed and provisioned. But, nevertheless, it must

have soon fallen, had the attack been made direct

ly upon it, whether the city were taken or not.

The castle was within good mortar range of the

shore, was of ancient construction, was built of soft

coral rock, and the best positions for shelling and

battering it were outside of the town.^ "
Fortress-

* General Scott to Mr. Marcy, March 21, 1847. Executive Document, No.

3, House of Representatives, second Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 223.
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es arc nothing in themselves when the enemy, hav

ing command of the sea, can collect as many shells,

and bullets, and guns as he pleases to crush them."*

That the estimate made by General Scott, of from

forty to fifty ten-inch mortars, and from eighty to

one hundred thousand shells, was quite large

enough, if filled up, to crush any artificial for

tress within range of land batteries, can hardly be

doubted; and, strong as San Juan d'Ulloa undoubt

edly was from its position, it must have sunk under

the incessant stream of fire, had it been once com

menced from forty or fifty mortars.

When the surrender took place, but a small por

tion of the ordnance was in battery or at hand, and,

as the castle was not provisioned, it was not need

ed
;
but soon after, forty-nine ten-inch mortars, and

between forty and fifty thousand shells, arrived.

As General Scott had determined to take the city,

in order to secure his batteries against the castle

from annoyance of the guns of the city, and to re

duce the length of his line of investment, they were

in time for service against the castle, had they been

needed.

In the few months which had elapsed between

General Scott's departure from Washington and

the capture of Vera Cruz, the greater portion of

this amount of ordnance and ordnance stores had

been manufactured in the interior of the United

States, had been transported to the sea-board, and

*
Napoleon's instructions to Marshal Soult in reference to Bayonne. Na

pier, chapter iii., book xxiv., vol. iv., Carey & Hart's edition, 1842, p. 390.

II. D
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thence to Vera Cruz a fact which speaks volumes

of the mechanical resources of the American repub

lic for war.

The reasons which induced Santa Anna to turn

his whole attention to the northern line have "been

noticed in previous observations. A knowledge of

the real importance of Vera Cruz and its castle

may have contributed to form his determination, in

addition to those reasons.

Had Mexico possessed a navy, the fortified har

bor of Vera Cruz would have been of the highest

importance to both belligerents, and its possession

would have been of indispensable necessity to the

army of the United States before marching on the

direct line to the capital ; for otherwise, her ships

would have taken refuge and shelter there in case

of danger, or of the necessity of refitting, and have

sailed thence, on any favorable occasion, to break

up the transportation of men and material on the

Gulf. But as she had no navy, it was of no im

portance to Mexico in that respect ;
as it was close

ly blockaded, it was of little use as a port ;
as an

enemy who had command of the sea could bring

as much material as he pleased to crush it, it must

fall after a short resistance if attacked from the

land, and if the enemy could land as he did
; and,

finally, if he chose, and had a sufficient force, he

might blockade it by land as well as by sea, and,

marching on Jalapa, have prevented the gaining of

any time by the Mexican commander. In either of

the latter cases the garrison and material were lost.
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Santa Anna knew all this
; and, years before,

when speaking of an invasion of the country, he

had said,
" In every defile of these mountains they

will find a Thermopylae."^ With the knowledge
that the points of defense were in the interior, it

may he deemed strange that his action with refer

ence to Vera Cruz was not the same as that in ref

erence to Tampico, for they were hoth very much
in the same situation. Had he at the time heen

in the full tide of popularity, which the achieve

ment of a victory would have given him, it is very

prohahle that such a course might have heen adopt
ed

;
hut the pride of the nation in the castle, which

had held out against the efforts of its own arms for

two years, would have rendered any such action

exceedingly hazardous to himself, unless his power
was confirmed hy the prestige of previous success.

By not withdrawing the garrison and material, he

lost hoth. He gained delay, which was important
to him under the existing circumstances, and he

avoided responsibility.

As for the defense of Vera Cruz, it was passive,

and consisted of but a distant cannonade. The
answer of General Morales to the summons of Gen
eral Scott was demonstrative of bravery, and, so far

as words are concerned, it will compare well with

those which, when supported by a stout resistance,

become famous in history, but if not, soon pass

into forgetfulness.

Although Vera Cruz, as attacked, must have fall-

*
Waddy Thompson's Recollections of Mexico, chapter xxiv., p. 230.
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en, yet, had preparations teen made by provision

ing the garrison, and the non-combatants have been

sent out of the city before the investment, there

were many elements of resistance in favor of the

besieged, which, if properly improved, would have

given the city a better claim to the title of " heroic"

than which she can assert at present. The struc

ture of the houses, the size and good condition of

the armament, the immediate vicinity of the castle,

the heat of the climate, to which the besiegers were

unaccustomed, the nature of the coast and the coun

try, were all in favor of the defense
;
and though

the besieged could not have escaped capture, they

might have delayed it, and set an example which

would have gone far to have done away the effects

of previous defeats, and aroused the waning spirit

of the Mexican nation. It is true that it is diffi

cult for a city to resist a bombardment, but the

structure of the houses of Vera Cruz gave the capa

city for a longer defense than that which was made.

Had they not, the city must have capitulated at

once, or have been destroyed by conflagration. As

it was, however, with all these advantages, the

short period of resistance, and the accounts pub
lished in excuse for it, of the horrors of the bom

bardment, increased the dread of American arms,

and prevented the organization of any defense in

the towns in the interior.
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CHAPTER II.

Preparations for an Advance from Vera Cruz Order proclaiming Martial

Law Expedition to, and Occupation of Alvarado Advance from Vera

Cruz Information of the American General on Mexican Affairs Arrival

of advanced Corps at Plan del Rio Mexican Lines of Cerro Gordo

Twiggs's Intention of attacking them General Scott's Arrival Arrival of

Worth's Division Operations of 17th of April Capture of the Hill of El

Tclcgrafo Order of Battle BATTLE OF CERRO GORDO Occupation of

Perote Observations Disposition of new Troops made at Washington

Preparations for an Advance Discharge of seven Regiments of Volun

teers Naval Expeditions against Tuspan and along the southern Coast of

the Gulf.

THE attention of the American general was di

rected to the preparations for an advance into the

interior of Mexico immediately after the fall of

Vera Cruz.

In the delay which took place in awaiting the

arrival of transportation, Worth was appointed gov
ernor of the town, and at once entered upon his

duties. The various disorders which must always
ensue upon the occupation of a city by an invading

army were soon checked under his administration.

There were comparatively few in number of the

class of serious crimes, and those were promptly

punished ;
for having failed, after repeated rec

ommendations, made several times through the

Secretary of War, to obtain from Congress any

authority for courts martial sitting in foreign coun

tries to take cognizance of the various matters of

good order and moral discipline not included in
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the Rules and Articles of War, General Scott had

taken the responsibility upon himself. The partial

countenance of the Secretary of War, and the in

direct advice of the Chairman of the Military Com
mittee of the United States Senate,^ in favor of

such action, had been expressed, but not received

by the general-in-chief at the time. At Lobos he

had issued an order establishing military commis

sioners, to which such matters were to be referred,

and thus provided for what had hitherto been a

great want in the American service. Under the

provisions of his order, one person, found guilty

of rape, was hung, and others, of robbery, were

punished by imprisonment.
Confidence was in a great measure restored

among the inhabitants, both Mexican and foreign,

and they proceeded in their usual business. The

ruins of those parts of the city which had suffered

by the bombardment were cleared away, and the

traces of the siege, in a great degree, were obliter

ated.

On the day after the surrender General Quitman
was sent with a brigade upon Alvarado, to co-oper

ate with the navy in the capture of the place, from

which it had twice retired without success. He
arrived there on the 1st of April, but found the

town already in possession of a party of seamen

from the steamer Scourge, which had been station-

* Mr. Marcy to General Scott, February 15th, 1847. Executive Docu

ment, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 874.





LJ

X
LU

M
DC
LJ

cc:

UJ

O
OC



THE WAR WITH MEXICO 55

ed by Commodore Perry to watch the mouth of the

river. Lieutenant Hunter, who commanded the

steamer, had found the town unoccupied by Mex
ican troops, and, having demanded its surrender,

quietly took possession of it. The forms were all

gone through with, and when the naval and mili

tary expeditions arrived in force, there remained

nothing to do but to hold it. Hunter's conduct

was disapproved of, and for summoning the town

upon his own responsibility, and for disobedience

of orders, he was arrested and brought before a

court martial. The capture of Alvarado, like some

other affairs of later date and of more importance,

was thus ended by an official quarrel. Gen
eral Quitman's command marched for Vera Cruz

on the 4th, and on the same day the commodore

sailed for Anton Lizardo, having left a detachment

ofseamen and marines to hold the new acquisition.

The material for land transportation arrived

slowly at Vera Cruz from the depots of the north

ern line of operations and from the United States,

and the exertions made to obtain draught animals

from the country in the vicinity were not very sue-

cessful. Bat by the 6th of April transportation to

a limited amount was in readiness and soon to ar

rive, and the order was issued for the march.

The brigades of regulars had been organized into

divisions, to suit the brevet rank of Major-general

Worth, which had been received soon after the sur

render of the city. His was the first, and Twiggs's
the second division. The brigades of the first were
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under Brevet Colonel Garland and Colonel Clarke
;

those of the second under Brevet Brigadier-general

Smith and Brevet Colonel Biley.

Twiggs was ordered to march on the 8th, and

Patterson to follow him on the following morning,

with two of his brigades. The third was directed

to await transportation. The movement took place

as ordered, and both corps were put en route, the

first regiment of infantry having been detached

from Twiggs's division to form the garrison of Vera

Cruz and San Juan d'Ulloa.

The march had, however, but little reference to

the movements of the enemy, either known or an

ticipated, and was, in fact, a retreat before the yel

low fever, which was believed to be close at hand.

The information possessed by General Scott in ref

erence to Mexican affairs was exceedingly defect

ive. On the 5th, he had just received informa

tion of the cessation of the revolution in the capi

tal, the return of Santa Anna to power, and the ex

pulsion of Farias. At the time he expressed his

confidence that negotiations would soon be offered

on the part of the Mexican government, and that,

if American commissioners were sent out to his

head-quarters, they would be met by the time his

army arrived at Puebla.* Rumors were rife in

Vera Cruz that a Mexican commission had already
been appointed, and that, with a committee of Con

gress, it was awaiting the arrival of the American

* General Scott to Mr. Marcy, April 5th, 1847. Executive Document, No.

60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 909.
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general at Jalapa. When Twiggs marched, but

few anticipated any opposition on the route to that

point.

On the 9th General Scott received information

that Santa Anna had arrived at Jalapa with six

thousand men, and although he did not place im

plicit confidence in the report, he sent the informa

tion to Patterson and Twiggs in advance ;^ hut

although, upon the llth, they were in close vicin

ity of the enemy, they had not so much informa

tion, nor so explicit, as that of General Scott's.

Twiggs had reports that there was a force some

where at hand, but it was variously estimated by
his informants at from two to thirteen thousand

men. Pillow, who was temporarily in command
of the volunteer division, and was one day's march

in rear of Twiggs, believed that the enemy was

not over three thousand strong, f Scott received

their estimates, such as they were, on the evening
of the llth, and then believed that the number of

the enemy did not exceed four thousand, but nev

ertheless he started on the 12th in person to reach

the scene of action, and Worth's division marched

on the 13th.

Twiggs was already in front of the enemy. On
the llth he had reached the village of Plan del

Rio, from which place a cavalry picket fell back

on his approach. On the 12th he marched three

* General Scott to Mr. Marcy, April llth, 1847. Executive Document,

No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p.

9-29.

Idem, p. 939, 9-10.
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miles and a half in advance to cover a reconnais

sance, which wras daringly made, and in which

Lieutenant-colonel Johnstone was severely wound
ed. The reconnaissance, however, developed the

general position of the enemy. He was found in

force, and much stronger than had been anticipated,

both in numbers and in position.

The course of El Rio del Plan, a small but rapid

stream, is south of east for some miles above the

village of Plan del Rio. The national road crosses

it at the village, and, with various windings and

turns, has a general direction to the north and north

west, until, at a point about three and a half miles

from the bridge, it turns into the pass, and, in a di

rection south of west, continues on for more than

a mile, and approaches near to the northern bank,

aloiif which it runs for some distance toward Jala-o

pa. The road is a continual ascent for most of the

distance.

The Mexican lines were in the angle formed thus

by the road and the stream, and about a mile east

of its salient. There the heights south of the road

presented three ridges to the east, which descend

ed gradually into rugged ground, broken into rocky

ravines, and covered by thick chaparral. On the

salients of these three ridges were batteries com

manding the eastern extremity of the pass, and all

the broken ground south of the road to the river.

No. 1, on the right, rested upon the bank, which

for some miles along the stream was precipitous

and impracticable, being at least five hundred feet
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in height. No. 2, the strongest and most advanced,

commanded most of the approaches to Nos. 1 and

3, the ground in its own front, and a path hy which

an approach might be made from the main road

without entering the pass. It had two supporting

works in rear. No. 3 was nearest the road, and

swept it from a short distance. In these three

batteries were mounted seventeen guns of different

calibers.

At the point where the road approaches the bank

of the river was a battery of six guns, sweeping
the pass for most of its length, and which could

bear upon the roads leading to the batteries to the

east. That which led to No. 3, next the road, was

furnished, for most of its length, with a parapet for

infantry, whence a plunging fire could be deliver

ed upon a column moving along the pass.

This battery of six guns was at the base of Cer-

ro Gordo, a conical hill which towered above the

heights and forests of the surrounding country.

Its sides were steep, and bare of trees, and encircled

by two lines of abattis and breast-works. Upon
the summit a redoubt had been constructed, mount

ing six guns. The main Mexican camp was upon
the road west of Cerro Gordo, protected by a bat

tery of five pieces of artillery.

By this disposition of batteries, the pass and all

the ground south of the road and to the river were

most strongly defended, and above all, Cerro Gordo

was a commanding position, which rendered the

possession of any separate work exceedingly haz-
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ardous, if captured. In fact, the advance by the

road or by the ground to its south was impractica

ble, in face of the lines, except by the loss of many
men. On the north but few artificial obstacles

were presented, but the ground was exceedingly

difficult. The hills immediately on the road were

steep and rugged, and covered with a thick trop

ical shrubbery, and along the north of the base of

Cerro Gordo was a wide and deep ravine, which

approached the road near the mouth of the pass,

leaving between it and the hills a portion of ground,

broken and covered with undergrowth, but practi

cable for infantry. In the space between the ra

vine and the road, immediately east of Cerro Gor

do, rose the hill of El Telegrafo, of the same char

acter as the main hill, but of less height. It was

unfurnished with defensive works.

These defensive positions w
rere occupied by San

ta Anna's forces, numbering over thirteen thousand

men. A portion were of the men of Angostura, a

portion of the troops of the line which had been

stationed in the city of Mexico, but many were

new levies, raised by compulsion, and brought down
from the country around Mexico and Puebla. These

were almost entirely undisciplined, and unaccus,

tomed to the use of arms. Nevertheless, confident

in his strong position, in his powerful artillery, and

in his fortifications, the Mexican general entertain

ed strong hopes of success. He had issued procla

mations calculated to infuse a heroic spirit into his

men, and was loud in his professions of personal
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devotion.^ All these have appeared ridiculous

in the eyes of his enemies
;
but Santa Anna was

speaking to a Mexican, not an American audience
;

and when it is remembered that in less than two

months this same general had suffered an over

whelming defeat, had lost a large portion of his

army by desertion, and disease, and in battle, had

traveled six hundred miles, quelled a revolution,

established his own power upon a basis of tempo

rary strength, and had collected an army of such

numbers without money, and without many of the

ordinary resources for military preparation ;
that a

portion of this army had, during the same period,

marched over six hundred miles, and the remain

der nearly three
;
when it is remembered that all

this had been done, and the strong lines about the

pass of Cerro Gordo had been constructed, surely

it can not be denied that Santa Anna was a man
of exceeding ability, thus to have created resources

and an army out of materials apparently dispersed

and indisposable. His energy was indeed surpris

ing, and no natural difficulties were obstacles to

him.

The position about Cerro Gordo was without wa
ter, and to supply it, a road was cut along the al

most perpendicular bank of the Rio del Plan
; but,

to increase the supply, and save the labor of bring

ing it by that dangerous route, it was brought
twelve miles by a ditch, down the gentle descent

* Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 259.
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from the hacienda of Encerro. Being thus provid

ed, with a free communication with the interior,

the Mexican army might have hoped to remain he-

hind the strong intrenchment while the invaders

wasted their strength against them, and in a short

time fell a prey to the yellow fever
;

for the coun

try east of Cerro Gordo was all in the tierra cali-

ente, and the immediate vicinity of Plan del Rio

was the most deadly of all.

Upon his return from the reconnaissance, Gen
eral Twiggs found Pillow's and Shields's brigades

of volunteers at Plan del Rio
;
and as Patterson

was still in the rear, and had reported sick, Twiggs
assumed command of the whole force. He had

spoken of an intention to assault the Mexican po
sition on the following morning ; but, finding the

volunteers much broken down by the march through
the hot country from Vera Cruz, upon consultation

with their generals he concluded to defer his as

sault for one day. On the following, the 13th, he

issued his orders, assigning to each division its par

ticular duties.^ Whether these orders were issued

to be executed, or were only set forth as the expo
nent of the good intentions of the temporary com

mander, they were of no effect
;
for Patterson, hav

ing heard of them, came up, and sent an order for

Twiggs to suspend offensive operations until the

arrival of the general-in-chief, or until he received

orders from him. It was perhaps fortunate that

* General Twiggs's Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate,

first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 275.
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it so happened ; for, although the general charac

ter of the Mexican position had heen ascertained,

yet General Twiggs could not have known much
of the detail of the defensive works. The greater

portion were not closely reconnoitered until some

days afterward.

General Scott arrived at Plan del Rio on the

14th, and from the time of his arrival reconnais

sances were pushed with diligence. Knowing his

ability to force his way, and having no danger from

the rear or on either flank, he was in no haste to

compromise the safety of even a portion of his army

by an assault, without proper knowledge of the lo

cality. His attention was directed to the left of

the Mexican position ; and, after close and daring

observations made by the reconnoitering officers,

it was deemed practicable to penetrate in that di

rection. The lines upon the right were also exam

ined, and reconnaissances were pushed up the left

bank of the Bio del Plan, which enabled a view

to be taken in reArerse of the battery next the bank.

These occupied some days.

Meanwhile Worth had arrived at the Puente

Nacional, fifteen miles in rear of Plan del Rio, on

the morning of the loth. He halted there during
the day ;

but having heard from an informal source

that the battle was to take place on the following

morning, that evening he dispatched an aid-de-

cainp to Scott for instructions. His division was

under arms at twelve o'clock at night, ready to

continence the march
; but, having been kept await-
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ing the order until daylight, the aid-de-camp re

turned with General Scott's instructions to move

up at leisure. Worth therefore remained quiet at

the bridge until the afternoon of the 16th, when
he set out and marched through the whole distance

to Plan del Rio without a halt, where he arrived

about midnight.

The plan of attack which had been determined

upon included turning the Mexican left, and, for

the purpose of opening a practicable road for artil

lery in that direction, on the morning of the 17th

Twiggs's division marched from Plan del Rio.

Turning to the right a short distance from the

mouth of the pass, it pursued its way for some dis

tance through the chaparral without interruption.

In a short time, however, the movement was ob

served from the Mexican batteries, and their guns
were at once opened heavily upon the flank of the

troops. But the distance was great, the fire was

plunging, and being partially screened from view

by the foliage, and from shot by the inequalities

of the ground, the troops were but little annoyed.
A party of Mexican skirmishers were in the

mean time observed on the crest of a hill in ad

vance and to the left of the commenced route, and

Colonel Harney, who commanded General Smith's

brigade (Smith being sick), sent up a company of

the seventh infantry, under Lieutenant Gardner, to

dislodge it. Gardner found himself engaged with

a greatly superior force, but he held his ground un

til Harney sent up the rifles and first artillery to
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his assistance. These forces soon cleared the crest

of the hills, and, pursuing closely, came within

range of the hattery on the road at the base of Cerro

Gordo, which opened with canister on the com

mand, killing and wounding many men. The

Mexicans made a stand on the hill of El Telegrafo,

but the Americans advanced at once, unmindful

of the flank fire, and carried it. The nature of the

ground caused much confusion, and the regiments

making the assault became separated. Lieuten

ant-colonel Childs, who commanded the first artil

lery, supposing that the action had just commenced,
and that Cerro Gordo was to be stormed immediate

ly, led his regiment down into the valley between

the hills, and, commencing the ascent of Cerro

Gordo, arrived with a portion of it in close proximi

ty of the enemy's positions. The recall was, how

ever, sounded, and he fell back, having lost thirty-

two men in killed and wounded from the fire of the

enemy in the intrenchments. In the mean time,

Harney, fearing that Childs had become too seri

ously engaged to withdraw, and would require sup

port, formed the rifle regiment and seventh infantry

for that purpose. As the advance of Riley's brig

ade reached the position at the time, it was sent

round the base of El Telegrafo to co-operate in the

attack, should it be necessary to make one, by an

advance on the left of Cerro Gordo
;
but Childs

retired without further loss
;
and although the Mex

icans came forth from their intrenchments in ap

parent pursuit, and mustered thick in the valley,

II. E
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yet they quickly retired before the fire of a battery

of mountain howitzers, which had been brought to

the crest of the American hill, without any further

demonstration of assault. So soon as they had re

tired, the guns of their battery on Cerro Gordo open

ed, overwhelming the opposite summit with bullets,

and forced the American troops to keep close be

hind the crest.

The firing having been heard at the camp at

Plan del Rio, General Scott ordered Shields, with

two regiments of volunteers, to move to Twiggs's

support. Two twenty-four pounder howitzers and

one twenty-four pounder gun were sent to be placed

in position upon the summit of El Telegrafo, but

the nature of the ground prevented their speedy

arrival, and they were not at the foot of the hill

until quite dark. To assist in the attack upon the

batteries on the Mexican right, an eight-inch siege

howitzer was ordered to be placed in position on

the heights on the south bank of the river to en

filade battery No. 1. The tasks of locating this

artillery were of exceeding difficulty. The road,

which had been cut with much labor, for the pur

pose of turning Cerro Gordo, was impracticable

for draught animals, and the guns had to be haul

ed by hand for much of the distance. The hill of

El Telegrafo was exceedingly rugged and precipi

tous, and to locate heavy ordnance upon its sum
mit required the exertions of a large number of

men, after it had been brought to the base. Nev

ertheless, early on the following morning the how-
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itzers and twenty-four pounder were in battery,

and opened upon the Mexican fort on Cerro Gordo.

The eight-inch howitzer was drawn from the bridge

at Plan del Rio, the entire distance, two miles and

a half, by hand. The route was rugged, blocked

up with rocks and palmetto trees, and of alternate

elevation and declivity, yet the detachment having
the work in hand toiled on during the night, gain

ing ground foot by foot, until, by nine o'clock on

the morning of the 18th, that, too, was in position.

General Scott issued his orders for battle on

the 17th. Twiggs was directed to continue his

movement, and to take up a position across the

National Road, to cut the retreat of the Mexican

army toward Jalapa. Worth was ordered to fol

low the movement against the enemy's left at sun

rise on the following morning. Pillow's brigade

was to move upon the batteries upon the enemy's

right, along a route which that general had recon-

noitered, and to be ready, so soon as he heard the

report of arms upon his right, to carry them. The

cavalry and a field battery were to remain in re

serve. The remaining field guns were to accom

pany their divisions. All corps were directed to

pursue with vigor, until stopped by darkness or

fortified positions, toward Jalapa.^

Worth's division and Pillow's brigade moved ear

ly on the morning of the 18th from their camps at

Plan del Rio. Upon arriving near the mouth of

* General Orders, No. 111. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, first

Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 258.
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the pass, Worth halted for a time, and Pillow led

his brigade first and second Pennsylvanians and

first and second Tennesseeans by a foot-path into

the heights and thickets on the left of the road.

Worth soon after took the route which Twiggs
had pursued, having Duncan's battery at the head

of his division.

Soon after the batteries on El Telegrafo had

opened, Harney, having his whole force in hand

upon the summit, the first artillery, rifles, seventh

and third infantry (the third having been tempo

rarily detached from Riley's brigade), sent the ri

fles into the ravine to the left, and formed the sev

enth and third infantry in line for the storming

force, to be supported by the first artillery. At

this time Santa Anna was upon Cerro Gordo in

person, and he ordered up a body of infantry from

the camp in rear. Seeing this corps approach Cer

ro Gordo, Harney did not wait for the commence

ment of an engagement by the rifles, but at once

ordered the advance of the stormers. The heavy
batteries upon the summit of the two hills in the

while kept up the cannonade, but the American

line descended the slope into the valley with rapid

ity, and, although exposed to a heavy fire, com
menced at once the ascent of Cerro Gordo. It was

steep, and as rugged as that of El Telegrafo ; but,

though out of breath, the troops of the whole com
mand rushed on, carrying a line of breast-works

and abattis some sixty yards from the foot of the"

slope, and, in disorder, continued on to the second
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line, within a short distance of the summit. The
Mexican troops within it, as well as from the fort

higher up, poured down a continual stream of mus

ketry, which, aimed too high, passed mostly over

the heads of the Americans. A demonstration was

made of descending the hill to meet the assaulting
forces on their right ;

hut it was quickly checked,

and, after a short halt, the whole command moved
forward in face of the incessant fire, and entered

the work on the summit. The struggle for its pos
session was of short duration. The Mexican troops

tried to engage in a hand to hand conflict
;
hut

General Vasquez, who commanded the position,

was killed, other generals were captured, and the

mass of the garrison hroke down the slope toward

the Jalapa road, while, with loud shouts and con

tinued firing, scattered parties of the American

troops pursued for a distance.

Biley, with the second infantry and fourth artil

lery, had followed the engineers, who were engaged
in continuing the path around Cerro Gordo. From
that hill the Mexican skirmishers had for some

time kept up a heavy discharge upon his flank,

and he ordered two companies to hold them in

check. Twiggs, coming up for a time, ordered the

remaining force to their support.^ Riley was al

ready in rear of the hill, and, the movement hav

ing been commenced, he pushed on up the reverse

slope, driving the Mexican skirmishers who cov-

* Colonel Riley's Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate,

first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 288.
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ered it before him, and his advanced companies
entered the work on the summit at the same time

that the first brigade came over the crest from the

front.

General Shields had led his brigade, consisting

of the third and fourth Illinois regiments and a

battalion of the New York Volunteers, to the right

of the route followed by Riley, and, passing the

hill, turned to his left, in the direction of the

Mexican camp. Pressing forward through the

tangled chaparral, he came in sight of the battery
of five guns, supported by a large body of infantry
and the cavalry of the Mexican army. While the

volunteers were forming for the assault, the Mexi
cans opened a heavy fire from their battery, which

severely wounded Shields and cut up his command.

Colonel Baker, who succeeded him, ordered the

advance. The foremost companies rushed at the

battery, and, being supported by the remainder of

the command in some confusion, succeeded in

reaching it and capturing two of the guns.

From the position on the summit of Cerro Gordo,

Riley had observed the Mexican battery, and had

ordered the second infantry to proceed against it.

Soon after, he received orders from Twiggs, who
was still below, to move his brigade against the

enemy's left.^ So soon as the command could be

collected, in the confusion generally incident upon
the capture of an important work, the remainder

* Colonel Riley's Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate,

first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 289.
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of the brigade followed. The enemy, threatened

by his approach and that of the volunteers, fled in

confusion, and Riley's troops laid hands upon three

of the guns. General Canalizo, who commanded
the Mexican cavalry, led it off without striking a

blow to cover the retreat, in spite of the orders of

Santa Anna, who, infuriated at the bad fortune of

the day, ordered him to advance against the Amer

icans, even if he should charge up the ascent of

Cerro Gordo itself.

During the continuance of the struggle about

Cerro Gordo, Worth's division was in the path
which had been followed by Twiggs. Duncan's

battery, at the head of the division, had become

entangled in the rocks, and blocked the road to the

passage of the infantry for some time. Lieutenant-

colonel C. F. Smith's light battalion, however, got

in advance of it, was ordered forward, and moved

to the support of the American right. Scott had

come up with his staff from Plan del Rio, and re

mained for a time behind the hill of El Telegrafo.

Worth passed on and ascended Cerro Gordo. Some

apprehension was felt that the enemy would make
another struggle for the point, and his infantry was

therefore ordered to pass the battery in the path
and ascend the hill.

While these events occurred, Harney had sent

the seventh infantry down the southern slope of

Cerro Gordo to occupy the National Road, and

the captured guns upon the summit, having been

manned by officers and men, had been served upon
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the retreating enemy. So soon as he was heyond

range, these guns were turned upon the line of

intrenchments on the Mexican right.

There, Pillow had led his brigade to the attack,

intending to assault what appeared to he a salient

angle of hreast-works hetween batteries Nos. 1 and

2, in two columns. The right was to he composed
of the second Tennessee regiment, supported by
the second Pennsylvania, and the left of the first

Pennsylvania, to be supported by the first Ten

nessee. The second Tennessee regiment got into

position, but the ground was rocky and covered

with thick shrubbery, the path by which the ap

proach had been made was narrow, and the re

maining troops were not in place, when the enemy
opened a heavy fire from all his guns which would

bear, and from at least two thousand muskets.

The batteries were defended by old troops of the

Mexican line, with a re-enforcement of new levies,

and they were commanded by men who showed

great steadiness of purpose in battle, when com

pared with the majority of Mexican generals.

Jarrero, La Vega, and Pinson, who commanded,
set the example of brave conduct to their men

;

and although the eight-inch howitzer from the

right bank of the river was opened upon their

flank, and drove that part of the garrison of No. I

which was exposed to its fire from the position, yet
the greater number of the Mexican troops stood

manfully to their post, and plied their guns and

muskets vigorously. Unable to stand under the



THE WAR WITH MEXICO. 73

fire, Pillow ordered the charge while his troops

were still in disorder in the "broken ground. Has-

kell's regiment, which was in advance, rushed on

with a shout
;
but the enemy's fire was heavy, the

volunteers, "badly disciplined, soon got into com

plete confusion, and, finally, having suffered se

verely in officers and men, the regiment fell back

under the orders of the colonel, who led the retreat.

The first Pennsylvania regiment had advanced to

the position assigned to it on the left, but had not

commenced the assault. The second Pennsylva-
nians were in confusion in the rear of the second

Tennesseeans
; and, while affairs were in this situ

ation, to add to the difficulty, Pillow, who was

crossing the ravine which extended between the

positions intended for his right and left, was wound
ed. Colonel Campbell brought the first Tennessee

regiment past the scattered parties of beaten troops,

and, under Pillow's orders, commenced reforming
the brigade for another assault. The first Ten

nessee regiment had seen service at Monterey, and

was fairly disciplined ;
but the other troops of the

brigade were eminently raw, and the check which

had been received shook the nerves of many, so

that a large number fled from their colors to the

National Road, upon which they came out at the

point where the battery and the dragoons were

stationed at the mouth of the pass in reserve.

Santa Anna, who had been upon Cerro Gordo at

the commencement of the action, had given orders

to Vasquez to defend the position to the last
;
an
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order faithfully executed, so far as that general per

sonally was concerned. He had then proceeded

to the right, and had witnessed the check of Pil

low's attack, and returned to the left in time to see

the capture of Cerro Gordo. There, after having

given his orders to Canalizo, which that general

had refused to ohey, he saw that all was lost, and,

mounting a mule taken from his coach, he descend

ed the rocky path to the river, with a crowd of fu

gitives from Cerro Gordo, and, fording the stream,

broke through a pass in the heights of the south

bank, and took the road to Orizaba.

Pinson, Jarrero, and La Vega, seeing themselves

cut off, Pillow's troops being still in their front,

Worth's division and Harney's brigade in rear and

on the left flank, on the right the precipitous bank

of the river, and being annoyed by the fire of the

captured guns from Cerro Gordo and the eight-inch

howitzer, sounded a parley and hoisted a white

flag. Worth, observing it from the summit of Cerro

Gordo, sent Harney and Childs down to receive it.

The Mexicans demanded terms, and stated their

ability to escape by the river bank. The American

officers refused to grant them
; and, finally, after

some continuance of the parley, the greater num
ber of the force in the intrenchments laid down

their arms, and surrendered unconditionally as pris

oners of war. The prisoners taken numbered over

three thousand, including five general officers, and

were marched to Plan del Rio under the escort of

Pillow's brigade.
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After the Mexican batteries at the camp had

been carried by Riley's brigade and the volunteers,

and the Mexican troops in that quarter were in full

flight toward Jalapa, General Twiggs came for

ward to that point and ordered the pursuit. Two
of Taylor's guns had been brought round with great

difficulty to the road, and the mountain howitzer

battery soon followed. These pieces, with a sup

porting force of volunteers, were pushed on, and,

only catching occasional glimpses of the flying en

emy, pursued him as far as the stream of Dos Rlos,

near the hacienda of Encerro. Upon their arrival

at that point, the Mexicans were found in some

force on the opposite bank, and Taylor threw a few

shot in their direction
;
but at this time he was

without any supporting force, and soon fell back,

leaving the Mexicans unmolested in their retreat.

The dragoons of the army had been left at the

mouth of the pass in reserve, and for some time

after the victory had been achieved were forgot

ten by all of the commanders. Scott had proceed

ed to the summit of Cerro Gordo, and was occu

pied in attending to the surrender of the troops on

the Mexican right. Affairs were in the confusion

often incident to a victory ; but, finally, the dra

goons were ordered forward, and Patterson, whose

division had been broken up in the action, moved

with them in pursuit. He passed rapidly over the

same ground which Twiggs's scattered parties had

traversed, overtaking that general at Corral Falso.

Twiggs was ordered to advance with his division
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as fast as it came up, and Patterson, passing him

with the dragoons, halted at Encerro. One troop

continued the pursuit some miles further, and cap
tured several stragglers from the Mexican rear.

The main hody of Twiggs's division and Shields's

brigade of volunteers halted that night likewise at

Encerro. Worth's division remained in the imme
diate vicinity of Cerro Gordo. The general hos

pital was established at Plan del Rio, and at that

place the general-in-chief remained with Pillow's

brigade.

On the following morning Patterson entered Ja-

lapa with the dragoons, followed by Twiggs's di

vision and the volunteer corps which had advanced.

Worth marched to within four miles of the city,

and, having ordered the destruction of the captured

arms, and paroled the prisoners of war, with the

exception of a few officers who refused to receive

it, General Scott came up to Encerro. He enter

ed Jalapa on the morning of the 20th, in advance

of Worth's division, and, after a few hours, sent

that corps in advance toward Perote.

It was anticipated that resistance would be made
at the strong castle near that town, and hence the

rapid movement. On the 21st Worth reached Las

Vigas, having passed through the difficult position

of La Hoya, a pass as strong as that of Cerro Gordo,

at which defensive works had been commenced

and partially armed. The guns were destroyed.

At noon on the 22d the division reached Perote,

and took quiet possession of the castle
;

for Can-
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alizo, who had passed in swift retreat on the 19th,

had ordered General Gaona, who commanded, to

retire with the small garrison which was in the

place. Gaona, being without provisions to stand a

siege or men to defend the place, quickly obeyed

him, leaving an officer to turn over the property

and munitions in the castle to the Americans.

There Worth's orders obliged him to halt.

The American forces present at the battle of

Cerro Gordo, including those in reserve as well as

those in action, did not exceed 9000 men. The

loss in the two days' actions was in all, killed and

wounded, 431, of which number 33 were officers.^

The result of the battle was decisive for the

time. The Mexican army was completely dis

persed, with an indefinite loss in killed and wound
ed

;
3000 in prisoners, including five generals ;

all

of its artillery, forty-three pieces of different cali

bers, and seven standards. Indeed, in the words

of the American general-in-chief,
" Mexico had no

longer an army."f

The efficiency of extensive lines of intrenchment

has long been a question among military men.

Many great authorities might be cited on either

side
;
and Napoleon, the greatest of all, says, that

the assistance of the engineer is an auxiliary which
* General Scott's Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate,

first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 264.

t General Scott to General Taylor. Executive Document, No. 60, House

of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 948.
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is never injurious, almost always useful, and often

indispensable. Nevertheless, the examples in his

tory where lines defended by undisciplined troops,

or where vigorously attacked hy any troops better

than the defenders, have availed any thing for ul

timate successful defense, are very few, though

sometimes, as at New Orleans, the exceptions have

been so striking as to form the rule in the minds

of many. Napoleon never failed in carrying any
lines which he attacked

;
and other high authori

ties admit that they may, in general, prevent the

passage of undisciplined soldiers but seldom when
the assailants are the superiors in hardihood and

discipline.

The battle of Cerro Gordo is illustrative of their

efficiency and their uselessness. The lines of ab-

attis and the fort on the summit of Cerro Gordo

retarded the progress of the veterans of the second

division scarcely one instant after the attack com

menced. The lines upon the Mexican right check

ed the volunteers, and threw them into confusion.

In these instances, however, there is no doubt that

the lines upon the right were stronger than the po
sition of Cerro Gordo

;
for the approach there was

generally level or gently ascending, while the

plunging fire from Cerro Gordo lost much of its

accuracy and effect. Had the battle continued,

too, the positions in that direction might eventual

ly have been forced
;
for the approach upon battery

No. 1, close to the river bank, where the main at

tack in that quarter should have been made, if



THE WAR WITH MEXICO. 79

made at all, was sheltered from the other batteries,

and the howitzer on the right bank of the river

would have materially aided an assaulting force

by its enfilading fire.

It has been seen, in the course of the narrative,

that the movement from Vera Cruz was under

taken without knowledge of, or reference to the po
sition or intentions of the enemy ;

that the Ameri

can army marched by detached divisions
;
and that

the full detail of the strength and position of the

enemy were unknown until some days after the

arrival of the advance of the army within four

miles of him, at the village of Plan del Rio. The

subject of the battle was therefore a new one to

the general-in-chief upon his arrival at that point,

and time was necessarily lost in reconnaissance.

This, however, was not of ultimate consequence
in the state of things which existed

; for, although
it might have been expected that Santa Anna
would gain advantage by the delay, yet Scott

gained far more than he could by the knowledge
of position and the arrival of Worth's division at

Plan del Rio. The main advance by the right

and the endeavor to turn the enemy's left were the

consequences of the close reconnaissance which

had been carried on on the previous day, which

developed the strength of the positions, and the

practicability, though difficult nature of the move

ment, which threatened a far less loss than to at

tack in front. But although it is a settled princi

ple in war " never to attack a position in front
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which you can gain hy turning,"
3*

yet, had Cerro

Gordo been defended hy good and hrave troops and

by a skillful general, and had the Americans at

tempted it, as they did on the 17th, it would have

been exceedingly hazardous for their success
;
for

Twiggs's division was advanced to make the road,

some four miles from Plan del Rio, and to within

close vicinity of the enemy, and, besides its labor

of construction, was obliged to fight its way alone.

An enterprising enemy might very well have at

tempted, by moving out in force and falling* heavily

upon the division, to crush it at once, and beat the

American army in detail. But the character of

Mexicans for battle was known to the American

general, and as all the rest which he could give

his troops was required by the heat of the climate,

the advance of this division, at first unsupported,

was undoubtedly advisable.

In the order of attack issued by General Scott

on the 17th, it was apparently contemplated that

the retreat of the enemy by the Jalapa road should

be intercepted before any positive attack should be

made ;f for Twiggs was to move on by the route

which he was pursuing for that object, and nothing
was said in the whole order concerning the attack

on Cerro Gordo. Pillow was to attack the lines on

the Mexican right so soon as he heard the report

of arms
;
and as Twiggs's and Pillow's troops con-

*
Napoleon.

t General Orders, No. 111. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, first Ses

sion of the thirtieth Congress, p. 258.
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stituted the whole force of the army excepting

Worth's division, it would appear that the latter

force was the one which was intended should as

sault and carry Cerro Gordo, unless, indeed, it sur

rendered so soon as it was ascertained that the re

treat of the Mexican force was intercepted.

It is quite prohahle that it was not practicable

for Twiggs's whole force to have moved on by the

route which he was cutting, exposing, as he must

have done, his flank to the Mexicans on Cerro

Gordo, before that position was carried
; certainly

it was not safe for him to attempt it, unless "Worth's

troops were in close vicinity, to threaten, if not to

storm, the hill during the movement. It was not

attempted on the part of General Twiggs to obey
the order literally ; and, although it does not ap

pear that he gave any orders for Colonel Harney's

troops to storm, yet he doubtless was quite willing

that the chief honor of the victory should belong
to his division, rather than the credit of having

simply cut off the retreat. In consequence of the

attack by Harney's troops before the movement to

the rear was complete, the Mexican "
force was di

vided, all of the batteries east of the hill being

separated from the main body of the army encamp
ed on the Jalapa road west of the hill." 1* The vic

tory was achieved
; but, as the Mexican force was

divided by the movements of the battle, it is diffi-

* Lieutenant-colonel Hitchcock's Report of Prisoners, &c., &c. Execu

tive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth

Congress, p. 1089.

II. F
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cult to perceive how the plan which was sketched

in General Scott's order was "
executed,"^ for that

order contemplated turning the whole position ;
and

inasmuch as the whole Mexican army would have

heen compromised in the event of its successful ex

ecution, and the number of prisoners would have

heen greater, the victory would perhaps have heen

more complete. As it was, however, and as all

the prisoners were liberated on parole, the attack

on Cerro Gordo, whether caused by the desire of

General Twiggs to take the chief glory of the bat

tle, or by the impracticable nature of the move

ment prescribed by General Scott, did not affect

the completeness of the victory, so far as its effect

upon the main operations of the war was concerned.

The attack of the lines on the Mexican right

was more positive than was required by the nature

of the position or by circumstances ; for, even had

they been carried, they would not have insured

the victory ; wherefore it is hard to see, since

the positions would have been gained if Cerro

Gofdo were carried, the necessity of attacking

them seriously in front. General Scott was proba

bly influenced by the desire of the volunteers to

participate in the action. Whatever it may have

been which caused him to order the attack in that

quarter, the works proved to be much stronger than

had been anticipated by either himself or General

Pillow
;
and other than the effect of having a force

* General Scott's Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate,

first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 255.
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in front of the works after Cerro Gordo had fallen,

which prevented an escape of the troops there en

gaged, the attack was of little ultimate benefit.

As for the pursuit of the enemy, it was, from its

nature, of hut little effect, except as to causing the

routed Mexicans some fatigue. The horde of let

ter-writers who followed in the train of the Amer
ican army represented it as peculiarly terrific and

destructive, and that the Jalapa road was encum
bered with dead for many miles a statement

which I may he permitted to doubt, inasmuch as

on the morning of the 19th not a dozen were to be

seen along the whole distance from Cerro Gordo to

Encerro. How could there have been, when the

Mexicans had half an hour's start on the infantry

and artillery, and nearly two hours on the cavalry?

When, at the close of the session, the American

Congress had passed the laws authorizing the rais

ing of ten new regiments of regular troops, which

had been urged upon its attention as of immedi

ate necessity for the prosecution of hostilities, the

President and the War Department put forth the

most strenuous exertions to raise the troops, and

send them en route for the seat of war. In the ex

isting state of feeling in the United States, recruits

were quickly obtained, and in a short space of

time detachments were in motion for Brazos San

Jago. That point had been selected as the rendez

vous before General Scott left Washington, and
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during the month of March many rumors of the

dangerous situation and of the defeat of General

Taylor's army about Saltillo had found their way
to Washington, and it was deemed necessary to

place a force in position to guard against the con

tingency of further disaster in that quarter, al

though implicit reliance was not placed upon the

rumors.^

In fulfillment of such design, General Cadwala-

der and some thousand troops disembarked at Bra

zos San Jago ;
hut so soon as authentic news of the

victory of Buena Vista had heen received at Wash

ington, the orders were modified, and the troops

for service upon the different lines were apportion

ed.! It was intended to send re-enforcements of

regulars and volunteers to increase Scott's march

ing force to about 20,000 men, and Taylor's aggre

gate to about half that number
;
and although vari

ous casualties reduced the number originally enlist

ed sadly, yet a sufficient force for filling the armies

to the respective strength proposed was raised for

the service in the United States.

When General Scott entered Jalapa, he gave
immediate attention to getting up necessaries from

Vera Cruz with what transportation he had, and

made arrangements for continuing the advance.

Having learned of Cadwalader's presence at Brazos

San Jago, on the 25th of April he sent orders to

* Mr. Marcy to General Scott. Executive Document, No. 60, House of

Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 1242.

t Mr. Marcy to General Scott, April 30th, and papers appended. Idem,

p. 922.
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that officer to send a part, if not the whole of his

command to Vera Cruz, and to prevent the landing
of any additional corps at that point, leaving to his

discretion the number, if any, which it might he

necessary to leave there for the defense or re-en

forcement of the northern line ;# but it was not in

tended to await his arrival before commencing the

movement into the interior, as time must necessari

ly elapse before he could receive the order, and the

transportation of the troops would cause delay.

Worth, meanwhile, had thrown a brigade some

eighteen miles in advance of Perote, to Tepeahual-

co, and was engaged in obtaining supplies from the

surrounding country. He had much success, but

was impatient to proceed while the effect of the

battle of Cerro Gordo continued. Scott did not

consider that the state of the depots at Vera Cruz

and Jalapa would permit him to order an immedi

ate advance, and about the 27th of April learned

that the mass of the new levies had been ordered

to Brazos San Jago.

The proposed appointment of a lieutenant gen
eral had already caused the general-in-chief to en

tertain and express unfriendly feelings to the War
Department, and in this location of the troops he

found new cause of disappointment and vexation.

But although he feared, in consequence of this di

version of force, that the army would be in no suf

ficient strength to march upon the capital, yet

* Lieutenant Scott to General Cadwalader. Executive Document, No.

60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 950.
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about the 1st of May he had the advance in con

templation.

The volunteer division was first to move up to

Perote and relieve Worth, who was to advance on

Puebla. When the orders were announced, how

ever, a difficulty was presented by the volunteers.

Their term of service lacked but a month and a

half of its expiration, and as the vomito was look

ed upon with dread, most of them were clamorous

for discharge during their term of service at New
Orleans, in order that they might pass Vera Cruz

on their return before it became extensively preva

lent. After some reflection, although the provision

for the return of seven regiments to the United

States took away from his immediate disposal

many resources which were absolutely needed for

the operating forces which remained, General Scott

determined to discharge them from his army. The

measure was gratuitous upon his part, for no pro

vision of the law under which these troops came

into the service expressed that they should be dis

charged in the United States
;
but moved, as was

said, by considerations of "humanity and good

faith,"^ he chose to deprive himself of present

strength, and delay the operations of the war, to

gratify the clamor of the volunteers. His order

upon the subject was issued on the 4th of May,
and soon after the different detachments moved in

succession to the sea-coast.

* General Orders, No. 135. Executive Document, No. 60, House of Rep

resentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 956.
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The discharge of the volunteers left Patterson

without a command, and he returned to the United

States. Pillow and Quitman had been promoted
to the rank of major generals in the regular service,

to command the new regiments, and Pillow left to

bring forward his division, if possible. Quitman,

however, remained in command of four regiments
of volunteers which were in service for the war.

General Scott still determined to advance as far

as Puebla, and accordingly he ordered Quitman to

march from Jalapa on the 6th, leaving one regi

ment of his command to constitute a portion of the

garrison of that place, and to report to Worth at

Perote, where another was to be detailed for a like

purpose. Worth was ordered to move with his

own division and the two remaining regiments of

Quitman's in advance to Puebla.^

During the period of these operations of the army,
the squadron in the Gulf of Mexico was employed
in such service as remained there to be accomplish
ed. The capture of Alvarado having at last been

achieved, Commodore Perry turned his attention

to Tuspan, the only garrisoned town which remain

ed to Mexico on the Gulf. It was a place of no

great importance, but in the absence of objects of

greater magnitude, and as several guns which had

* General Scott to Generals Worth and Quitman. Executive Document,
No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress,

p. 957.
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been captured from the wreck of the American brig

of war Tmxton were there in battery, it was deem

ed advisable to attack it.^

Tuspan was garrisoned by about 600 men, un

der the Mexican General Cos. The banks of the

river upon which it stands were fortified by several

batteries, all looking down the stream, and armed

with seven guns, of which four were of heavy cali

ber, and of those taken from the wreck.

All the smaller vessels of the squadron concen

trated under the island of Lobos on the 13th of

April, and sailed thence for the Tuspan reef, at the

mouth of the river, on the 15th, where they were

concentrated on the 17th. On the following morn

ing the bar was safely passed by the steamers and

gun-boats, and about thirty barges having detach

ments from the different sloops of war and other

vessels anchored outside, and four light pieces of

artillery. The flotilla proceeded on up the river,

the steamers and gun-boats passing and engaging
the batteries, while the detachments landed and

advanced to storm them. The resistance was short

and desultory ; and, having delivered a few scatter

ing shot, which killed two and wounded eleven of

the attacking force, four officers being included

among the latter, the enemy fled, abandoning all

his works and the town.

The detachments remained at the place for a

* Commodore Perry to the Secretary of the Navy, April 24th, 1847. Ex
ecutive Document, No. 1, House of Representatives, second Session of the

thirtieth Congress, p. 1192.
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few days, long enough to destroy the works and

armament, with the exception of the guns and ma
terial which had belonged to the Tmxton, which

were brought off.

Early in the month of May Perry sailed to the

south and east along the coast, and during the

month visited and took temporary possession of

most of the points of any importance in those di

rections, without opposition. From Frontera he

sent an expedition to Campeachy, for the purpose

of obtaining authentic information from Yucatan,

which state, on account of its quasi independence
of the central government of Mexico, was claiming

immunity from the evils of the war.

During the cruise a partial examination was

made of the River Coatzcoalcos, with a view of

obtaining information of the practicability of con

structing the ship canal across the isthmus of Te-

huantepec,^ which project had already been spoken
of as one of the policy of the United States, in case

of the conquest and retention of Mexico. The in

formation obtained, although valuable, was yet not

very extensive.

By the 24th of May the commodore had return

ed to Anton Lizardo, and had in contemplation a

second expedition against Tobasco, which towTn
was in a state of preparation for defense when he

had landed at Frontera.

* Commodore Perry to the Secretary of the Navy, May 4th, 1847. Ex

ecutive Document, No. 1, House of Representatives, second Session of the

thirtieth Congress, p. 1206.
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CHAPTER III.

Military Contributions Mission of Mr. N. P. Trist His Quarrel with Gen

eral Scott Action of General Santa Anna at Orizaba Of Mexican Gov

ernment at the Capita] State of popular Feeling Santa Anna's Departure
from Orizaba Worth's Command advances to Puebla Affair ofAmozoque

Occupation of Puebla State of Things in that City General Scott's

Proclamation of May llth, 1847 Opinion of the President of the United

States of General Santa Anna General Scott advances with Tvviggs's

Division to Puebla.

WHEN the preparations for the attack on Vera

Cruz had progressed to maturity, so far as the ac

tion of the authorities of the United States govern
ment at Washington was concerned, their atten

tion was given to a measure which, it was hoped,

would he, in effect, a powerful blow upon the ene

my, and, at the same time, would relieve the United

States from a great portion of the expense of the

war. This was the raising of military contribu

tions, which had been before suggested to General

Taylor, and who had declined acting upon the sug

gestion for the reason that the country in the

north of Mexico was too poor. As it was believed

that this objection to the execution of the design

did not exist at Vera Cruz and other larger ports

on the Gulf, or along the route to the capital of

Mexico, more positive action was taken upon the

subject than had hitherto been pursued, and the

orders for raising a revenue on imports into Mexico

were issued.

On the 23d of March Mr. Polk directed the Secre-
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tary of the Treasury to prepare and report
" a sched

ule of articles of trade, to be admitted at such ports

or places as might be at any time in military posses

sion of the American troops, with such rates of duty

upon them, and also upon tonnage, as would be

likely to produce the greatest amount of revenue."^

Mr. Walker's report and schedule bore date on the

30th of March.f The latter was suited to the na

ture of Mexican commerce and the character of the

inhabitants of the country, as well as the object of

the tariff proposed to be established. Many diffi

culties would have been presented by each of these

had the attempt been made to impose such a tariff

upon foreign commerce entering into Mexican ports

as that adopted in the United States, and, in con

sequence, the schedule proposed a mixed tariff of

ad valorem and specific duties
;
and while it abro

gated the high protective and oppressive duties of

the Mexican tariff, threw open a door which had

long been shut to foreign commerce, and apparent

ly bid fair to afford a rich revenue to the conquer
ors. The opportunity for a fair trial of the tariff

was not afforded so soon as had been anticipated,

inasmuch as it could not, of course, have been so

framed as to raise a revenue on imports where

every road from the sea-ports was shut against

small parties by the guerilla bands, which from

the first hung upon the American lines of commu
nication. Neither was the action of the Mexican

* Executive Document. No. 1, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 552. t Idem, p. 553, 567.
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authorities counted upon, who could take, as they

did, immediate steps to lessen any revenue which

might accrue to their enemy by legalizing the rob

bery of all goods which had paid duties to the

American, and putting a stop to all trade with the

ports measures which they could very well con

summate, as the most desirable and necessary arti

cles had been prohibited under the Mexican tariff,

and the inhabitants had been accustomed to de

pend entirely upon domestic supply.

But the tariff was considered as being" well cal-o

culated to effect the proposed object, and, being ap

proved of by the President, orders were issued for

the blockade of such ports as were held by the

troops or fleet of the United States throughout
Mexico to be raised, and the measure to be carried

into effect.^ These orders were received soon after

the capture of Vera Cruz, and the uniform and sys

tematic tariff was substituted for the temporary

systems which had been established by the naval

and military commanders. It continued in force

throughout the war with Mexico.

In the letter of the Secretary of War of April 3d,

1847, in which were contained the instructions to

the general-in-chief to cause the tariff to be en

forced wherever such duty would from circum

stances fall upon an officer of the army, were con

tained others of a more positive character, and

*
Secretaries of War and Navy to General Scott and Commodore Perry.

Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress,

p. 560, 563.
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which General Scott was directed to carry out in

the following paragraph :

" The contributions referred to" (from duties to

be collected)
" are not all those which it may be

proper to levy upon the enemy. As the Mexicans

persist in protracting the war, it is expected that

in the further prosecution of it you will exercise

all the acknowledged rights of a belligerent, for

the purpose of shifting the burden off from our

selves upon them. The views of the government
in this respect were presented to General Taylor
in a dispatch from this department of the 22d of

September, 1846, a copy of which, so far as relates

to this subject, is herewith sent to you, with the

direction that these views may be carried out un

der a discretion similar to that given to him. The

enemy should be made to realize that there are

other inducements to make them desire peace be

sides the loss of battles and the burden of their own

military establishments. The right of an army
operating in an enemy's country to seize supplies,

to forage, and to occupy such buildings, private as

well as public, as may be required for quarters,

hospitals, store-houses, and other military purposes,
without compensation therefor, can not be ques

tioned, and it is expected that you will not forego
the exercise of this right to any extent compatible
with the interest of the service upon which you
are engaged."^

*
Secretary of War to General Scott. Executive Document, No. 1, Sen

ate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 563.
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Upon the receipt of these instructions, General

Scott sent copies of the letter, so far as referred to

the collection of duties, to the governors of Vera

Cruz and Tampico,^ and informed the department
that he was too distant from the coast, and too

much occupied with the business of the campaign,
to charge himself with the execution of the in

structions, as, indeed, he was to a greater extent

than that of his action. The instructions contain

ed in the quoted paragraph of Mr. Marcy's dispatch,

referring to direct contributions for the support of

the army, were very summarily disposed of by the

general-in-chief in his letter of the 20th of May.
At that time he was very much disappointed on

account of the non-arrival of money, which had

been expected for his commissary's and quarter

master's departments, and his ill feeling toward

the authorities at Washington had become fully

confirmed. In relation to the subject, he wrote :

" If it is expected at Washington, as is now ap

prehended, that this army is to support itself by
forced contributions levied upon the country, we

may ruin and exasperate the inhabitants, and

starve ourselves
;
for it is certain they would sooner

remove or destroy the products of their farms than

allow them to fall into our hands without compen
sation. Not a ration for man or horse would be

brought in except by the bayonet, which would

* General Scott to the Secretary of War, May 7th, 1847. Executive

Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth

Congress, p. 958.
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oblige the troops to spread themselves out many
leagues to the right and left in search of subsist

ence, and to stop all military operations."^

Entertaining these views, the general-in-chief

took no steps to carry out the instructions which

he had received, and the policy of the administra

tion was not enforced other than in the collection

of duties at the ports. The supplies for the army
were obtained as before, by purchasing at the prices

of the country.

The full manifestation of the ill feeling of Gen

eral Scott was brought about at this period by the

arrival at his head-quarters of Mr. Trist, the new

ly appointed confidential agent of the United States.

After the victory of Buena Vista, and the capture

of Vera Cruz and San Juan d'Ulloa, the govern
ment at Washington had flattered itself that Mex
ico would listen to overtures of peace upon fair

terms of accommodation,! and about the middle of

April had arrived at the same conclusion which

General Scott had expressed in his letter to the

Secretary of War of April 5th, that with American

commissioners at the head-quarters of the army, it

would be quite probable that they would be met

by proposals for peace from the Mexican govern
ment

;
and it was therefore determined to send an

agent with full powers, who might take advantage

* General Scott to the Secretary of War, May 20th, 1847. Executive

Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth

Congress, p. 963.

t Mr. Buchanan to Mr. Trist, April 15th, 1847. Executive Document,
No. 52, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 81.



96 THE WAR WITH MEXICO.

at the propitious moment of any favorable circum

stances disposing that government to peace.

It is rare that a diplomat at the head-quarters
of^an army is of any use, and generally, unless he

is a man of great judgment and ability, and un
selfish withal, he is a positive nuisance. Military

men, when in command of an army, can, for the

most part, pay attention to the duties which arise

in relation to the question of peace or war. Cer

tainly the chief action in relation to such question

should be controlled by them. One great obstacle,

however, is, with many, the desire of selfish ag

grandizement. Diplomatists are no less affected

by the same desire, especially when with an army,
and having charge of negotiations of peace or war.

Though in outward seeming both generals and di

plomatists in the American service have cut down
their pretensions to suit the republican character

of their country, yet all the feelings still exist

which have caused so many disputes on personal

grounds between such functionaries. But the at

tempt to create a lieutenant general had been a

signal failure, and as the administration, perfectly

aware of the character and feelings of General

Scott, did not choose to trust him with the con

duct of the negotiations, a commissioner was ap

pointed.

The selection was, however, exceedingly unfor

tunate. The doubt which still existed in regard

to the disposition of the Mexican government for

bade the appointment of public commissioners, or
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of offering the mission to any of the prominent men
of the nation

; and, again, it was by no means

certain whether Mexican vanity would suffer any

negotiations if the commissioner were of small re

pute. Moreover, it was thought that a knowledge
of the Spanish language, and of the character of

the people, obtained from association, was desira

ble. The conditions were in a measure satisfied

by Mr. N. P. Trist, chief clerk in the State Depart
ment. He had been for a long time the consul of

the United States at Havana, understood the Span
ish language, and professed to understand the Mex
ican character. He was not very well known in

the United States, and what was known of him

had not been told in such a way as to show very

much in his favor
; yet he was a man of considera

ble clerical ability, and the second officer in the

State Department. The title of " chief clerk" is

not, to be sure, very imposing, but with that of

second in rank of the State Department, it might
have been hoped to soothe the Mexican vanity by
the dignity of the commissioner, and manifest all

proper respect.

Another qualification which Mr. Trist possessed

was devotion to the administration at least he pro

fessed it, and he coincided in his appreciation of

the character of the general-in-chief with the au

thorities at Washington, so long as he remained at

that place. He was proposed as a proper man for

the mission, and his claims were pressed by his

friends upon the President, until Mr. Polk yielded

II. G
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his own judgment, and commissioned him for the

duty.

His powers were, however, strictly defined and

very limited. He bore a letter from Mr. Buchanan
to the Mexican minister of Foreign Relations,

which was in answer to the last received from the

Mexican government, and which informed it that

a commissioner was at the head-quarters of the

American army, in readiness to enter into negotia
tions.^ To provide for such contingency, he was
furnished with a projet of a treaty, fully drawn

out, containing the demands of the United States,

and which he was to present to the commissioners

on the part of Mexico, after an exchange of full

powers. Discretion, to a certain extent, was allow

ed him in the amount of money to he paid, and

certain modifications of the boundary demanded.f

This projet he was directed to communicate, con

fidentially, together with his instructions, to Gen
eral Scott and Commodore Perry.

Mr. Marcy wrote to General Scott on the 14th

of April, informing him generally of the objects of

the mission, and requiring him to transmit Mr.

Buchanan's letter to the Mexican minister of For

eign Relations. He was further informed, that, un
der certain contingencies which would be made
known to him by the commissioner, it would be

his duty to suspend active military operations

* Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 36.

t Ibid., No. 52, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 85.
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until further orders from the department, or until

recommenced by the enemy.#

It was intended at Washington that General

Scott and Mr. Trist should be entirely separate and

distinct in their functions, and, had matters been

fully explained at the outset, there would have

been small reason for complaint or ill feeling. But,

where ill feeling exists, it requires but little mys
tery to give rise to fault-finding. It soon occurred.

Mr. Trist passed quietly out of the United States,

and early in May arrived at Vera Cruz. Before

proceeding in person to the head-quarters of the

army, he sent the dispatch for the Mexican minis

ter, sealed, accompanied by a short note from him

self, and the letter of the Secretary of War to Gen
eral Scott, without any further explanation of his

powers or his mission, or of the contents of the dis

patch which was to be forwarded. In the absence

of the full explanation, and being fully convinced

that the paramount object of the cabinet at Wash

ington was to sacrifice him, and being extremely

mystified by Mr. Marcy's letter, particularly an in

terlineation, Scott saw in the whole proceeding an

attempt to degrade him.f He had heard from pri

vate friends in Washington that Mr. Trist had no

very high appreciation of his talents in any way,
and the fact that the commissioner was a clerk in

* Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 940.

t General Scott to Mr. Trist, May 7th, 1847. Executive Document, No.

60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 960,

and to the Secretary of War, July 25th, 1847. Idem, p. 101 L
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the State Department was seized upon as the

ground for his indignation. Upon the receipt of

the papers, he addressed an answer to Mr. Trist,

giving him, in succinct terms, what information he

then possessed in regard to Mexican politics, which

was exceedingly unfavorable to the objects of the

mission. In the answer, he declared that the ques
tion of the suspension of hostilities belonged ex

clusively to the military commander, and inveigh
ed bitterly against the conduct of the Secretary of

War in attempting to degrade him, the general-in-

chief of the army, by leaving the decision of the

question to the chief clerk of the State Depart
ment.^

Upon the receipt of the answer, Mr. Trist replied

in extenso, and fully explained the objects of his

mission, but in so arrogant and so insolent a man
ner that but little good could in reason have been

hoped from the explanation. He undertook to con

stitute himself the aid-de-camp of the President,

and to order the general-in-chief in his name, and,

moreover, indulged himself in personal ironical al

lusions calculated in no way to cause any friendly

feeling on the part of General Scott, f

The whole correspondence between these func

tionaries has been published and has become cele

brated, not as setting forth any sound views upon
the proper powers of the different officers, or as man
ifesting any particular zeal for the public service,

* Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 960. t Idem, p. 818-825.
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but as a rich specimen of personal controversy and

selfishness on both sides. The quarrel has passed
into history as another, in addition to the many in

stances where the good of the service has been to

tally forgotten in the bitterness of personal feelings,

and, like them, proves how dangerous it is for the

fame of any public servant for him to permit his

anxiety for his official rights and privileges to be

paramount to that for the public good.

The controversy created deep personal hostility

and prejudice while it continued, and, in the mean

time, the letter which was to have been forwarded

to the Mexican minister remained at the head-quar
ters of the army. The quarrel was well known
when it occurred, and neither of the personages
took care to conceal his feelings or the substan

tial contents of his ill-tempered letters from the

army, with whose interests and welfare they were

connected in so intimate a relation. However lit

tle this may speak for the prudence or good judg
ment of either, that the quarrel produced no serious

effect upon the discipline of the army speaks loudly
in favor of the sterling qualities of the officers and

soldiers.

Mr. Trist followed the head-quarters, waiting for

an opportunity, if he could find one, to commence
the business of his mission.

While this controversy was occurring at Jalapa,

and General Scott was reorganizing his army and

preparing for a partial advance, General Santa
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Anna was at Orizaba, whither he had fled imme

diately after the battle of Cerro Gordo. He was en

gaged in making most strenuous exertions to raise

another army, with which to stem, if possible, the

torrent of invasion. His preferences, as boldly an

nounced, were for a continuation of hostilities to

the last, and probably for the reason that, if peace
followed as the result of the battle of Cerro Gordo,

lost under his direction, he might bid farewell to

all anticipations of a future enjoyment of power.

Wherefore, since the road to the capital was open,

and he believed that Scott would immediately
march upon it, he threw himself upon the flank at

Orizaba, where he could collect the various gue
rillas of the tierra caliente from the jarochos of

Vera Cruz and the Indians of the valley of Oaja-

ca, and With them keep up the war upon the com

munications of the American army. He could

have had but slight hope of organizing a defense

for the capital had the victory of Cerro Gordo been

immediately pursued, and the guerilla system was

all which remained to him in such an event.

He has stated that he sent orders from Cerro

Gordo to General Gaona to put the castle of Pe-

rote in a state of defense, and to hold it until a re

lieving force could be assembled.^ Perote was a

strong point, and, although it could not stop a march

to the capital, would yet have been, if neglected, a

rendezvous of the guerillas upon the American

line, and Scott was not in sufficient force to block-

* Letter of Santa Anna to the Mexican Minister of War from Orizaba.
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ade it while his main hody marched on Mexico.

But most of the well-mounted guns of the fortress

had heen sent to Cerro Gordo, it was without am

munition, and with a very small garrison badly

supplied. Whether Gaona ever received the order

is very doubtful
;
hut he was not of that capacity

which is required to place a fort of the size of Pe-

rote in a defensive condition in a few days, even

had the resources been nearer at hand. Indeed,

such task was almost impracticable from the na

ture of things, for Worth was in rapid march, and,

as has been seen, four days after the victory he was

at the place and took possession. It is not at all

probable that Santa Anna believed that it could be

saved
;
but his order was most likely issued with

the intention of relieving himself from the respon

sibility of having permitted the abandonment of so

important a point, and of throwing it upon anoth

er
;
a weakness which is natural to many men,

and, where military rank and power depend in any

degree upon popular will, almost always apparent
in the conduct of commanders similarly situated.

In the city of Mexico, the news of the disaster of

Cerro Gordo was received with feelings of conster

nation. The army, which had occupied a strong-

defensive position, and which, it had been hoped,

in spite of experience, would confine the invader

to the tierra caliente, had dispersed before his fiery

assault, and not a single barrier was left to his

march to the capital. It was apprehended that

he would soon advance
; but, nevertheless, as he
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was not immediately en route, no thought was en-

tertained or expressed of submitting to terms or of

sueing for peace.

The news of the battle reached the ministry on

the 20th. On that day it gave an account of it

and its results to Congress, which was still in ses

sion. The government of Anaya declared that it

intended to carry on the war, and never to make

peace with the infamous government of the United

States of the North. To enable it to carry out its

intentions, Congress was called upon to grant it

extraordinary powers, with a limitation which

should prevent the entertainment of the negotia
tion of peace under the existing circumstances.

At ten o'clock that evening they were granted.

The executive officers were endowed with supreme

authority for any thing which might be necessary
for the prosecution of the war, but the punishment
of treason was proclaimed against any one who
should commence negotiations. The law provid

ed for the adjournment of Congress in case of the

advance of the enemy, and for the establishment

of a commission, to be composed of the oldest mem
bers of each deputation who might be present, upon
which the principal legislative powers of the body
were devolved in the event of the impossibility of

a future assembly.^
The policy which it was determined to adopt in

the future prosecution of the war was to have re-

* El Monitor Republicano, May 21st, 1847. Executive Document, No.

60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress; p. 951.
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course to the guerilla system, and in a few days
the government granted permission to several com
manders to raise guerillas and commence opera

tions at once. Under such permission, General

Salas, who had exercised the functions of president

ad interim during the preceding year, was particu

larly noisy in his calls upon his countrymen. In

a proclamation which he issued to the people of

Mexico, inviting them to join his standard, he pro

claimed as his motto,
" War without pity unto

death /"#. Many others proclaimed a no less vin

dictive spirit and policy. But, if the various at

tempts to arouse the evil passions of their own coun

trymen had the effect of filling the ranks of the dif

ferent bands, they also had the effect, for a time, of

exasperating the feelings of the American soldiery.

Having granted the extraordinary powers to the

executive, and provided for its own retreat, in the

face of the danger of immediate conquest by Scott's

army, and of the invasion which was threatened

by way of Chihuahua (for the most exaggerated

accounts of Doniphan's expedition had been re

ceived in Mexico), the Mexican Congress continu

ed its work of legislative defense. It authorized

levies of troops en masse, the raising of money and

means in any manner, and appeared as if second

ing its grant of extraordinary power in general by

giving it anew in detail.

Anaya commenced a show of action early in

* El Monitor Republicano, May 21st, 1847. Executive Document, No.

60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 951.
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May, when he declared Mexico to be in a state of

siege. General Bravo, the commandante general

of the state, set to work organizing and drilling the

national guard, and fortifications were commenced

about the city.

But, notwithstanding the danger, politics en

grossed no little share of public attention, for the

Mexican president was to be elected on the 15th

of May. The various parties, of course, took ad

vantage of the state of things to make political cap

ital
; and, had the government been strong and

well administered, the excitement which was

aroused might have had a beneficial effect. The

Puros were loud in their cries for war
; and, as that

was the popular measure, the priest party joined in

with no less vehement protestations of patriotism.

To prove their devotion in the crisis, several church

es made loans to some amount to the government.

In many parts of the republic the clergy issued

calls upon their countrymen to rally in the support

of the war in their clerical capacity, and in some

instances a few warlike priests undertook to raise

guerillas to act under themselves. The greatest

enthusiasm prevailed, and the nation appeared to

be fairly aroused. Frantic multitudes paraded the

streets of the capital, shouting death to the Yan
kees

; but, so far as these last were concerned, it

must be remembered that at that time the enemy
was some hundred miles distant, and they might
have pursued a different course of action had he

been close at hand in a threatening attitude.
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In the turmoil of public excitement, the feeling

of the populace, for a time, was against Santa An
na. Canalizo, too, who had previously enjoyed
the soubriquet of the "Lion of Mexico," came in

for a share of denunciation, and many of the lead

ing journals called upon the government to place

him before a court martial for his cowardice
;
but

the clamors against the chief were unheeded by
the government, and, by its express order, Santa

Anna was retained in command of the army.
In the mean while the president general was im

portuning for money and means from Orizaba. He
had succeeded in getting together some four or five

thousand troops and a battery of artillery, includ

ing the corps of cavalry under General Alcorta,

who had succeeded Canalizo, by Santa Anna's or

der. Having excellent means of information while

he was collecting this force, he was early informed

of the intention of the American general to dis

charge a large portion of his force, and of its actual

discharge. Being then persuaded that the advance

of the American army on the capital would be

slow, and that, could he retain his power, he could

place that city in a state of defense, he prepared
to move in that direction.

Quitman having arrived at Perote, in obedience

to General Scott's orders Worth moved from that

place on the 8th of May. The first Pennsylvania

regiment and a company of the third artillery were
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left to form the garrison of the castle. Worth had

with him a small siege train, a section of Wall's

field battery of twelve pounders, and a squadron
of horse, in addition to his own division. Quit-

man followed the movement with his two remain

ing regiments and the second section of the twelve

pounder battery on the 9th.

The movement progressed without any interrup

tion or hinderance. It was believed that no ene

my was in the front, and that Santa Anna was

quietly laying at Orizaba, recovering, as he best

might, from the defeat of Cerro Gordo. But, upon

passing through the town of Nopalucan, Worth

learned that he had marched through that place,

at the head of a few hundred cavalry, on the llth,

en route for Mexico
;
but his movement was rep

resented to have been extremely hurried, and his

force was deemed so small that no thought of re

sistance was apprehended. On the night of the

12th the advance encamped at El Final, and, al

though the camp was alarmed during the night,

yet no enemy was encountered. Worth pushed
his march through the pass, where an abortive at

tempt had been made to impose obstacles, and on

the 13th arrived at Amozoque, a town twelve

miles distant from Puebla.

Being desirous of conciliating the good will of

the inhabitants, and in no expectation of encoun

tering an enemy, from that place he sent a com

munication to the Ayuntamiento ofPuebla, request

ing an interview in order to arrange his entrance



THE WAR WITH MEXICO.
j[ Q 9

and occupation of the city. To await an answer

and the arrival of Quitman's command, he remain

ed at Amozoque on the 14th. His soldiers were

occupied in cleaning their arms and accouterments

preparatory to the entrance, which it was intended

should be made in good style, when, about nine

o'clock in the morning, a drummer boy, who had

strayed in advance of the pickets, ran in with the in

formation that the enemy was approaching in force.

It was hardly believed, but the staff officers

mounted and galloped to the front, discovering the

advance of a corps of from 2500 to 3000 cavalry.

It was keeping to the north of the main road from

Puebla, and, from the nature of the country, it was

difficult to ascertain whether an army followed in

its rear or not.

The long roll at once called the troops to arms,

and the different regiments paraded in an incredi

bly short space of time. Taken by surprise, Worth

was at some loss to imagine the intentions of the

enemy ;
but he threw the guns of the siege train

into battery at the angles of the plaza of the vil

lage, sent corps in advance upon the different routes

to observe the approach, and awaited the develop

ment of his movements. Being apprehensive that

the enemy might have Quitman's corps in view, as,

after a short time, it was seen that he was turning

the town, he sent Colonel Garland with the second

regiment of artillery (acting as infantry), and two

guns of Duncan's battery, on the road to the rear.

On coming out from the town, this detachment
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found itself in sight of the long column of lancers,

which was on its left flank, and not more than

nine hundred yards distant. It marched for a mile

or more along the road, in a direction approaching

the path followed hy the enemy, and, having ob-

tained fair six-pound range, Duncan's guns were

opened upon the advance. The leading regiment

was soon dispersed hy the fire, hut the two imme

diately following formed columns of squadrons, and,

wheeling to the right, made a demonstration of

charging. The infantry of the American detach

ment took position in line to receive them, for the

ground on its right was hroken to a degree, and

the artillery was on its left. Duncan, however,

turned one of his guns upon the advancing column,

and Captain Steptoe having come up on the left

with a twenty-four pounder howitzer, hurst a shell

in its head, which scattered the whole force. The

sixth regiment of infantry, which supported his

piece, had thrown out a company of skirmishers,

which captured a dozen or two prisoners. One or

two Mexican officers had meanwhile heen taken

by the American staff officers while engaged in re

connaissance.

A portion of the Mexican force reunited out of

range, and proceeded on in the direction of Quit-

man's approach ;
hut Worth sent two regiments

and the battery in that direction, and, after a short

time, the cavalry disappeared in the hills. Quit-

man, who had heard the firing, had quickened his

march, and was met soon after.
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The appearance of the Mexican force and the

affair of the morning, taken with the failure of an

answer to his note to the civil authorities of Pue-

bla, caused Worth to think for a time that his en

trance into the city would be disputed. He there

fore threw Garland's brigade three miles in advance

of Amozoque, intending to march during the night,

and to present himself before the city at dawn on

the following morning ;
but during the night the

expected answer arrived, and the movement was

for a short time delayed. The mystery connected

with the affair of the morning of the 14th was ex

plained.

When Santa Anna had arrived at Puebla with

all the force which he had collected at Orizaba, for

his infantry had preceded him by by-roads, he had

endeavored to arouse a spirit of resistance in the

populace. He upbraided the Poblanos for their

want of patriotism, and' presented a very good ar

gument to prove that they were not without the

means of resistance, inasmuch as but three years

before they had beaten him from the town-, though
backed by an army of 12,000 men. He failed in

his attempt to arouse any positive opposition to the

American advance, and his efforts were then di

rected to securing the retreat of his infantry and

guns. Of the latter there were quite a number in

position at Loretto, a fort on a hill to the southeast

of the city. Believing that Worth would continue

his march on the 14th, he had made his movement
of that day with his cavalry, keeping out .of sight
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of the main road for most of the distance to Amo-

zoque, with the intention of passing Worth and

falling upon Quitman, over whose smaller force

he might have hoped to gain some advantage.

This would have compelled Worth to retrace his

steps ;
and if it proved to be a brilliant affair, how

ever useless it might have been in physical effect,

it would have been a good thing to have been pub
lished in the capital at the time of the arrival of

the vanquished general of Cerro Grordo.

He was quite as much surprised to find Worth

at Amozoque as Worth was to find him in a hostile

attitude, and, in consequence, he soon gave up his

attempt at a battle. During his absence with the

cavalry, the infantry and artillery of his command
retreated from Puebla on the road to Mexico, and

at four o'clock on the morning of the 15th Santa

Anna followed the movement with the cavalry,

having obtained nothing in money or means from

the Poblanos except a partial remount, for he

seized all the horses upon which he could lay his

hands.

In the affair at Amozoque the Mexican loss in

killed, wounded, and missing was reported at 80

or more, but it was doubtless exaggerated. The

Americans lost none.

Worth arrived within three miles of Puebla about

eleven o'clock on the morning of the 15th, and was

there met by the Ayuntamiento of the city, in

compliance with his suggestions. In his effort to

carry out the instructions of the general-in-chief to
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conciliate the inhabitants,^ as the Ayuntamiento
desired fixed terms which should regulate the gov
ernment and occupation of the city, Worth grant

ed a substantial capitulation of nearly the same

character as that which had been granted to Vera

Cruz
;
a measure which, however much it may

have been in furtherance of the policy of concilia

tion, was certainly of rather a strange nature, since

Puebla was in no immediate state of defense, and

as, in consequence of the convention, the American

army vras placed in a state of partial dependence

upon the civil authorities and the people for quar
ters and supplies.

The terms having been agreed upon, the column

marched into the city. During the delays which

took place in the assignment of quarters by the

civil authorities (and they were many and vexa

tious), the troops were formed in the Grand Plaza

of the town, where, having stacked their arms,

many, fatigued with their rainy bivouac of the

previous night, and the hot march of the morning,

quietly laid down upon the ground to rest. Santa

Anna's appearance had disturbed their military

toilet of the previous morning, and the rain and

mud of the night before had not improved their ap

pearance in the mean time. The Mexicans were

exceedingly disappointed, and could not recognize

in the plainly-dressed and muddy soldiers before

them, the conquerors of their army on many a field,

* General Scott to General Worth. Executive Document, No. 60, House

of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 958.

II. H
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against overwhelming strength in numbers and

position. They had seen as dirty a soldiery be

fore, and it was difficult for some of their sapient

writers to conceive how valor could lie beneath so

shabby an exterior. One indulged himself in ex

pressing the belief that five hundred good men
could have cut off the whole force as it lay in the

Plaza. Nevertheless, the attempt was not made,
either by the inhabitants in general or any select

five hundred, and the quarters having been obtain

ed after much delay, the troops were located in

different parts of the city,

Puebla was thus quietly occupied ; but, although
no outbreak occurred among the inhabitants, yet

their disposition was undoubtedly hostile. The

various civil authorities were dilatory in furnish

ing the requisitions made upon them, small as they

were, and consumed much time in stickling for

minor points, which, it was claimed, had been con

ceded to them by the convention for the surrender.

The establishment of a depot went on.slowly ; for,

although in the midst of a populous and fertile

country, and the haciendados of the vicinity were

quite willing to sell their produce to the American

army, yet Worth was without sufficient cavalry

with which to support the necessary semblance of

compulsion in gathering it in.

Meanwhile various rumors were rife, and kept
the troops of the garrison in a state of annoyance.

A few soldiers, who had wandered into the suburbs

of the town, became intoxicated, and were mur-
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dered by the leperos, which proved the disposition

of that class of persons at least. It was ascertain

ed beyond a doubt that several individuals, priests

and others, were endeavoring to foment an insur

rection, and Worth proceeded to take precautionary

measures for safety ; and, indeed, considering the

state of things, ordinary prudence demanded no

less
;
for although, as a general thing,

" a city of

eighty thousand inhabitants is not to be. taken by
the collar,"^ yet here one of that population had

been taken and occupied by four thousand troops ;

and when it is remembered that Puebla is only
three days' march from the capital, and that Mex
ico had enjoyed a respite of a month to recover

from the effect of the disaster at Cerro Gordo, it

certainly will appear that it was necessary to be

careful.

But the propriety of the dispositions which were

made for the insurance of safety may be question

ed
;
for while one portion of the command occu

pied the hill of Guadalupe, Fort Loretto, and the

southeastern quarter of the city, one brigade, two

field batteries, and a squadron of horse were shut

up in a dilapidated building, half convent and

half state prison, on the northwest, which com

manded nothing, which had difficult egress, and

which was proof against nothing. By this dispo

sition Worth had the entrance and egress of the

main road to the capital in his possession, and un

der his observation for a short distance, but his

*
Napoleon.
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forces were divided, and, in case of an outbreak,

communication between the corps would have been

difficult, if not impracticable. The troops were,

moreover, in unhealthy quarters, and the sick list

soon began fearfully to increase, and this disposi

tion of the troops continued for some weeks.

On the llth of May General Scott issued a proc

lamation to the Mexican people from Jalapa, which,

on account of its ability and excellence of compo

sition, and apparent adaptation to the state ofMex
ican affairs, called forth the admiration of all par

ties in the United States, and was well received

by the people of those portions of Mexico occupied

by the American troops. It presented every thing

which might have been hoped to serve as induce

ments to Mexico to make peace, and much to in

fluence the approaching Mexican election in favor

of the friends of such a measure.^ It received the

almost unqualified approbation of Mr. Polk and the

Secretary of War. The only thing which was found

in the whole paper not strictly consistent with the

facts and the true policy of the United States was
contained in the explanation of the causes of the

war
;
and that there was but that one exception,

would make the paper remarkable among the proc
lamations of military commanders, which in gen
eral are not famous for veracity of record, especial

ly when issued to the enemy.

* Proclamation. Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives,

first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 971.
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In the explanation it was made to appear that

the war had been commenced on the part of the

United States, in order to put a stop to the mo
narchical schemes of Paredes, and in that connec

tion it was said that, when he had gained power
in Mexico, having overthrown the patriotic gov
ernment of Herrera,

"
Duty, honor, and dignity

placed us under the necessity of not losing a season

of which the monarchical party was fast taking

advantage. As not a moment was to be lost, we
acted with a promptness and decision suited to the

urgency of the case, in order to avoid a complica

tion of interests, which might render our relations

more difficult and involved."*

The view presented in this paragraph was in op

position to the avowed action of the American gov

ernment, as it had all along professed to have been

forced into action by the attack of the Mexican

army upon General Taylor. In speaking of the

proclamation in regard to that point, in his letter

of June 15th to General Scott, Mr. Marcy remark

ed,
" As it could not have been your design to en

ter into a full discussion of the causes which led to

the war, it is not to be, taken as an authoritative

exposition of the views of the executive in this re

spect, but he regards it as a document containing
'

topics and sentiments the most likely to find a re

sponse in the bosom of Mexicans, and to promote
the cause ofjustice, moderation, and peace? Such

* Proclamation. Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives,

first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 972.
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were properly the scope and end of the proclama

tion, and most ahly have they been carried out."^

General Scott had issued the proclamation at

the instance of several Mexicans of standing and

influence about Jalapa. One of their number had

composed it, under his directions, in original Span
ish, f Whether the motives of these persons were

to influence the coming elections in any manner

favorable to themselves, or to favor the interests of

peace by assisting in the appeal of the American

general to their countrymen, is doubtful; but as,

after it had been finished, General Scott saw no

American objection to the paper, he issued it.

Numerous copies were sent out for distribution
;
but

Santa Anna captured the courier who was carry

ing a package to the capital, and did not fail to

observe that the document had been originally

written in Spanish, and by a Mexican.! This fact

was published, with bitter denunciations against

the traitor who had been so subservient to the in

vaders
;
and the accompaniment of treason thus

fastened upon the proclamation completely neu

tralized any effect it may have had in the capital,

if one can form a judgment from after events.

Having finished his arrangements for maintain

ing his army, so far as he deemed it practicable,

on the 21st of May General Scott marched from

* Mr. Marcy to General Scott. Executive Document, No. 60, House of

Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 975.

t General Scott to Mr. Marcy, May 20th, 1847. Idem, p. 964.

t Letter of Santa Anna to the Mexican Minister of War and Marine, from

Puebla.
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Jalapa with the cavalry of the army and General

Twiggs's division. Colonel Childs was left in com
mand of that place with a garrison of the first reg

iment of artillery, and the second of Pennsylvania
volunteers. On the 28th Scott entered Puehla

with the cavalry. Twiggs arrived on the follow

ing day, at the moment when the garrison had

been turned out, on account of a rumor that Gen
eral Bravo was at hand with an army of 20,000

men, and ahout to attack the city. It is true, no

one who had seen Bravo or the first of his 20,000

men could be found, and the absurd rumor, like

many others of the previous days last past, soon

proved to be false.

The whole army having been concentrated, false

alarms became less frequent.
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tion of the Presidency Action of the Mexican Congress Withdrawal of

Santa Anna's Resignation Preparations for Defense Opinions and intend

ed Action of General Scott He orders the Abandonment of Jalapa Or

ganization of Guerillas on the Line of American Communication Colonel

M'Intosh marches from Vera Cruz Affair of Paso de Ovegas General

Cadwalader's Advance Affair of the National Bridge Affair of La Haya
Generat Pillow's Advance Junction with Cadwalader Arrival at

Puebla Naval Expedition against Tobasco.

WHEN Santa Anna retired from Puebla, after the

affair at Amozoque, he fixed his head-quarters tem

porarily at the village of San Martin Tesmalucan,

within twenty-five miles of the city. Affairs of a

political nature, however, required his immediate

presence at the capital, and thither he proceeded,

and entered on the 19th of May. His reception

was by no means cordial, so far as the populace
was concerned, and, as is usually the case with

beaten generals, many of the same partisans who
had hitherto been loudest in his praise, were most

noisy in opposition. There were no trophies of

victory from Cerro Gordo, and the want of these,

and its proximity to the capital, forbade the attempt

at any mystification of the public in regard to the

real results of the conflict, such as had been suc

cessfully practiced after the battle of La Angos
tura. But as the election for president had result

ed in no choice, for few of the states cast their
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votes for the same person, Santa Anna, having re

sumed the duties of the executive, had an oppor

tunity of securing his power in the interval. The

result of the elections had doubtless been brought

about by the intrigues of his partisans, which had

been in a manner arranged before he left the capi

tal for Cerro Gordo. The President at once set

about securing his popularity. His first step was

to abrogate the law restricting the freedom of the

press, and he declared as his reason that his sole

wish was to act according to the dictates of popu
lar opinion which were expressed through it. He
found great difficulty in retaining any ministry, or

in carrying out any public measures. The Mexi

can Congress was only half friendly to him, and

was powerless except to the extent of conferring

nominal extraordinary authority upon the execu

tive, which it had already given to the president-

substitute during Santa Anna's absence.

This body had been engaged from time to time,

when not excited by the occurrence of some new

catastrophe or pronunciamiento, in remodeling the

Constitution. The product of its industry was

proclaimed and recognized by the functionaries of

the government soon after Santa Anna's return.

He soon took a conspicuous part in the ceremony ;

but all his protestations and demonstrations of sub

serviency to the popular will were insufficient, for

a time, to uphold his waning popularity.
Before he had arrived at Mexico, he had taken

steps to increase the force in the vicinity of the
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capital, and parties of troops, raised by his ad

herents, were already in march, and concentrating

for its defense. Yet the feeling of the inhabitants

was strongly opposed to any resistance being made

to the invaders, as they feared the destruction of.

life and property; but, at the same time, the ex

pressions of hatred and enmity against the North

Americans were as strong as ever.

Santa Anna endeavored to push the erection of

the fortifications, but his opponents took advantage
of the public feeling against resistance to thwart

his measures. Their intentions were probably con

fined to the deposition of Santa Anna, although

several of the leaders of the opposition were ac

cused of corresponding with the American general,

with a view of delivering up the city and country

into his hands. The accusation may have been,

and probably was, a weapon of assault made use

of by the Santanistas.

Whatever views may have been entertained by
the factions, and they were numerous, the action

of all combined produced a state of most unmiti

gated anarchy. The government was paralyzed,

Congress did nothing, the factions plotted one

against the other, the generals quarreled among
themselves and with the government, the newspa

pers abused all parties and each other, and, more

than all, the North Americans, in which sentiment

alone they were sustained by the quarrelsome lead

ers of the factions, who agreed in that opinion only ;

and probably in that, because it allowed them an
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opportunity for promulgating their vehement dec

larations of patriotism.

Santa Anna, however, was possessed of the ex

traordinary powers conferred upon the president-

substitute, and soon began to act. He first seized

Almonte, who had become his enemy in one short

year, and who was busily employed in intriguing

against him, and shut him up in the prison of San

Jago. Arista, who was also figuring in conspira

cy, was sent off to Acapulco. Bustamente, also

an intriguant, was ordered to command the depart
ment of Sinaloa; and Ampudia, another in the

list, though not very conspicuous, was sent, under

guard, to Cuernavaca. Having thus got rid of

several leaders, on the 29th of May Santa Anna

resigned the presidency. His example was soon

followed by several generals, the veteran Don Nic

olas Bravo at their head, and all appeared in irre

trievable confusion.

How far the measure of his resignation was one

of policy on the part of the president to induce the

people and Congress to come to his support, hav

ing broken up the intrigues of the factions as much
as possible, and sent off their leaders, can be imag
ined from results

; but, in his letter of resignation,

Santa Anna professed to be governed only by his

convictions of what was necessary for the republic.

He stated that he knew that the enemy dared not

advance upon the capital with the means then at

his disposal, unless aided by a revolution within

its walls
;
that he knew that his downfall was the



124 THE WAR WITH MEXICO.

object of the 'opposition, and that he felt himself to

be the obstacle to the prosecution of vigorous re

sistance to the invaders. He therefore was called

upon to sacrifice himself for the good of the coun

try, and to resign, since all the efforts which he

had made to avert her misfortunes had resulted

only in the virulent opposition of his and her ene

mies. He left the power with which he had been

intrusted in the hands of Congress.

It was not seen fit to add publicly to the letter

of resignation that, as all the leaders and chief or

ganizers of the opposition to himself were made

away with, if Congress wished to adopt any other

system than that which he prescribed, it would

have to commence de novo, without leaders and

without system. Such action the result of the

presidential election had shown to be improbably

successful, if not impossible, and the natural course

of things might have been expected, that Con

gress, which numbered many partisans of the re-

signer among its members, would decline to accept
the resignation, and beg him to retain the power
which would thus be confirmed.

Nevertheless, Congress was not exceedingly

quick in acting upon the resignation, and appear
ances were, for a short while, in favor of its accept

ance, notwithstanding the difficulties which were

to be apprehended. In this state of things, having

quieted the generals, and his old adherent, Don
Juan Alvarez, being close at hand, in march for

the city, with a large force of his Pintos of Oajaca,
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and other re-enforcements daily arriving in the

capital to swell the army under his command, on

the 2d of June Santa Anna withdrew his resigna

tion. In his letter of withdrawal, he chided the

Congress for its dilatory action, which left the re

public without a defender, and forced upon him

the duty of resuming the exercise of the weighty
functions of the executive. Setting forth the ne

cessities of the case, the prayers and importunities

of the most influential personages in the city, and

of the officers and soldiers of the garrison, in ex

cuse for his apparent inconsistency, he professed

himself in readiness to make another sacrifice to

the good of his country, of his "pride" and to de

fend the capital from the enemy, who he then

knew, as he said, could advance from Puehla at

any moment.

Soon after, the Congress so far recognized the

necessity of his continuance in power as to appoint
the 15th of the following January as the day upon
which the official votes for president should be

counted
;
and as no further action could be taken

in the selection until that time, the decree which

appointed the day, in fact, created Santa Anna
dictator until the next year.

Being thus legally secure, having made away
with his enemies, and with re-enforcements rapid

ly concentrating, he went on with the work of for

tifying the city. The battalions poured in from

the different cities and states of the republic; each

sent its guns to contribute to the defense; others



126 THE WAR WITH MEXICO.

were in the process of casting at a newly-estab
lished foundery in the neighborhood of the capital ;

and by the end of June the Mexican president had
at his disposal for defense over 25,000 men, and

sixty pieces of artillery of different calibers.

The usual great difficulty of Mexican govern
ments was still an obstacle, and money could hard

ly be raised. The scheme of sequestrating Church

property had been abandoned, and was impractica
ble. Direct taxes and contributions availed but

little, and were collected with difficulty. In the

emergency, Santa Anna seized upon every thing
which the government had at its disposal, and

turned it into money, sometimes at ruinous losses.

The mint was farmed out to foreign merchants,

and bonds to an enormous amount were sold for a

tittle of their value. With resources raised from

these and other means, by the assistance of Mr.

Mackintosh, the English consul, Santa Anna con

trived to raise funds for current expenses. Grati

fied by the energy shown in preparation, by the

strength of the works in the progress of erection,

and the display of great numerical strength, the

population of the capital again turned round, and

supported and applauded Santa Anna.

The information which was received in Mexico

of the strength and condition of the American forces

was exceedingly accurate, but not so the exploits

of the guerillas upon the road from Vera Cruz to

Puebla. These were magnified enough in the ac

counts of the performers, and the government took
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good care that they should lose nothing in the pub
lication. And while the preparations for defense

were in progress, different movements of troops

were ordered, all demonstrating attacks upon the

flanks of the American line of operations. The

most considerable of these was the location of Al

varez's corps at Atlixco, near Puebla, from whence

he was to break up the communication with Vera

Cruz. These movements were all set forth as so

many proofs of the activity and bravery of the de

fenders of the capital. With a comparatively sta

ble government, for Santa Anna had at last suc

ceeded in forming a cabinet, and in the absence of

pronunciamientos for the time, the elastic spirits of

the Mexicans again rose to confidence, and they
flattered themselves that the final struggle would

be successful, and that northern ambition would

meet with an overwhelming defeat in its attack

upon their ancient capital.

The progress of these events in Mexico was ob

served with some attention by the American gen-

eral-in-chief at Puebla, and he was not without

hope that the state of things attendant upon Santa

Anna's resignation of the presidency (of the sincer

ity of which he at first entertained no doubt) would

bring about the election of a president favorable to

the interests of peace. Such an opinion he ex

pressed in his letter to the Secretary of War of the

4th of June
;
but he then still entertained the deep

est hostility to Mr. Trist, and complained bitterly
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of the flank battery which was established against

him in the person of the commissioner.^

In the existing state of affairs he contemplated
an advance upon the capital, and as he had determ

ined to make his army a self-sustaining machine,

in order to increase the strength of the head of his

column, he concluded to withdraw the garrison

from Jalapa, and to leave the country between Vera

Cruz and Perote open to the operations of the ene

my. On the 3d of June an order to this effect was

sent to Colonel Childs,t and soon after a train of

ambulances and wagons was sent from Puebla for

the removal of the hospital from Jalapa to the Cas

tle of Perote. Childs was directed to move up to

Puebla so soon as the removal had been completed,

and only to await the arrival of a party of recruits,

if it had not passed before he was ready to aban

don the post. This party General Scott had some

idea was on the way, but he was entirely ignorant

of the advance of any considerable force
;
for al

though, so soon as the news of the victory of Buena

Vista had been received at Washington, the Wai-

Department had caused the different detachments

to be sent to Vera Cruz, yet General Scott remain

ed ignorant of its action. The bearer of the dis

patches which contained the information had start

ed to come through from Vera Cruz with an incom

petent escort, and had been murdered on the road.J

* Executive Document, No. GO, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 993. t Idem, p. 997.

t General Scott to the Secretary of War, July 25th, 1847. Executive Docu-
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In consequence, General Scott believed himself

abandoned to his own resources.

In the mean time, troops continued to arrive by
detachments at Vera Cruz. Some had previously

marched in escort of small trains, and came through
to Jalapa, and even to Puebla, without serious op

position. But by the early part of June the gue
rillas of the tierra caliente wrere fully organized.

Santa Anna had turned his attention to that branch

of the Mexican service while at Orizaba, and as he

was well known in the proposed theater of opera

tions, and as the inhabitants were adepts in the

business, he had experienced no difficulty in get

ting affairs in train for the prosecution of that sys

tem of warfare. One of the principal leaders of

the parties was a Colonel Cenobio, who had been

for a series of years the well-known chief of an or

ganized band of robbers on the route from Vera

Cruz, and, from the vicinity of his head-quarters

to the hacienda of Mango del Clavo, it was sus

pected that during the whole period he had had EMI

understanding with Santa Anna. This person was

intrusted by the Mexican president with the man

agement and preparation of the service when he

left Orizaba. As the attacks on the American

trains offered booty to the guerilleros as well as

advantage to the Mexican cause, there existed no

obstacle to increasing the number of the robber

bands to any required strength. The whole popu-

ment, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 1012.

II. I
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lation of the tierra caliente was ready to serve, and

various Spaniards came from Havana to act as

chieftains, while others sprung up in the country.

The field of action was not confined to the vicini

ty of the main route from Vera Cruz. Wherever

any American force offered a pretext, there were

found guerillas, for ifthey could obtain nothing from

their enemy, they could at least live at free quar
ters upon their own people, on the score of patriot

ism. The freedom which the Mexican inhabitants

of Vera Cruz enjoyed, gave them opportunities of

acquiring information of the movements of Ameri

can troops, and of the contents of their trains, and,

as the guerilla chiefs had their spies about the

town, the information was received by them be

fore the departure of any convoy.

On the 4th of June Brevet Colonel M'Intosh

marched from Vera Cruz with a command of two

companies of mounted and one of dismounted dra

goons, and six of infantry of different regiments.

The troops, officers and men, with few exceptions,

were recruits who had seen no active service, and

had but little discipline. The train which accom

panied the command was of one hundred and

twenty-eight wagons. The whole number of

teamsters and wagon-masters were perfectly raw,

the draught mules and horses were unbroken and

weak, the wagons were heavily laden and not of

the best manufacture.^

*
Colonel M'Intosh's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, first

Session of the thirtieth Congress, Appendix, p. 5.
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Considerable delay occurred in starting the com

mand, on account of the difficulty of landing a

quantity of specie which was to accompany the

convoy, and the march only extended three miles

from the point of starting on the first day. The
road was of deep sand

; many of the weaker teams

stalled during even this march, and but few reach

ed the halting-place. The great body of the train

was strung out from the Rio del Medio to the vil

lage of Vergara, and men and animals for the most

part passed the night without water or food. Be

ing thus broken down the first day of the march,
the progress of the command on the succeeding

days was slow.

On account of the specie contained in the train,

the column had been marked by the guerilleros, and

a chieftain by the name of Don Jose Maria Cobos

had made arrangements for attacking it.* He had

taken post with his main force at the. Puente Na-

cional, but sent a detachment, under Don Climacio

Rebolledo, in advance to annoy the movement.

On the morning of the 6th four hundred pack-
mules joined the American train, having come up
from Vera Cruz under feeble escort. Soon after,

upon entering the first broken country, Rebolledo's

people attacked the command from front, rear, and

flanks. The attacks were not very vigorous or de

cisive, but, such as they were, they had the effect

of throwing the whole train into confusion. Many
* Don Jose Maria Cobos's Report to the Mexican Secretary of War and

Marine.
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teamsters fled at the first crack of a musket^ and

it required all the exertions of the officers to keep
the recruits in their place or positions. After a

time, however, confidence was restored, the enemy
was prevented from a near approach, and the march

was continued. The train gave a great deal of

embarrassment. What with skirmishing, and the

delay occasioned by the breaking of wagons, no

more than nine miles were made on that day, and

the wagons were not parked until some time after

dark. The Mexicans had succeeded in killing and

wounding twenty-four soldiers of the escort, besides

a large number of drivers and arrieros of the pack-

mule train, who had either fallen under the volleys,

or had been murdered in the bushes where they
had sought refuge on the approach of the enemy.
How much loss was suffered by the guerilleros was,

and is, quite uncertain, but, as usual in such cases,

it was reported to have been heavy.^

In the confusion ofthe affair, twenty-four wagons
had broken down, or their teams had given out,

and were left on the road. The enemy managed
to rob some portion of their contents, and but few

of the wagons were brought up to the camp.
The result of the affair convinced M'Intosh that

his force was entirely insufficient to afford adequate

protection to the train, increased as it had been,

and he therefore sent back an express to Vera Cruz,

giving information of his condition to the senior

* Colonel M'Intosh's Report.
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officer at that place, and requesting re-enforce-

On the following morning he moved in advance

to Paso de Ovejas, where he halted to await its

arrival. The movement was not effected without

annoyance, for the guerilleros hovered on the flanks,

and poured in a volley upon every opportunity.

The effect, however, was only to wound one man.

The command had not been a day in camp when
it was found that another danger was threatened

;

for, on account of circumstances partly beyond

control, and partly arising in the culpable negli

gence of officers and quarter-masters, the troops

had but small store of provisions, and the animals

were without forage. f In the mean time, the ene

my continually made his appearance, and amused

himself by firing at long range into the camp,

though his parties retired before any approach of

the troops in force. But, what with his desultory

practice, the broken-down train, the want of forage,

and the short allowance of provisions, affairs at

Paso de Ovejas were in the utmost confusion. On
the 8th a portion of the pack-mule train was sent,

under escort of those dragoons whose horses were

yet fit for service, to bring up subsistence from the

rear, and other letters were sent to Vera Cruz ask

ing for aid.

Brigadier-general Cadwalader, who had arrived

* Colonel M'Intosh to Brigadier-general Cadwalader, June 6th. Execu

tive Document, No. 1, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, Ap

pendix, p. 13. t Reports. Idem, p. 14, 15, 16.
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at Vera Cruz with a portion of his command, and

was awaiting the arrival of the remainder, received

M'Intosh's first letter on the 7th. He was without

any organized train, and, at the time, totally un

prepared for a movement
; but, in the urgency of

the case, his preparations were energetic, and a

train of a certain kind was got in readiness by

harnessing a quantity of Mexican horses to the

wagons. Early on the morning of the 8th he

marched with one company of dragoons, a detach

ment of infantry, and two mountain howitzers

in all, numbering about 500 men. His column

effected a junction with M'Intosh's on the morning
of the 10th, and Cadwalader assumed command
of the whole. His troops were no better than

M'Intosh's, and the train which had accompanied
the first detachment was so crippled and broken

that it was impossible to move in advance on that

day. By the afternoon of the llth the damages
were partially repaired, and the march was re

sumed.

Several parties of the enemy were observed on

the right of the road, watching the progress of the

command, and once or twice detachments of dra

goons were sent in pursuit, but unsuccessfully.

Upon nearing the National Bridge, the enemy was

found to be in possession of it and the surrounding

heights, and in force.

To the left, a hill fort, which had been built

during the war of Mexican independence, but for

a long time abandoned, commanded the road in its
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approach, and also the bridge, which was obstruct-

ed within the nearest range of the heights on either

side hy a wagon placed across it and covered over

with brushwood. Both heights were strongly oc

cupied hy the enemy, hut his main force was in

position on the heights beyond the bridge and on

the right.

It was near night when Cadwalader arrived in

sight of the position, and the reconnaissance, which

was hurriedly made, developed only the general

dispositions of the enemy. He organized a party
to ascend the hill upon the left and dislodge the

enemy from the fort, and, at the same time, ad

vanced the howitzers, supported by a detachment

of dragoons and two companies of infantry, against

the barricade. The howitzers opened fire, but the

barricade was not injured. The dragoons were

ordered to charge, and started forward at a gallop,

but had not reached the middle of the bridge when
the hill-sides on either flank were lit up by the

blaze of five hundred escopetas. The men and

horses being raw^ the fire threw them into confu

sion. They recoiled, and it appeared that they
would give way ;

but Lieutenant Maney, who com
manded the detachment, turned his horse to the

barricade, called on the men to follow him, and

took it at a fly. The men rallied, and came on in

confusion, scrambling over the barricade as best

they could. Once over it, they were reformed, and

advanced up the road, clearing it of the enemy for

some distance.
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The supporting infantry came confusedly for

ward, and the enemy still continued to pour his

tire from the heights on the right. Cadwalader

crossed the bridge in person with his staff, and,

after collecting the advanced troops, sent two de

tachments, under Captain Pitman of the ninth in

fantry, and his assistant adjutant general, Captain

Hooker, to carry the enemy's position. These offi

cers met with speedy success, and remained on the

heights during the night.

The enemy in the fort on the left fled soon after

the action had commenced, and, the passage of the

bridge being secured, the train was brought for

ward and parked for the night, without further di

rect opposition from the enemy, although a large

party, supposed to be that which had fled from the

fort, threatened a serious attack upon the rear. A
few shots from the rear guard, however, dispersed

it, and no further annoyance was experienced that

night.

In this affair the American force lost thirty-two

men in killed and wounded from the escort alone
;

and, besides these, the loss included a comparative

ly large number of drivers and other employees of

the quarter-master's department.^

On the following day the wounded were sent

back to Vera Cruz under an escort, and on the 13th

the march was resumed. The enemy still hovered

on the flanks, and, whenever an opportunity was

*
Brigadier-general Cadwalader's Report. Executive Document, No. 1,

Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 19.



THE WAR WITH MEXICO. ^37

presented, did not fail to send his volleys from the

rocks and thickets along the road, which inflicted

some loss in men and animals. Early on the morn

ing of the 14th detachments were sent in advance,

which seized the commanding positions ahout Cer-

ro Gordo, and the train, having passed that point

on the 15th, arrived at Jalapa without further re

sistance.

Childs was still there, having been delayed in

moving the hospital to Perote, and it was not un

til the 18th that the united commands were in

readiness to advance. In the mean while, inform

ation had been received that the enemy intended to

dispute the pass of La Hoya, and, in consequence,

the march of the 18th only extended to the village

at its mouth.

On the morning of the 19th four companies were

sent forward to seize the heights which command
ed the pass. Two companies of the command reach

ed the summit of the mountain on the left, and

moved along the crest, without meeting an enemy,
until the head of the main column, which was ad

vancing along the road, had reached the western

extremity of the defile. Then the party on the

mountain discovered the guerilleros, occupying a

height most difficult of access, and commanding
the road from the left. Two companies were sent

up to re-enforce the party, and the whole four, ad

vancing cautiously, poured in a fire which caused

a precipitate retreat of the enemy in the direction

of Perote
; but, upon coming into the road, the gue-
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rilleros fell in with a portion of the garrison of the

castle
;
for the governor, having received informa

tion of their intention, had moved to take them in

reverse,. The firing was quite sharp for a few min

utes
;
but the advance of the American column was

coming rapidly up the road, having cleared the

pass, and the Mexicans soon dispersed over the

hills, pursued, in scattered parties, by the victors.

The loss of the guerilleros in this affair was near

ly thirty in killed and wounded, left upon the field.

The Americans had only a few soldiers slightly

wounded.

Cadwalader pursued his march, and reached Pe-

rote on the 21st. As many of his draught animals

had given out, he was again delayed in refitting

until the 23d. On that day he received an order

from Major-general Pillow, who was advancing
from Vera Cruz, to await his arrival. Pillow had

landed on the 13th, and proceeded at once to or

ganize a train, and advance into the interior with

the troops which remained, and had arrived at the

depot after Cadwalader's movement. He marched

on the 17th with near 1500 men, and, although
he was annoyed along his whole route by small

parties of the enemy, which hovered in his neigh

borhood to give a random shot or to cut off strag-o o

glers, he reached Jalapa without serious opposi

tion. There he halted for some days to replace

his draught animals, the same object which had

delayed Cadwalader. The animals furnished at

Vera Cruz were, indeed, of the most miserable de-
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scription, and the heavy roads of the tierra caliente

soon broke them down so as to render them com

paratively useless. These having heen replaced

in a manner, Pillow marched from Jalapa, and on

the 1st of July effected a junction with the ad

vanced columns at Perote. Thence the united com

mands, in all numbering near 4500 men, marched

for Puebla on the 2d and 3d.

A show of opposition at the pass of El Pinal was

all which was encountered. A heavy force of

mounted guerilleros had taken post there on the

7th, but they fled before the approach of a party

of American dragoons, which took several prison

ers in the pursuit. On the 8th the column entered

Puebla, increasing the force there present, under

General Scott, to 10,276 of all arms; but of this

number 2215 were on the sick report.

The occurrences at Puebla and Mexico during
the months of June and July, and the preparations

for the further advance of the American army, may
well form the subject of a separate chapter ;

and

as, at the period of time treated of in this, occurred

the last positive hostile operations of the squadron
in the Gulf of Mexico, it may be proper to record

them here, although they have no connection with

the movements of the army.

As he had intended, Commodore Perry returned

to the Tobasco River with all of the smaller vessels

of the squadron, having in view an expedition up
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the river, and an attack upon the enemy, who was

in some force in the vicinity of the town. On the

13th of June he anchored off the bar, and on the

following day passed it with the gun-boats, the

small steamers, a number of barges and surf-boats,

having on board detachments from the different

vessels, numbering a thousand men, and seven

pieces of artillery. With this force he proceeded

up the river. On the 15th, when within thirty

miles of the town of Tobasco, information was re

ceived that the enemy had thrown up breast-works

in the thick chaparral along the river banks, at

three different points, which were occupied by

strong parties in ambush. As the flotilla proceed

ed up the stream, it was fired upon at each of the

three, by which one officer and four seamen were

wounded
;
but the enemy fled so soon as the guns

of the flotilla opened upon his positions.^

From a point within nine miles of the town the

river banks were strongly fortified, and the chan

nel obstructed in such a manner that it was doubt

ful whether the steamers could make the ascent.

It was determined not to await the experiment,

and the detachments were landed at once. Eleven

hundred men and ten pieces of artillery were soon

on shore, and marched immediately for the town,

driving back the pickets and small parties of the

enemy. The steamers soon after succeeded in

passing the obstructions, and, as they approached

* Commodore Perry's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of

Representatives, second Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 1209.
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Tobasco, engaged the principal battery of six guns
and a strong force of infantry in the intrenchments.

But a few shots, however, were exchanged, for the

enemy fled from his defenses, and the detachments

on land occupied thetownwithhut slight resistance.

Two officers and seven seamen, wounded and

missing, made up the total loss encountered in this

expedition. The enemy suffered more, and lost all

his artillery (nine pieces), besides a quantity of

ordnance stores.

The commodore, having ordered the destruction

of the fortifications and the removal of the cap
tured material to the flotilla, on the 22d left To

basco in possession of a force of 420 men, belong

ing to the small vessels which remained oif the

town, and temporarily under Commander Van
Brunt.

The enemy hung about the place, and sought

every opportunity for annoyance. On the 25th

some of his parties approached so close as to de

liver a fire upon the Americans, which wounded
one man. The same night an attack was made

upon the American main guard, which, however,

resulted in nothing.

Under these circumstances, Commander Bigelow,
who arrived there on the evening of the 26th from

Frontera, ordered the destruction of the huts in the

suburbs, which were consumed, and, during the

night of the 29th, when it was believed that the

enemy contemplated an attack, a few shells were

fired over the town.
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On the morning of the 30th an expedition start

ed for the village of Tamultay, where the main

force of the enemy was stationed. One hundred

and fifty men and a piece of artillery proceeded hy

land, while the steamers were to ascend the river.

The land party fell in with the enemy within a

short distance of the village, and dispersed his force

after a little firing. The village was occupied, a

few worthless arms destroyed, and the command
returned. The steamers had been unable to ascend

the river in time to join in the skirmish.

Frontera, the Coatzacoalcos, and the neighbor

hood of Alvarado, continued to be held by the naval

forces for a subsequent period, but the opposition on

the part of the enemy was but that of annoyance,

and there remained no new duty of importance to

be performed. The greater portion of the squadron

remained at anchor off Vera Cruz, while the smaller

vessels were lying at the different occupied ports,

or cruising up and down the coast of the Gulf.



THE WAR WITH MEXICO. 143

CHAPTER V.

Difficulties of the American Army at Puebla Opinions and Feelings of the

General His Reconciliation with Mr. Trist Probable Cause of Recon

ciliation Mr. Trial's Action Proposition of Santa Anna to open Negotia
tions in consideration of a Bribe of One Million of Dollars General Scott's

Arguments in favor of accepting it Meeting of General Officers Opin
ions Santa Anna's Action and Policy Mexican Politics Mexican Prep
aration for Defense American Prisoners Action and probable Motives

of British Legation Probable Policy of Santa Anna American Prepara
tions to advance General Pierce's Movement from Vera Cruz General

Smith's Movement Affair of San Juan de los Llanos Garrison of Puebla

Santa Anna's final Proposition to General Scott He accepts it Santa

Anna's Policy Preparations Observations.

WHILE awaiting the arrival of the garrison of

Jalapa and the expected party of recruits, General

Scott was engaged in disciplining and refitting his

army. He had many difficulties to overcome, and

not the least of these was the want of money ;
for

the government at Washington had counted, to a

certain extent, upon the ability of the general to

raise contributions from the country, and if they

failed, that the drafts of the disbursing officers upon
the American cities could be easily negotiated.

Neither of these methods of obtaining funds sup

plied the wants of the army. General Scott had

refused to attempt the former from Jalapa ;
the lat

ter had been adopted, and was successful to a de

gree. It had been easy to raise money upon drafts

at Vera Cruz and Jalapa, by forbidding the export
of any specie in those places, and in that manner
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the army had been supplied until it had reached

Puebla. The supply in that city was scanty, and

the holders demanded and obtained a high premi

um. What there was was soon exhausted
; and,

had it not been for the sum brought up by M'ln-

tosh's train, the army would have been penniless.

That sum had been intended for the pay depart

ment, and, as it was appropriated in great measure

to the commissary's and quarter-master's, the troops

remained unpaid. The army was also without

stores of clothing either at Vera Cruz or Puebla,

and four months' service had rendered a refit abso

lutely necessary. The evil was remedied to a de

gree by having clothing made up in the country,

and issuing it to the troops ;
but it was of very in

ferior quality, and unsatisfactory to either officers

or men.^

All these difficulties, disappointments, and an

noyances confirmed the ill feeling of the general-

in-chief toward the government. In his letter of

the 4th of June to the Secretary of War, he had

asked to be relieved from the command so soon as

it would be safe for any person to leave the coun

try ;
and in a subsequent letter, written after he

knew that a portion of his asserted grievances were

without foundation, on the 25th of July, his com

plaints were no less violent, and the tone of his cor

respondence was any thing rather than subordinate

or respectful. The letter was not immediately re-

* General Scott to Mr. Marcy, July 25th, 1847. Executive Document, No,

60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 1015.
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ceived at Washington, owing to the failure of the

messenger ; but, as it was written at the time and

forwarded, it is a true exponent of his feelings and

opinions.^

The most remarkable thing which it announced

was that a happy change had taken place in the

relations between himselfand Mr. Trist. How this

reconciliation was brought about between persons

antagonistic in politics, and who had for some time

been indulging themselves in the most unmitigat

ed abuse of each other, and how General Scott at

last became convinced that the writer of the "
far

rago of insolence, conceit, and arrogance," as he

had characterized one of Mr. Trist's voluminous let

ters, was "
able, discreet, courteous, and amiable,"

is yet, to a certain extent, a mystery, and it may
ever remain so. It was probably through the in

tervention of General Persifor F. Smith, at whose

quarters Mr. Trist resided while in Puebla, arid who
was on friendly terms with General Scott. The
motives of the parties, and the opportunities which

were presented for his intervention, may be judged
of from the events of the period and from the char

acters of the different persons.

Mr. Trist had been watching an opportunity to

commence the business of his mission, and had sev

eral conversations with Mexicans and foreigners of

intelligence upon the subject. He determined to

send the note of Mr. Buchanan to the Mexican

* General Scott to Mr. Marcy, July 25th, 1847. Executive Document, No.

60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 1015.

II. K
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minister of foreign relations through the British

emhassador at Mexico, if that functionary had no

objection to transmitting it, and therefore address

ed a note to Mr. Bankhead on the 6th of June, mak

ing inquiries in regard to his disposition.^ On the

receipt of the note, Mr. Bankhead sent the secreta

ry of the British legation, Mr. Thornton, to Puebla

for the purpose of receiving the letter, and of hav

ing a conversation with Mr. Trist upon the objects

of his mission. The letter was sent by the hands

of the secretary, to be delivered to the Mexican min

ister, if there were in existence in Mexico a posi

tive and responsible government.!

The British minister delivered it, and on the 22d

of June it was answered by Senor Ibarra; but the

answer was like all former answers of the Mexican

government to similar previous communications.

The determination of the matter was left to Con

gress $ and how much was to be hoped from its ac

tion experience had shown. In this matter, there

fore, so far as appears from any direct public cor

respondence with the Mexican government, can be

seen no opportunity for commencing negotiations,

and no reason for the reconciliation
;
and it could

not have been brought about by the receipt of any
instructions from Washington.

The news of the quarrel had caused deep regret

* Mr. Trist to Mr. Bankhead, June 6th, 1847. Executive Document, No.

52, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 181.

t Idem, June llth, 1847. Idem, p. 184.

t Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 40.
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at that place, and the conduct of both General

Scott and Mr. Trist was highly disapproved. The
President of the United States and the Secretaries

of State and War saw the misapprehensions which

had heen the immediate and apparent cause of the

outbreak, and the secretaries wrote at once to cor

rect them.

On the 14th of June Mr. Buchanan wrote to Mr.

Trist to sacrifice his private resentment, and to

make an attempt to conciliate the general by a

full disclosure of the objects of his mission.^ On
the 13th of July the secretary wrote again. In

the mean time, he had received copies of the volu

minous and bitter correspondence which had pass

ed between the officers, and Mr. Trist was severely

blamed for his unauthorized course in constituting

himself the aid-de-camp of the President, and pre

suming to give orders to the general-in-chief.f No
further instructions were given him, inasmuch as

it was expected that, in obedience to those of June

14th, he would have made concessions which would

satisfy the general and permit the public service to

proceed without obstruction from personal quarrels.

Mr. Marcy wrote on the subject to General Scott

on the 31st of May. He explained the objects of

Mr. Trist's mission, and the misapprehensions un

der which the general was laboring, and expressed

the belief that he would carry out the views of the

government in good faith when the contingency

* Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session

of the thirtieth Congress, p. 827. t Idem, p. 829.
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arose which would require his co-operation.
^ The

subsequent letters of the Secretary of War were in

further explanation, and in answer to the various

complaints made by General Scott upon the sub

ject; but, as none were received before the 26th

of June, the time of the occurrence of the "
happy

change," the correspondence can only be taken as

the index of opinions of the people at Washington.
The motives of the parties and the causes of the

reconciliation must be looked for in the events

which took place in the vicinity of the head-quar

ters of the army ; and, if nothing more had trans

pired in reference to the negotiation of a treaty,

the reconciliation would hardly have taken place.

Enemies, especially political enemies, are not rec

onciled without a cause
;
and on the 26th of June,

as nothing had been received from Washington,
the apparent probable course of the parties was,

that they would await the result of their commu

nications, when each might have expected to re

ceive a vindication of his conduct, and that the

other would be recalled.

About the same time that the public answer to

Mr. Buchanan's note was received, private advices

also arrived, at Puebla, from the Mexican presi

dent, who was by the time fairly settled in his au

thority, and was straining every nerve to prepare

his capital for defense against the invader. The
matter contained in those advices may have been

* Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session

of the thirtieth Congress, p. 960,
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the cause of the reconciliation of the general and

commissioner.

It was intimated, on the part of the Mexican

president, to Mr. Trist, that nothing could he ac

complished without the use of money ;
but that, if

one million of dollars were placed at the disposal

of Santa Anna, to he paid upon the conclusion of

a treaty of peace, and ten thousand dollars, which

it was necessary should he paid immediately, he

would appoint commissioners to negotiate.

This proposition was the immediate subject of

discussion between General Scott and Mr. Trist,

and rendered their agreement a matter of policy,

inasmuch as it may have given to each an oppor

tunity of action, with the hope of future aggrand
izement

; for, at the time, it was believed that peace

was the great desire of the American people and

government. Being and having been in the po
litical field, General Scott was perfectly willing to

do any thing to secure his popularity. He had

laid a foundation for the superstructure by the cap
ture of Vera Cruz and the victory of Cerro Gordo,

and his numerous letters of complaint had made it

an easy matter for his partisans in the United States

to get up a cry of persecution a political measure

often resorted to with success
;
and in this case,

when set forth in connection with the prominent

military services of the persecuted, it may have

been hoped to exercise a very beneficial effect.

As for future victories, it was not known how

great they might be, and how much eclat would
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be awarded to them. The battle of Buena Vista,

which had been fought contrary to all expectations

of General Scott, had taken well with the Ameri

can people, and Taylor had evidently carried off

the greater share of military glory. But as the

American press, and especially the Whig party

press, was calling out for peace, it could have been

anticipated that the combination of its
"
conquest"

with the military achievements of the general-in-

chief would outweigh the services of General Tay
lor in public estimation, and command greater ad

miration than that given to simple, hard-fighting

military renown.

General Scott had already acquired some repu
tation as a peace-maker by his bloodless removal

of the Cherokee Indians, and by a correspondence

in which he was engaged on the subject of the

northeastern boundary dispute with Great Britain.

If he could have made, or been the chief instru

ment in making, a peace which would satisfy the

Whig party (an easy matter, for the Whigs were

crying for it on any terms), and the Democratic

party to a certain extent (which, indeed, it must

have done, since it required the approval of the

President), it could very easily have been said by
his political friends that he had triumphed by his

great military skill and diplomatic talent, in spite

of the many obstacles in his way, and the "
many

cruel disappointments" which he had received at

the hands of the War Department, and obtained

the end so anxiously desired by the government
and people of his country.
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Mr. Trist's reasons for desiring the reconciliation

are no less palpable. His functions were as naught
so long as he was not on good terms with General

Scott. Any reputation which he may have hoped
to gain by the negotiation was in a fair way of

being compromised by a continuation of the quar

rel, and it is probable that a little reflection and

advice had convinced him how much blame would

be laid upon his shoulders should the negotiation

be frustrated. He had received an admonition, not

to say a threat, from the general in relation to his

correspondence, and the latter could have sent him

out of the country. He was exceedingly unpopu
lar with the army, and the many friends of General

Scott wished no less. He had no prestige of mili

tary fame which could sustain his reputation, and

enable him to appear well before the American

people in case of failure. All which he could de

pend upon was the favor of the administration, and

how far that would have been given in support of

his conduct, and how far it would have availed if

given, may well be questioned. As the negotia

tion, if commenced under Santa Anna's proposition,

was one of exceeding delicacy, and required the

co-operation of General Scott, it may have been

his policy to conciliate him.

On the 25th of June Mr. Trist sent a note to the

general, to which the latter transmitted a courteous

reply.^ The matter contained in the notes is not

* Mr. Trist to Mr. Buchanan, July 23d, 1847. Executive Document, No.

60, House >f Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 830.
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public, as copies were never received at the State

Department atWashington ;
but from that time the

intercourse was friendly, and, from being' friendly,

soon became cordial, until at last it ended in the

closest intimacy between the general and the man
whom he had considered as being

" the personifi

cation of Danton, Marat, and St. Just all in one,"

lacking only the ambulatory guillotine with which

those worthies were accompanied.^ Mr. Trist at

once became a man of high importance in the

army. He changed his cognomen of simple Mr.

Trist, the chief clerk of the State Department, and

a confidential agent of the government, to that of

the American minister. All guards, even that at

general head-quarters, were ordered to turn out on

his approach, which was to be announced by that

title, and to pay him appropriate honors. At the

time, so far as related to mutual intercourse, it

would have been hard to say which one of the

reconciled functionaries excelled in courtesy and

amiability.

When Pillow arrived at Puebla, he was made a

party in the conferences which were taking place

upon the subject of negotiations, in compliance
with an informal and confidential request from

authority at Washington. Moreover, it may have

been a measure of policy to have him included, as

he was a strong Democrat, and well known as a

particular personal friend of the President. Being

* Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 996.
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a third party, and a principal neither in military

nor diplomatic station, the credit of the business, if

credit there were, could not very well fall to his

lot; and in the event of the failure and publicity

of the negotiation, and of odium attaching to it, he

could very well he brought in to bear his portion

of the responsibility.

The policy of agreeing to the demands of Santa

Anna was most strongly advocated by General

Scott in several meetings and discussions which

took place. Various objections were started to the

negotiation, as being wrong in itself, and not in

accordance with the practice of the American gov
ernment to have recourse to bribes in the prosecu

tion of diplomatic business, and, moreover, impoli

tic, as not likely to be countenanced by the Amer
ican people. General Scott's arguments in favor

of the measure were in substance the following :

That the bribery was not wrong in itself, inasmuch

as General Santa Anna had placed himself in the

market, and the fact that he was found in the

market offering to take a bribe was an evidence

that he was already corrupt. As to the second ob

jection, he referred to the fact that the government
had sanctioned the secret expenditure of five hund
red thousand dollars in the adjustment of the north

eastern boundary question, was in the habit of

making presents to the chiefs of Indian tribes, and

had made them to the Barbary powers, which

were but bribes. Hence his conclusion was, that

the practice was one of common event in diplo-
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matic affairs, and that it had been sanctioned by
the government of the United States. Under the

influence of this information and argument, Pillow,

who had raised the objections, yielded them, and

agreed that, as the government had sanctioned

the usage, it was, on the whole, expedient to open
the negotiation, rather than to march on Mexico

and fight another battle for peace or the conquest
of the capital.

The difficulty in acceding to the proposition

was mainly in the want of money. The appro

priation of three millions of dollars for diplomatic

purposes had been made in no expectation of such

a contingency as the present, and, moreover, re

quired vouchers for its expenditure. It would

hardly have been made had the American Con

gress expected that it would be used in such a

manner. As the vouchers were liable to publica
tion upon a call of Congress, if it were possible to

use any portion of it, it would have been inex

pedient. The manner in which the general in

tended to obtain the money was by placing the ex

penditure to the account of some one of the depart
ments of the army, and he was willing to take the

whole responsibility of answering for the expendi
ture before a committee of Congress, should one be

appointed to investigate it.

The affair being thus arranged, communications

in cipher (the key of which had been received

from Mexico) were sent by Mr. Trist to the secret

agents of Santa Anna, notifying him, through them,
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that his proposition was accepted, and the ten

thousand dollars stipulated for immediately were

paid over from the secret service money which

General Scott had at his disposal.

In the mean while, preparations for an advance

were in progress ; hut, hefore they were completed,

or the news of any positive puhlic action on the

part of Santa Anna had heen received, General

Scott learned that Brigadier-general Pierce was ad

vancing with another column of re-enforcements

from Yera Cruz. Under these circumstances, he

called a meeting of general officers, at which Gen
erals Pillow, Quitman, Twiggs, Shields, and Cad-

walader were present. General Smith was absent

with a command sent to meet Pierce's column.

General Scott had quarreled with Worth on ac

count of his convention with the city authorities

of Puehla, and, as they were unfriendly at the time,

he did not invite him.

To the general officers present, General Scott

submitted the propriety of advancing immediately

upon Mexico, or of awaiting the arrival of Pierce's

column. He also made known the proposed ne

gotiations with Santa Anna, with the views and

arguments in favor of it which he had before ex

pressed in conference, and asked opinions. They
were decided as to the propriety of awaiting the

arrival of General Pierce, but differences were ex

pressed in relation to the negotiation. Pillow, hav

ing previously agreed to it, gave his in favor of the

measure. Quitrnan and Shields opposed it strong-
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ly, Twiggs gave no opinion, and Cadwalader, al

though by no means in favor of it, inasmuch as

the matter had been confided to so many, and

could hardly be kept quiet when there was oppo
sition of a decided character, gave no positive opin
ion at the meeting. General Smith was under

stood to be aware of the business, and to approve
it. General Scott, however, was willing to take

the responsibility upon himself; but he intended

that the conversation should be confidential, and

expressed his desire that it should be so consider

ed by the officers present. Not many days elapsed,

however, before a letter, laudatory of one of the

opposing generals, was on its way to the United

States, giving a somewhat inaccurate account of

the whole transaction, so far as it was disclosed at

the meeting.^
How much good faith there was in Santa Anna's

proposition, at the time he made it, is difficult to

say ;
and as his intentions changed with the ever-

varying politics of his country, it is more difficult

to say how long it lasted, if it ever were one of its

characteristics. It is very probable that at first

he was willing to give up the contest with the

Americans, provided he could get the consent of

the government, as he had a large army at his dis

posal with which to secure his power. But, whether

made in good faith or not, the proposition was a

measure of policy in keeping with the whole course

of conduct of the Mexican president.
* Letter of " Gomez" to the St. Louis Republican.
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Soon after it had been transmitted to General

Scott, there appeared in the journals of the capital

a report of a reputed council of war held at the

American head-quarters, in which the numbers and

strength of the American army were given with an

accuracy which showed that it had its origin in a

quarter where they were well understood. The

opinions given by the generals were such as to ren

der the report very plausible, in consideration of

their different characters, and it ended by an

nouncing that a speedy advance would soon be

made upon the capital.

No such meeting ever took place, and the pub
lication of the report was doubtless put forth as a

feeler by the Mexican authorities, in order to as

certain how far the opinion of the public and of the

army would support Santa Anna in the measures

of negotiation or hostility.

Santa Anna may have hoped that, if the public

apprehension were aroused, the feeling may have

been strong in favor of peace, and that then he

could undertake the negotiation with a prospect of

success. He could then have bought over such a

number of deputies, whom he could control in

no other manner, as to make up, with his strong

partisans, a majority in Congress, and secure its

acquiescence. A good share of the money stipu

lated for as the price of the negotiation might have

been reserved for himself. In case the sentiment

of the people was warlike and in favor of resist

ance, by the proposition which he made Santa
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Anna had delayed, or thought he had delayed, the

advance of the American army, and gained time to

complete his defenses, and for the arrival of men
and material at the capital. Meanwhile, he spared
no effort to insure success, should the alternative

of deciding the question by a contest of arms be

adopted.

The public opinion, so far as it can be judged of

by the Mexican journals of the period, was unsta

ble to a degree, and the manifestations of it were

not sufficiently strong to take the responsibility of

any measure from the executive. It was believed

by many that the resistance would be triumphant,
and all indulged in boasting of the certainty of

such an event. Still, the approach of the North

Americans was looked upon with apprehension,
and there was an uncertainty of purpose and opin

ion, which was generally ended by a hearty abuse

of the invaders and the whole Yankee race.

The letter of Mr. Buchanan had been referred to

the Congress, but that body was unable to act from

want of a quorum. Many timid members took the

method of absenting themselves in order to get rid

of the responsibility of voting for or against the

consideration of the offers of the negotiation. The

papers were daily filled with notices for them to

assemble, but for some time these were unheeded.

By the 13th of July, however, the letter was re

ferred to the Committee on Foreign Relations. The

report was rendered on the same day, and was at

once adopted. It left the matter just where it pre-
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viously stood, and was a stroke of policy or in

trigue which compared well with that which Santa

Anna had made, when, after imprisoning the chiefs

of the opposition, he resigned the presidency, and

placed Congress in the dilemma of supporting him,

or of allowing affairs to go on without any direct

ing head.

After various expositions concerning legality, in

terests, and honors, the paper ended with the rec

ommendation that,
" With a copy of this report let

the dispatch be returned to the government, be

cause in the present situation of the affair it comes

within its cognizance, with the restrictions which

are established by the fundamental code of the

republic," thus declaring that the President must

take the responsibility of the negotiation upon him

self, and that such was his duty ;
and this in the

face of the law of April 20th, which expressly with

held from the executive any authority to make

peace with the United States, and declared every

individual a traitor who should, either as a private

citizen or a public officer, treat with that govern

ment.

On the 16th, a paper, signed by Senor Pacheco,

then Minister of Relations, was sent before the Con

gress, which combated the position taken in the

report, and insisted that it was its duty, under the

existing law, either to untie the hands of the ex

ecutive, or to express its disapprobation of the meas

ure in a positive manner. But Congress was slow

to act, and open negotiations were forbidden.
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The military preparations, however, went on.

The fortifications were completed and increased,

and a corps of over 5000 men and twenty-two

pieces of artillery arrived from San Luis de Potosi,

under General Valencia, who had some time be

fore returned to the service. The command was

entirely of regular troops, and had formed part of

the army collected by Santa Anna before his ad

vance to Angostura. Valencia, who had but re

cently made his peace with Santa Anna, was not

slow in denouncing the proposed measure of nego

tiations. He boasted loudly of the ability of the

troops to defend the capital ;
and in a junta of gen

eral officers, asked for the command of a force of

12,000 men, that he might advance on Puebla and

expel the invaders from the city. His request was

not granted, but his noisy braggadocia was an ob

stacle in the way of negotiations, if, indeed, they

were contemplated in good faith.

In the mean while certain military communica

tions passed between the armies respecting the

American prisoners, who, in spite of their stipulated

exchange, and the great number of Mexican prison

ers at large on parole, were still retained in Mexico.

The Mexican authorities had failed to comply with

the repeated and urgent demands of General Scott

for their release, probably because they disliked to

lose the only proof of a semblance of victorious

achievement in their possession, and on account of

the knowledge and information which the officers

and men must have gained of the state of affairs
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and defense while on parole in the capital. It was

finally decided that the privates should be march

ed to Tampico and delivered up there, hut the of

ficers were retained in the capital, and subsequent

ly ordered and sent to Toluca; two, however, at

tempted and made their escape to Puehla.

By the end of July the force present in the city

of Mexico, according to Mexican accounts, was

over 36,000 men, and one hundred pieces of artil

lery of different calibers. This force and armament

would appear to any one fully sufficient to defend

a city against an enemy who, it was well known,
could not bring 10,000 troops into the field

;
and it

may have been that Congress and the people of

Mexico were then so confident of success that they
did not wish to make peace on any terms without

a victory, and therefore there existed no apparent

necessity for untying the hands of Santa Anna for

the purpose. Having collected his force, and be

ing nearly prepared at all points, he, too, may have

been willing to hazard his fortunes in another bat

tle
;
and the time was most favorable, if such were

to be the event. He did not fail to allure his ad

versary to advance before he received other re-en

forcement.

While the consideration of Buchanan's letter

was before Congress, he kept up his secret corre

spondence, and intimations reached Puebla that, in

order to enable him to work upon the public pulse,

and to secure him in his appointment of commis

sioners, it would be necessary for the American

II. L
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army to advance and threaten the capital. Such

a movement on the part of General Scott gave the

Mexican every advantage, for it presented his en

emy within close distance in his smallest force,

and left him at liberty to attack, or to await an at

tack in strong defenses, or to enter into negotia

tions for peace, as might best suit his purposes at

the moment.

The British officials continued to be engaged in

transmitting the communications, and apparently

took great interest in the negotiation. What their

motives were can hardly be told
; for, while it was

evidently British interest that peace should be

made, it was also British interest that the terms

should be favorable to Mexico rather than the Unit

ed States. Whether it was desired by them that

a peace should be concluded which should com

promise a large portion of the Mexican territory is

exceedingly doubtful.

The policy of the Mexican government, as set

forth in the Diario del Gobierno about the close

of July, was to make peace with the United States

ultimately. War, it was said, was not the normal

state of nations, and peace must result at some pe

riod or other of the crisis
;
but that peace could not

be made until Mexico had gained a victory which

would vindicate the national honor, heretofore com

promised by a series of disasters and defeats. But

little doubt was expressed that the result of the

contest about the city of Mexico would be glorious

to the nation, and that, when she had rolled back
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the tide of invasion, Mexico could afford to accept
the offers of negotiation.

This view may have been entertained by the

British diplomatists ; for, could Mexico have ob

tained the victory, and have made peace immedi

ately afterward, it might well have been believed

that the terms would be the most favorable.

That Santa Anna then held such policy is also

probable ; for, although his extraordinary exertions

had raised a large force in an incredibly short space

of time after each succeeding defeat, yet he knew
that the resources of the country were well-nigh

exhausted, and that nothing but a speedy conclu

sion of the war could be hoped to save it from de

struction at the mercy of the invader. That a

treaty could be best made after a victory was a

probable event
; and, moreover, the prestige of vic

tory was necessary for him to retain his power over

his countrymen after the retirement of the Ameri

can army.

As he did not count upon Santa Anna's implied

promises with full confidence, General Scott had

not relaxed his exertions to prepare for the advance
;

and when Santa Anna's suggestion was received

that he should make such movement, it was, of

course, easy to be adopted. He only awaited the

arrival of Pierce's column.

The troops had been partially reclothed, their

arms and accouterments repaired, and in most re-
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spects the effective force was in excellent condi

tion and spirit.

The sick list was, however, large, for the men
were not fully acclimated, and the rarefied atmos

phere of the plateau affected them severely.

The engineer officers had 'been employed in ob

taining information of the localities, routes, and

defenses about the capital ;
with how much suc

cess will appear in the sequel.

The army was not well assured of the advance

during all this while, for the fact that negotiations

of some kind were in progress was well known,
and various people about head-quarters announced,

from time to time, a probability of peace, which

was, perhaps, soon contradicted, and rumors were

again rife of continued war.

General Pierce, who meantime was advancing,
left Vera Cruz on the 19th of July with near

3000 men of all arms, having been delayed un
til that time by the want of transportation. His

force was principally composed of new regular reg

iments and recruits for the old. No organized op

position was offered by the guerilleros^ although
he was constantly annoyed and harassed from the

flanks, which caused him some loss in wounded,

but no delay. The bridge of the Rio del Plan, a

noble arch, had been destroyed, in the hope of im

peding his progress ;
but a few hours' work sufficed

to cut a road down the steep banks, and, as the

river was only a streamlet, the whole column and

convoy passed without accident. At Jalapa he
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found some difficulty in obtaining supplies, but the

threat of sending the civil authorities to the castle

of Perote as prisoners had at once the desired effect,

and the supplies were furnished.

General Scott had understood that Pierce was

advancing by the Orizaba road, in order to avoid

the obstructions thrown in his path by the demoli

tion of the bridges. General Smith's brigade was

sent from Puebla to meet him on that road, and to

clear it of any force which might be in position to

oppose his march by attacking it from the rear, for

Don Juan Alvarez was making demonstrations of

moving from Atlixco for that purpose. Smith learn

ed, however, soon after leaving Puebla, that Pierce

was not on the southern route, and he therefore

moved on the National Road. At El Pinal he ob

tained information of an establishment of guerillas

near the road, at the hacienda of San Juan de los

Llanos, about midway between Ojo del Agua and

Tepeahualco. Having continued his march to

Ojo del Agua, he sent Captain Ruff with a squad
ron of horse (one troop of dragoons and one of

mounted rifles) to break it up.

Ruff attacked the hacienda on the 30th of July,

and, notwithstanding the strong positions of the

guerilleros and their superior force, for they num
bered over 300, his command completely routed

them, with a loss of forty killed and fifty wound
ed. To do it, the riflemen dismounted, and actu

ally drove the enemy from the buildings by sharp-

shooting through the windows. The American
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loss was trifling. The buildings were destroyed,

and the squadron returned. Ruff was then sent

to Perote, where he met Pierce's command on the

1st of August.^

Smith, in the mean time, distributed his force

along the road, stationing one regiment at Vireyes,

another corps at El Pinal, while he remained with

a third at Ojo del Agua. On Ruff's return, he col

lected his troops and returned to Puebla. Pierce

followed, and entered that city on the 6th of Au

gust with a force of 2429 men of all arms. His

loss had been principally from sickness, and the

invalids had been left at Perote. Besides them

were those wounded by the desultory fire of the

guerilleros.

By the 6th of August, the corps previously at Pu
ebla were in readiness to march. The garrison of

that city had been designated, and was to consist

of one small company of cavalry, two of regular ar

tillery, and six companies of Pennsylvania, all un

der command of Colonel Childs. The whole num
ber of effectives in the command numbered but little

over 500. Eighteen hundred sick were, however,

left in hospital, of which many were convalescent,

and available for defense to a certain extent, and

besides these were several civil employees. The

hospital and stores were all located in the southeast

ern quarter of the town, under the fortifications of

* General Smith to Captain Scott, August 2d, 1847. Executive Docu

ment, No. 1, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress. Appendix to the

Report of the Secretary of War, p. 25.
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the hill of Guadalupe and Fort Loretto. But few

buildings other than those required for the shelter

of the troops and stores were included in the line

of defense to which it was proposed to restrict the

occupation of the city. The positions were strong,

and Fort Loretto was armed with a mortar and two

twelve pounder guns, and, besides this artillery,

several mountain howitzers were left, which were

available for the defense of the occupied buildings.

With the exception of the troops and armament

named above, all other force was to move in ad

vance. While the army was in the midst of act

ive preparation, about the last of July, a commu
nication from the Mexican president, sent through
his secret agents, reached Mr. Trist, and, through

him, the general-in-chief, suggesting, as the only
method by which they could hope to obtain peace,

that the American general should march his army
into the valley, and attack and carry one of the

outworks of the Mexican line of defense, and

then, if he halted his troops and sent in a flag of

truce, offering to negotiate, it was highly probable

that the measure could be consummated. General

Scott at first consented to this arrangement, with

the exception of sending in a flag after achieving a

partial victory, and his agreement to the remainder

of the suggestion was transmitted to Santa Anna.

Subsequently, however, he reconsidered the sub

ject, at the earnest representation of General Pil

low, and caused another communication to be sent

to Santa Anna, so written as to relieve himself from
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the committal
;
but he still remembered the prop

osition, and, at the time, determined to act in a

manner corresponding to his suggestion, and ex

pressed his intention so to act to officers before he

left Puebla.*

The proposition was made by Santa Anna, doubt

less, in furtherance of the policy expressed in his

official journal, and to gain as many advantages
as he could from the confidence of his adversary.

As for the advantages given to the American gen
eral by the arrangement, it can very readily be

seen that they were none at all
;
and he might

fail in his attempt to carry the outworks, a very

probable contingency in the event of his attacking

at any point which it was believed by the Mexi

can general that it was practicable to approach.
If he did fail, he was at Santa Anna's mercy, and

the Mexican could take such course as he thought

proper, either to let him escape to Puebla, or to cut

him up on his retreat with his overwhelming num

bers, fully aroused by the victory which they had

obtained. That the American army, after a re

pulse, would have been in sad condition to effect

a retreat, any one acquainted with its character

will readily admit, for it would not have ceased to

struggle for the victory until cut to pieces.

Ifthe outworks were carried, the victorious Amer
ican general placed himself in the attitude of the

* Lieutenant-colonel Hitchcock, Acting Inspector General. Introduction

to intercepted Mexican Letters. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first

Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 409, and Lieutenant-colonel Hitchcock's

Letter to the New York Courier and Enquirer. Idem, p. 524.
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vanquished and begged for peace, and Santa Anna

may have hoped to have been able to claim the

victory, according to his supposed policy, and, if he

felt inclined or found it expedient to gain the mill

ion of dollars, to make peace. He could claim the

victory, for it could have been represented that his

exertions had secured the capital, inasmuch as the

invader was without its walls, and was suing for

peace. If he did not wish to fulfill his engage

ments, by such arrangement, in case of American

victory, he gained time to fortify and strengthen

himself in such a manner as probably to insure

success to the Mexican arms in a second contest.

The hope that the prevalence of the vomito upon
the coast would delay re-enforcements to the Amer
ican army had proved fallacious, and the idea that

the guerillas were very efficient in breaking up
the communications no less so. Santa Anna had

collected all his strength all which even his geniuso o

and energy, aided by the almost unlimited power
which he possessed for that purpose, exercised, as

it was, in an unscrupulous and unsparing manner

upon the resources of the country, could collect,

and, if the issue were to be decided by battle, the

sooner the invader could be induced to march to the

attack, the greater would be his chance of success.

The Americans would be then at the minimum,
the Mexicans at the maximum number, and, if

they were to be successful at all in their resistance,

they must have been successful then. In such

event, the future maintenance of a large force
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would have been of comparative ease, while delay

increased the difficulty, and would probably add

to the resources of the invader.

Santa Anna knew, by his secret correspondence

and the reports of spies, that the enemy was about

to advance, and took his measures accordingly.

The drilling and disciplining of his troops had

been progressing from the first. The shops and

stores of Mexico had been frequently closed, in

order to allow time for the drilling of the National

Guards, and the troops of all classes were in as

good physical condition as any troops which Mex
ico ever sent into the field.

General Lombardini had had direction of the

military affairs in the city from the 28th of June,

and had not failed in enforcing the most stringent

regulations. All American residents of Mexico

were expelled from the city to the interior, though
some of them made their way to Puebla, in spite

of the prohibition of intercourse, and the numerous

corps of cavalry and guerillas by which the roads

were guarded ;
and by the last of July, when

military preparation and diplomatic intrigue had

done their utmost for the cause of Mexico, and the

American army, in its weak numerical strength,

was about to advance, Lombardini issued the or

ders for the defense. They were to the effect that,

upon the arrival of the Americans in the valley, a

gun would be fired in the Plaza, after which all

civil occupations were to be suspended, and the city

was to become a camp. Each corps of troops was
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to be held in hand, in readiness to move against

the enemy.

In the preparation for the defense of the capital

of Mexico there was much to admire, and much
which rendered the condition of affairs remarkable

in history. The rally of a large force in defense

of a nation's cause is in itself a sublime spectacle.

In this case, when defeat and disaster had met

every effort of Mexico in the struggle ;
when her

best armies, led by her greatest generals, had been

overthrown
;
and when, at the commencement of

the preparations, the enemy was within a few days'

march of the capital ;
when discord and jealousy

were rife in the national councils
;
when the Presi

dent was openly denounced by many, and the sev

eral factions were bitterly hostile in all save the

nominal stand which had been taken in defense

of the national territory and in proclaimed enmity
to the United States

;
when the treasury was bank

rupt, and money could be obtained only by forced

loans and by enormous sacrifices, that the city of

Mexico had been strongly fortified, and over 35,000

men collected for its defense, armed, equipped, and

disciplined, and all in the short space of three

months, through the energy and genius of one

man, and he to a great degree unpopular, surely

the preparation was remarkable, and almost with

out a parallel. Whatever may have been the vices,

faults, follies, or misfortunes of Santa Anna, in con-
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sideration of this action alone he must be allowed

some meed of fame.

The means to which he resorted to effect his ob

ject were vigorous and stringent, but bloodless
;

and although many loud complaints were made,
both by natives and foreign residents, of his con

duct in seizing property for public use, and the im

prisonment of the various factious leaders was de

nounced as arbitrary and tyrannical, yet it is diffi

cult to see how, without the exercise of such pow
er, Santa Anna could have placed himself in a po
sition which promised so many advantages to his

country. In the state of things which existed in

Mexico, it is not so much to be wondered at that

property was seized, and the leaders of the opposi

tion imprisoned, as that it was not utterly confis

cated, and that they were not put forever at rest.

As for the negotiations which the President of Mex
ico carried on with the American general, they
were dishonorable, as all must be where bribery

and corruption are the end or the means. But

Santa Anna displayed all his talent for intrigue,

and won every advantage which was to be gained

by the negotiation.

Nevertheless, jealousy and discord among the

generals, and disappointment among the troops,

elements of disaster which had existed in the Mex
ican armies from the first, existed still

;
and the

want of moral power, which had been so deeply
felt in all previous battles, had been rendered by
the result of those actions still more palpable, al-
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though Mexicans had every thing at stake which

could call forth the spirit of the nation and the

army. The genius and energy of the chief had

done much
;
his artful intrigue and duplicity had

been called into action, and had laid the founda

tion of complete triumph in case of success, and

probable security in case of defeat. How far his

extraordinary powers for good and for evil availed

in remedying the difficulties consequent to a long

course of unstable government, and vicious and

immoral conduct both in public and private life in

Mexico, in both of which Santa Anna had been a

principal participant, the results proved.

The situation of the American army was no

less remarkable. With inferior numbers, it had

triumphed gloriously on every field from Palo Alto

to Cerro Gordo. Whether the Mexican forces had

been met in the field, in cities, or in intrenchments,

the result had been invariably the same. The
valor of American soldiers, the moral power of free

men, directed by the skill of the officers, had over

come all obstacles, and borne the flag of the Union

in triumph to the vicinity of the enemy's capital.

But a greater undertaking than any in the whole

course of the war was to be accomplished. From
circumstances which have been noticed, its vic

tories had not been prosecuted, and in the delays
time had been afforded the enemy to recover from

his disasters. These opportunities, short though

they were, had been seized
;
and now, having trav

ersed a thickly-peopled country, and penetrated
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two hundred miles, passing through three cities

and numerous towns, the country, cities, and vil

lages being hostile in a great degree, the American

army was about to advance still further in its

career of war, to the capital of Mexico, a city of

one hundred and eighty thousand inhabitants, and

guarded, as it was, by over three times the force of

the assailants. Nor was the enemy to be encoun

tered upon the open field, where the superior skill

of the Americans in some arms of war was to be

allowed an opportunity for display, as at Palo Alto

and at Buena Vista
;
but was to be attacked in

strong fortified positions, protected by a powerful

fixed artillery. When the difficulties to be en

countered in achieving the conquest are consid

ered, it can not be denied that the undertaking

was greater than any with which American valor

had hitherto been charged ;
and it may well be be

lieved that the additional difficulties presented in

the course indicated by the Mexican president

should in reason have made the burden too griev

ous to have been borne in case of his failure to ful

fill his implied promises.

And what security had the American general

that they were to be fulfilled ? None, save the

faith of a man whose whole course of life had

shown that he scrupled at no violation of good

faith or honor for the benefit of himself or his par--

tisans. In favor of the success of the negotiation,

there was the well-known avarice of Santa Anna.

But whether the prospect of gratifying it would
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not have been as good, in case he could retain pow
er and popularity, by the repulse of the invaders as

by the receipt of the bribe, is questionable. Though
he was ambitious and greedy of gold, he was not

less so of power and military reputation.

By adopting the course proposed, General Scott

was to take all the chances of defeat and give up
all advantages of a victory. If the negotiation

were not successful (and its success depended upon
the will of Santa Anna and the caprice of the Mex
ican people), the battle would have to be refought,

with reduced numbers, and against strong positions.

The alternative of success was defeat and disaster,

if not utter annihilation.

Under these circumstances, the American ad

vance is without parallel. In daring and in rash

ness, the inarch of Cortes over the same route, cen

turies before, can hardly compare with it.

The Spaniard had the advantage of arms un

known to his enemies
;
he had the friendship of

powerful tribes and nations of the country; his

principal weapon was diplomacy ; and, more than

all, he made use of the most powerful moral engine

upon earth, superstition. Through it, he inspired

dread on the part of his enemies, and zeal and val

or on the part of his soldiers and allies.

The American, thus far, had been continually

delayed by diplomacy ; superstition had exercised

its influence against him; and though it might
have been easy to have taken advantage of the dif

ferent elements of faction rife in Mexico, yet the
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domestic policy of the United States forbade the

promise of protection to insurgents beyond the pe
riod of the war. Every overture of peace made to

Mexico, at the sacrifice of all ordinary rules of eti

quette and action, she had rejected, and now she

was to be allowed every advantage in case of fu

ture American success. With this in view, cer

tainly those foreigners and partisans who question

the justice of the cause of the United States can

not be dissatisfied with the so-called "
magnanim

ity" shown, at the risk of the safety of his army
and his cause, and necessarily at that of many
lives, by the American general.

CHAPTER VI.

Locality and Defenses of Mexican Capital Information of American Gen

eral March of American Army from Puebla Arrival in the Valley of

Mexico Reconnaissances of El Penon and Mexicalcingo Skirmish near

Mira Flores Meeting of general Officers at Ayotla Plan of Attack pro

posed by General Scott on Mexicalcingo, with Movement of Worth's Di

vision around Lake Chalco Observations Lieutenant-colonel Duncan's

Reconnaissance Change in General Scott's Orders March of the Army

by Chalco Route Affair at Oka Laka.

THE situation of the capital of Mexico is exceed

ingly favorable for defense. The lake which sur

rounded it in the time of Spanish invasion and con-'

quest has receded, it is true, and left it environed

by land : but that land can, in great part, be over

flowed by inundation, or rendered so marshy as to
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be impracticable for tbe operations of masses, ex

cept along the causeways which enter the city.

These circumstances render the position as strong

against assault as though surrounded by water, and

prevent the ease with which it might be blockaded

were it in its ancient state
; for, although a small

number of troops on a causeway could effectually

stop communication by it, yet it would require an

indefinite number to close the thousand and one

avenues by which the natives of the country can

proceed to and from the town.

The fortifications which had been erected were

of exceeding strength for field works, and were ad

mirable both in their construction and locality.

Two lines enveloped the capital, and offered re

sistance to the invader. The first was at some

distance from the city, and consisted of fortified

heights, lines of intrenchments, and artificial in

undations, by which the natural obstacles of lakes,

marshes, and mountains were skillfully connected.

But one great road, the great thoroughfare from

the Gulf, through Puebla and Jalapa, enters the

city from the east. From Puebla it leads through
a cultivated and slightly undulating country as far

as San Martin Tesmalucan. Beyond that place it

rises in gradual ascent, for the most part, to the

pass of Rio Frio, and a few miles further rapidly

descends into the valley of Mexico. The country

over which it passes after leaving the base of the

mountain range is level, but interspersed with scat

tered volcanic hills of considerable height, and ex-

II. M
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ceedingly rugged. In other countries they might

worthily bear the name of mountain, but in the

vicinity of the stupendous barriers of the valley of

Mexico they sink into insignificance.

Along the road, after entering the valley, are sev

eral villages and much cultivated country, but aft

er approaching wdthin twelve miles of the city, a

barren, desolate plain is presented to the eye, des

titute of vegetation, and, to ^a great extent, of hab

itations. But one height is in the vicinity of the

causeway for the remainder of the distance.

This, the hill of El Penon, is immediately south

of the road, at a distance of eight and a half miles

from the city. It was the first obstacle to an ap

proach from the east. The marshy shores of Lake

Tezcuco were almost immediately upon the north

ern side of the causeway opposite to it, and the hill

was surrounded by inundations. Two strong bar

ricades, with wet ditches and embrasures for can

non, had been constructed in advance upon the

causeway. The passage of the narrow space be

tween the northern base and the lake was defend

ed by a strong field-work, besides being commanded

by those of El Penon. A continued line of in-

trenchments extended along the eastern and south

ern bases, and connected with ditches and streams

of water on the west. The water of the inunda

tions washed the slope of the works, and extended

for such a distance as to render even an approach
a matter of extreme difficulty. Above them, on

every point offering positions for defense, batteries
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and breast-works had been constructed. Roads

had been made over the rugged surface of the hill,

which rendered the communication between the

different works comparatively easy. The position

wras armed with twenty-six pieces of cannon, of all

calibers, from thirty-two pounders to fours.

Defended by good troops, El Penon would have

been impregnable to an assault by storm, and even

the task of taking it by the process of the engineer
was one of great difficulty. Indeed, it blocked the

main causeway from the east completely.

To turn it by the right, it Would have been nec

essary to make a detour of thirty miles and more

around the Lake of Tezcuco, and to reach the north

ern road, which enters the city through the town
of Guadalupe Hidalgo and the garita of Peralvillo.

The country along the route was destitute of wood

and water to a great degree, and, upon coming to

the northern road, other obstacles were presented.

The hills in advance of Guadalupe were strongly

fortified, and armed with twenty-two pieces of can

non. The lines were more extended than those

at El Perion, and the extent of the hills forbade the

complete occupation of them by the troops of either

army. Nevertheless, a good defense should have

been made at that point if it were attacked. But

the great obstacle to that event was the route by
which Lake Tezcuco must have been turned, if

the attack were to have been made there.

To turn El Penon by the left, the first and most

direct route was by a road branching from the
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causeway to the south, some miles to the east of

the hill. It traversed low land and meadow for

the most part, passed through the old town of Tzta-

palapan, and, crossing the canal from Lake Xocho-

milco to the city, continued on to the Acapulco road,

along the causeway of San Antonio. At the cross

ing of the canal was the village of Mexicalcingo.
The country to the east of it was covered hy in

undations, and the only practicable ground upon
which troops could operate was the narrow cause

way. Either side was wet and boggy. Two ditch

es, a barricade with wet ditches, and a fortified

hacienda, obstructed the direct passage of the

canal. On the left, beyond the marshy ground,

the Lake of Xochomilco and the canal were the ob

stacles, and the passage by the right was defended

by a strong line of lunettes, connected by parapets

and wet ditches. The system of defenses was

garnished by thirty-two pieces of artillery.

This line, extending from the city of Guadalupe
to the lakes of Xochomilco and Chalco, it was

deemed,, completely barred any approach to the

capital from the east. Lake Tezcuco rendered the

passage to the north of the causeway impracticable,

and the ground between Mexicalcingo and El Pe-

non was cut up by irrigating ditches, and was,

moreover, covered with the waters of the inunda

tions. Lakes Chalco and Xochomilco extended

south to high hills, spurs of the range of mount

ains forming the southern and western barrier of

the valley of Mexico.
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South of the capital the great thoroughfare is

the Acapulco road, which enters the city along the

causeway and at the garita of San Antonio. A
line of intrenchments had been commenced, con

necting the fortified hacienda of San Antonio, six

miles south of the city, with the position of Mex-

icalcingo. From the immediate vicinity of the ha

cienda, the Pedregal extended west to the mount

ains. The Pedregal was an obstacle of no ordina

ry nature to military operations. A vast field of

lava, interspersed with a few patches of arable land,

it was practicable for the passage of any troops at

but few points, and entirely impracticable for cav

alry or artillery except by a single mule-path.

An approach by the Acapulco road had not been

apprehended, however, and the works, although

commenced, had not been pressed to completion.

The interior lines of defense had also been con

structed with a view to the defense against an east

ern approach, and to delay an enemy, should he

succeed in forcing the strong exterior line. The

garita of San Lazaro, at which the eastern road en

tered the city, was fortified by strong works on the

causeway, having platforms and embrasures for

heavy cannon. The marshy grounds south of it

were defended by a system of detached redoubts

and lunettes, extending to the garita ofLa Candela-

ria, on the canal from Lake Xochomilco. The great

defense in that quarter was, however, in the nature

of the ground, which rendered it impracticable

when covered by the inundation. The soil north
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of the causeway and of the city was comparative

ly high and firm, and the greatest labor was ex

pended in fortifying in that quarter. A strong line

of works extended from the garita of San Lazaro

to that of Peralvillo, which was likewise strongly

fortified, and connected by works and fortified

houses with that of San Jago, another entrance on

the north. Besides these defenses, advanced works

had been commenced in that quarter, and the

ground in front of the main line was cut into troux

de loups.

The two entrances from the west are at the ga
rita of San Cosme and Belen. Works had been

commenced to connect that of San Cosme, the most

northerly, with that of San Jago, and the nature

of the country and of the buildings formed obstruc

tions to any advance between San Cosme and Be

len. Belen was defended principally by the cita

del of Mexico, a square bastioned work, with wet

ditches, which was immediately inside the garita.

Barricades had also been commenced
;
but the great

obstacle to an entrance by either garita was pre

sented in the rock and castle of Chapultepec, which

were about two miles southwest of the city. From
this hill two aqueducts extended to the city, the

one northeast in a direct line to Belen, and the oth

er north to the suburb of San Cosme, where, turn

ing at right angles, it continued on and entered at

the garita. The roads from the west were along
the aqueducts. Chapultepec was strongly fortified

by nature and art.
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Two roads enter the city from the south, be

tween the garitas Belen and San Antonio, one at

the Belen, and the other at the garita of El Nino

Perdido. Neither of the roads had any branches

to the Acapulco road south of the Pedregal and the

hacienda of San Antonio, and therefore had been

left comparatively unfortified.

In general, the exterior lines were upon the east,

three hills of Guadalupe Hidalgo, the lake of Tez-

cuco, the hill of El Penon, the inundations, the

lines of Mexicalcingo, and the lakes of Chalco and

Xochomilco. On the south were the lines and for

tifications at the hacienda of San Antonio and the

Pedregal. These, with the mountain barriers of

the valley, inclosed the city, and it was believed

by Mexicans that the defenses could not be turn

ed so as to enter the city by any of the western

roads except by a circuit, which would allow am

ple time for completing and adding to the defenses

in that direction.

The immediate defenses of the city, it will be

seen, were of the least strength on the south and

west. From the garita of San Jago, through those

of Peralvillo and San Lazaro, to that of La Candela-

ria, the works were in themselves strong and strong

ly connected, and the nature of the ground present

ed great obstacles to turning them by either flank,

should the exterior defenses in that direction have

been forced. South, narrow roads, wet, marshy,

and boggy grounds, cut up with irrigating ditches,

and the whole partially covered with inundations,
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were the obstacles to gaining the Acapulco road.

North, several deep canals extended from the city

to the hills, obstructing a passage in that direction

out of range of the works.

The general of the American army was not ful

ly informed of the nature of the Mexican lines of

defense, or of the country in the vicinity. Soon

after their arrival at Puebla, his engineer officers

had commenced collecting information and com

pleting maps, by putting it down, as fast as received,

upon sketches, enlarged from the common maps of

the valley.* They gained a general knowledge
of the strength of the lines which were obstacles

to the direct entrance into the city, and that strong

defensive works were to be encountered in its close

vicinity. A glance at the map showed that the

ground south and west of the city was more prac

ticable than any upon the east, and their attention

had been turned to the discovery of a route by
which those positions could be reached. The

sources whence information was derived were al

most entirely Mexican, and the informants were

for the most part ignorant of military operations.

All frequented routes were known to be obstructed,

and of the only one by which it was hoped to turn

the defenses, accounts differed as to the practica

bility for heavy artillery and trains at any time,

* Lieutenant-colonel Hitchcock's Letter. Executive Document, No. 65,

Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 523.
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but the greater number agreed that it was imprac
ticable in the rainy season.

This route was a southern one, between Lake

Chalco and the mountains, and General Scott had

contemplated a movement by it for some time.

Although he was inclined to trust Santa Anna so

far as the negotiations for peace were concerned, and

had actually expressed his intention of acceding to

his proposition for an armistice, yet the Mexican

could impose upon his confidence no further, and

failed in getting him to avow his proposed point

of attack.^ He did not intend to attack the Mex
ican positions in the strongest point, if it could be

avoided, and, although the particular features of

the country and the nature of the fortifications on

the west of Mexico were not as fully known as

those upon the east, yet it was evident that the

ground was better, and that the defenses were in

a less complete state in that direction. Some time

before leaving Puebla he had intended to turn the

city, if possible, with his whole army, and to seize

upon Chapultepec, which was understood at the

time to be but slightly fortified, and comparatively

easy to capture. But, as the time for the advance

drew nigh, the information which was received was

regarded as conclusive that the roadway around the

southern shore of Lake Chalco was impassable, and

attention was fixed upon the more direct routes as

those by which the attack was to be made.

*
Lieutenant-colonel Hitchcock's letter. Executive Document, No. 65,

Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 524.
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Believing that his eastern exterior line was se

cure on either flank, Santa Anna had his army

posted in great part upon the east of the city. His

own head-quarters were at the hill of El Peiion.

The troops in position at that point were, for the

most part, the National Guards of the city of Mex
ico and artillerists of the line.

Valencia, with the regulars of the northern army,
was charged with guarding the route by Guada-

lupe Hidalgo. His head-quarters were at the town

of Tezcuco, on the east of the lake, in observation,

and his advanced parties were pushed by the coun

try paths north of the great road to Puebla, as far

as the vicinity of San Martin Tesmalucan.

General Bravo held Mexicalcingo with troops

composed of the regulars of the line and the Na
tional Guards of the different states.

General Alvarez had withdrawn his Pintos from

Atlixco shortly before the advance of the Ameri

can army, and taken position south of the road,

within the valley of Mexico, whence he could

operate, as he said, in partisan warfare.

The garrison of Puebla having been designated,

and having taken post in the positions to be occu

pied in that city, the American army commenced

its march upon the capital. Barney's t cavalry

brigade and Twiggs's division marched upon the

7th of August, Quitrnan's volunteers on the 8th,

Worth's division on the 9th, and Pillow's, the rear-
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most troops of the army, marched on the 10th.

General Scott moved with Quitman, but soon

passed to the front.

No opposition was offered by any Mexican troops

to the progress of the invading army, although de

tached parties of cavalry from Valencia's corps hov

ered in observation upon the flanks, and approach
ed within short distance of the halting-places of

the different divisions. The advanced guard en

tered the valley of Mexico on the 10th, and Gen
eral Scott fixed his head-quarters for the time at

Ayotla, a village within nine miles of the fortified

position of El Penon. Quitman arrived on the

10th, and took post some five miles to the rear, at

the hacienda of Buena Vista. Worth passed him

on the following day, and, turning to the left, quar
tered his division in the village of Chalco. On
the 13th Pillow arrived, and was located at the

hacienda of Chimalpa, some few miles beyond
Worth's position.

While his army was concentrating, General Scott

was studying the solution of the problem of the

military operations by which the end of the war

was to be accomplished.

On the 12th El Penon was reconnoitered, and

its strength was fully discovered. The American

reconnoitering officers approached so close that

conversation was practicable, and a Mexican,

proud in the strength of his position and the war

like preparation by which he was surrounded, jump
ed upon the parapets, and shouted to the observers
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that all was ready for their reception. The an

swer was as cool as his vaunt, and he was warned

not to be in too great haste that all would he ac

complished in due time.

In the opinion of the engineers, El Penon could

he taken with the loss of three thousand men,
which was equivalent to the opinion that it was

impregnable ;
for the army, after having sustained

such a loss, would have been in no condition to

have forced the strong interior defenses of the city,

even with the prestige of victory.

On the 13th another reconnaissance was pushed

upon the route by Mexicalcingo. The operation

was conducted by Brevet Brigadier-general Smith,

and was successful, inasmuch as good positions for

observation were obtained, the reconnaissance ef

fected, and the troops returned, without disaster, to

their encampment. It has been characterized by
General Scott, it is said, as the most daring recon

naissance of the whole war
;
and not without rea

son, for the small corps of which the escort was

composed passed within close proximity of El Pe

non, and, having left it far in the rear, advanced

to within a short distance of Mexicalcingo. By
thus doing, it was exposed to be shut up upon the

narrow causeway, and to the necessity of fighting

under every disadvantage, should the enemy issue

in any force from El Penon, and occupy the road

in its rear.

Had such an event been looked for and guarded

against, the reconnaissance would have had some-
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thing more to recommend it than the courage of

its executors. Twiggs's remaining troops might
have heen in hand, and Quitman's in readiness to

march from Buena Vista. In that case, had the

enemy taken advantage of the situation of the es

cort to attempt its destruction, there would have

heen the prohability of bringing on an engagement
outside of his strong positions, and the result of

such an encounter was not by any means problem
atical

;
but every thing was left to depend upon

the skill and bravery of the officers and troops of

the party, and upon the known inactivity of the

Mexicans. No very positive preparations were

made to take advantage of a movement from San

ta Anna's head-quarters, or to afford any assistance

to Smith in case of a sudden emergency. The

troops, for the most part, remained quiet in their

camps ; and, so far from the general-in-chief being
in position to superintend any operations, should

there have arisen either a necessity or an opportu

nity for action, at the time of the reconnaissance

he was at Chalco, arranging a plan of a partial

movement with General Worth.

Mexican scouts had been sent over the route

around Lake Chalco, and had confirmed the be

lief which General Scott had entertained, that the

passage in that direction was quite difficult, if not

impracticable. At that time the information of

the general was to the effect that the road was

good to the town of Tuiscingo, and thence prac

ticable to the town of Tuliahualco, though par-
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tially under water, by the causeway between the

places, and rough and difficult by a road south of
the lake. It was thought, though erroneously, that

there was a direct, though rough road, from that

point to San Augustin Tlapam, on the Acapulco
road. A smoother road was known to pass by the

shore of the lake to the town of Xochomilco, but

was thought to be interrupted by the rise of the

lake.*

Although the route was considered so far imprac
ticable as to forbid the attempt to move on it with

the whole strength of the army, with its heavy ar

tillery and trains, yet it was thought probably prac

ticable for the movement of a single division, and

that the passage by such a force could be made

good with the assistance of water transportation for

some of the heavier baggage and material around

those parts of the road under water. Water trans

portation, to a certain extent, was at hand, in the

shape of Mexican market-boats, which had been

secured at Chalco. General Worth's division was

the one which was to make this movement, had it

been made, and was to operate in the Mexican

rear while the main army attacked the positions

in front.

Worth objected to the separation of his division

* Memoranda concerning the Chalco route, given on the 14th of August by

Captain R. E. Lee, of the engineers, at the time on duty at General Scott's

head-quarters, and subsequently acting chief engineer of the army, to Cap
tain J. L. Mason, of the engineers, on duty with General Worth, for the

guidance of the latter in his movement around Lake Chalco. See Appendix,
No. 1.
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from the remainder of the army upon this experi

mental expedition, although there was no man in

the army better qualified or more anxious to ex

ercise a separate command. He believed that the

route was practicable for the whole army ; which,

indeed, it must have been, if it were practicable

for his division. The movements were not defin

itely arranged or ordered on the 13th, although

they were under contemplation. In the mean

time, no reconnaissance had been made over the

southern route by American officers, and it is high

ly probable that none would ever have been made,
had not Lieutenant-colonel Duncan, who was in

timate at Worth's head-quarters, and whose views

in relation to the proposed operations fully coincid

ed with those of that general, volunteered to make
a reconnaissance on the following day. Worth ap

plied for permission to General Scott
;
and although

he believed that the report of the Mexican spies

was in the main accurate, and that the reconnais

sance was unnecessary in some degree, yet he gave
his consent, and ordered it. At five o'clock on the

morning of the 14th, Duncan started with a strong

escort and supporting force to go over the route as

far as Tuliahualco.

In observing the position of the American army
in the valley of Mexico, and the numerous obsta

cles which were to be encountered before success

could be obtained, even to the achievement which

General Santa Anna had intimated was necessary

before he could or would appoint commissioners to
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treat for peace, the want of heavy ammunition was

most apparent. Having learned of the existence

of a foundery near the village of Mira Flores, on the

slope of the mountain, on the 13th General Scott

sent an aid-de-camp, with an escort of infantry and

cavalry, to examine the establishment, and ascer

tain its capacity for casting hullets in case they
should be required. The reconnaissance was not

effected, however, for the foundery was some dis

tance beyond the village, and, in consequence, the

infantry halted there, while the staff officer and the

cavalry proceeded on. The whole country in the

vicinity was swarming with guerillas, only waiting

an opportunity for plundering, if it could be effect

ed with any thing like impunity. Seeing a small

party of cavalry, one of these bands endeavored to

cut it off while separated from the infantry of the

escort, and, indeed, did. On finding his situation

dangerous, the aid-de-camp, Lieutenant Hamilton,

turned to rejoin the infantry, and, coming in col

lision with the enemy, a scrambling skirmish en

sued. The dragoons were mostly recruits, and,

with the exception of Hamilton, the officers were

inexperienced. He called on the men to follow

him, and rode straight at the guerilla, but he was

unsupported for a time in the midst of the enemy,
and was dangerously wounded before the party

came to its work. Nevertheless, he got through >

and, having reached Mira Flores, gave information

to the commander of the infantry. He started at

once to the scene of the skirmish, but met the dra-
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goons upon the edge of the town. They had suc

ceeded in passing, for the guerilla had fled so soon

as any determined resistance in force had been

demonstrated.

On the morning of the 14th a meeting of gener

al officers was held at Ayotla. General Scott had

arranged his plan of attack, although, as he said,

he did not consider it unalterable, should Colonel

Duncan's reconnaissance prove that the route south

of Lake Chalco was practicable. That, however,

was considered an exceedingly doubtful event, and,

without placing any reliance upon it, General Scott

gave his orders and explained his views. Gener

als Worth, Pillow, Quitman, and Cadwalader

were present, and received instructions for their

guidance. The plan was that which had been un
der consideration on the previous days, and Mex-

icalcingo was to be the immediate and principal

point of attack. Three divisions were to operate

along the causeway, while Worth was to attempt
the passage around the south of the lake, and, if

his movement were successful, to operate against

the rear of the position, or other point of Mexican

defense.

It was a plan of no easy execution, and objec

tionable under every point of view from which it

can be considered. In the first place, the detach

ment of a division of troops by a difficult route of

over twenty miles, but partially known, was ex-

II. N
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ceedingly hazardous to the safety of the corps, and

of doubtful expediency, even if it were left entire-

ly out of consideration
;
for it is rare indeed that a

detached corps can arrive at the proposed point of

attack in time for any concert of action, when the

point on which it is directed is out of view of the

forces with which it is intended to assault in front.

Unless this fortunate agreement of movement took

place, of course the two portions of the American

army must have attacked in detail. Whether, had

they attacked in such manner, Worth's small nu

merical force would have availed any thing for ef

fective assault, may well be doubted, in considera

tion of the numerous obstacles which he must have

encountered. The rear of Mexicalcingo was al

most entirely unknown ; and, had Worth even been

successful in carrying a position, he would have

been cut off from the remainder of the army, un

less, indeed, he carried the whole line of works,

which was neither anticipated nor directed. Had
it been intended to have modeled upon General

Taylor's operations at Monterey (and the contem

plated movement of Worth's division was of the

same character with that which he led at that

place, except that there the field of operations was

smaller and the route fully known), a little refer

ence would have shown the inconveniences, not to

say dangers, arising from the want of " concert of

action." Indeed, the movement was in opposition

to all true principles of war, and every authority

upon military operations would unite in condemn-
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ing it in the abstract. The circumstances which

would justify a departure from the rules of the art

to so great a degree had no place in the situation

of the American army.

Had it been operating in its own country, with

the routes well understood by its own officers, and

unknown to the enemy ;
had it been in large nu

merical force, and in possession of positions af

fording good opportunity for observation, the at

tempt would have been hazardous
; but, by the

genius of the commanders and the bravery of the

troops, success might have been hoped for. Such

movements have been made by great captains,

but, whenever they have been successful, it has

been owing purely to fortuitous circumstances or

some known disadvantage in the position of the

enemy.
In this case every advantage was known to be

with the Mexicans. They had strong defensive po

sitions, overwhelming odds in numbers, powerful

batteries, and all-commanding positions. Not even

the semblance of an advantage was with the Amer

icans, unless it was looked for in the understand

ing with Santa Anna, and the hope that, for win

ning the million of dollars, he would allow the easy

capture of his outworks. It is evident that full de

pendence was not placed upon his hints and prom

ises, and if it had been, the policy of leaving more

to the magnanimity of the Mexican general, even

when stimulated by his avarice, may well have

been doubted. Moreover, in such case, there was
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no necessity of sending Worth's division on a sep

arate experiment.

The route hy which the three divisions were to

attack in front was one which rendered their opera

tions no less hazardous. The narrow causeway
which was the only approach to Mexicalcingo
would admit of the maneuvers of hut a small nuin-

her of troops against the enemy's position. It was

intended that Twiggs's division should he in ad

vance, Quitman's to he in support, and Pillow's to

be the rear guard. The baggage trains of the three

divisions were to have been along the road between

them, and in this order it was intended to storm

and carry Mexicalcingo from the front. The na

ture of its defenses has been noticed, and truly it

was no bad compliment to American soldiers that

they were expected to achieve a victory under such

circumstances over superior numbers, strongly for

tified and armed.

The ground to the right and left being most diffi

cult, if not impracticable, from its boggy nature, and

being entirely impracticable for artillery, the posi

tions must have been forced, if forced at all, by di

rect assault along the causeway, aided by the fire

of such heavy guns as could be brought into bat

tery. The siege train of the American army was

very small, and what the result of a cannonade

would have been can easily be imagined, when

only two twenty-four pounders and two eight-inch

howitzers could have been planted to bear upon
the lines. Had these been protected at all, they
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must have been by epaulements hastily thrown up
under fire, and the supply of ammunition was ex

ceedingly limited.

The works of the enemy were solidly construct

ed and well located
;
he could have brought an im

mensely superior weight of metal to bear upon the

little battery ;
and in this connection it should be

remembered, that, in the practice of fixed artillery,

his gunners had proved themselves but little infe

rior, if any, to the best.

Some of the difficulties of the assault in front

have been noticed, and the situation of the rear

guard may be also spoken of. Shut up upon the

narrow causeway by the intrenchments in front, the

army was exposed to be shut up in rear also at the

option of Santa Anna
;

for he could issue in force

from El Peiion so soon as the engagement had fair

ly commenced at Mexicalcingo, and, by occupying
the firm ground to the east of the road, attack the

rear guard from an advantageous position ;
or he

could await the result of the action in front, and

stand ready to beat back his enemy in case he at

tempted to retreat.

In the mean time, the narrow road, encumbered

with wagons, would have forbidden any thing like

freedom of communication among the American

troops, and it would only have needed the destruc

tion of a few animals of the trains, by artillery at

long range, to have thrown every thing into con

fusion. Certainly, in such case, there could have

been no other guarantee of success for extrica-
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tion from their perilous position than that of the

bravery of the troops unaided by skillful guid
ance.

It may have been that reliance was placed upon
the bad quality of the Mexican troops, and the in

aptitude of their commanders to seize an offered

advantage. This certainly could have been de

pended upon to an extent, and was when General

Scott marched from Puebla with an army of 10,000

to attack and capture a city of 180,000 inhabitants,

defended by 35,000 soldiers. Whether it was well

to count further upon Mexican imbecility may be

considered questionable. Dependence upon the er

rors of an enemy is never safe, and certainly, if he

is prone to commit them, it is but a small reason

why a general should commit them himself.

The picture of the dangers attending the proposed
movement of. the American army on Mexicalcingo,
and of Worth's division around Lake Chalco, may
perhaps be too highly drawn ;

but such views were

entertained by a great number of intelligent and

experienced officers at the time the preliminary or

ders were issued. In fact, but few who knew the

position of affairs, or any thing of the geography of

the country, were satisfied with the plan. The

very position of the army was dangerous enough,
in the front of the strong numerical force of the

enemy, his powerful batteries, and in the midst

of a populous valley, the center of the enemy's

country, without increasing the chance of disas

ter by operating in detachments, having no, or at
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best most difficult, communications, against fixed

points, between which the communications were

easy.

The policy of the American general was certain

ly to operate against points of the enemy's line of

defense in full force, and then, with the powerful

energy of his troops, and the skill of his subordinate

officers, he had all the chances of success which

were to have been hoped for in the situation of

affairs.

But certain it is that the attack on Mexicalcingo
was determined upon, and that the orders for the

preliminary movements of the troops for such pur

pose were issued. Pillow and Quitman were or

dered to march their divisions to positions in ad

vance of Ayotla on the 15th, and Pillow's staff offi

cers even selected the ground for encampment for

the following night. When the meeting broke up
from head-quarters, Worth took with him the en

gineer and other general staff officers who were to

accompany him, and they were furnished with

memoranda containing all known data concerning
the route which he was to pursue.

But on the evening of the 14th " a different plan
was resolved upon by General Scott, in consequence

of information then received respecting the road

round Lake Chalco, on the south side, which satis

fied him that this route was not, as he had been led

to believe, altogether impracticable for carts, in

ivhich case it would have been so A FORTIORI for his

trains (numbering over one thousand wagons) and
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heavy artillery"* This information was me result

of Colonel Duncan's reconnaissance. That officer

had proceeded as far as Tuliahualco, and found the

road to that point not only good, but, as a whole,

excellent. Tuliahualco was within ten miles of

San Augustin, and all accounts which he received

agreed that the route between the two places was

practicable. From partial observation from ele

vated positions, Duncan was of the opinion that

the road was as good, if not better, than that which

he had reconnoitered.f And, as a strong argument
in favor of its practicability, it was considered that

it could hardly be possible that two villages of the

size should be within so short a distance of each

other without a practicable communication.

Having returned from his reconnaissance, Dun
can met Generals Worth and Pillow and their staff

while on their way from head-quarters to their di

visions, and informed them of the result of his ob

servation. Both of those generals, and all with

them, felt the importance of the information, and

hoped that the proposed plan of operations would

be changed, and that the movement would be made

in the whole strength of the army to turn the city

and attack it upon the southern and western fronts.

* Mr. N. P. Trist to Mr. Buchanan, August 22d, 1847. Executive Docu

ment, No. 52, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress. In this matter

Mr. Trist is good authority, for he was, at the time of writing the quoted ex

tract, and of the movement to which it relates, on terms of the closest inti

macy with General Scott, and was living at his quarters with him.

t Lieutenant-colonel Duncan's Report of Reconnaissance. See Appendix.

No. 2.



THE WAR WITH MEXICO. 201

With a letter from Worth, inclosing his written re

port, and recommending the change, Duncan pro

ceeded, on the evening of the 14th, to Ayotla; and

the effect of his information was, that the orders

issued in the morning were countermanded. Dun
can returned to Chalco that night, and, having
communicated an order to Worth to delay his

movement, rode over to Chimalpa, and gave the

same to Pillow from the general-in-chief. Quit-

man, however, was not informed of the change of

intention, and on the morning of the 16th hroke

up from Buena Vista and marched for Ayotla, in

obedience to his original instructions.

These facts, with reference to the discovery of

the practicability of the Chalco route, and the or

ders and dispositions made by General Scott, are

incontrovertible. It has been asserted that it was

all along known to the general, and that the move

ment upon Mexicalcingo was undertaken in order

to conceal his ultimate intention from the enemy.*
But the order has in it many evidences that it was

given in good faith, and not intended as a strata

gem. That idea might have suggested itself, and

it might possibly have been hoped that the inten

tion of the American general to assault Mexical

cingo becoming public, and known to Santa Anna,
would cause him to collect and keep his force on

the east of the city, while, by a sudden inversion,

the American army moved around the lake and

* Lieutenant-colonel Hitchcock's Letter. Executive Document, No. 65,

Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 526.
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appeared on the southern front. But the fact that

Worth's division was ordered to attempt the route

in any manner, shows clearly that no such idea

was entertained hy General Scott; for, had the

Mexican president known of the approach of any
force whatever, he would, in all probability, have

guarded the road, or have kept a corps in observa

tion, from which he could learn the approach of

the American army in time to occupy and strength

en the southern positions and defenses.

Another statement which has been put forth to

show that the general-in-chief had a knowledge of

its practicability is, that he was informed, before

General Worth's arrival in the valley, by a person

who had been with Santa Anna in 1833, when his

army turned the city by that route, and took with it

its artillery and train.* This, it was said, establish

ed its practicability ;
and it no doubt would have

done so, had it not been that such information, if

ever received, was false. Santa Anna never led

an army by that route
; but, on the occasion refer

red to, he did take the route by Mexicalcingo,

which was not obstructed at the time, and appeared

on the San Antonio causeway with his heavy ar

tillery. Knowing that he had so moved, he took

the best of good care that his enemy should not

find it without an obstacle; and if a person who

belonged to his army was specially sent to guide .

General Scott by the route which Santa Anna had

* Lieutenant-colonel Hitchcock's Letter. Executive Document, No. 65,

Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 576.
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marched over in 1833, up to the very difficult posi

tion of Mexicalcingo, it was only in keeping with

the course of conduct which Santa Anna had al

ways pursued, whenever he could impose upon the

credulity and weakness of an adversary.

In ordinary circumstances and in ordinary war

fare, the movement around Lake Chalco would have

heen dangerous in the extreme, for it abandoned all

communication, and left a long and narrow, and in

some places, as was afterward apparent, dangerous
defile in rear of the American army. Every thing
was placed in the hazard of the hattle by the move

ment, and retreat, in case of ill success, was out of

the question. But the movement on Mexicalcingo
was no less hazardous in such event, and, besides,

there was the positive certainty of the greatest dif

ficulty in the front
;
and as for the impracticability

of the retreat, such had been the character of all or

nearly all the operations of the war, owing either

to the action of general officers, or that of authori

ties at Washington, or the force of circumstances,

or all combined. As such was the case, and an
" outwork" at least was the object of the move

ment, it certainly was advisable to take some other

than either El Penon or Mexicalcingo. And, un

der all the circumstances of the case, none can

find cause to censure the American general because

he countermanded his first orders, and directed the

movement around Lake Chalco, when he received

information that it was not impracticable, as he

had been led to believe.
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The march was commenced on the evening of

the 15th. Worth's division hroke up from Chalco,

and, passing Pillow's at Chimalpa, proceeded some

distance on the route hefore dark. Pillow follow

ed him early on the following morning. Quitman,
who returned from Ayotla and came to Chalco on

the 15th, soon followed him. On the same morn

ing Twiggs struck his camp at Ayotla, and moved

upon Chalco. Having put his troops in march in

this order, General Scott took position with Pillow,

to he within easy communication with front and

rear.

During the 15th pickets from Alvarez's corps had

heen advanced to within a short distance of the

American positions. That commander had un

doubtedly advanced upon learning of Quitman's

movement from Buena Vista, and on the night of

the 15th he was in position to intercept the pas

sage of Twiggs's division to the main body of the

army.
When Twiggs moved from Ayotla, Alvarez form

ed his troops with a demonstration of purpose of

opposing his movement, and of cutting him off;

and certainly he had every opportunity of inflict

ing a severe loss and annoyance, if not of effecting

the purpose, had his Pintos been any thing but

robber bands, or he aught else than a fit leader of

such a worthless crew. He had possession of the

angle of the road where Twiggs was obliged to turn

off to Chalco, and several strong buildings, of the

hacienda of Oka Laka, were in the vicinity. His
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force, at the lowest estimate, was of over 6000 men,

of which 1500 were cavalry. The Mexican line

was formed in good position and imposing array.

Twiggs formed his line also, and advanced. Al

varez only waited for a few shots from Taylor's

battery, when he retreated beyond range, and left

the passage entirely unobstructed. Twiggs arrived

at Chalco without further molestation.^

The movement in advance progressed, but it

was not rapid, as each division was accompanied

by its train and artillery, and the whole work of

clearing any obstructions, as well as forcing any

occupied position, was thrown upon the advanced

division.

CHAPTER VII.

6a,nta Anna's Movement from El Penoii to the South and West of the Capi

tal Preparations for Defense in that Quarter Movement of Valencia to

San Angel Differences between Valencia and Santa Anna Arrival of

American Army at San Augustin Reconnaissance in front of San Antonio

Reconnaissance in Direction of Padiema Movements ordered by Gen

eral Scott on the Night of August 18th Advance of Pillow's Division

Communications and Orders Advance of Twiggs's Division BATTLE OF

CONTRERAS Retreat of Santa Anna Movement of American Army to

Coyacan General Scott's Orders and Dispositions.

So soon as General Santa Anna had become con

vinced that General Scott was moving his army by
the route south of Lake Chalco, he turned his atten-

*
General Twiggs's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, first

Session of the thirtieth Congress, Appendix to the Report to the Secretary
of War, p. 28.
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tion to the points of defense on the south and west

of the city. Withdrawing the greater portion of

his troops and several pieces of artillery from El

Penon and Mexicalcingo, he fixed his head-quar

ters at the hacienda of San Antonio, and at once

labored to finish the lines of defense in that vicinity.

His attention was also given to interior works, which

would obstruct the direct passage of the American

army by the main road, in case the position at

San Antonio were forced. Fortifications were be

gun at the bridge and church of Churubusco, some

four miles south of the city. He proceeded some

distance on the route by which the American army
was advancing, and, having aroused the inhabit

ants of some neighboring Indian villages, caused

several ditches to be cut across the road in its low

est part, and at a point where it turned a sharp an

gle between the mountain and the marshy shores

of the lake, to be filled with a mass of heavy rocks

rolled from the sides of the mountain, which com

pletely obstructed the passage for any train. No
direct opposition was ordered or attempted, except

that a few guerillas were stationed on the heights,

behind hastily-constructed intrenchments. Hav

ing made these arrangements to delay his adversa

ry, the Mexican president returned to give his at

tention to the positions at San Antonio and Churu

busco, for there he determined to make his princi-*

pal defense.

The works of the exterior line about San Anto

nio could be turned only by the Pedregal, which



THE WAR WITH MEXICO. 207

was considered nearly, if not quite impracticable.

The only path which led through it was the mule-

path west from San Augustin, by the rancho of

Padierna, to the road from the factory of Contreras,

past the villages of San Geronimo and San Angel,
to the capital. This path was savagely rugged and

difficult
; but, nevertheless, Santa Anna intended

to guard against its use by the American army, in

case General Scott declined assaulting San An
tonio.

With that object in view, when he was about to

break up his head-quarters at El Penon, he had or

dered General Valencia to march his whole divi

sion, cavalry, infantry, and artillery, to the town

of San Angel, and to dispute the passage, should

it be attempted. Valencia obeyed the order, but,

when he arrived at San Angel, protested earnestly

against being placed in such a position, where, as

he said, he would be deprived of all opportunity of

assisting in the defense of the capital, and where,

by his advance, the approaches of the roads of El

Nino Perdido and Piedad were left open to the

American army, in case it forced San Antonio.

His objections were without reason so long as

the position at San Antonio was made good ; and,

indeed, the necessity of a corps of observation about

San Angel was of paramount importance under the

circumstances. Santa Anna, therefore, at first re

fused to permit any change in the dispositions.

Valencia insisted that he should be allowed to

change his head-quarters to the vicinity of those
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of the main army, where he could cover the open
roads of El Nino Perdido and Piedad. Finally, on

the 18th of August, Santa Anna ordered him to

fall back to the village of Coyacan, the position

which Valencia had designated, and to send his

artillery to the fortifications at the bridge and

church of Churubusco, which were then in a fair

state of completion.'*

This shuffling between the president and the

general doubtless had its origin in something else

than the mere military points of the discussion.

It will be recollected that Valencia had resigned

his command before the battle of La Angostura,

and had not taken service until a few months pre

vious to the American advance upon the capital.

His feelings were bitterly hostile to Santa Anna,

although, as is usual in Mexican affairs, the enmi

ty between them was concealed by special courtesy

in their communications. It was currently spoken
of in Mexico soon after, that many general officers

had formed the plan of giving the supreme com

mand of the army to Valencia, and there is no

doubt that he desired it. Hence a motive for his

wish to be with the main army, and a motive for

that of Santa Anna that he should be detached.

The subsequent conduct of General Valencia would

go to show that a want of nerve had perhaps some

thing to do with the formation of his desires. But'

while, in the midst of insubordination and intrigue,

*
Correspondence between Generals Valencia and Santa Anna, published

in the Diario del Gobiemo, August 21st and 22d, 1847.
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Santa Anna arranged his defense, the American

army continued its advance.

Upon coming in sight of the guerillas, which had

been posted to annoy his movement, Worth sent a

battalion of light troops up the mountain, and, hav

ing delivered a harmless scattering fire, the enemy
fled without resistance. Having arrived at the bar

ricade of rocks, the troops were set to work in clear

ing the road. Learning that the Indian inhabit

ants of the villages were still in their dwellings.

Worth turned them out, and set them to work for

the same purpose.

The poor Indians, accustomed from their first

knowledge of public affairs to be the sport of con

tending factions, saw in the advance of the Amer
ican army but the movement of another pronun-

ciado, and commenced the labor of clearing the

road with as much good will as they had manifest

ed in obstructing it. Indeed, many seemed to take

it as an excellent jest that they were employed by
one party to do away the work which the other

had made them accomplish on the previous day.

In a short time the road was cleared and the pas

sage open. By noon on the 17th Worth's advance

was in the town of San Augustin. His train could

not proceed so rapidly over the difficult portions of

the road, and it was not until toward night that it

cleared the defiles. On this account the progress

of the rear divisions was very slow, and it was with

great difficulty that Pillow that night reached the

village of Xochomilco, some four miles in rear of

II. O
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San Augustin. Quitman and Twiggs were still

several miles in rear of him. The head-quarters

were at Xochomilco.

On the morning of the 18th Pillow advanced to

San Augustin, and Quitman and Twiggs approach
ed to its close vicinity. General Scott fixed his

head-quarters in the town, and sent Worth in ad

vance upon the San Antonio road to cover recon

naissances in that direction. Worth seized and

occupied the hacienda of Coapa, within long range
of San Antonio, and the day was spent in observa

tion. The enemy kept up a desultory fire upon
the reconnoitering parties from his heavy guns,

which severely wounded a guide, and killed Cap
tain Thornton, of the second dragoons, who com

manded the immediate escort.

His connection with the service during the Mex
ican war had been eventful, though melancholy.

The capture of his small squadron upon the Rio

Grande had been the first decided blow of the ene

my, and was the signal for the commencement of

the war. Much blame had been attributed to him,

and for the result of the affair he had been placed

before a court-martial. The finding of the court

had almost entirely exonerated him, but the very

fact of disaster befalling the troops under his lead

ing, although none doubted the brave devotion

with which he had encountered danger, had prey
ed upon his chivalric spirit, and increased the

ravages of a disease which was wearing out his

life. He had evidently but a few more weeks to
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live, yet he kept in his saddle, and failed not in

any portion of his duty. He met a soldier's fate

with characteristic bravery. Indeed, his gallant

spirit would have chosen such a lot, had it been

possible, rather than to have awaited the natural

summons of the final messenger. As his misfor

tune had been the commencement of the war, so, by
his death, he was the first victim of the American

army in the bloody conflicts which were to ensue

before the accomplishment of the gigantic under

taking of the conquest of the ancient Mexican

capital.

While the reconnaissances in front of San An
tonio were progressing, another was ordered by
General Scott in the direction of the mule-path by
Padierna. The object was to ascertain the possi

bility of making a road which would be practica

ble for the artillery and trains of the American

army, in case the positions at San Antonio were

found to be too formidable to be assaulted.

A battalion of infantry and a troop of horse com

posed the escort. Captain Lee, who conducted the

reconnaissance, proceeded as far as the hill of Za-

catepec, on the edge of the Pedregal. From that

point he could overlook the proposed route, and

his observation induced him to believe that it was

practicable, with labor, from thence to the main

road to San Angel. His opinion was positive of

its practicability as far as he proceeded.

In the mean time General Valencia had ad

vanced from San Angel, and commenced fortify-
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ing a camp which commanded the dehouch of the

path into the main road. His advanced parties of

skirmishers were located in the Pedregal. These

became engaged with Lee's escort, and having kill

ed a horse, and suffered a loss of some dozen men
in killed and wonnded, and five prisoners, fell back.

When Lee had finished his observations, Lieuten

ant-colonel Graham, who commanded, likewise fell

back to San Augustin, and the Mexican skirmish

ers reoccupied the ground.

General Valencia, who on that morning had re

ceived the order which he had all along been soli-

citing at the hands of Santa Anna in relation to

his position, acted with a most unaccountable ca

price. On that morning he advanced from San

Angel, passed San Geronimo, and took up his posi

tion in front of Padierna. In a note announcing
to Santa Anna the affair with the American recon-

noitering party, he boasted of having driven back

the invaders with loss, and arrogated to himself all

the honors of a victory. As for the position at

Coyacan, which he had desired, he then consider

ed it entirely useless, and averred that he was fully

convinced that it was necessary for his division to

remain where it was, in order to prevent the pas

sage of the enemy in that direction. Santa Anna
was totally unprepared for this contradiction, and

repeated his order to fall back upon Coyacan. With
an insubordination only equaled by his consum

mate folly, Valencia refused to obey, and in such

a decided manner, that, in the exigent state of af-
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fairs, and unable to enter at that moment into a

controversy with him, Santa Anna gave up the

point, and left him at liberty to hold his ground.

But he warned him that disaster would probably

ensue, and that upon him the responsibility must

rest. Valencia, contradictory, stubbornly insubor

dinate, and stupid, was not to be deterred from per

sisting in his opposition at the moment when the

death of an American horse and the retreat of a

reconnoitering party had swelled him into a vic

torious general, and proudly answered that he

would take the responsibility and defend the posi

tion. Accordingly, he kept it, and continued the

fortifications.,^

The results of the reconnaissances in front of San

Antonio and from the hill of Zacatepec were re

ported, and the plan of operations was discussed at

the head-quarters of General Scott on the evening
of the 18th. The various officers who had been

engaged on the direct route differed in opinion in

regard to the practicability of turning the fortified

positions of the enemy. Even by those who thought
that infantry could effect a passage through the

Pedregal, it was conceded that it would be of ex

ceeding difficulty, and the direct assault of San An
tonio was considered as threatening too great a loss

for its execution so long as there existed any chance

of pursuing any other operation to the same end.

At the time General Scott wished to gain the road

*
Correspondence between Generals Valencia and Santa Anna, published

in the Diario del Gobierno, August 21st and 22d, 1847.
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to Tacubaya and Chapultepec, which it was known
led from San Antonio through Coyacan and Mix-

coac. For that reason alone the possession of San

Antonio was desirable. In the difficulties attend

ing its capture, it was determined to attempt the

passage of the Pedregal at its southwestern ex

tremity.

The amount of resistance in that direction was

not considered, nor, indeed, was it known how
much was to be expected; for, although Captain
Lee had fallen in with the enemy, his observations

had been upon the topography of the country rath

er than upon the amount of direct opposition. He
believed that it was practicable to make the road,

and certain it is that the fortifications of Valencia's

camp did not look very formidable when viewed

from the hill of Zacatepec on the 18th. He report

ed the presence of a division of the enemy in that

direction, and some opposition was of course to be

anticipated. But the main thing looked to, in the

first place, was the construction of the road, and to

that duty Pillow's division was assigned. Twiggs's
was to take the advance of Pillow's, and to protect

the working parties from the annoyance of the

enemy.

Accordingly, early on the morning of the 19th,

Pillow marched from San Augustin, and, having

passed over some two miles of the road as far as

the hacienda of Pena Pobre, to which point the

road was easily practicable, he detached working

parties, under the superintendence of the engineers,
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to accomplish his orders. While advancing thus

far, he received information of a character not to he

douhted of the strength of the enemy, and that he

was at that time in the act of getting his heavy

guns in position. At nearly the same time a staff

officer arrived with intelligence of a like nature

from General Scott, who had heen observing the

progress of his troops from the roof of his quarters

in San Augustin. He had observed Valencia's po
sition from that point, and sent to warn Pillow of

the interruption which he might anticipate. Pil

low sent hack for definite instructions, and inti

mated his wish to push on with the infantry and

dislodge the enemy before his heavy guns were in

position, believing as he did that the character of

the field of operations would prevent the effective

use of either artillery or cavalry on the American

side. Twiggs had not arrived with his division at

the front, and at the time he was in person just

entering San Augustin. Hoping that, in the event

of an action, he would be enabled to handle his ar

tillery and cavalry by the road which Pillow was

engaged in making, General Scott gave positive

orders upon the subject. Pillow was directed to

finish the road as far as practicable without en

gaging the enemy. Twiggs was to move on and

take the advance, and to brush away the enemy in

case he became impertinent. In case the action

became serious, Pillow was to support Twiggs with

his whole division and assume the command.^
* Lieutenant Ripley's Testimony before the Court of Inquiry in the Case
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These directions reached Pillow some time be

fore Twiggs came up. As he was in proximity to

the enemy, he threw several hodies of troops in ad

vance of his working parties, and in person ascend

ed the hill of Zacatepec for observation. By the

time the road had been finished to that position,

Twiggs had arrived, and, passing the working and

covering parties of Pillow's troops, his division took

the advance. As it ascended the slope of the hill

of Zacatepec and came in view of the enemy, Va
lencia opened fire from his heavy guns and eight-

inch howitzers.

The range was over two thousand yards, but the

eighteen pound shot and the shells were thrown to

that distance. The practice of the Mexican artil

lerists was admirable
;
but the distance was too

great, and, saving a little confusion, the effect of

the missiles was nothing. The road was contin

ued for some distance along the hill-side
; but, un

der the circumstances, the men were more in the

humor for fighting than for working, and it was

determined to commence the attack.

Twiggs was jealous of the superior rank of Pil

low, and cared little to be under his command. He
had expressed some dissatisfaction to General Scott

before he left San Augustin ;
but General Scott, in

answer to his scrupulous inquiries, had informed

of Major-general Pillow. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first Session

of the thirtieth Congress, p. 182.
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him of an evident principle of action, that " the

law must be obeyed."
1* He listened with apparent

impatience to any suggestions which were made
to him, although he asseverated in round terms

that he would take Valencia's position in a few

hours. Pillow did not interfere with the position

in advance to which General Scott had assigned

Twiggs. He suggested that he should advance

one of his brigades by the mule-path direct upon
the intrenched camp, while the other should be de

tached, and endeavor to effect the passage of the

Pedregal in the direction of the village of San Ge-

ronimo, which lay near the road from the camp to

the city, and visibly cut off Valencia's communica

tions and re-enforcements, if occupied. With these

suggestions, and the assurance that his movements

would be supported by Pillow's troops, Twiggs was

ordered to move forward and to open the battle.

As Taylor's field battery had not come forward,

Pillow ordered Magruder's battery of six pounders
and Calender's mountain howitzers to be placed

under Twiggs's orders, to be used in case he should

require artillery, or should find an opportunity of

locating it in an effective position in his advance. f

Twiggs started at once with Smith's brigade,

whose front was covered by the regiment of rifle

men, deployed as skirmishers, and the artillery fol

lowed the movement. By leaving the path, Ma-
* General Twiggs's Testimony. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first

Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 286.

t Lieutenant Ripley's Testimony and Finding of the Court. Idem, p.

182, 332.
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grader and Callender were enabled to proceed

through some corn-fields which lay in the Pedre-

gal, and, by breaking down the fences, to keep

close in rear of the infantry, although the road thus

opened was excessively rocky and difficult. The

rifle regiment soon became engaged with the Mex
ican skirmishers, of which a large force was located

in the Pedregal, and the small arms were in a short

time at work noisily.

The position of the intrenched camp has been

noticed in connection with the Pedregal and the

road to the capital through the village of San An

gel. The path across the field of lava led almost

directly west from the hill of Zacatepec to the po

sition. The camp was located on the slope of a

hill which rose west of the main road, and imme

diately opposite to the junction of the path with

it. The works by which it was defended were not

in themselves very formidable. They were only

breast-works on three sides, and a detached lunette

in rear of the right ;
nor was the interior defiladed

from a direct fire in the front. The strength and

importance of the point consisted in its being upon
the only direct route across the Pedregal, and on

the amount of metal (twenty-two pieces) located

for its defense, necessarily much greater than any
which could be brought to bear upon it.

In front of the camp, and between it and the

Pedregal, lay a deep and rugged ravine, the bed of

a mountain torrent, which followed the road, and

emptied into the Rio de Churubusco beyond San
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Angel, North, at a distance of some eighteen hund

red yards, and upon the direct road, lay the haci

enda of Ansalda. Five hundred yards west of it

was the village of San Geronimo, surrounded by
orchards and cultivated fields, divided by hedges
of maguey and walls of adobe. From the west of

San Geronimo, a ravine of unequal depth extend

ed southwest beyond the hill where Valencia had

taken post, and northeast some distance beyond
the village. Beyond the ravine and north of the

village the ground was high and rolling, but per

fectly practicable for the movements of any arm
;

but south it was broken by ridges and deep gulleys,

which extended to the mountains, with here and

there a position on which troops could operate.

The only roads leading from the camp were the

main one by Ansalda and by-paths leading through
San Geronimo. Other paths there were, over the

uneven ground, which were practicable for the

movements of infantry and of Mexican cavalry,

but these were all which could be depended upon
for the movements of armies.

Valencia's infantry was located in and about the

intrenched camp. His artillery was planted along
its parapet, and the whole mass crowded together,

with his large train of ammunition, inside and in

vicinity of the works. His cavalry was disposed

on either flank and to the rear beyond the ravine,

while in the Fedregal, beyond the ravine in his

front, his skirmishers were posted. He had utter

ly neglected to occupy the summit of the hill upon
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the slope of which his camp was located, and which

commanded it from a distance of three hundred

yards. At the commencement of the action there

was no apparent necessity for it, for doubtless he

depended upon the natural difficulties of the Ped-

regal to secure himself from being turned on either

flank.

So soon as General Smith had become fairly en

gaged in front with the Mexican skirmishers, Pil

low in person ordered Colonel Riley, who had not

been put in motion by Twiggs at the time, to at

tempt to pass the Pedregal in the direction of San

Geronimo, and to operate on the flank and rear of

the enemy.^ Riley moved in obedience to this or

der, and for some time after the head of his brigade

had commenced the march the action continued

noisy in the front.

The riflemen pressed hard upon the Mexican

skirmishers, who retreated in the direction of the

camp. The mountain howitzers were brought into

action, and opened fire upon them, and Smith's

whole brigade advanced rapidly.

After leaving the corn-fields, Magruder's field

battery was brought along the rocky path with

great difficulty, to a position selected by Captain

Lee, within nine hundred yards of the camp, and

thence opened a rapid fire.

The line of Mexican skirmishers being in such

rapid retreat, and Smith's troops pressing so close-

* Colonel Riley's Testimony and Finding of the Court. Executive Docu

ment, No 65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 147, 332.
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ly in pursuit, and as, meanwhile, Valencia's guns
were comparatively silent, it appeared at the hill

of Zacatepec that Smith would carry the position

in a pell-mell charge, and enter with the skirmish

ers. Blley's rear had not yet moved, although

some time had elapsed since he had started with

the advance. Pillow was watching the operation,

and received a report that Smith was about carry

ing the position by direct assault, and it was sug

gested that he would require support. As, from

Rlley's slow progress, it was deemed exceedingly
doubtful whether he could proceed to his assigned

post in time, Pillow sent the staff officer who made
the report with an order for him to support Smith.

Captain Deas was unable to proceed far in the

Pedregal on horseback, but obtained a position

whence he could observe the movement of the

troops and the ground beyond. With the advance

of his brigade Riley was far advanced into the

Pedregal, and was advancing. The remainder was

following him, though slowly, and much extended

on account of the nature of the ground. It was
seen that the ground in the vicinity of San Geron-

imo was favorable, as had been supposed, and

Deas returned with the information to General

Pillow.*

In the mean time the American troops in front

had halted
; for, upon reaching the ravine, the Mex

ican skirmishers had descended, and Valencia's

*
Captain Deas's Testimony. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first

Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 97.
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guns, being unmasked, had opened in full strength

upon the American advance. Smith therefore

drew back his troops under the shelter of the un

even ground, and, while Magruder and Callender

kept up an unequal cannonade with their guns,

howitzers, and rockets, reconnoitered the enemy's

position from the close vicinity. As he had halt

ed, and Biley's movement had by this time proved
that it was practicable to cross the Pedregal with

infantry, it was evident to Pillow that the main

battle must be fought by such a movement.

He therefore ordered Cadwalader to follow Bi-

ley's route, to support him, and to cut off any re-

enforcements which might come to Valencia from

the city. Cadwalader moved off at once in obe

dience to the order.^

The cannonade in the front continued, and in

the unequal contest the American artillery suffer

ed severely. Indeed, it would have been totally

demolished had it not been for its position, which

was that of a hollow, having a rise of several feet

between it and the enemy. This enabled the ar

tillerists to load their pieces under comparative

shelter, and to deliver the fire with short exposure.

The caissons and limbers, with their horses, were

located partially out of fire, behind the huge rocks

in the vicinity. The American guns inflicted some

damage upon the Mexican force
;
but the distance,-

too great for their caliber, did not allow any great

* General Cadwalader's Testimony. Executive Document, No. 65, Sen

ate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 83, 107.
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effect
; and, had they been once fully exposed, the

immense superiority of the Mexican batteries would

have overwhelmed them in an instant.

General Twiggs, who had followed the move

ment, and had been engaged in reconnoitering,

sent to Pillow to request a supporting force for

Smith's brigade. His messenger arrived at Pil

low's position soon after Cadwalader had moved
to the support of Blley. Pierce's brigade was at

once ordered to the front
; but, as it passed the foot

of the hill, large masses of the enemy were discov

ered moving along the San Angel road from the

direction of the capital. In this state of things,

it was evident that Blley and Cadwalader would

require support, and Morgan's regiment was de

tached from Pierce's brigade, and halted for a time

at the foot of the hill.

With his two remaining regiments Pierce press

ed rapidly forward. The Mexican batteries played

rapidly upon his advance, but the troops were pro

tected by the inequalities of the ground from the

showers of shot and shell with which they were

welcomed. Pierce was, however, temporarily dis

abled by the fall of his horse, which, stumbling
in a cleft of the rocks, threw him heavily to the

ground. Colonel Ransom, of the ninth, led the

command, under guidance of the engineer officers

who had accompanied Twiggs, to the right and

front of Magmder's battery. In the route several

patches of corn were rapidly traversed by the troops,

within close range of the enemy's heavy guns, but
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the advance was effected with small loss, as the

Mexican fire was plunging, and the troops were

partially concealed by the vegetation. The rancho

of Padierna was seized during the movement, and

the command, passing on, entered the deep ravine

directly in front of the enemy's camp. Valencia,

anticipating an assault, sent a force of infantry

against it, which opened a heavy musketry fire
;

but, although it increased the noise of the battle,

it had little other positive effect.

Soon after these troops had moved, the approach
and movements of the re-enforcements upon the

San Angel road became fully developed. Pillow

therefore ordered Colonel Morgan to move his regi

ment (the fifteenth) at once to Cadwalader's sup

port, and at the same time sent information to that

general of the threatening movements of the ene

my, and orders for him to give his attention to

them.^ Morgan marched immediately.
At about this time General Scott arrived upon

the field. Pillow had advised him of the com

mencement of the action through staff officers sent

at different stages of the affair. The general-in-

chief had not contemplated so serious an engage
ment in the direction in which it had occurred,

and the whole spirit of his instructions to Pillow

had been to delay the action so long as the work

upon the road could be continued. He did notv
however, countermand or disapprove of the dispo-

*
Testimony of Colonel Morgan and Captain Hooker. Executive Docu

ment, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 247, 163.
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sitions or movements which had been made. Hav

ing left instructions for the defense of San Augus-

tin, he ordered Shields's brigade to follow him, and

proceeded at his leisure to the field.

Upon his arrival, all the troops were either in

motion or already engaged, with the exception of

Captain Taylor's field battery and some squadrons
of dragoons, which, on account of the impractica

ble nature of the Pedregal, had been held in posi

tion at the foot of the hill of Zacatepec. Having
learned the plan of attack and the general dispo

sition of the troops from Pillow, General Scott ex

pressed his high approval of them, and sat down
to await the result of the battle.^ In the mean
while he caused officers to be sent in search of a

practicable route for artillery and cavalry across

the Pedregal, which had been sought in vain be

fore his arrival on the field.

The heavy column of Mexican re-enforcements

continued to advance. Upon hearing the dis

charges of artillery from Valencia's position, Santa

Anna had drawn troops from San Antonio, Churu-

busco, and the city of Mexico, to the number of

12,000 men, and marched by the San Angel road

to the field. The large force was observed in its

advance by the American generals upon the hill

of Zacatepec, and created some alarm for the safety

of the corps upon the right in the direction of San

*
Testimony of General Scott, Captain Hooker, Captain Ker, and -others.

Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress,

p. 73, 163, 184, 295.

II. P
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Geronimo. While they watched the progress of

the movement, a note was received from Cadwal-

ader, informing Pillow that he was threatened with

a superior force, and requesting support. The dan

ger was in a measure lessened, as it was then ap

parent that Cadwalader, was aware of his situa

tion
;
and as Morgan was already en route, and

Shields soon would be, the probability was that

the junction of the re-enforcements with Valencia's

troops would be checked.

In the front the action had subsided into an oc

casional cannonade, and a few scattering volleys

which the Mexican troops from time to time di

rected at the battalions in the ravine. General

Smith had in the mean while reconnoitered the

right of the Mexican positions, with a view of at

tacking them in that direction
;
but he gave up

the idea, and, hearing of the approach of the Mex
ican re-enforcements, he determined to extend to

his own right, and operate in that quarter. Of the

disposition of the forces in his immediate vicinity

he was entirely ignorant, not having seen Twiggs's
since the commencement of the action

;
nor did

he know that the ninth and twelfth regiments

were near him, although they had been applied

for and ordered to the front to support him. He
recalled his scattered parties, and, having detailed

several companies of infantry and rifles as an im

mediate support to Magruder's battery, he com

menced his movement. Soon after, he sent infor

mation of his intentions to the general-in-chief, and
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delayed the march for a time to await his orders

in case he disapproved of it. None arrived, and he

continued on his route.*

Having reached the road in the vicinity of San

Geronimo, Riley collected his troops as they came

out of the Pedregal, and advanced. The fourth

regiment of artillery (acting as infantry) was in

the front, and, crossing the ravine hy the road side,

threw out a company of skirmishers, which fell in

with and captured a small pack-mule train, on its

way, under escort of a party of lancers, to the ene

my's camp. That regiment then proceeded on into

the village of San Geronimo, where it was left to

make a diligent search, while the remaining troops

of the brigade continued. Valencia opened upon
them with two or three heavy guns, but the thick

foliage of the trees hid the Americans from view,

and the fire was uncertain and inefficient.

Riley passed through the village with the sec

ond regiment of infantry, and moved on beyond
the ravines to the ground upon its northwest. He
was then in position to observe the country in rear

of the intrenched camp, and he at once detached

staff officers, with small escorts of infantry, upon
that duty. In accomplishing it, they fell in with

detachments of Valencia's cavalry, which had been

stationed on the practicable ground beyond San

Geronimo, and Torrejon, who commanded, brought

up re-enforcements by the narrow paths through

* General Smith's Testimony. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first

Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 99-106
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the broken ground in rear of the intrenched camp,
until the force of cavalry opposed to the small

number of American infantry was formidable.

The lancers attacked the companies which cover

ed the reconnaissance, but were held in check un

til the regiment was reformed. In these affairs the

Mexican general, Frontera, who advanced alone

against his enemy, for his troops failed to follow,

was killed.

Biley had expected to continue and attack the

reverse of the camp, and, to support the second reg

iment, ordered forward the seventh infantry and

fourth artillery.^ While he awaited their arrival,

the enemy threatened a charge upon the second in

fantry, which was thrown into square to receive

him. Nothing more than a demonstration was,

however, made ; and, in the mean time, the re-en

forcements, which were advancing under Santa An
na, had arrived in close vicinity of San Geronimo,
and in sight. Not being assured of the presence

of any other portion of the American army, and be

ing fearful of the loss of his communications, Riley
reduced the square, and, having been joined by the

remainder of his command, fell back to the vil

lage, where he arrived about dark. Several events

had taken place in the mean time.

Cadwalader's advance had reached the road

some little time after Riley's rearmost troops had
* Colonel Riley's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Repre

sentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, Appendix to the Secretary

of War's Report, p. 85, and Colonel Riley's Testimony. Executive Docu

ment, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 148.
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disappeared in the shrubbery and gardens of the

village. Santa Anna was then parading his troops

upon the high, open ground to the northwest of San

Geronimo. The necessity of opposing his junction

with Valencia was at once apparent ; and, as the

American troops collected as they emerged from the

Pedregal, they were formed quickly in line of bat

tle. The precise situation of affairs was unknown
to Santa Anna, and the sudden appearance of Cad-

walader's brigade, in so sturdy and obstinate an

attitude, caused him to pause in his advance, and

to send forward officers, with a strong escort, to re-

connoiter. They came down upon a battalion of

the eleventh infantry, partially concealed in the

shrubbery, which, pouring in a volley, emptied sev

eral saddles, and the escort retreated.

As Cadwalader was not in communication with

Biley at the time, and as he expected an immedi

ate advance of the Mexican forces, he believed that

his brigade would be obliged to encounter the over

whelming odds alone; wherefore, advancing into

the village, he took up a strong position on the

crest of the ravine which separated the forces, and

awaited the commencement of the battle. Santa

Anna was, however, in no humor to advance, and

remained in observation. His masses continued to

arrive until his full force of 12,000 men was on

the field. Morgan's regiment came up during this

while, and took post on Cadwalader's right.*'

* General Cadwalader's Testimony. Executive Document, No. 65, Sen

ate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 82, 107.
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Some time afterward, Smith, who had made good
the passage of the Pedregal, came up and posted
his troops still upon the right. Cadwalader ex

tended his left, to make room for the re-enforce

ment. Reconnoitering officers were still thrown

out from the arriving Mexican forces
;
and one, he-

lieving the road to he clear, as Cadwalader had

passed it, ran upon Smith's advance just as he

came out. Much to his surprise and annoyance,
he found himself a prisoner.

Smith at once assumed command of all the forces

west of the Pedregal. The point was not contest

ed by Cadwalader, though it might well have been,

for Smith's rank of brigadier was a brevet, and he

had no assignment to duty by the order of the Pres

ident according to that rank. Strictly, he had no

right, in the absence of such assignment, to assume

command over an officer of the full rank of briga

dier general, no matter what the date of his commis

sion may have been.

Without paying any attention to Valencia oth

er than by the occupation of several houses and the

church of the village, which might impede an at

tack upon his rear, Smith turned his attention to

the passage of the ravine in front, with the design
of falling upon Santa Anna's whole force. The de

sign was exceedingly bold, but of doubtful expedi

ency in the state of affairs which existed. Smith

had no knowledge of Riley's position, and he did

not trouble himself about it until the colonel, hav

ing retired into the village, fell in with the troops
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which were confronting Santa Anna.^ Then he

was ordered to form his brigade for the assault
;

but the day was far spent, and, after consideration,

the intention of attacking was given up ;
and very

properly too, for it would have been hazardous in

the extreme to have commenced operations against

such odds, over difficult ground, while so little day

light remained.

Santa Anna, meanwhile, had brought up a light

battery and commenced a cannonade. It was of

no effect, as the American troops stood fast in their

defensive positions, partially hidden and protected.

He had communicated, through a staff officer, by
a very circuitous route, with General Valencia. As

he was not yet captured, and had checked the di

rect advance of the American troops by the over

whelming fire of his artillery, Valencia felt exceed

ing self-satisfaction, and sent tidings of victory to

his chief. When he received the news, Santa Anna,

accompanied by a brilliant staff, rode along the lines,

and announced the success in a flowery harangue.
The troops wrere willing enough to celebrate a

victory, and pealed forth their shouts in reply. The

cries of " Viva el General Valencia!" " Viva la re-

publica Mexicana !" followed by the swelling notes

of the numerous bands of the Mexican army, rose

over the valley, and were heard even at the posi

tion of the American general-in-chief, on the hill

of Zacatepec.

* General Smith's and General Cadwalader's Testimony. Executive Doc

ument, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 85, 100.
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There the progress of events had been watched

with anxiety, hut without dread
;
for so strong was

the confidence reposed in the valor of American

soldiers, that it was helieved that the result of the

conflict was in no way doubtful. It was seen that

the general disposition
of the troops was good, and

that, by the occupation of the village of San Geron-

imo, Valencia was isolated, and must fall so soon as

a sufficient force was in position to enable a strong

detachment to fall upon his rear, while the remain

der held Santa Anna in check. But the difficulty

was in communicating over the savage and broken

field, and the fear was that affairs could not be

brought to a crisis before dark.

As San Geronimo had become the point of inter

est, General Shields's brigade was ordered thither

so soon as it came up from San Augustin. No path
had been discovered practicable for the cavalry,

and, with Taylor's battery, it remained in position

at the foot of the hill.

In front, Valencia kept up a sullen and uncer

tain cannonade whenever the American troops

showed themselves. It was replied to at intervals

by the light pieces of Magruder's battery, and an

occasional discharge of rockets.

General Twiggs had been in observation through
out the afternoon, and at last sent word to General

Scott that he had selected a point of attack from

the front of the enemy's intrenchments
;
but the

nature of his message showed that he was ignorant

of the state of affairs, as he necessarily was from
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his position. In fact, he knew not the position of

the very brigade with which he had entered the

action, and, of course, his message was unheeded.

Had it been intended or wished to make the attack

according to the suggestion, it would have been

impossible, for the want of troops. The main body
of the army was already at San Geronimo, and time

would have been required, besides being hazardous,
to bring up any of Worth's troops from Coapa.

Affairs in the front were therefore left to take

their course, and it became evident that much more

could not be accomplished before night. In the

difficulty of communication, and the absence of a

superior officer on the west of the Pedregal, Pillow,

who had several times requested permission to join

his troops, as General Scott was in position to di

rect the general operations, was finally ordered to

find Twiggs, to cross the Pedregal with him, and

assume command of the operations in that quarter.

Pierce's two regiments and the batteries were left

in front of the enemy.
Pillow started just before sundown, and, meet

ing with Twiggs, who was then returning from the

front, both generals, with their staff, entered the

Pedregal. Before leaving the mule-path in front of

the camp, Pillow sent discretionary orders to Cap
tain Magruder to withdraw his battery if he found

he was having no positive effect upon the enemy,
but advising him to wait for nightfall. Magruder,
who was unsupported at the time, except by the

few companies of infantry and rifles which General
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Smith had left, and fearing that the enemy would

take advantage of his movement to come down

upon the American communications, decided upon

holding his position, and requested an additional

support of infantry. He was ignorant of the posi

tion of Pierce's troops, although they were in close

proximity upon his right and front.

This want of information among the American

officers, and the confusion in the disposition of the

troops, which it is feared has heen also apparent in

the narrative, may serve to show the nature of the

ground, and the almost utter impracticability of

conducting military operations upon it. Certain it

is, no description would suffice to make it as appar

ent to the reader as it was to those engaged on the

19th of August.
When night fell, the general dispositions of the

troops of both armies were the following : Valencia

held nearly his primitive position, for the parties

of cavalry which had annoyed Riley's recomioiter-

ing parties had fallen back to the vicinity of the

intrenched camp. Smith, Cadwalader, and Kiley

occupied positions in the village of San Geronimo,

a mile or so on his left flank. They cut his com

munication in force with Santa Anna, who retain

ed his post on the high ground north and west of

San Geronimo, confronting the American troops.

Pierce's brigade and the American light batteriesO O

were in Valencia's front, guarding the path to the

hill of Zacatepec. Shields's brigade was en route

across the Pedregal, and one battery of American
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light artillery and the cavalry remained, as through
out the action, at the foot of the hill.

Soon after sundown a cold, heavy rain set in, and

the field was shrouded in almost total darkness.

Generals Pillow and Twiggs persevered for several

hours in the attempt to find their way to San Ge-

ronimo, but without success, for the ground on the

west had no elevations which could mark the route

in the darkness, or in a fitful glare of lightning

which occasionally lit up the scene. After many
fruitless endeavors to progress, which at one time

brought them in close vicinity to the enemy, and

during which General Twiggs was so hurt by fall

ing into the clefts of the rock that he felt himself

unable to proceed, it was decided to give up the at

tempt for the night as impracticable, and to report

to the general-in-chief.

The return was a matter of less difficulty than

to attempt to cross, for the hill of Zacatepec, loom

ing up in the darkness, afforded a guide, uncertain,

it is true, except when rendered visible by the light

ning, but of much assistance. It was not until

near eleven o'clock that the generals reached the

former position of General Scott, and they then

found that some hours before he had departed for

San Augustin, whither they followed him.

The condition of affairs was, at the time of their

arrival, the subject of General Scott's considera

tion. Captain Lee had arrived before them from

General Smith's position, having earlier made his

way across the Fedregal to the hill of Zacatepec.
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Finding General Scott absent, he too had proceed

ed to San Augustin.

Having given up his intention of attacking San

ta Anna, Smith had considered that of falling upon
Valencia's rear during the night. Learning from

Riley and his staff officers that the route was prac

ticable, he determined to put it into execution.

Lee had been sent to inform General Scott of

his determination, and to request that a demon

stration should be made to favor his assault by the

troops in front of the enemy. This movement was

approved by General Scott, and General Twiggs
and Captain Lee were sent to place Pierce's troops

in position to make the proposed demonstration at

three o'clock on the following morning, for that

was the hour appointed for Smith's assault.^ Gen
eral Scott ordered Pillow positively to remain at

San Augustin during the night, f

The American troops in Valencia's front passed

many hours of the night in utter ignorance of the

state of affairs upon other parts of the field, and, in

the uncomfortable condition in which they were,

felt all the lowness of spirits which was an ac

companiment to their apparently desperate situ

ation.

Magruder's position was re-enforced soon after

dark by a party of rifles, which had been engaged
in skirmishing in the Pedregal, and became sepa-

*
Testimony of General Smith, Captain Lee, and General Scott. Execu

tive Document, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 100,

75, 73. t General Scott's Testimony. Idem, p. 73.
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rated from its corps. The supporting troops of

the batteries were advantageously posted on the

flanks.

About nine o'clock, Colonel Ransom, who was in

immediate command of the. ninth and the battal

ion of the twelfth infantry, which had advanced

into the ravine, being without orders, and believ

ing himself entirely unsupported, fell back.

So soon as he evacuated his position, Valencia

sent a battalion across the ravine to the rancho of

Padierna, which was occupied by some fifty men
of the twelfth. The Mexicans, who flattered them

selves that the victory was already won, attacked

with vigor, and seemed determined to succeed.

Captain Craig, of the third infantry, who command
ed the force supporting the batteries, led his men
down to the support of the party in the rancho,

and, attacking the Mexican battalion with quite as

much good will and far more steadiness, drove it

away and covered the retreat. Ransom, who was

some distance on the right when the affair happen

ed, soon after came in with his men, and over 1000

troops were in position about the batteries.

Toward midnight the moon shone out for a brief

while, and the narrow road by which the batteries

had advanced became visible. Captain Magruder
then thought of availing himself of Pillow's per

mission to retire, to repair his losses and damages.

Pierce, who, although quite lame, remained upon
the field, opposed it for some time, arid it was not

until the moon was nearly down that he gave his
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consent. The guns being about to recede, he or

dered back the infantry also, and the position was

about to be abandoned. The ninth and twelfth

immediately followed Pierce to the hill of Zacate-

pec, leaving but the companies of infantry and ri

fles under Captain Craig to assist in removing the

wounded and the batteries.

Shortly after the movement was commenced the

moon went down, and it was with great difficulty

that the battalions of infantry could traverse the

narrow and rocky path with any thing like unity.

As for the batteries and the troops with them, mat

ters were far worse. Some wounded men were to

be carried
;
the road, difficult at best, could not be

seen in the darkness, and it was imprudent to use

lanterns, which would have drawn the fire of the

Mexican guns, while the Americans were perfectly

exposed, without the power of mobility or of reply

ing. The horses slipped and fell in the clefts of

the rocks, guns and caissons capsized, and more

damage was done to the materiel than had been

sustained throughout the action. At last some con

siderable portion of the batteries arrived at the foot

of the hill in a crippled state.

Before this occurred, General Twiggs and Cap
tain Lee arrived from San Augustin. Twiggs re

mained for the night at the foot of the hill, while

Lee conducted all the infantry under Ransom back

to the position in the ravine which had been aban

doned, in order to make the demonstration in favor

of Smith's assault. The movement was accom-
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plished without observation or opposition on the

part of the enemy.
Santa Anna had not placed much dependence

upon Valencia's boasted victory, as he saw no fruit

of it, and that the American troops were still in the

village of San Geronimo, in strong defensive posi

tions. He sent another communication, by the

same circuitous route traversed by his staff officer

during the afternoon, ordering Valencia to spike

his guns, destroy his military stores, and to make
his retreat by the mountain paths, which were alone

open to him. But, so long as Valencia retained his

position, he was not to be convinced that he had

not achieved a victory, or that any thing but suc

cess could result from a continuance of the battle.

He appears to have been the victim of the stran

gest infatuation
; for, instead of asking succor from

Santa Anna, or of entertaining for one moment the

idea of following his advice, he indited a boastful

dispatch, in which the achievement of a complete

victory was pompously set forth, accompanied by

many praises to the officers who had participated in

the asserted triumph. It was announced that the

miserable remnant of the North Americans was

shut up in the Pedregal by the battalion of Aguas-
calientes and Torrejon's cavalry, which only await

ed the return of light to fall on and complete their

extermination.^ "Whether Valencia was so stu

pidly vain as to believe all that he wrote is perhaps

*
Correspondence between Valencia and Santa Anna, published in the

Diario del Gobierno.
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doubtful
;
for it may have been that he wished, by

an early promulgation of his success, to hasten the

pronunciamiento which was to place him in com

mand, and, in his political aspirations, forgot the

danger from the enemy. His general order of the

evening of the 19th seemed to show that he be

lieved himself almost, if not entirely, supreme, for

he did his officers, almost without exception, the

honor of conferring upon them brevets, which it

might have been as well to have left to his govern

ment to bestow, even had they been deserved.

After the receipt of the dispatch, Santa Anna
troubled himself no further about Valencia, but at

once drew off his troops, with the exception of a

corps of observation, from the heights north of San

Geronimo, and silently retreated to San Angel.

In order to save Valencia from disgrace, he did

not wish to undertake so hazardous an operation as

that of attacking the American troops in their strong

position at San Geronimo. To save his troops, he

had given the order for his retreat
; but, as Valen

cia was stubborn, he left him to his fate, doubtless

trusting to the issue of subsequent operations and

diplomatic intrigue to insure his own triumph or

safety. That fate he foresaw would be disastrous,

but it is hardly probable that he saw the full ex

tent of the danger to the Mexican cause, or that,

unless the intrigues of Valencia's faction had been

dangerous, he would have refrained from making
some strong demonstration to avert the disaster.

If it were so, it must be believed that Santa Anna
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was acting in treachery to his country, and accord

ing to his implied promises in the Puehla negotia

tions at the time
;
but subsequent events forbid the

entertainment of such a belief.

The three American brigades which occupied

San Geronimo at nightfall, laid on their arms dur

ing the greater part of the night, without any dis

turbance or movement. Shields, who had reached

the main road an hour or so after dark, did not join

the forces at tlie village until near twelve o'clock.

Although the superior in rank, he did not assume

the command
; and, as Cadwalader had waived

the question, Smith made the dispositions for the

movement.

He was ignorant of Santa Anna's retreat, and

had intended to leave a detachment in occupation
of the village to check the Mexican president,

should he advance, while the main force should

fall on Valencia's rear, and beat him from his posi

tion before Santa Anna could force a junction.

Shields's arrival allowed him to take the whole

strength of the three brigades, for that general

posted his command in San Geronimo to oppose

Santa Anna.

The route by which it was intended to move to

the enemy's rear was re-examined by engineer and

staff officers during the night, and at three o'clock

the troops were aroused to commence the move

ment. Riley's brigade was in the advance, and

led off by the flank. The night was so dark and

the ground so difficult that it was not until near

II.-Q
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daylight that its rear cleared the village. Cad-

walader's then moved on in support, and was fol

lowed hy Smith's hrigade under Major Dimick.

By the time all of the troops of the assaulting

force were in motion, Klley's advance was in posi

tion in the ravine to the rear and near the foot of

the hill on which the camp was located. Its sum
mit was entirely unoccupied, and Valencia had not

discovered the movement. At day-dawn he had

paid his attention to the positions which had heen

occupied on the previous evening, and had opened
fire hoth on Ransom, who was keeping up a noisy

musketry in front, and Shields, who occupied San

Geronimo.

When Riley arrived near his position, he form

ed his hrigade in line of hattle, intending to move

up the uneven slope, and over the ravines which

were between him and the enemy, in that order
;

hut Smith ordered him to form two columns of at

tack. In that formation his troops climbed the ac

clivity and moved to the assault. A little eleva

tion still hid the movement from the view of the

enemy, and a halt was made for the purpose of re

forming the troops, in much disarray from the na

ture of the ground. In the interval, staff officers

were sent forward to reconnoiter, who found that

the enemy had just discovered the movement, and

was turning his guns and disposing his infantry
for resistance.

Klley at once deployed his leading divisions as

skirmishers, and ordered the advance. His whole
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force soon became hotly engaged with the enemy,
who served two guns upon it with rapidity, and re

ceived the shock with a noisy, rolling discharge of

musketry. The aim was, however, inaccurate, and

but little comparative loss was suffered. The ad

vance was not retarded one instant, for the Ameri

can troops, having delivered their fire, rushed down
with loud shouts in a vigorous charge, and enter

ed the intrenchments almost in a body.

During the advance, Cadwalader had wished to

diverge from the route by a practicable path, and

attack a large force of the enemy to the left and

rear of the camp; but Smith objected to the move

ment. He therefore kept in close support to Ri-

ley. The voltigeur regiment and a portion of the

eleventh regiment moved around the right of the

leading brigade, and assaulted the southern front

of the intrenchments, cutting off the retreat in that

direction.

Smith, who was watching the progress of affairs,

sent his own brigade by the path which Cadwal

ader had pointed out, and to fall on the enemy on

the north, which it did vigorously.

From the moment the assault commenced, the

Mexican troops were in most inextricable confu

sion. How, when, or where Valencia fled is a

mystery. Certain it is that he went off with as

much celerity as faded his fond anticipations of

victory and honor. With him all others betook

themselves to flight, which was not so easy of ac

complishment, for the position was almost entire-
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ly surrounded, though, strange to say, the Ameri

cans were the lesser number.

General Salas, who held a command in the di

vision, has said that he endeavored to save the day,
or at least to strike a blow for honor

;
but when he

ordered Torrejon to lead his lancers to the charge,
that general fled like a coward, and rode over his

own infantry with his horsemen, throwing it into

powerless disorder.^ Whether caused by the mis

conduct of the cavalry or other event, the rout was

most complete. The mass of Mexican troops, yield

ing before Riley's vigorous charge, pressed upon by

portions of Cadwalader's brigade on the right, and

under fire of Ransom's troops in front, gave way,
and fled headlong down the road in direction of

San Angel. Many dispersed parties broke through
the intervals of the American lines, which were

necessarily large, and escaped through them to the

mountains south and west of the position ;
but the

greater portion, continuing on by the main road,

fell in with the troops of Smith's brigade, who

poured in such a fire as to cause terrific destruc

tion. Those who passed this ordeal continued on.

Some of the most advanced were successful in pass

ing San Geronimo, for, during the battle, Shields

had been giving attention to the Mexican party of

observation on Santa Anna's position of the pre

vious evening. This retired upon the decision of

the battle at the intrenched camp. Shields's troops

then occupied the road, obstructed the retreat, and
* General Salas's Report.
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those of the enemy there in flight threw down their

arms and surrendered.

Valencia's division was totally destroyed as a

military body. The loss in killed and wounded

which it suffered was extremely severe, and could

not have fallen short of two thousand men. The

road toward Mexico, for more than a mile from the

intrenched camp, was literally strewed with dead

and wounded. Four general officers, Salas, Blanco,

Garcia, and Mendoza, four colonels, thirty captains,

a host ofsubalterns, and near one thousand rank and

file, were made prisoners. The whole train of artil

lery belonging to the corps, consisting of twenty-
two cannon of various calibers, with large stores

of ammunition, fell into the hands of the victors.

A special subject of congratulation was, that among
the number were the only trophies of which Mex
ico could boast, the captured pieces of Angostura.

They were seized by the fourth regiment of ar

tillery, which, acting as infantry, formed part of

Riley's column, and thus fortunately recovered the

guns which had belonged to a company of the

same regiment.

The whole Mexican transportation train, the

military chest (not very large) in fine, all the ma
teriel of war in and about the position, were cap
tured.

In all these complex operations, and with all the

fire to which the American troops had been ex

posed, the overwhelming odds against them, and

their, at times, apparently desperate situation, their
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loss had been comparatively small. Not more than

sixty had fallen, killed and wounded. 7* But of the

dead there were two officers, both young in rank,

but of high character and reputation.

The youngest, Lieutenant Johnstone, of the first

artillery, endeared to his associates by his good
and noble qualities, and admired by all who knew
him for his gallant bravery, fell mortally wounded

by the stroke of an eighteen pounder while serving

his guns on the evening of the 19th.

The other, Captain Hanson, of the seventh in

fantry, a gentleman of sterling worth and Chris

tian virtue, died nobly in the assault of the morn

ing of the 20th.

It had been understood at General Scott's head

quarters at San Augustin that the immediate as

sault upon the intrenched camp would take place

at three o'clock in the morning. As it was known
that it had not, and as no information had been

received, much anxiety was felt for the fate of the

battle. Pillow started at dawn for the scene of

operations, under orders from Scott to resume the

command, and conduct the operations according to

his own judgment.
Worth was directed to detach one brigade on

the route to the field, to be used as might be found

necessary, while the other remained at Coapa. As

Pillow neared the hill of Zacatepec, he was in-

*
Official Reports.
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formed of the result of the battle. His information

was confirmed by his observation from the hill, and

he at once sent it to Scott. The general-in-chief

did not rely upon it implicitly, as it was necessarily

imperfect in its details, and only the general re

sult. No change was made in the order for the

movement of one of Worth's brigades ;
and Gar

land had advanced near to the hill of Zacatepec

before full information of the state of affairs was

received, and Scott felt safe in countermanding his

order. Worth then returned with Garland's bri

gade to Coapa, and Scott continued on in person

to Padierna.

So soon as the victory had been completely won,
General Smith made arrangements for securing the

prisoners and property, and for a vigorous pursuit ;

but, before it had been well commenced, Twiggs
arrived from the hill of Zacatepec, and assumed

command. He moved off with Smith's brigade,

and, joining Shields's troops en route, continued

on toward San Angel. Pillow came up soon after,

and, having ordered forward the troops of his own

division, passed to the front and assumed the com

mand.

Santa Anna broke up from San Angel so soon as

Valencia's defeat had been consummated, and re

treated at once to his works at Churubusco. The

American advance became slightly engaged with

his rear guard as it left the town
;
but the retreat

was precipitate, and the skirmish of but little posi

tive effect. Pillow halted at San Angel to await
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orders; for, knowing that Scott's object was to

open the road to Tacubaya and Chapultepec, he

had sent a request to the general-in-chief to be al

lowed to move with his own and Twiggs's division,

and Shields's brigade, through San Angel to the

Hank and rear of San Antonio. It was suggested

that Worth should at the same time operate against

San Antonio with the troops then in position at

Coapa.^ The general-in-chief received the re*

quest at the intrenched camp, while he was re

solving in his mind the orders which he should

send to Worth. After a short consideration of Pil

low's suggestion, he directed the officer who had

delivered it to order him to move on, but to move

cautiously.!

Pillow accordingly ordered the advance from

San Angel in the direction of Coyacan. Twiggs

opposed a further movement on that day, as he

said that the troops were too much exhausted for

effective operations, and he refused to proceed with

out positive orders. But, in obedience to General

Scott's directions, and in accordance with his orig

inal intentions, Pillow repeated his order positive

ly, and the column moved on, with Smith's brigade

in advance.

The rifle regiment covered the advance, which

arrived at Coyacan without resistance, although

parties of the enemy were in the village as it en-

* Lieutenant S. B. Davis's Testimony before the Court of Inquiry. Ex
ecutive Document, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p.

210. t Idem ibidem.
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tered it. A party of the rifles had been mounted

on captured Mexican horses, and the young officers

who commanded it pushed rapidly on in pursuit.

A short skirmish ensued beyond the village, in

which several prisoners and a few guidons were

captured, and the party returned without having
learned any thing definite of the positions of the

enemy.

Upon nearing Coyacan Pillow had been over

taken by an officer of the staff of the general-in-

chief, who bore an order for him to halt and await

his arrival. He accordingly halted at Coyacan,
and in a few minutes Scott and his staff rode in.

As he rode past the troops he was received with

loud and continuous cheers, for the victory of the

morning had raised the spirits of the army to the

utmost. The reaction incident to the change from

the dreary bivouac of the night of the 19th to the

complete victory and bright sunshine of the morn

ing of the 20th had been extreme. In the proud
exultation of one victory, officers and men looked

forward to a continuation of the struggle, in antici

pation of a complete triumph, and that, before night,

the object of the campaign would be obtained.

Perhaps no body of soldiers, as a whole, was ever

more eager for the fray, or more willing to enter at

once into close combat, than was the American

army on the morning of the eventful 20th of Au

gust. The feeling was doubtless shared by the

general-in-chief, who, although burdened with

many charges of a military and diplomatic nature,
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could not have failed, in the general enthusiasm, to

catch a portion of the spirit, and he appeared will

ing and anxious to pursue his victory.

San Antonio was still the point of attack, in or

der to open short communication with Worth and

the depot of the army at San Augustin. Of the

positions of the enemy, save that solitary one, noth

ing was known, and only the general direction of

the roads and the general topography was under

stood.

The first thing attempted was to inform Worth,
in front of San Antonio, of the vicinity of the main

army. For this end, engineer and staff officers,

with the escort of a troop of cavalry and a battalion

of rifles, were sent, with orders to open a fire which

should give the information to Worth. Others as

cended the steeple of a church to observe the coun

try, and in a short time it was reported that the

enemy had abandoned San Antonio, and was in

full retreat along the causeway to the city. The

report was soon after confirmed by the arrival of

a staff officer from the party sent to communicate

with Worth, and General Scott took immediate

action.

Two roads lead from Coyacan toward the cause

way of San Antonio
;
one nearly due east, and the

other southeast, toward the fortified hacienda of

the same name. Pillow was ordered to lead one'

brigade of his division by the eastern road, in order

to get upon the causeway and cut off the retreat

of the enemy. Twiggs, at the same time, was di-
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rected to move one of his brigades to the southeast,

and to fall on the enemy in flank. Worth, it was

supposed, was, of course, driving him up from his

former front.

The two generals at oncecommenced their move

ments, hut Twiggs moved off with Smith's brigade,

which was at the head of the column, on the road

which Pillow had been directed to take. Scott,

having been informed of this mistake, quickly di

rected Pillow to move on the route indicated for

Twiggs, and to be guided by his instructions.

Pillow placed himself at the head of Cadwalader's

brigade, and took the route to San Antonio.

Captain Kearney, of the first dragoons, who com
manded General Scott's personal escort, being anx

ious to participate in the action, asked for and ob

tained permission to follow him.

The orders and movements above narrated were

those which proceeded from the head-quarters of

the American army at Coyacan previous to the

battle of Churubusco. But the position of affairs

was not understood, and many things interfered to

prevent the complete execution of them. Indeed,

nothing proved to be as had been anticipated, ex

cept the indomitable valor of the American sol

diers, and long experience had shown that that

was equal to almost any emergency.
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CHAPTER VIII.

General Worth's Operations against San Antonio BATTLE OF CHURUEUSCO

State of Affairs immediately succeeding it in the City of Mexico Posi

tions of the American Army Quitman's Position at San Augustin.

WHEN General Worth returned with Garland's

brigade from the route toward Padierna, he direct

ed his attention to operations against the position

of San Antonio. His reconnaissances had heen

pushed with a view of proving the practicability

of turning it by his left, through the Pedregal, dur

ing the continuance of the operations of the 19th.

Being relieved from apprehension of interruption

by the fall of Valencia's intrenched camp, with dis

cretionary orders from the general-in-chief, and em
ulous of sharing in the success of the other portions

of the army, he at once commenced preparations

for the advance.

He continued his reconnaissances for a time, and

being fully convinced that the route was practica

ble for infantry, at eleven o'clock A.M. he order

ed Clarke's brigade and Lieutenant-colonel C. F.

Smith's light battalion to turn the enemy's right

by the Pedregal, and to cut his line of retreat to

the city. At the same time he advanced Garland's

brigade and Lieutenant-colonel Duncan's light bat

tery to within observing distance of the enemy, to

be in readiness to fall on in front so soon as Clarke

should become engaged in rear.
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Clarke's troops, guided by Captain Mason, of the

engineers, and other staff officers, progressed in the

movement. It was necessarily slow, from the ex

ceeding difficulty of the Pedregal, if any thing,

more savagely rough at this the eastern than at

the western extremity. During the movement
Worth sent the fourth regiment of infantry into the

rocks, guided by his assistant adjutant general,

Mackall, with orders to support the turning column

if necessary, or, if possible, to make a separate at

tack and carry one of the batteries.^

Before Clarke could arrive at a position in rear

of the enemy, General Bravo, who commanded at

the hacienda, broke up and commenced his retreat,

for he had been made acquainted with Valencia's

defeat at Padierna, and with the movements of the

main American army on the left flank. Santa

Anna had ordered him to fall back,f and the threat

ening nature of Worth's operations in front tended

to hasten his movements.

When Clarke's advance came out of the Pedre

gal in sight of the main road, Bravo 's main force

was already in retreat. He had carried off several

guns, and sent his stores of ammunition to the rear.

The center of his column of infantry was opposite

the head of Clarke's as the latter came into the

cultivated ground north of the Pedregal, at a point

.some three hundred yards west of the causeway.

* General Worth's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Rep
resentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 316

t Santa Anna's Report, published in the Diario del Gobierno.
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Clarke's troops, in considerable disarray, were

not immediately ready for action
;
but two compa

nies of the fifth infantry, under the immediate guid

ance of the engineer officer, being in the advance,

moved at once down upon the enemy's flank and

opened fire. Other portions of the command en

tered into the action as they could form and come

up ; and, finally, the party, being in force, pushed
on to the causeway, cutting the Mexican column

in two.

Its advance, consisting principally of the national

guards of the city of Mexico, retreated rapidly along
the road. General Bravo, with the rear, which kept

up a scattering fire for a short time, and lost several

officers and men in killed, wounded, and prisoners,

General Perdigon Garay being among the latter,

crossed the ditches and marshy ground east of the

causeway, and took the direction of Mexicalcingo,

for at this time Worth was rapidly coming through
the abandoned works with Garland's brigade.

He had heard the commencement of Clarke's

fire, and at once ordered Garland to move forward

a company of infantry to draw the fire of the Mex
ican guns, and to follow quickly with his two regi

ments to the assault. But, as Bravo had abandon

ed his position, the advance was uninterrupted, and

Garland could only fall on the Mexican rear, after

having secured the few pieces of artillery left in

the works.

As Bravo made a precipitate retreat through dif

ficult and marshy ground, Worth determined to
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neglect the fugitives in that direction and to push
on by the causeway. Duncan's guns were order

ed forward, and Garland's brigade was united with

the eighth infantry of Clarke's near the point

where the latter had struck the causeway. But

the sixth and fifth regiments had pushed on along

the road in pursuit of the retreating enemy, the

sixth being in advance, as it had formed on the

left of the fifth when the latter had engaged the

Mexican flank. Worth moved on with the great

er portion of his troops, and overtook the fifth be

fore it came under fire
;
but the sixth, having pass

ed rapidly forward beyond supporting distance, had

become warmly engaged, and the battle of Churu-

busco had commenced.

The position occupied by Santa Anna's troops

was the general line of the Bio de Churubusco, a

stream which has been before mentioned. It runs

almost due east from a point on the road from San

Angel to the city of Mexico, to the Lake of Xocho-

inilco. Its banks have been artificially elevated to

prevent inundation, and its course made so nearly

straight, that, except in depth and width, the river

can hardly be distinguished from one of the large

irrigating ditches of the country. Like those of all

Mexican water-courses, its sides were planted with

rows of maguey, affording a screen for a large num
ber of troops, to which the elevated banks afforded

partial protection. South of the stream some hund-
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red yards lay the scattered houses of the village of

Ohurubusco. One of the most westerly of these

was a massive stone convent, which had been pre

pared for defense.

It was surrounded by a field-work, having em
brasures and platforms for many cannon, and was

the right point of the Mexican line. The northern

and eastern fronts were unfinished, but the south

ern and western were very strong and substantial

ly built. Seven guns completely swept and com

manded, with a raking and cross fire, the road from

Coyacan east to the causeway of San Antonio,

which passed to the south of the position. The

walls of the convent were creneled for musketry ;

the parapets of the azoteas and windows all afford

ed good positions for troops, and ammunition to any

required amount was inside of the buildings. This

point was held by General Rincon, with over 3000

men.

The next fortification, toward the Mexican left,

was the tete du pont of Churubusco, covering the

bridge by which the causeway of San Antonio led

to the city. It was a beautiful field-work, solidly

and scientifically constructed, with wet ditches,

and embrasures and platforms for a large arma

ment. But, at the time the action commenced,

every thing was in confusion in and about the

work. Indeed, no part of the Mexican force was

ready for battle except Rincon's command.

The army which Santa Anna had led back from

San Angel was forming along the River Churubus-
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co and in the corn-fields to its north. Other large

bodies of troops of the line and a few pieces of ar

tillery were in march from the city, while the cav

alry was moving along the road north of the tete

du pont to a position in rear, to hold itself in re

serve. Of the guns which Bravo had sent from

San Antonio, three had arrived at the tete du pont.

One thirty-two pounder broke down on the road,

and was seized by the sixth infantry in its advance.

The whole 'train of ammunition wagons, being ex

ceedingly heavy and unwieldy, had stalled on com

ing to the entrance of the fortification, blocking up
the road for a considerable distance in its front, and

partially obstructing the fire from its embrasures.

But, although much confusion existed, yet the

Mexican troops were formidable from their over

whelming numbers and the strength of their posi

tion
;
and they were by no means deficient in nerve,

nor did they show any disinclination for the battle.

Santa Anna, assisted by a crowd of general officers,

strove to form his line, and with some success
; but,

while things were in this state, the small battalion

of the sixth infantry came boldly forward, though

irregularly and in confusion. The leading compa

nies, being gallantly led, from very rashness would,

in all probability, have entered the tete du pont,

had not Bincon's troops opened a terrific fire of

cannon and musketry from the convent.

The distance was great for musketry, being over

three hundred and fifty yards ;
but the Mexican

position was elevated, and, with the enormous car-

II. R
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tridge furnished to Mexican soldiers, the bullets

were easily sent to the road
;
'without accurate aim,

it is true, hut in heavy rolling* volleys, and with

deadly force. In the tete du pont, a portion of the

battalion of San Patricio, composed of deserters

from the American army, was engaged in getting

the three guns in that work into battery, while

many Mexicans lined the parapet, and poured vol

leys of musketry down the road. The artillery soon

opened, raking the causeway ; and, being without

support or definite orders, the sixth staggered for a

time, the rear became separated from the front, and

the regiment was finally ordered, by its major, to

break, fall back, and reform behind the houses of

the village, which it had passed in its advance.

"With the exception of a party under Captain Walk

er, which had extended to the right, and remained

in the vicinity of the enemy,^ the regiment obeyed
the order

;
but its advance had a most beneficial

effect upon the after events of the action. It had

forced the Mexican army to commence the battle

in a measure unprepared, had prevented the se

curing the large ammunition train from San Anto

nio, and with these must be counted the moral ef

fect of the rapid attack upon the Mexican main

army immediately after the retreat from San An

gel, and Bravo' s rout from San Antonio.

But ignorance of the enemy's position, and the

*
Major Bonneville's and Captain Hoffman's Reports. Executive Docu

ment, No. 1, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress,

Appendix to the Report of the Secretary of War, p. 62, 63.
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want of free communications, brought portions of

the American army into positions of extreme peril.

While this movement of the sixth infantry was

in progress, Twiggs, ignorant of the locality, was

marching direct upon the convent of Churuhusco,

in order to cut off the retreat of the Mexican garri

son of San Antonio. Engineer and other staff offi

cers were in advance, examining the route
; but,

before they had ascertained the nature of the Mex
ican defenses, the heavy fire of the convent opened

upon the sixth infantry. Being entirely ignorant

of Worth's operations, the staff officers did not con

ceive that the discharge was directed at his troops.

They knew that the rifles had been detached some

where in that direction on reconnaissance, and

thought that corps had become closely engaged,
and would require immediate and strong support.

Advancing to ascertain the true state of affairs,

they came upon the convent, and still believing

that the rifles were engaged, a very hasty observa

tion was taken, and reports sent to Twiggs of the

necessity of engaging other troops.

The senior engineer officer present believed that

he had discovered a position whence light field-

guns could play upon the roofs and windows of the

building, unexposed to any other fire than that of

a single gun.^ Upon receiving the report, Twiggs,
who was some distance in the rear at the time, at

* General Smith's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Repre

sentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 330, and Major Dimick'a

Report. Idem, Appendix to the Report of the Secretary of War, p. 78.
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once ordered Captain Taylor's field battery forward

to the position. Taylor's experience as an artille

ryman led him to doubt its eligibility ;
but Twiggs's

order was positive, and the guns were unlimbered

within close range of the enemy. Hardly were

they in battery before the fire from the convent

was turned upon them in its greater strength, and

cut up officers, men, and horses in the most destruct

ive manner.

Smith's brigade had been ordered forward at

about the same time, and the first regiment of ar

tillery (acting as infantry) was sent to turn the

supposed one gun battery by its left. Passing Tay
lor's guns, the regiment took position before the

south front of the work. Although hidden, to a

degree, by the dense growth of corn, which covered

nearly the whole country about the Mexican posi

tion, it yet suffered severely, for the enemy, from

his elevation on the convent, could overlook the

field, and observe the presence of the American

troops. Notwithstanding the overwhelming fire

to which the regiment was exposed, the men held

their ground, finding such shelter as the vicinity

afforded, and returning the shot with all practica

ble effect.

General Smith brought up the third infantry to

the support of the field battery ;
and that regiment,

posting itself in and about some adobe houses in

the vicinity, commenced such a fire as could be de

livered against stone convents and fortifications

with musketry. But, while this was going on, and
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officers and men were vainly looking for a point to

storm the position, the Mexican fire continued un

abated and unabating. The convent was one sheet

of flame and smoke
;
the Mexican guns were work

ed by a portion of the same battalion of San Pa-

tricio engaged at the tete du pont, and wherever the

assailants were exposed their loss was excessive.

Soon after the action had become close, Twiggs
ordered Blley to attack the enemy's right with his

two remaining regiments, the second and seventh

infantry. The- veteran colonel at once moved for

ward in line in the direction indicated
;
but upon

the western as well as upon the southern front, the

approaches were masked by a dense growth of corn,

and the enemy poured his fire incessantly. Biley
ordered the seventh infantry to form as a support

for the second, and in person, with his staff, he

searched for practicable points upon which to ad

vance
;
but men and officers fell thick and fast, and

the troops, hidden from the enemy and each other,

became somewhat disordered
; still, none thought

of any thing but to advance, and for that many at

tempts were made in all the corps engaged.
A portion of the first artillery gained positions

within some seventy yards of the convent, which

it held throughout the action. The third infantry

kept up its fire. Taylor's men and horses were con

tinually falling ; yet, fearful of compromising the

safety of other troops, he kept up the unequal can

nonade, and his guns were worked with surprising

rapidity. Parties ofthe second, striving to advance,
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were cut up severely. The head of one company,
with its commander, was shot down at one dis

charge. One captain, struggling forward under

the severest fire, was twice severely wounded, and

every man with him was struck at the same time.

The Mexicans, with loud shouts, moved out in

a sally at the point ;
hut the other portions of the

American line closed in, and delivered so well-di

rected a fire that the attempt was repulsed.^ But

still the efforts of the Americans to advance were

vain, and the battle around the convent raged with

fury. Meanwhile the Mexicans had become en

gaged with Worth's and Pillow's troops around the

tete du pont, and with Smith's and Pierce's in the

rear, and the action was general.

When the fierce contest in which the corps which

had advanced from Coyacan had engaged had de

veloped the general position of the Mexican line

and the nature of the resistance to be overcome,

General Scott ordered General Pierce to move, with

two regiments and the battery of mountain howit

zers, by a by-road north from the village of Coya
can, and, having gained sufficient ground, to turn

to the right, and fall upon the Mexican rear.f

Pierce marched with the twelfth and fifteenth and

the battery. Soon after, Shields was ordered to

move in the same direction, with his two regiments

* Colonel Riley's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Repre

sentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, Appendix to the Report of

the Secretary of War, p. 86.

t General Scott's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Repre

sentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 309.
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and the ninth infantry, which had come up from

San Angel to rejoin its brigade.

These corps crossed the River Churubusco at a

point nearly north of Coyacan, and, in obedience

to General Scott's orders, moved down upon the

causeway of San Antonio, the point of direction

being to the rear and north of the tete du pont ;
but

upon the causeway was posted the strong Mexican

reserve which had that morning marched from the

city.

Observing the approach of the American troops,

the Mexican general at once formed his line along
the causeway, facing the west, and against the

growth of trees and maguey with which the road

was lined. His cavalry was sent across the ditch

es along the road, to gain a position on the left

flank and rear of the assailants, who by this move

ment were threatened with the same danger which

it had been intended should have menaced the

Mexicans.

The Americans advanced as rapidly as the na

ture of the ground would permit, although neces

sarily in some disarray. The twelfth and fifteenth,

being in front, and at first unsupported, occupied a

stone inclosure surrounding a threshing-floor, which

afforded partial protection to some companies ; but,

while the fifteenth was deploying, the Mexican fire

opened throughout the whole extent of the line

along the road in heavy rolling volleys. The col

onel of the fifteenth was wounded, and both regi

ments were severely cut up.
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The fire was returned with spirit and vigor by
the infantry as well as by the battery of mountain

howitzers. The American reply was, nevertheless,

entirely inefficient, for the Mexicans advanced into

the ditch along the causeway, obtaining partial

protection, besides being hid from their opponents

by the dense growth of maguey.
Shields's brigade and the ninth infantry soon

came up, but they suffered severely from the fire

in the front, and also from the left flank, for the

Mexican cavalry had reached its position, and large

numbers, having dismounted, advanced on foot and

commenced a rapid discharge of their escopetas.

The effect of the sudden encounter of the over

whelming force by Pierce's and Shields's troops

was to throw the latter for a time into confusion.

The Mexicans outnumbered them at least five to

one, and, at the same time, were partially hidden

and protected. With the exception of the few com

panies of the twelfth and fifteenth, protected by the

stone inclosure, the Americans were perfectly ex

posed and in fair open view. Severely cut up, dif

ferent regiments broke several times, and the men
clustered thick behind a barn in the vicinity for

shelter
;
but the barn afforded no protection from

the flank fire. The line was several times reformed,

only, however, to be again broken. Parties from

the angles of the building kept up a discharge

against the enemy, and the twelfth and fifteenth

still held on to their position, with the assistance of

the mountain howitzers, which were kept in lively
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play. But the Mexican fire continued, and the

attitude of the cavalry on the left hecame more

threatening every instant.

Under the dangerous aspect of affairs, strenuous

exertions were made to restore the formation and

make good the battle. Shields and his staff,

Pierce's staff (for that general, suffering from the

injury of his fall on the previous day, was unable

to give his personal attention) in fact, the great

portion of the officers, did all which it was possible

to do, and finally order was restored.

The ninth infantry was led against the cavalry

on the left, and soon opened a close and well-

directed fire. The New York and South Carolina

regiments advanced in line against the enemy

along the road. The Mexicans sustained the bat

tle with murderous discharges, killing the colonel

and mortally wounding the lieutenant colonel of

the South Carolina troops, wounding the colonel

of the New York regiment, and, besides, numerous

other brave and gallant men of inferior rank fell

dead or wounded. The advance was checked 'for

a while, but those unhurt struggled on, and, final

ly, the Mexican line wavered, broke, and fled, a

disordered multitude, down the road to the city ;

for Worth and Pillow's troops had by this time

forced the tete du pont, and detachments were

coming over the bridge and down the road in hot

pursuit upon the flank of the line which had been

opposed to Pierce and Shields.

While Pillow was marching from Coyacan upon
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the hacienda of San Antonio, in ohedience to his

original orders from General Scott, the fire com

menced from the convent of Churuhusco upon the

sixth infantry, and soon after upon Twiggs's troops.

The march was at once hastened in the direction

of the causeway, for the noise of the conflict about

the convent showed at once that the main Mexi

can force was on the left, and that the battle was

to be fought there instead of at the hacienda, upon
which it had originally been directed.

Upon coming in sight of the causeway, a party

of troops was observed moving south, through the

village of Churubusco. It was at first mistaken

for a Mexican corps ;
but the colors of the sixth in

fantry were soon observed, and, seeing that strong

resistance had been encountered in that direction,

Pillow inclined strongly to his left, increased the

pace of the column, and moved at a double quick

upon the village. The fields which were traversed

were deep and miry, and several deep ditches, bor

dered with maguey, intervened before the cause

way could be reached. The general, staff', and

other mounted officers dismounted, and led the

men on foot, getting rapidly over the deep ground
and the ditches until the road was neared. Along
the causeway the irrigating canal was too wide

and too deep to admit of an immediate passage,

and the troops were delayed for a short while in

filling it up. In this work parties of the sixth

joined, and in a few minutes Cadwalader's brigade

was upon the causeway, effecting a junction with
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the main body of Worth's division, which, in full

good humor for battle, just then came forward.

The battle was then raging fiercely about the

convent, and Worth and Pillow determined to fall

on and carry the Mexican positions immediately
in their front. Nothing could be seen of them ex

cept the line of smoke above the vegetation, al

though it was easily perceived, from the character

of the Mexican fire and the bold resistance, that

they were strong in the extreme. The state of

affairs did not admit of delay for reconnaissance,

even had reconnaissance been practicable, when
so fierce a struggle was raging upon the left at the

convent.

Worth at once ordered Garland to form his bri

gade on the right of the causeway, and move for

ward in line to the assault. Garland moved into

the fields immediately with the second and third

regiments of artillery (both acting as infantry), and

advanced. Lieutenant-colonel Smith's light bat

talion was ordered to take post on his right, and as

the fourth regiment of infantry, which had been

detached at San Antonio, came up just then, it was

ordered to rejoin its brigade.

Meanwhile Captain Mason, of the engineers, had

been making what reconnaissance itwas practicable

to make in the extreme hurry of events, and notic

ing that the convent and the tete du pont were the

strongest points of the Mexican line, conceived that

it was practicable to penetrate between the two,

and isolate the convent. He reported his views
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through Captain Hooker, assistant adjutant gener

al, to Pillow, and that general ordered the eleventh

regiment, under Lieutenant-colonel Graham, up
the road in the direction of the tete du pont, until,

under Mason's guidance, it crossed the ditch on

the left, and took post in the corn-fields in front of

the Mexican line between the two works. The

fourteenth, Colonel Trousdale's regiment, soon fol

lowed in support, and crossed at the same point.

The movement was observed by the enemy, and

the troops were soon subjected to a severe cross

fire, under which they were ordered to lie down

while the officers advanced to reconnoiter.

While these events were taking place, a battal

ion of the sixth infantry had reformed, and soon

after was ordered to assault the tete du pont di

rectly along the road. Captain Hoffman led it

forward with gallant bravery, and officers and men
followed nobly. But the Mexicans in the work,

whose attention had been given to the troops ad

vancing through the corn on either flank, seeing

this direct assault, turned all their guns upon it,

which, enfilading the road, made dreadful havoc.

Some of the men recoiled under the stern stroke

of the artillery ;
but the general officers were by

their side, and a few words of reproof and encour

agement sent them back to their places. With a

shout they again followed their officers in the ad

vance
;
but the direct assault was impracticable,

and Worth shouted to Hoffman to incline to the

right into the corn, to operate with the main body
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of the division in that quarter. There, next the

causeway, the fifth and eighth had become en

gaged. They had advanced on the right of the

road, and had been saved much of the loss which

had befallen the sixth.

The general disposition of the contending troops

about the tete du pont was that of one line against

the other. The infantry of Worth's division was

in front of the Mexican line, east of the causeway,

along the river, while Pillow's two regiments were

opposed to the line between the convent and bridge

head. The voltigeurs, the remaining regiment of

Cadwalader's brigade, was in reserve in the village

of Churubusco
; so, also, was Duncan's battery ;

for, although Duncan had sought for a position

whence he could bring his guns effectively into ac

tion, none could be found which afforded any thing
like an equality with the enemy, and at the same

time precluded danger from his fire to the troops

of his own party.

The only cavalry in the vicinity was Captain

Kearney's command, which had accompanied Pil

low from Coyacan. With much trouble Kearney
had succeeded in getting his horses across the diffi

cult ground and ditches to the causeway. There

he was joined by a troop of the third dragoons.

While the action continued, an attempt was made
to turn the enemy's left with this small corps, and to

assail his left flank
;
but the deep ditches by which

the fields were traversed prevented the movement,
and the dragoons returned to the causeway.
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After the first disposition of the troops, the bat

tle continued to rage without any general evolu

tion being undertaken. Indeed, such an evolution

was perfectly impracticable, from the nature of the

ground occupied by the Americans here as well as

about the convent, so densely covered with the

growth of corn that the corps could hardly see and

communicate with each other. This circumstance

partially screened the Americans from the Mexi

can view
;
but the Mexican officers knew the posi

tion perfectly, while it was as perfectly unknown
to the Americans. Therefore the Mexicans, from

their line about the banks of the rivulet, could de

liver their heavy, rolling volleys in the direction

where they knew their enemy was advancing,

while the Americans were deterred from using

their muskets by want of view and the fear of in

juring their own people.

The advance was, however, steadily continued.

Fearful of running upon the stronger points of the

enemy's line, the American officers halted their

commands, while small parties advanced to recon-

noiter. So soon as the ground in front of any corps

was in this manner found to be practicable, the corps

moved forward until another halt became necessary.

But the Mexican fire was continued and heavy.

Officers and men fell here, too, thick and fast, and

the tedious manner in which it was necessary to

progress tried severely the patience of the troops.

Those who could obtain position and sight kept up
a fire, but the number was comparatively small.
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Meanwhile the roar of Mexican musketry was the

greatest noise of all the din of battle
;

it was con-
r^ 7

tinned and terrific, drowning the noise of the artil

lery, the shouts of the combatants, and the groans

of the wounded. From the road in rear of the tete

du pont, where the Mexican reserve was engaged
with Shields and Pierce, from the convent, and

from the tete du pont and the line of the rivulet,

more than twenty thousand muskets were contin

ually discharged with a rapidity which showed the

stern determination of the enemy. Heavy clouds

of smoke rose over the whole Mexican positions,

while, except around the convent, the American

were comparatively clear.

But as the American troops pressed closer and

closer upon the enemy's left, his fire in that quar
ter began visibly to slacken, although it was con

tinued with all its first rapidity and vigor along
the other portions of the line. The convent and

bridge head were particularly spiteful ;
and the

quick flashes and heavy clouds of smoke, and the

numbers of the assailants who fell before each dis

charge, proved that they were stoutly defended. In

the midst of the conflict, the explosion of an am
munition chest threw the garrison of the tete du

pont momentarily into confusion
;
but the point

where the accident had told was soon reoccupied,

and the volleys of musketry and the discharges of

cannon were delivered with the same rapidity as

before.

The battle had raged for more than two hours
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from the time it was first opened by the sixth in

fantry, when the Mexicans first gave way in front

of the American right, and fled through the corn

fields in their rear toward the city. A party of

American troops of different regiments, principally

of the second artillery and sixth infantry, was led

on by its officers^ past the left of the tete du pont,

crossed the River Churubusco, and presented itself

in threatening position in rear of the work. At

the same time the troops of Worth's division nearest

it, which had been approaching throughout the

battle, came out of the corn-fields upon the short

open space immediately in its front. They were,

in greater part, of the fifth and eighth regiments of

infantry, under Lieutenant-colonel Martin Scott

and Major Waite. Being joined by the eleventh

and fourteenth, which corps, unable to penetrate

between the tete du pont and convent, had crossed

the road within close distance of the former work,

the advance at once took place. The troops on

the right closed in, and, rushing through the wet

ditches, waist deep, over the parapets and into the

work, the American troops carried it in a crowd.

The Mexican position being turned, the left flank

of the line having given way, and with determined

foes just in the assault (and none can feel the de

termined energy of troops of Anglo-Saxon "blood,

*
Captains Hoffman and Walker, and Lieutenant Az-mistead, of the sixth

infantry, and Captain Brooks, and Lieutenants Daniels and Sedgwick, of the

second- artillery. See Captain Hoffman's Report. Executive Document, No.

1, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, Appendix
to the Report of the Secretary of War, p. 63.
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when, after hours of suffering, they are led to the

charge, unless they have heen witnesses), the gar

rison of the tete du pont made hut short resistance.

A few shots were delivered, a few hayonets cross

ed, and the greater numher fled over the bridge to

ward the city, leaving three guns, two standards,

and twenty-seven officers and privates in the hands

of the conquerors, whose loud and continued shouts

succeeded the roar of hostile musketry and cannon

which but a moment before had been delivered

from the parapet.

The fall of the tete du pont insured the rout of

the troops engaged with Shields's and Pierce's

troops. The fugitives of the garrison, as well as of

the Mexican main line, were forced back upon the

flank of the reserves, throwing them into confusion.

Within a few minutes after the first entrance of

the work, parties of American infantry passed the

bridge, and joined the party which had turned the

work and moved down upon the road. This force

marched on in pursuit. One of the guns captured
was a piece of light artillery, with its horses and

gearing complete. It was promptly seized by Cap
tain Ayres, of the third artillery, who detailed a

party of gunners, and advanced within range of the

flank of the Mexican reserve. Being crowded by
the fugitives, and assailed in this manner in flank

and in front by the troops of Shields's and Pierce's

commands, it could not stand, and, as has been

seen, at once gave way in flight.

Shields brought his volunteers to the causeway,
II. S
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and they were soon followed by the troops ofPierce's

brigade. The lancers opposed to the ninth infant

ry likewise fled so soon as the body of the Mexican

force broke, and that regiment marched toward the

causeway, having for its point of direction the ha

cienda of Los Portales, distant about a mile and a

half from Chumbusco.

Santa Anna, who was at the time with the re

treating troops, ordered a corps to take possession of

the buildings, to oppose the pursuit, and to cover

the retreat. The resistance demonstrated, though

noisy while it lasted, was not very long or efficient.

The Mexicans of the party soon left the position

and continued the flight with the great body of the

fugitives.

While portions of Worth's and Pillow's com-

mands were engaged in the pursuit and the de

monstration on the flank of the Mexican reserve,

others were employed against the convent, which

still held out in spite of the vigorous assault of

Twiggs's division.

One of the captured guns of the tete du pont was

served upon it by a party of the eighth infantry.

Duncan and several staff officers had been for a

short while in observation from the steeple of a

small church in Churubusco, and had observed a

position where his guns could be placed in battery

to enfilade the southern front of the field-work sur

rounding the convent. This was on the causeway
in front of the tete du pont, and that work having

been captured and the position relieved from its
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lire, two pieces were at once located there in bat

tery and opened.

General Pillow ordered the voltigeur regiment
to move to a position whence it could advance

against the northern point of the convent, and par

ticipate in the work. Cadwalader placed himself

at the head of the regiment, and the movement

was commenced
; but, before it got into action, the

enemy hung out a white flag in token of surrender.

General Rincon had held on to his position with

determined pertinacity ;
but many officers and men

of his command, having seen the fall of the tete du

pont and the flight of the main Mexican army, en

deavored to escape and to avoid the fate which ev

idently awaited the isolated position. Of those

who fled, a portion fell in with and was captured

by the troops of Shields's and Pierce's brigades.

Another, trying to escape by passing near to the

tete du pont, was severely cut up by the fire of the

American troops from that work, and the survivors

taken prisoners. But few reached the city, and

those parties fortunate enough to do so left many
killed and wounded along their routes.

With the exception of Taylor's battery, w^hich,

severely cut up, had been withdrawn at the close

of the action, Twiggs's troops had held on to their

positions around the convent. When the enemy
had been beaten from the other points of the field,

they pressed forward to a closer proximity of the

work. General Smith ordered a charge, and the

third regiment of infantry and the first artillery
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mounted the parapet just as the white flag was

displayed. Riley's troops came up, and Twiggs's

division occupied the convent. Generals Bincon,

Anaya, and Arellana, with the officers and soldiers

of the garrison who had not attempted their escape,

in all numbering over 1200 men, surrendered as

prisoners of war. Seven guns and several stand

ards were captured, and with them the convent,

the last position of the Mexican army on the field

of Churuhusco, was won.

During the action the general-in-chief had re-

mained at and near Coyacan, giving what superin

tendence the nature of the country, of the opera

tions, and of his information enabled him to give

to the progress of the battle. With Twiggs he was

in easy communication
;
hut Worth and Pillow

were separated from him by a difficult piece of

ground, and those generals conducted their opera

tions under no other orders from head-quarters than

those given to Worth on the route from Padierna,

and that to Pillow at Coyacan, to assault San An
tonio in flank.

Pierce's and Shields's movements to the rear hav

ing been ordered and made, a report of the critical

situation of their corps just previous to the fall of

the tete du pont and the last charge was brought
to the general-in-chief. He at once sent the rifle

regiment and a platoon of horse, the only troops at -

his disposal, to the support of the left
; but, before

those troops arrived within supporting distance, the

enemy was in retreat.
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Soon after they had marched from Coyacan, in

formation was received of the fall of the tete du

pont, and Scott sent immediate orders to Worth
and Pillow not to pursue the enemy unless they
were assured of some highly important advantage.
As this order was sent soon after a staff officer came

up from the left with an additional report of the

critical state of affairs in that quarter, the discre

tion allowed to Pillow and Worth must have heen

intended to permit them to operate in favor of

Shields. General Scott considered that something
was necessary to enable the troops engaged with

the Mexican reserve to make good the battle, for

he told the staff officers to give encouragement to

the hrave men there engaged, and to say that he

would proceed in person to that scene of combat.

Soon after, the fall of the convent was announced,

and as that conquest necessarily finished the battle,

orders were sent to the different generals to halt

their troops and to give up the pursuit.

These orders were received by them in time to

arrest the march of the infantry of the army at the

hacienda of Portales. To that point the main body
of the troops of Worth's and Pillow's commands

had advanced, effecting a junction with Shields's

troops, and the whole force was marching upon the

city ;
but the order was not received in time to

check the advance of the cavalry, and that small

body had nearly reached the garita of the capital.

So soon as the tete du pont had been carried,

and Duncan's guns placed in battery against the
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convent, Pillow had ordered Captain Kearney for

ward for the pursuit. The road from the village

of Churubusco to the captured work was much ob

structed by the killed and wounded, and the Mex
ican ammunition train. The huge wagons of

which it was composed took up much space, and,

in addition, every draught animal attached to them

had been killed by the Mexican fire from the tete

du pont and convent.

The confusion caused by the mass of dead men
and animals, wagons and material, thrown togeth

er upon the road, was increased by the taking fire

of one of the wagons, threatening instant and de

structive explosions. In consequence, some delay
arose in bringing the dragoons forward past the ob

stacles to the captured work. Some of the soldiers

on the road, however, with most reckless daring,

mounted the wagons^ and actually threw the burn

ing ammunition chests into the ditch.

In the mean time the retreating Mexicans had

gained much distance in their flight. Upon his

arrival at the tete du pont, Kearney formed his

three troops and moved rapidly forward. In the

route they were joined by Colonel Harney and a

platoon under Captain Ker. Kearney increased

his pace to a gallop, and the corps, small as it was,
tore along the causeway after the enemy. The
mass was overtaken about half a mile from the

garita of San Antonio Abad, by which the cause

way enters the city. The dragoons rode at speed
into the crowd, which was cut down, ridden over.
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or dispersed through the ditches into the fields on

either side, while that portion still in front crowd

ed in a confused mass into the entrance of the

garita. The point was defended by a battery

mounting two guns, and the small garrison, in a

panic at the wild charge of the Americans, opened
fire on friend and foe, causing serious loss, and in

juring both. Nevertheless, the advance continued
;

and, seeing that the Mexican officers dismounted

to pass the ditch, which was cut nearly across the

road, Kearney jumped from his horse, called on

his dragoons to follow, and rushed forward to enter

the battery with the fugitives. He was unsup

ported except by two or three officers and about a

dozen privates, for General Scott's order had reach

ed Colonel Harney, who had caused the recall to

be sounded from the rear. The notes of the bugle
were unheard in the uproar of the fight, or, if heard,

were for a time unheeded by those in the front,

and the halt took place first in the rear. Small

parties continually dropped off as they heard of the

order, until only three or four sets of fours were

left engaged with the enemy.

Finding themselves unsupported, and the Mexi

cans, seeing the weakness of the assailants, having

partially recovered from the panic and resumed an

attitude of resistance, the Americans fell back
; not,

however, until they had sustained the loss of one

officer (Major Mills, of the fifteenth infantry, who
had joined the charge as a volunteer) killed, three

others severely wounded, besides several privates
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killed, wounded, and captured. So soon as the re

mainder of the party had extricated itself, the dra

goons fell back to the position of the advanced di

visions of the army, and the battle of Churubusco

was ended.

A battle in which the stern, determined bravery
of the American troops, and the general skill of the

officers in any emergency, was most conspicuously

displayed. Although most of the corps entered

the action without any knowledge of the enemy's

position, yet each and all had held on and con

tinued the battle until the enemy, broken and

beaten, notwithstanding his overwhelming num
bers and strong positions, had fled before the as

sault. But, brilliant as the victory was, it had cost

the American army dear. One thousand of its

bravest spirits had fallen killed and disabled ;#

and as of the number seventy-six were officers, it

is easy to see under what gallant leading the vic

tory was achieved.

Indeed, the impetuous bravery, and the cool and

skillful conduct of the officers of the American

army, shown to advantage throughout the Mexi
can war, was never more fully demonstrated

;
for

it is not so much in the regular advance, against

positions well known and carefully reconnoitered,

that the genius and bravery of the subordinate of-

.

* Return of killed and wounded. Executive Document, No. 1, House

of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 431.
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ficers is most conspicuous or necessary, as there

the soldier is acquainted with his work, and ad

vances with as much zeal and bravery as his su

periors. But upon sudden emergencies, in difficult

positions, when the leading and execution must be

accomplished, if accomplished at all, upon the mo

ment, such as often had taken place in the various

events ofthe battle of Churubusco, then it devolves

upon the officer, of whatever rank he may be, to

seize the advantages which may offer in time. His

example of brave devotion must animate his sol

diers to the achievement of deeds of daring, and

contribute to the victory which will give his coun

try the object of the strife, or, at least, the glory and

honor awarded to all nations possessed of brave

and gallant defenders. And, truly, at Churubusco,

the American officers were not wanting in the most

honorable attributes of their profession, nor did the

soldiers fail in aught required of them.

And it can not be said, in truth, that there the

Mexicans individually did not fight like true men.

The length of the conflict, the loss of the assail

ants, and the carnage among their own ranks, prove

conclusively the nature of the struggle ;
and though,

notwithstanding overwhelming numbers, strong po

sitions, and every advantage, they were beaten, the

cause must be looked for in other than the want of

nerve, so far as the Mexican soldiers are concerned.

Yet the character of their resistance only in

creases the glory and merit of the conquerors in

warlike achievement. And who shall do justice
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to those brave spirits who died either in the lead

or in the ranks ? Who shall tell the glory to he

awarded to those who fell in the brave and de

voted discharge of duty ? The living have re

ceived and will receive such reward as on earth is

given in the approbation of their countrymen ;
but

the dead have passed away, and the only reward

is that which can be given to their memories.

Of the seventy-six officers who fell, Captains
Capron and Burke, Lieutenants Irons and Hoff

man, of the first artillery; Captain Anderson and

Lieutenant Easley, of the second infantry ;
Lieu

tenant Bacon, of the sixth
; Major Mills and Cap

tain Quaiies, of the fifteenth
;
Colonel Butler, Lieu

tenant-colonel Dickenson, and Lieutenants Adams
and Williams, of the South Carolina regiment, and

Lieutenant Chandler, of the New York Volunteers,

all were either slain upon the field or soon died

from their wounds. Of the remainder, belonging
to the different regiments engaged, many never

permanently recovered. To the memory of the

dead, the different commanders have endeavored

to do justice, and the official records of their coun

try's glory tell where and how they died in sustain

ing it.

The Mexican loss in the strife was most severe,

but it is hardly possible to arrive at its exact

amount. The complete rout which the army suf

fered, the temporary disorganization of many corps,

and the general panic which pervaded the city for

many days, prevented its being immediately or ac-



THE WAR WITH MEXICO. 2 83

curately ascertained. But from the number of

dead and wounded along the roads, in the fields,

and about the different positions, together with the

dispersion of different bodies of troops, it could not

have fallen short of 7000 men in killed, wounded,
and missing in the battle of Churubusco.

The effect of the operations and battles of the

19th and 20th of August was to beat the Mexican

army completely, and to place the capital for a time

at the mercy of the conquerors ;
for it can not be

doubted that the two-gun battery at the garita of

San Antonio Abad would have been carried at

once, had it suited the views or arrangements of

the American general-in-chief to continue the

movements in pursuit. The state of things in the

city was such as to preclude the possibility of or

ganized resistance by either the beaten army or

the populace. The panic was extreme. Most of

the inhabitants, trusting to the display of troops

and warlike preparation, had remained in the city.

When the first tidings were received from the camp
of Valencia, they had indulged in anticipations of

a glorious success. Such had been the hope upon
the morning of the 20th

;
but in the afternoon, the

conclusion of the battle of Churubusco, the arrival

of the beaten battalions, of the trains of wounded

soldiers, and of the Mexican president, told a dif

ferent tale, and all were in fear of the immediate

entrance of the victorious army. Men, women,
and children were in the greatest alarm, which

false rumors, created in fancy, and kept up by the
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shouts of the crowd,
"
Aqui viene los Yanquies,"

in different parts of the city, sustained throughout
the night.#

While the "battle had continued to rage, Santa

Anna had ordered forward the troops left in garri

son at El Peiion, and these entered the city during
the afternoon. Some of the heaten battalions were

reorganized, and strong corps of troops were posted

about the garitas of La Candelaria, San Antonio,

and El Mno Perdido, apparently in readiness to

contest the last point between the enemy and the

capital. The disposition was not effected until

night had come on, and then was unnecessary, for

the American army had halted and taken up quar
ters near the field of battle.

Worth's division and Shields's brigade remained

for the night about the hacienda of Portalis and

the village of Churubusco. Twiggs's was quarter

ed at Coyacan and San Angel. Pillow's fell back

to San Antonio. General Scott returned to his

head-quarters at San Augustin, and no prepara

tions were made for renewing the advance and en

tering the city on the following morning.

During the operations of the 19th and 20th,

General Quitman had been kept at San Augustin
in charge of the depot. Several alertes were oc

casioned by the vicinity of Alvarez's corps, which

had followed the American army around Lake

Chalco. Alvarez did not deem it prudent to as-

*
Intercepted Mexican letters. See Executive Document, No. 65, Sen

ate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 419-454.
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sault Quitman's position ;
and although he was

literally, in the execution of his orders, to occupy
and cut the American line of retreat, yet he con

fined his operations to simple occupation. Quit-

man several times sent parties of cavalry against

his pickets, and the Pintos were as often driven,

with the loss of several men and horses. By night

they had retired, and left San Augustin perfectly

quiet.

At the close of the eventful 20th of August the

American army was in these different positions,

and hardly had the troops, unhurt and wounded,
heen placed under shelter, when a cold, heavy

rain, like that of the night of the 19th, set in, and

darkness and silence succeeded the bright sunlight

and din of arms which, throughout the day, had

reigned in the valley of Mexico.

CHAPTER IX.

Observations March around Lake Chalco Reconnaissances upon San An
tonio and Padierna Construction of the Road Commencement of Battle

of Contreras General Cadwalader's and Colonel Riley's Operations

Generals Twiggs's and Smith's Operations March by San Angel on San

Antonio Worth's Operations against San Antonio BATTLE OF CHURUBUS-

co Mexican Operations.

IN making observations upon the operations of

the American army in the valley of Mexico, brill

iant and successful as they were, it is impossible

to refer to any examples of either ancient or mod-
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ern history, or to be guided entirely by the known
and established rule of military action

;
for it would

be difficult to find in all the records of war an ex

ample like this, where 10,500 troops had advanced

upon a city of over 180,000 inhabitants, defended

by more than three times its own numbers, in posi

tions strong by nature, and rendered still stronger

by art, and where the party attacked was upon

any thing like an equality with the assailants in

military organization, preparation, or armament.

Indeed, the only event which can be found analo

gous to the advance of the American army in Mex
ico is the advance and conquest of Cortes over the

same ground hundreds of years before. The dif

ferences of preparation and position, and the causes,

both moral and physical, of his success and Aztec

defeat, were so marked, that any action of his

could, of necessity, form no rule of guidance for

the American commander. The advance of the

American army must stand in history, for a time

at least, alone. Its operations must also stand, in

the judgment of the world, wherever they are novel,

upon their own merits, and upon the reasons for

which they were at the time undertaken.

As frequently happens after the achievement of

any great military exploit, many controversies have

arisen concerning the movements and operations

of different corps and their commanders. Such

controversies will probably ever continue to occur,

so long as the history of the world is the history

of its warriors. In this case, however, the differ-
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ent matters were, to some extent, brought before

a court of inquiry, and the principal facts of the

case were developed by sworn testimony. That

the subject is mentioned here and in this connec

tion may be considered out of place, inasmuch as

the controversies occurred at a period later by some

months than the events which have been narrated
;

but as before the court by which the controversies

were tried was delivered much of the testimony

upon which the narrative is based, I have felt called

upon to notice it here. One of the principal of

these was concerning the battle of Contreras, and,

in consequence, it has been endeavored to make
the narrative of the orders and movements of that

field clear and distinct. Of the important ones it

rests entirely upon sworn testimony, which has

been so ample as to leave no room for doubt.

The first great cause of American success in

these operations, as can readily be seen, was in the

bravery and courage of the army. Various adven

titious and extraneous circumstances combined

assisted it, more than did any general disposition

of the troops for the hostile operations ;
for the

operations were hardly any of them undertaken or

carried out fully in accordance with the orders is

suing from the head-quarters of the army. They
were, in the action of the different corps, in a man
ner isolated and partial, and wherever combination

existed, it happened as much by chance and the

movements of subordinate commanders as by the

will and order of the commander-in-chief. Of these
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different movements and operations I shall remark

in order :

1st. Of the execution of the flank march south

of Lake Chalco to the southern and western fronts

of the city.

The reasons for making this movement have

been noticed in a former chapter. The movement

itself may be criticised. The reconnaissance made

on the 14th of August was not complete ;
and al

though the information gained by Colonel Duncan

was of such a character as to show that the re

maining ten miles of the road was practicable, yet

its precise features were unknown to great extent.

" War is not a conjectural art,"^ and the maxim
will hold good in isolated operations as well as in

those of more general character. Wherever the

exception is made, and uncertainty exists about

the ground over which movements are to be con

ducted, good policy would seem to dictate that the

movement should be rapid, that the uncertainty

may be cleared away as soon as possible.

Moreover, it is a settled principle in tactics, that
" the train of an army should never be entangled
in a defile of the further extremity of which that

army has not possession."! For several miles be

tween the villages of Tuliahualco and Sari Augus-
tin this route was a defile, and as each division

was accompanied by its train, the army, train and

all, was entangled in it. Had an action taken

place while the troops were passing it, there were
*

Napoleon. t Idem.
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few places where the troops of one division could

readily have passed the train of that in advance,

and then must have left its own train under feeble

escort. On account of these encumbrances to the

advance, General Scott was two days and more in

making twenty-five miles.

Had the two leading divisions (Worth's and

Pillow's) been united with the cavalry, and moved

at once from Chalco without their heavy baggage

trains, which could have come forward with Quit-

man and Twiggs, the distance could have been ac

complished in twelve hours; San Augustin could

have been seized and occupied in force
; strong

working parties, under engineer officers, left to re

pair the road where it needed it
;
and Quitman and

Twiggs, on the following day, could have come over

it in nearly the same time. Meanwhile, Santa

Anna would not have had time to block up the

road, and to station his guerillas to annoy the pass

age, or to complete the fortifications of San Antonio

without observation, and probably opposition ;
nor

would he have had the opportunity of doing aught
to oppose the advance over dangerous ground, as

he did have, and which he took advantage of in a

manner. Had not the various intrigues of his sub

ordinates interfered, he would probably have done

so to a greater extent.

2d. The reconnaissances in the direction of San

Antonio and Padierna of the 18th, and the con

struction of the road toward the latter point on the

I9th of August.
II. T
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That these were undertaken, and that the opera

tions of the American army were delayed for a

whole day on account of them, proves that the in

formation of the locality upon which he was to op
erate possessed by the American general was im

perfect. This was a matter of regret ; yet the de

lay was absolutely necessary. Indeed, under the

circumstances, it might have been better to have

delayed further, until the different positions could

have been more thoroughly examined. As it was,

nothing very definite was known of the practica

bility of the route by either San Antonio or Padi-

erna. The movement by that of San Antonio de

pended upon the practicability of turning the works

through the Pedregal. By that of Padierna it was

thought to depend entirely upon the practicability

of making the road over the western extremity of

the same bed of lava. That much opposition from

the enemy to the completion of that difficult work

was not apprehended by the general-in- chief, is ev

ident from the nature of his general orders, No. 258,

and those verbally transmitted to Pillow.^

The movement of troops by the road which was

being made was entirely experimental. Two di

visions of the American army were sent over diffi

cult ground in the direction of the enemy, on a duty
of construction, with orders to fight a battle if it

were necessary to drive the enemy from his posi-'

tion before the work could be completed. The na-

* General Orders, No. 258. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first Ses

sion of the thirtieth Congress, p. 470.
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ture of the movement entailed the necessity of fight

ing the hattle upon ground perfectly known to the

enemy and hut partially known to the Americans.

If the necessity which existed for immediate action

forced this upon General Scott, it was to have heen

regretted, for he risked a hattle for an uncertain ob-

ject. What he was in search of was a route hy
which he could approach the city in the direction

of Tacuhaya and Chapultepec. When Pillow's

and Twiggs's divisions marched from San Augus-

tin, it was only helieved that the road could he con

structed over the ground.

The opposition hy Valencia with his division

and hattery of twenty-two guns, and any re-en

forcement which he might receive, was left com

paratively out of consideration. It proved to he,

that the work of constructing a road across the

Pedregal and ravine, which should be practicable

for trains of heavy artillery and wagons, was one

of exceeding difficulty ;
and Valencia, badly as he

conducted himself, was, in his position, an obsta

cle which caused serious delay, annoyance, and

doubt.

The nature of the orders given by General Scott

on the occasion was such that the enemy was to

have been allowed to open the battle when he

pleased, and this, too, when the American troops

were in the worst possible position.
" Attack vigor

ously after having well observed where to strike,"^

was a simple but profound military instruction oft-

*
Napoleon.
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en urged upon commanders under the greatest mil

itary man of modern times.

In this case, the point at which the blow was to

have been delivered was not well observed, nor

was the attack to have been vigorously made, but

the troops were to have been allowed to enter into

the action at the discretion of the enemy.
In such a movement as this was, it would seem

to have been the part of good policy to have been

sure that the road could have been finished and

used in the manner proposed before the battle was

risked, and that its terminus was in the hands of

the Americans before the heavy part of the labor

of construction was entered upon. To have gain

ed the terminus, which was to have been at the

junction of the mule-path with the San Angel

road, it was necessary to move with celerity with

such troops as could act over the ground. Infant

ry was all which did act with very positive effect.

Under any circumstances, the propriety of pub

lishing to the Mexican commander, by means of

working parties engaged in making a road imme

diately under his observation, that a difficult and

dangerous route was about to be attempted by the

American army, may well be questioned. It was,

in effect, to warn him of the plans of the American

general, and to warn, him to make all possible prep
arations to counteract them.

The orders in relation to opening the battle, in

case it should be necessary to fight one, were some

what singular ; for, according to them, Twiggs was
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to open the battle, and, should it become necessa

ry, Pillow was to support him and assume the com

mand, and he again to be superseded by Scott.

This course, by which one general was to open the

battle, another to carry it on, and a third to finish

it, certainly had in it but little of that unity of ac

tion which is necessary in all things, and especial

ly in all military affairs.

It is rare that three men can immediately and

perfectly agree in any mode of action, and certain

ly it was not likely that they should, when with

but little, if any, consultation the subject was pre

sented to them in succession. If confusion were

to have been brought about in the operations of the

American army on that day, it is difficult to see

what instructions could have been better calculated

for such end than those actually given. The prob

ability was, that in case the orders were literally

obeyed, and Twiggs commenced the action upon
his own responsibility, Pillow would be obliged

either to continue operations which were not in

accordance with his own views, or else to modify
the plan of battle after the commencement of the

conflict. But circumstances and the nature of re

sistance prevented the necessity of either, and the

battle, commenced as it was, was under the super
vision of one person.

3d. The commencement of the battle of Contreras

by General Pillow.

By General Pillow, it is said, for the work of

making the road was almost entirely given over
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before the general disposition of the troops was en

tered upon. That the first movements of the bat

tle were made in accordance with his suggestions

to General Twiggs, and that he ordered Riley's

and Cadwalader's movements upon San Geronimo,

has been fully proven by sworn testimony, and de

cided by a legal tribunal.^

In commencing the battle when he did, General

Pillow obeyed the orders of General Scott, for the

road could not be completed under the fire of a

battery of twenty-two guns. In immediately tak

ing the general superintendence himself, the orders

were not literally obeyed ;
but in that he directed

operations in which his own troops were to share,

and for which, being the senior officer on the field,

he must have been held responsible, none can find

cause for censure.

As for the movements, they were those best cal

culated to insure the fall of the enemy's position.

If the position were to be carried by direct assault,

celerity was the first requisite, in order to enter

with the Mexican skirmishers, who partially mask

ed its fire. If an entrance could not be effected

with them, the attack must have necessarily been

made on the flanks or rear, for a battery of twenty-
two guns is not to be run over when in full and

uninterrupted play. It was necessary to send a

corps in advance, in order to seize upon opportunity'

* Colonel Riley's, General Cadwalader's, Captain Hooker's, Lieutenant

Ripley's, and other Testimony. Finding of the Court. Executive Docu

ment, No. 65,, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress.
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for assault, should one be presented, as well as to

attract the attention of the enemy while the opera

tions on the flank progressed. The movement of

the light batteries was experimental, and the loca

tion of them was of necessity left to the officers in

the vicinity of the enemy. It could not have been

expected that they would be very efficient against

the superior weight of metal which would, of course,

be brought to bear upon them, but, if they were to

be used at all, they must be used in that direction.

It was manifestly out of the question to send them

by the right over the more rugged portions of the

Pedregal ; and, in fact, in the position selected by

Captain Lee, they were as well located as circum

stances and the nature of the ground would permit.

That Riley was ordered to move toward the vil

lage of San Geronimo while Smith was advancing
to the front, was necessary in order to save time,

in the more probable event that the work could

not be taken by direct assault. That the flank

movement was made by the right instead of the

left, proves a calculation of future chances, and

that that which did really happen, the arrival of

re-enforcements, was apprehended and provided

for.

The countermand issued to Biley under the be

lief that Smith's advance would be successful, and

that Riley's was impracticable, as his rear had not

commenced its march, was a necessary consequence

of the state of things believed to exist. As this

belief soon proved to be erroneous, and it became
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apparent that the direct assault could not succeed,

and that the flank movement by San Geronimo

was practicable for infantry, that movement was

very properly persisted in and supported ;
and fur

ther re-enforcement (the fifteenth regiment) was

most properly sent, so soon as the approach of Santa

Anna demonstrated the danger to the corps already

on the right, and the increased importance of the

position.

The dispositions which have been noticed were

those which were made before the arrival of Gen
eral Scott, and in them was comprised all of the

general plan of the battle of Contreras. The move
ments ordered by General Scott during the after

noon were but in continuation of this plan, to

which, by his approval of the disposition of the

forces, he gave his sanction and confirmation.

The movement of the two regiments of Pierce's

brigade, being one of support, ordered upon a call

of General Twiggs, was in pursuance of the course

originally determined upon.
The effect of these movements was to isolate

Valencia by cutting off the re-enforcements under

Santa Anna, and to gain positions whence the rear

of the intrenched camp could be observed and at

tacked. Although many things interfered with

the immediate execution of the attack, and the

operations were spun out through the afternoon

and night, yet it does not impeach the integrity

of the first disposition of the troops ;
nor does it

disprove the fact that the way was opened and
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preparation made by that disposition by which the

victory was insured.

4th. Riletfs and Cadwalader's operations at and

near San Geronimo.

These were natural consequences of the move

ment in that direction, and both officers acted as

they could only act in the faithful and skillful dis

charge of their duty. That Riley continued on

through the village, and commenced the work of

reconnaissance in preparation for assault, Santa

Anna not being on the field, and being in expecta

tion of support from Pillow's division, was in per

fect keeping with the character of the veteran col

onel. It proved that he, at least, understood his

mission to be something more than one of quies

cent occupation of the village or position, and of

awaiting orders. By the movement, that informa

tion which enabled the assault on the following

morning was gained.

That he fell back toward evening, not being in

communication with Cadwalader, and believing

himself unsupported, was necessary and proper un

der the circumstances, and would have been had

he known the whole state of the case
;
for the oc

cupation of the village of San Geronimo in force,

until arrangements were made to crush Valencia's

corps, was, of course, of the highest importance to

the American cause.

By leaving a corps to hold San Geronimo while

he progressed, Riley might have received early in

formation of Cadwalader's approach ;
but he relied
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upon it, as he had "been informed that he would he

supported. The reason that he was not informed

of it when it occurred must he looked for in the na

ture ofthe ground, which did not permit a single offi

cer of the staff or line to pass the Pedregal mount

ed, and the want of time on Cadwalader's part.

Cadwalader's position to intercept the march of

the re-enforcements was holdly and courageously
taken. It was in accordance with the spirit of his

instructions, and, though hazardous, the necessity

was great enough to justify him in running any
risks to maintain himself. If he fell hack, Riley
was compromised with the whole Mexican army.
Unless the colonel could maintain himself unsup

ported, the American army lost one of its finest

brigades ftnd suffered defeat
; for, as the direct as

sault was impracticable, the only promise of suc

cess was in the flank movement. Whether suc

cess would have been certain after one brigade hado

been cut up, and the main Mexican army had

gained her communication with Valencia, may well

be questioned.

5th. General Tifiggs's movements directly against
the intrenched camp, and General Smiths march to

San Geronimo.

The first of these were partial and experimental,
and were originally intended so to be. After the

action had commenced, as General Twiggs gave
no orders to Smith,^ and remained in observation

* General Smith's Testimony. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first

Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 99.
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throughout the afternoon, until he sent a message
to General Scott concerning a plan of attack, which

was difficult of execution under any circumstances,

and perfectly impracticable under those which did

exist, it is very plain that he could have had but

little opportunity of judging of the proper move

ments against the enemy. All which he did know
at the time was that Smith had orginally advanced

about the time that he had, that Biley had gone
over to the right, that he held two regiments of

Pierce's brigade at his immediate disposal, and that

the American batteries were in such action as it

was possible for them to enter into
; and, certain

ly, an attack from the front or immediately on the

flank was impracticable, when his only disposable

troops were the ninth and twelfth regiments ;
and

before the message was sent, Smith was on his way
to San Geronimo.

This movement was unauthorized, and made

upon General Smith's own responsibility. His

own account is in effect that, seeing the impracti

cability of assault in front, that the occupation of

the village would cut the enemy's retreat, and be

ing without orders from either his division or gen
eral commander, he moved to the village without

any knowledge of the support which he might ex

pect, or the position of Kiley or Cadwalader,^ al

though before he started he had observed the ap

proach of the Mexican skirmishers.

* General Smith's Testimony. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first

Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 99, 103.
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If the movement were made under such a belief,

it was one which was passing bold
;
but it was not

of that character which might have been expected
from an officer who bears so high a reputation for

skill and talent as General Smith. He could not

assume to direct the operations of the army, and

unless he expected to find some force in the posi

tion to which he was marching, he was about to

place his brigade in a critical situation, between

two bodies of the enemy immensely superior in

number. This would have entailed upon the com-

mander-in-chief the necessity of changing the whole

plan of operations in order to support him, or of

allowing him to fight a doubtful battle for a point

not included in the positions to be occupied or de

sired by the commander.

Such would have been the case had he gained
the village before the enemy, who he saw, at the

time when he commenced his movement, was in

full march for it from a short distance, over open

ground, while he had more than a mile to traverse

of the most difficult nature. Every probability

then was (unless he anticipated finding some

American troops in the vicinity), that he would

have made a most difficult movement, under fire,

only to have found himself forestalled in the occu

pation of the desired point by the enemy. Then
he would either be compelled to fall back, or to

engage in battle at the close of day, without sup

port, against an enemy in strong position and in

overwhelming numbers.
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If the movement were made under the helief

that San Geronimo was, or was about to be occu

pied by the American forces, then it was well

judged and proper. It proved that he saw the

importance of the point, and, having secured the

route from Padierna to the hill of Zacatepec from

a sudden attack of the enemy on the American

communications by the support which he left for

the batteries, that he hastened to throw his main

force to the most important position of the whole

field
;
the possession of which, in the opinion of the

general-in-chief, and many others both before and

after the event, was the security of the victory.

If he did so believe at the time, then he must

have been mistaken in his recollections
;
and when

so much discrepancy exists between reasons as set

forth and the general character of his action, there

is much room for the entertainment of the idea
;

for in the hurry of events of battle many things

may be forgotten, and actions speak louder than

words of the motives of military men.

That the movement would not have been in

time to seize San Geronimo without opposition, is

shown from the facts that Cadwalader had already

intercepted the re-enforcement, and that Santa

Anna had been in his front more than half an hour

before Smith's arrival at the village ; but, as it

happened, the arrival of his troops before nightfall

was most opportune, and gave security for the pos

session of San Geronimo.

As for the disposition to assault Santa Anna's
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position on the northern side of the ravine, it must

be considered as rash and ill judged ;
nor had Gen

eral Smith any excuse for it, being without orders,

except in an eager desire for battle. It was, in

effect, a disposition for engaging in battle with

12,000 men, leaving 5000 in rear, on unknown

ground, and within half an hour of darkness. Un
less the 3500 Americans could beat the Mexican

army in that time, they were entangled and in

confusion for the night. They had no apparent

chance for support, so far as Smith knew, and the

attack was to have been made on that corps of the

enemy which had free communication with its re

serves. Had the action been begun with Santa

Anna, he, of course, would have endeavored to

make it good by bringing forward other troops ;

and it is difficult to see how it could have been

successfully finished in half an hour's time without

artillery or cavalry on the American side, while the

Mexicans had an abundance of both.

The true policy was that which was eventually

adopted, of holding San Geronimo with a view of

checking an advance, and attacking the isolated

position of the intrenched camp.
6th. The attack upon the intrenched camp, and

the demonstration in its front.

This was most undoubtedly the true point ;
and

although the attack was rather hazardous when it

was first determined upon (as Shields's troops had

not arrived, nor did General Smith expect them),

yet the night was in favor of the operation. The



THE WAR WITH MEXICO. 303

ground having been reconnoitered in the day, op

portunity was allowed for silent and hidden move

ments, which, if successful, insured the attack upon
the camp before the main Mexican force (believed
to be still in position) could interfere. The result

of an unexpected vigorous assault by 3500 Ameri

cans, from a commanding position, upon 5000

Mexicans taken in reverse, could not be doubted.

The position once gained, it was fair to suppose

could be maintained, as communication would be

re-established by the mule-path with the troops

in front of the camp and near the hill of Zacatepec.

When Shields's brigade arrived, all which could be

desired to render success certain was at hand
; for,

in the position of San Geronimo, that brigade could

hold the main Mexican army in check, if it ad

vanced, until the intrenched camp was carried and

Valencia crushed. Then the greater part of the

American army could have been opposed to the

Mexican, having the prestige of success, advanta

geous position, and abundance of artillery, besides

free communication all in its favor.

The diversion recommended by Smith to be

made in front was proper, could not harm, and

promised to assist, as it did most materially, in the

achievement of the victory. It was, moreover, in

keeping with the general character of the disposi

tions which had been made at the commencement

of the battle.

As for the execution of the plan by the troops, it

was admirable. Where irregularity occurred, it
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arose from unavoidable causes. It was easier than

had been anticipated, because Santa Anna had

withdrawn to San Angel. That was the good for

tune of the Americans.

The intervention of the night, and the anxiety
felt on account of the impossibility of communi

cating between the different corps of the army,
caused the attack upon the camp on the morning
of the 20th to be considered as an isolated opera

tion, entirely independent of the movements of the

preceding day. The complete success with which

the attack was attended gave to the commander
of the troops immediately engaged all the honor

of directing the movements resulting in the de

struction of Valencia's corps. In the dazzle of the

conflict of arms, the great movements of the 19th,

which isolated the position, and rendered its fall

certain so long as the village of San Geronimo

was held by American troops, were lost sight of.

For the immediate assault General Smith is un

doubtedly entitled to honor. As he acted without

orders, he might have been severely blamed in case

of ill success
;
and he could have anticipated no

less, as, according to his own account, an officer in

command of a small corps had undertaken an un

authorized movement, which might have disarrang

ed the whole detail of battle. But as for the stra

tegical movements by which the troops were placed

in the position which enabled the attack to be

made with effective success, General Smith had

no lot or share in their direction or execution. He
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was not immediately present when they were made ;

he did not suggest or counsel them
;
and his rank

was such that he could not, if he would, have or

dered the original movement of any corps. They
were ordered hy another officer, the senior on the

field before the arrival of General Scott
;
and as he

undoubtedly would have had the responsibility in

case of ill success (and, indeed, during the doubt

which existed on the night of the 19th, many mur
murs from those high in rank were made against

the dispositions and their author, without reflection),

the credit of skillful disposition to the end of the

victory belongs, and in the judgment of impartial

history must attach, to him. The execution of the

important movements of the battle was accomplish
ed by Kiley and Cadwalader. Riley showed that

the march was practicable, and gained that infor

mation which enabled Smith to act upon accurate

data when he did act. Cadwalader, by his bold

stand in front of Santa Anna, performed the most

important service of the field
;
and that stand by

which the village of San Geronimo was occupied,

arrested the enemy's re-enforcements,^ and ulti

mately decided the battle.

7th. General Scott's dispositions on the morning

of the 20th, and the flank march from the intrench-
* General Scott's Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of

Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 305. General

Scott's Testimony. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 73.

" The whole operation of the 20th was based on the possession of the vil

lage." General Smith's Testimony. Executive Document, No, 65, Senate,

first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 104.

II. IT
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ed camp by San Angel upon the fortified position

of San Antonio.

The arrangements of General Scott to place a

corps in position near the field of battle, which

might be used to cover a retreat or insure a victo

ry, were well judged, and the corps was as strong

as circumstances would permit; for Coapa could

not be abandoned with impunity, neither could the

garrison of San Augustin be reduced with safety

in the presence of Alvarez's guerillas. One brigade

from Worth's division was all which could in safe

ty have been put in motion, and it was well timed

for service in the doubt which existed at San Au

gustin after the failure in the commencement of

the attack at three o'clock in the morning, which

was the hour appointed and reported by Smith.

A determination to leave no chance for defeat by
a change of circumstances, or on account of pre

mature information of a victory, was manifested by
the continued march of Garland's brigade until the

news was fully confirmed.

The pursuit commenced by Generals Twiggs
and Smith, and continued by General Pillow to

San Angel, was only insuring the victory, and that

it was continued to that point immediately after

the fall of the camp was but a consequence of the

operations of the battle of Contreras. The contin

ued movement upon Coyacan and San Antonio

was the commencement of another series of opera

tions, and can therefore be spoken of by itself.

It was the movement of corps of one army against
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a central force, the divided corps having long and

circuitous routes of communication with each oth

er, while the enemy had short and easy communi

cation, and could concentrate with rapidity. It

has heen truly said that such movement is against

all principle, and under many circumstances the

present case would have formed no exception.

But as the full difficulty of opening a route by
the Pedregal had become apparent after the battle

of Contreras was ended, the question presented was,

whether the labor of constructing the road until it

was made practicable for the passage of the whole

train of the army should be persisted in ? or should

that purpose be abandoned, and the main army,
while following up the victory, present itself by
the flank inarch in rear of San Antonio, which

Worth held in check, or attacked in front ?

The knowledge that good roads led from San

Antonio toward Tacubaya and Chapultepec, and

the importance of time to the American army,
went to advise the hazard of the movement. If

successful, it insured the fall of San Antonio, and

opened the roads
;

for San Antonio, attacked in

front and rear, must fall
;
and even if the main

American army engaged the Mexican army in

the field while Worth assaulted San Antonio,

there was much chance of the victory of either or

both.

Celerity and caution combined were necessary

to insure success; and therefore, when the idea

was suggested to General Scott, his orders were
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" to move on, but to move cautiously."^ That he

had not considered the movement in reference to

immediate action before his arrival at the intrench

ed camp and the receipt of Pillow's message, was

of necessity owing to his want of information con

cerning the victory of Contreras. Of that he had

been assured but a short time
;
but his almost im

mediate acquiescence in the proposed movement

shows that such would probably have been his own
course of action.

8th. General WortKs operations against San

Antonio.

Viewed as isolated operations of one force upon
a single point, these must be considered as well

judged. Their merit was not fairly brought to

the issue of battle, as Bravo fell back before the

movement of Worth's troops were completed, and

the action was therefore partial.

The fact that Bravo fell back under orders from

Santa Anna, being threatened on the flank and in

rear by the main army, and in front and on the

flank by Worth, is an argument in favor of the

march of the former by San Angel to Coyacan.
General Scott has stated that General Worth

had orders from him to hold himself in readiness

to fall on in front of San Antonio so soon as it was

menaced by Pillow's and Twiggs's divisions from

the rear.f General Worth did not so understand'
* Lieutenant Davis's Testimony. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate,

first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 210.

t General Scott's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Repre

sentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 308.
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it, but acted under the general instructions and

discretion granted by the general-in-chief.^ To

show that this was the case, it is only necessary

to revert to the fact that at least one hour before

he could have heard any thing of the main army
he put Clarke's brigade in motion to accomplish

the same end for which the flank march through
San Angel and Coyacan was designed, and had

made his arrangements to assault and carry the

point without any reference to other troops. Why
he should have run the risk of a battle with his

own division alone, if he had known of the march

of the main force, it is difficult to see, unless, in

deed, his desire for distinction exceeded his pru
dence. In the latter case, it is difficult to see why
so flagrant a violation of orders as his operations

would have been has been silently passed over by
the general-in-chief in subsequent controversies.

Had the orders reached Worth and been obey

ed, it would probably have been better
;

for al

though, in consequence of the operations of the

American army, San Antonio did indeed fall^ yet
there was no unity of action toward a single ob

ject. Other operations were immediately com

menced, without reconnaissance, without commu
nication between the corps, and upon inaccurate, or

rather imperfect information, which brought on the

battle of Churubusco.

10th. The battle of Churubusco.

* General Worth's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Rep
resentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 316.
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As this battle was commenced by a battalion

just following up the success of Worth's operations

against San Antonio : fallen into and continued by

Twiggs's troops while marching to reach the San

Antonio road and to cut off the retreat of the ene

my; entered into by Worth's whole division with

out orders from head-quarters ;
and by Pillow, with

Cadwalader's brigade, while under orders to attack

San Antonio in flank, it is very clear that, what

ever of merit there may have been in the first gen
eral disposition of the troops, the credit of it belongs

to fortune, and to no general officer whatever.

But to the American general, and to his officers

and men, there does attach the merit of firmness

and determined courage, in continuing the battle

at all risks and all hazards. This was a matter

of necessity ;
for when the battle had once opened,

the corps being without general orders, and some

without communication, the safety of the whole

required that each should continue its assault in

the most vigorous and decided manner. Had any
one been beaten, it is difficult to see how the vic

tory could have been achieved.

When the position of the Mexican line was de

veloped, the movement ordered by General Scott

of Pierce's and Shield's brigades was that which

promised more beneficial results than any other

which could have been made. The heavy report

of arms heard at Coyacan announced that Worth's,

Pillow's, and Twiggs's troops were in close and

continued combat, and an attack in rear of the



THE WAR WITH MEXICO. 3 ]_ ]_

enemy's position was certainly the most promising.

Nevertheless, it was experimental, on account of

the hurry in which the battle had been opened, and

the position of the Mexican reserve could not have

been counted upon. In consequence, the command

in that direction was for a time in a position of

most imminent peril. It must have suffered still

more severely had not the tete du pont fallen as

it did fall before Worth's and Pillow's attack. The

effect of the movement was to occupy the atten

tion of the reserve while the attacks in front pro

gressed, and to leave opposed to the American

troops there engaged, only the same amount of

Mexican strength present at the commencement

of the action
;
and the fall of the important point,

the tete du pont, insured the complete victory, as is

usually the case in all battles.

But, brilliant as was the victory, it was neither

necessary nor proper to fight the battle at all against

the fortified positions of the enemy. Had the corps

of the American army been reunited at San An
tonio while time was taken for reconnaissance, it

would very soon have been ascertained.

Cross roads lead from Coyacan to the San Angel

road, which enters the city by the garita of El

Nino Perdido. Of all the garitas of Mexico, this

was the only one not fortified at the time, and the

road which led to it was without any batteries or

intrenchments. The ground was as good, if not

better, than any about the capital.

Had Coyacan been held while Worth's and Quit-
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man's divisions came up with the train of the army
from San Augustin, and had the American army
moved upon the city hy the San Angel road so

soon as a new depot had heen established, the ene

my must have fought in the open field
;
for his for

tified positions ahout Churubusco would have heen

completely turned, and a route would have heen

gained hy the Americans without any fortifica

tions to impede an advance upon the capital.

Had the system of operations which resulted in

the fall of San Antonio been confined to that ob

ject, this course of action would undoubtedly have

been adopted. The object for which the flank

march had been undertaken having been gained,

the army would have been reunited, and ready to

recommence operations in full force for one end.

That end would have been well known and un

derstood. Much of the loss which befell the assail

ants in the battle of Churubusco would have been

avoided
;

for the result of an action in the field,

where the splendid light artillery of the Americans

could have had full play, can not for one instant

be doubted. The moral effect of the victory on the

Mexicans would have been the same as that which

did occur.

It may be said that, in case such action had been

taken, the American flank would have been given
to the enemy at Churubusco. That would have-

been the case. Such had also been the case through
out the whole system of operations, and it could not

have been more dangerous to operate in that man-
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ner than it had been to pass El Penon and attack

Mexicalcingo ;
to march by the southern shore of

Lake Chalco
;
to move on Padierna, or by San An

gel and Coyacan on San Antonio. Moreover, the

roads were good, just out of range from the ene

my's main works, and the movement was perfect

ly practicable. The course of action, had it been

open for discussion, could very readily have been

decided by the maxim,
" Never attack a position

in front which you can gain by turning."^ The

positions could have been gained by turning ;
and

had the movements been conducted as they should,

and probably would have been, there would not

have been " a flank march in the presence of an

enemy." The American army would have been

presented, without serious danger from his fortifi

cations, in full force and compact order, on the ene

my's flank and rear. Had he wished to prevent it,

he must have come out of his intrenchments and

fought in the field, which was to have been desired

by the American general.

The Mexican operations have been too freely

spoken of in the body of the narrative to require

much comment.

Valencia's were perfectly inconsistent with mili

tary art, reason, or judgment. General Santa Anna
must have been so much disconcerted by the in

trigues of subordinates as to have lost the confi-

*
Napoleon.
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dence in his army, which is among the first requi

sites to enable a general to conduct any operations,

either offensive or defensive, with success.

Had he been able to effect a junction with Valen

cia, the victory of Contreras had not been won by
the Americans. Inasmuch as that was prevented

by Cadwalader's occupation of San Geronimo, he

might have left Valencia to the fate which befell

him, and, had his troops been reliable, have fallen

with his whole overwhelming force on Worth at

Coapa with more chance of success. If Worth's

single division could have been speedily crushed,

and the victory followed to San Augustin, the

whole train of the American army would have

been endangered, while the main body was entan

gled in the Pedregal. But the sturdy resistance

which Worth's troops, in defensive position, would

have made, would have gone far to render the re

sult doubtful, even had the Mexican army been

united under skillful generals. Where faction and

intrigue had raised dissensions and disaffections,

Santa Anna may well have doubted it.

His speedy retreat from San Angel to Churubus-

co, and the abandonment of San Antonio, were

well calculated to bring the American army, as

they did, upon the fortifications of Churubusco.

These were his chosen positions, and, with one

exception, the battle commenced as he desired if

should.

The Americans were a little too fast, and, when

attacked, he had not all .of his artillery or force in



THE WAR WITH MEXICO.

position. That confusion which must ensue in

such an event with troops not too well disciplined,

and laboring under the consciousness of many and

recent defeats, especially when discord exists among
the commanders, did ensue. In consequence, and

in spite of the partial restoration of order and brave

individual resistance, the positions were lost be

fore the vigorous and continued assault of the

Americans.

Stratagems which have for their object to draw

an enemy into a chosen field of battle must be

carefully executed, and all things should be in read

iness for his reception. If one link in the chain is

broken, the barrier against which he is brought

falls, and the operation results in defeat.

The operations of the American against the Mex
ican army in the valley of Mexico afford an exam

ple of the tremendous effect of the prestige of vic

tory, and of the moral force of an army, however

small its numbers, in comparison with those of an

enemy less skilled and with less confidence. They
also afford an example of the inefficiency of extens

ive lines of intrenchments fpr defense when vigor

ously attacked by troops better than the defenders.
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CHAPTER X.

Proposals for an Armistice Views of American General Officers General

Scott's Instructions to American Commissioners Terms of the Armistice

Mr. Trist commences Negotiations Appointment of Mexican Commis

sioners Action of President Santa Anna First Meetings of Commission

ers Mexican Opposition to Negotiations Attack of Leperos on American

Train in the City Protests by Deputies and State Authorities American

Terms of Peace Mexican Reply Negotiations Offer of Mr. Trist Opin
ion in the American Army Action of General Scott Failure of Negotia
tions End of the Armistice State of the American Army Trial and Ex
ecution of Deserters.

DURING the night of the 20th of August, several

persons connected with the British embassy in Mex

ico, including the secretary of legation and the con

sul general, came out of the city and proceeded to

General Scott's head-quarters at San Augustin.^

They represented to him that the moment was fa

vorable for opening negotiations, and that peace
could readily be obtained provided he did not en

ter the capital by force and disperse the govern
ment. The arguments made use of to induce him

to refrain from seizing the fruit of his conquest
were based upon the peculiar nature of the Mex
ican people, and their obstinate national vanity. It

was asserted as a belief that, should he force his

entrance, the government would be dispersed be

yond the possibility of reassembling ;
that a spirit

* Lieutenant-colonel Hitchcock's Letter. Executive Document, No. 65,

Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 524.
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of desperation would be aroused throughout the

country; and that the United States would he

obliged to carry on a war of conquest of infinite

duration.

These opinions, expressed by high officers of a

neutral power, had much weight with General

Scott, and deeply impressed him with the danger
of seizing the capital ;^ but, before they were pre

sented to him in this manner, he was determined

to act in accordance with the course indicated by
the Puebla correspondence ;

and as he had restrain

ed the enthusiasm of the troops, he intended to

halt and offer negotiations. That this was his in

tention is evident
; for, had it not been, he would

have pursued the victory of Churubusco at least

to the entrance of the capital on the 20th of Au

gust. That night he prepared a paper, presenting
to the Mexican president the alternative of surren

dering the city or of agreeing to an armistice, with

a pledge to enter at once into the negotiation of a

treaty.f

On the following morning the army was posted

in the different villages in the vicinity, in such a

manner that it was perfectly evident that no im

mediate action was to be taken in prosecution of

the victories. Worth's division was ordered to oc

cupy Tacubaya, Pillow's Mixcoac, Twiggs's San

Angel, and Quit-man's to remain at San Augustin.

*
General Scott's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Repre

sentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 314.

t Idem ibidem.
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The general-in-chief fixed his own head-quarters

at Tacubaya. These positions were taken up with

out a demonstration of opposition, although, when

Tacuhaya was occupied, the commander of the cas

tle of Chapultepec required a particular guarantee

of the armistice which it was supposed was ahout

to be agreed upon. As such was the case, the un

derstanding that the castle should not be attacked,

and that it was not to open fire upon the town,

which it commanded at long range, was readily

admitted.

While on his way from San Augustin to Tacu

baya, General Scott had been met at the village

of Coyacan by a deputation bearing proposals for

a temporary armistice from Santa Anna. The

point of disagreement between the general and the

Mexican president had been upon taking the initia

tive in offering negotiations. Though desirous of

entering into them in order to gain a chance for

peace, General Scott did not like the idea of placing

himself in the attitude of the vanquished. He had

therefore determined to adopt a middle course, and

send in a flag with an offer, accompanied by a de

manded alternative.

Santa Anna, fearful of being compromised with

his own people, did not wish to admit that he had

no longer the power of defending the capital. But

the ill fortune of the Mexicans in battle had reri-

dered it absolutely necessary that he should gain

time, whether he was to make peace or to continue

the struggle. In consequence, General Mora y Vil-
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lamil and Senor Arrangoiz were sent for the avow

ed purpose of negotiating an armistice for the burial

of the dead, and without any reference to negotia

ting a treaty. It was said in Mexico that, during

Mora's ahsence, Santa Anna disavowed the act of

the minister through whom the order had been

given.^ If this were truej it was doubtless the in

tention of the wily intriguer to provide for the con

tingency of the negotiation being unfavorably re

ceived by the Congress and people by the sacrifice

of his minister. His subsequent conduct proves

that he intended to accept and profit by the armis

tice, could he so far control popular opinion that

it should be tolerated. And, at the time, there is

no doubt that he was in communication with Mr.

Bankhead, the British einbassador, and Mr. M'ln-

tosh, the consul general, and other "
intelligent

neutrals," who were giving their advice to General

Scott to abstain from entering the city.

When Mora y Villamil met the American gen
eral at Coyacan with a proposal for an armistice,

the initiative had been in a manner taken by the

Mexicans. Scott therefore, while he refused the

armistice on the terms proposed, altered his com

munication to the Mexican president, and omitted

the demand for the surrender of the city. He of

fered an armistice, having in view the immediate

opening of negotiations.!
*
Interrupted Mexican Correspondence. Executive Document, No. 65,

Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 445.

t Executive Document, No. 52, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 192.
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As Santa Anna had expressed himself dissatis

fied by Senor Pacheco's order to General Mora y

Villamil, upon receiving this proposition he chose

to assume with his own people that the initiative

had been taken by Scott, and that he had resolved

to hear his propositions.^

This audience he certainly could very well af

ford to grant, as all the advantages of time were

allowed him, and every disadvantage was taken

by his adversary. Therefore, in keeping with his

proposed policy, he agreed to conclude an armis

tice, and appointed Generals Mora y Villamil and

Quijano as commissioners to negotiate the terms.

On the morning of the 22d of August, General

Scott having received notification of the agree

ment, appointed Generals Quitman, Persifor F.

Smith, and Pierce as the commissioners on his

part. While he was engaged in drawing up a

project by which they were to be guided, Generals

Worth and Pillow successively arrived at head

quarters. Both, at the time, knew of the proposed

measure. Worth had lately been informed of it,

and Pillow was cognizant of the whole matter from

the first informal correspondence which had taken

place.

Having read to the two generals his project of

articles so far as completed, General Scott remark

ed that if they would retire until he had finished

his draft, he would read the whole for their infor-

* Santa Anna's Manifesto, August 23d, 1847. Executive Document, No.

65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 542.
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mation. They did retire, and while they remain

ed in waiting the completion, the proposed terms

became the subject of conversation.

Worth had been observing the country, since his

arrival at Tacubaya, with reference to its military

points, and had become fully settled in his own
mind that the Castle of Chapultepec was of great

importance. He desired that its surrender should

be made a sine qua -non in the negotiation of an

armistice. He believed that the danger of dis

persing the government of Mexico, and the conse

quent failure of peaceful negotiation, required that

the victory of the American army should not be

prosecuted to the occupation of the capital. But

while he was in favor of manifesting such forbear

ance, he thought that a guarantee of good faith

should be demanded and obtained before it was

agreed upon.

Pillow was opposed to the whole negotiation on

account of the danger of Mexican treachery, which

he believed was more threatening to the army and

the cause of the United States than the dispersion

of the Mexican government. He desired the sur

render of the capital, which was the most complete

guarantee of immediate peace or future conquest.

Considering that the possession of Chapultepec
would facilitate the capture of the capital, Worth

believed that it was only necessary to demand that,

as then, in the event of treachery or failure in the

negotiations, the army would have a strong point,

and the capital could be seized. The sacrifice of

II. X
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the mean time he believed would be one of con

venience rather than of interest.

But upon the surrender of Chapultepec he wish

ed the general-in-chief to insist as a sine qua non ;

and when the two generals returned to General

Scott's room, he made known his views. Gen
eral Pillow coincided in the wish expressed by
General Worth, since the surrender of the city he

was certain General Scott would not demand.

Scott did not immediately agree with Worth about

the importance of Chapultepec, but sent for his

engineer officers to consult them on the subject.

Soon after, Worth and Pillow left him, as the Mex
ican commissioners had been announced.^

'Upon reaching his head-quarters at Mixcoac,

Pillow addressed a note to the general-in-chief,

urging upon him the propriety of certain modifica

tions in the proposed terms, which would allow an

intercourse with the city. This, at least, he con

ceived to be due to the army, and that its denial

would not fail to irritate the feelings of officers and

soldiers. The note concluded by urging the gen
eral-in-chief to demand the surrender of Chapulte

pec and the rights of intercourse with the city, and

with the expression of the belief that neither the

army nor the country would be satisfied with dif

ferent terms, f

The commissioners for the arrangement of the

* General Worth's Testimony. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first

Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 191-193.

t General Pillow to General Scott. Idem, p. 520.
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terms of the convention met late on the afternoon

of the 22d. The projet which General Scott de

livered to Quitman, to serve as the hasis of the ac

tion of his commissioners, comprised ten articles.

All were carefully worded, in such manner as to

give no insult to Mexican vanity, and the question
of right to dictate terms was throughout carefully

abstained from, as well as the expression of any
doubt of good faith, or the requisition of any guar
antee.

The 1st, 2d, 3d, and 4th articles of the projet

declared the existence of the armistice and its

object, and prohibited either army from strength

ening its position or receiving any re-enforcement

during' the continuance of the convention. It wasO

to terminate on the conclusion of negotiations, or

upon twenty-four hours' notice from either com
mander.^

Article 5th was carefully worded, to gain, with

out offense, the object which had been recommend

ed by Worth and Pillow, and which General Scott,

upon consideration, had decided upon endeavoring
to obtain. It read as follows :

" 5th. Pending the armistice, the American army
shall occupy no position, either for encampment or

quarters, within range of the guns of the city of

Mexico, nor make any military reconnaissance

within such range ;
and the Mexican forces on the

southwest and west of the city of Mexico, includ-

*
Projet. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thir

tieth Congress, p. 543.
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ing the garrison of Chapultepec, shall immediately
retire within musket shot of that city."*

This article, if agreed upon, would have been, in

effect, to give possession of Chapultepec to the

American army, and, although the demand is very

indirectly set forth, could have been introduced for

no other purpose.

Articles 6th and 7th prohibited intercourse be

tween the positions of the two armies, except un

der flags of truce, upon business of correspondence,

and that of obtaining supplies, which was to be al

lowed to either army from the positions occupied

by the other.

The 8th stipulated for the exchange of the

American prisoners remaining in Mexican custody

for an equal number of Mexican prisoners, thus

waiving the previous exchanges which had been

made by General Taylor, as well as those offered

by General Scott at Puebla.

Article 9th provided that the American citizens,

residents of Mexico, who had been expelled, should

be allowed to return to their business and families

without delay or molestation.

Article 10th, that messengers which either army

might desire to send on the route to Vera Cruz

should be furnished with passports from the op

posite commander, guaranteed the safety of the

messenger bearing the passports, and further pro

vided that, as a proof of the desire of his nation

*
Projet. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thir

tieth Congress, p. 543.
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that peace should be re-established, the Mexican

president should at once withdraw all his guerillas

from the line.^

The first four of these articles were readily ad

mitted by the Mexican commissioners, with only
the modification of an extension of the notice re

quired for the rupture of the armistice from twenty-
four to forty-eight hours' notice.

The 5th article they would not admit. It was

allowed that the American general possessed the

power to enforce it, but they enlarged upon the

danger of humiliating the Mexican pride if he

wished to obtain a peace. It was said that a sur

render of Chapultepec would have as evil an effect

as a surrender of the capital. The question pre

sented by them was, whether the American gen
eral would insist upon guarantees, and surrender

all hope of peace, both present and future, or leave

the Mexican army in the positions which it then

occupied, and insure the commencement of nego
tiations ? After much discussion, the question was

referred to General Scott, and he allowed his com

missioners to give up the point. The following was

substituted for article 5th of the projet:

5th.
" Neither army, nor any detachments from

it, shall advance beyond the line it at present oc

cupies."!

Articles 6th, 7th, 8th, and 9th were all admitted
*

Projet. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thir

tieth Congress, p. 543.

t General Orders, No. 262. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Repre

sentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 356.
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by the Mexican commissioners
;
but the latter part

of the 10th, which guaranteed the safety of the

messengers who might be sent, and provided for

the withdrawal of the guerillas, was stricken out,

inasmuch as there were many robber bands as well

as guerillas whose chiefs would pay no attention

to the orders of the Mexican president.

To the ten articles included in the original pro-

jet of General Scott, six others were added. The

llth, 12th, 13th, and 14th provided for the contin

ued administration of Mexican laws, and the secu

rity of persons and property in towns and villages

held by the American army, the parole of wound

ed prisoners, and the free passage of Mexican med
ical officers. The 15th provided for the execution

of the terms of the armistice, and the 16th fixed a

period for its ratification.^

The American commissioners were divided in

their opinions of the propriety of the measure.

General Quitman did not approve of it. General

Pierce was also opposed to it when he first took

his seat, but his opinion was changed by the dis

cussion of the subject. General Smith was origin

ally in favor of it, and when Pierce came to his

support, the majority of the commission was in fa

vor of the convention. All three of the officers af

fixed their names to the instrument.

It was ratified by General Scott on the 23d, with-

the stipulation that the word supplies mentioned

* General Orders, No. 262. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Repre

sentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 356.
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in the 7th article, should include every want of an

army, arms, ammunition, and money, as well as

subsistence and clothing. General Santa Anna
ratified it on the 24th, with the exception of the

9th article, which he rejected, and limiting the sig

nification of "
supplies" so as to exclude arms and

ammunition, but allowing all other wants of an

army.*
Mr. Trist commenced his diplomatic proceedings

on the 25th of August. On that day he addressed

a note to Senor Pacheco, who, as the armistice had

been concluded, retained his place as minister of

foreign relations, calling his attention to the armis

tice, and announcing that he was ready to com

mence the negotiation of a treaty. He requested

that an early day might be appointed for the meet

ing of the commissioners on the part of Mexico, f

Senor Pacheco replied on the 26th, to the effect

that his government was then engaged in the ap

pointment of commissioners, who, it was said,

would be ready to hear the propositions of the

United States, at the town of Atzcapuzalco, at four

o'clock on the afternoon of the 27th.$

The first appointments made by the Mexican

government were General Herrera, ex-president,

Don Antonio Fernandez Monjardin, president of

the Supreme Court, and Don Antonio Garay. Alt

three of these declined the appointment, the two
* General Orders, No. 262. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Repre

sentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 358.

t Executive Document, No. 52, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 193. t Idem, p. 193-4.
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latter for the asserted reason that they felt them

selves unqualified for the discharge of the delicate

and embarrassing duties which it would devolve

upon them. The government did not insist upon
their acceptance of the appointment.^

General Herrera based his refusal upon the

ground that his former administration had become

unpopular, and that he had been thrust from the

presidency because he had been willing to receive

a commissioner empowered to settle the dispute at

the commencement of the controversy. It appear
ed to him that, under the circumstances, the ad

justment of the difficulty, however honorable it

might be, would be worse received than if effected

by the agency of those who had taken no part in

the affair.

In reply, Senor Pacheco stated that Santa Anna
insisted upon the acceptance of the appointment
on account of the very reasons which were set forth

as those for which Herrera declined
;

"
for," said

the note,
"
they bear witness that two different ad

ministrations, under different circumstances, have

come to the same conclusion on one essential point,

which is, the expediency of hearing the proposi

tions which are offered for the purpose of terminat

ing the evils of war."

The reply closed by informing General Herrera

of the meeting appointed for the following day,'

* Senor Pacheco to General JHerrera, and Senors Monjardin and Garay,
and their replies, August 25th, 1847, published by the Mexican government
in the Diario del Gobierno.
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and that instructions for the guidance of the com-

missioners would be handed him by the presi

dent*

Thus in a manner compelled to act, Herrera ac

cepted the appointment, and Santa Anna gained

the influence of his name to support the measure

of opening negotiations. This desire, doubtless,

was the reason for the appointment, for the major

ity of the better classes of Mexico was devoted to

Herrera. Of this influence it is probable that Her

rera wished to deprive him when he at first refused

to act. In place of the commissioners who were

allowed to decline, General Mora y Villamil, and

Senors Couto and Atristain, two lawyers and states

men of distinction, were selected. A Seiior Arroyo
was appointed the secretary and interpreter, and

the commission was constituted.!

The instructions under which negotiations were

to be opened were determined upon at a meeting
of the Mexican cabinet on the 25th. The powers
of the commissioners were exceedingly limited, and

extended no further than to a simple reception and

report upon the American propositions. The projet

of a treaty had been drawn up and approved pre

vious to the meeting of the 25th, but it was not

delivered to the commissioners for some days after-

ward.$
President Santa Anna was doubtless feeling his

* Senor Pacheco to General Herrera, August 26th, 1847. Diario del

Gobierno. t Letters of Appointment. Idem.

J Instructions to Mexican Commissioners. Idem.
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way, and carefully weighing the chances of gain

ing popularity and security for himself, as well as

advantage to the Mexican cause. The course

which he adopted was well calculated to gain

time, which was most necessary, either in case he

was to win glory and military reputation hy the

renewal of hostilities, or to receive the one million

of dollars stipulated for in the Puehla correspond

ence. The town of Atzcapuzalco, which had heen

designated for the meeting of the commission, was

some miles to the northwest of Mexico. It was

represented as heing equidistant between the two

armies, and therefore convenient. In fact, it was

far removed from either, and its situation rendered

it a fitter place for the conferences, if it was desired

to produce delay, than it was to hasten the nego
tiation.

The first meeting of the commissioners took

place, as had been appointed, on the 27th of Au

gust, and the proceedings were confined to the

exchange of powers, and the delivery and receipt

of the propositions of the American government.

Fearing lest Mr. Trist would remark upon the lim

itation of their powers, the Mexican commission

ers informed him that when the time for treating

came, plenary powers would be presented. Upon
this, Mr. Trist submitted the projet of a treaty

which he had brought from Washington. He pro

posed to change the place of meeting to a house on

the causeway between Chapultepec and the city ;

and with an appointment of another meeting at
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Atzcapuzalco for the following day, the first con

ference ended.*

The second, which took place according to ap

pointment, had nothing to characterize it, except

that a delay of three days was required in order

to allow the Mexican government time to deliber

ate upon the propositions contained in the submit

ted project. The next meeting was appointed for

the 1st of September, when the Mexican commis

sioners informed Mr. Trist that they would meet

him at the house of Alfaro, the place which he

had indicated, with powers corresponding to his.f

In the mean time much opposition had been

manifested to the proposed negotiation, both in the

city of Mexico and the neighboring states. One

of the first steps which Santa Anna had taken had

been to summon a meeting of Congress. This had

been done on the 20th
; but, in obedience to the

summons, only twenty-six deputies had taken their

seats. The remainder either refused to attend, or

had already left the city to avoid the responsibility

of voting. In excuse for thus leaving, they referred

to a resolution, passed some time previously, which

changed the place of meeting in case the capital

was in danger from the invading army.
The opponents of Santa Anna were opposed to

the negotiation, and it appeared that their political

intrigues were of more importance to many Mexi-

* Mexican Commissioners' Report, and Mr. Trist to Mr. Buchanan, Au

gust 29th, 1847. Executive Document, No. 52, Senate, first Session of the

thirtieth Congress, p. 191. t Idem ibidem.
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cans than their national existence. Of this class

there were many general officers of the army, and

heedless and reckless when not in immediate con

flict with the enemy, now they protested loudly

against treating in the presence of the American

army. The common people of the city were by no

means in favor of the measure, so far as they un

derstood any thing about it. The hatred of the

North Americans had increased with their success
;

the panic occasioned by the result of the battles

had subsided when it was known that the enemy
was not immediately to enter the city ; and, with

characteristic elasticity of spirit, the leperos shout

ed the cry of " Mueran los Yanquies" during the

negotiation as loudly as ever. Whether they
were controlled by Santa Anna or other leaders

of factions is a question.

Many believed at the time that the Mexican

president was opposed to the treaty, and only

sought delay in order to reorganize his army and

to strengthen his interior line of defense. It is,

however, more than probable that at first he wish

ed to make the treaty, if possible, though he must

have distrusted the success of the negotiation.

That he did fortify and reorganize his army,
which he commenced to do at once, can only be

considered as a precautionary measure, which no

Mexican general could have been expected to fore

go simply on account of its contravention of one

of the articles of a military agreement. While he

had powerful and able negotiators, upon whose
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weight of character he could rely for support in

case of the conclusion of the treaty, he kept him

self as far aloof from committal on either side as

possible, or, rather, he committed himself on hoth

to an equal degree. The appointment of commis

sioners and the opening of negotiations spoke for

themselves. To counterbalance them, he proclaim
ed to the opponents of peace his desire for main

taining the national honor and the necessity for

delay.

Two days after the conclusion of the armistice,

an American train was sent into the capital for the

purpose of bringing out supplies. This having
been stipulated for in the seventh article of the

convention, it was of course unattended by any
escort. Under guidance of the Mexican officer

charged with the execution of the terms of the arm

istice, it proceeded to the great square of the city.

There it was attacked by a mob of leperos, who
stoned the teamsters, and effectually interrupted

the transaction of the business. It was with much

difficulty that the train was extricated from the

crowd, and took the road back to the American

lines.

During the riot, the Mexican authorities for some

time took no measures to interfere with the rioters,

although Santa Anna himself was overlooking the

scene from one of the windows of the palace.

Finally, on the appeal of the American quarter

master, who accompanied the train, a troop of lan

cers was ordered to charge and put a stop to the
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tumult. The order was executed in a manner

which showed no great disposition to obey it, even

if it were intended that it should he executed in

good faith.

For this occurrence the Mexican officers made

many apologies, and proposed another way of ob

taining the supplies. It was said that the procure

ment of them in open day could not fail to arouse

the indignation of the populace, and that any en

ergetic interference on the part of the Mexican

troops would bring so much odium on the govern

ment, already tottering and threatened by the

powerful opposition to the proposed negotiation, as

to render its power entirely nugatory. The apolo

gies, reasons, and propositions were received and ac

cepted by the American general-in-chief. Thence

forward the necessary supplies were obtained from

the city by night, and in the manner proposed on

the part of Santa Anna. Pack mules were substi

tuted for wagons, and the train entered the city,

was laden, and returned by night, being escorted

by Mexican troops beyond their lines. And this

was allowed and executed in good faith until the

negotiations drew near to a close.

If this tumult were countenanced or instigated

by Santa Anna, his object must have been, besides

that of making a demonstration of his hostility to

the Americans before the populace, to cause such

a change as was made in the method of obtaining

supplies ;
for by the change he prevented the en

trance of American agents by day, and the observa-
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tion which they could not fail to make upon the

fortifications which were in process of repair and

erection.

The opposition to the proposed negotiation from

without the walls of the capital was demonstrated

by the refusal of the deputies, within reach of the

summons for the meeting of Congress, to return,

the protests of several juntas of them, and of the

authorities of neighboring states. Of these, the

most important, and which, from their place of

date, were earliest received in the capital, were the

protests of eight representatives from the states of

Mexico, Jalisco, and Zacatecas, and of the governor

of the State of Mexico, Olaguibel.

The first of them was drawn up at Toluca on

the 22d of August, and signed by some of the most

prominent and influential members of Congress.

Valentin Gomez Farias, who had become again

prominent in the turns of the political wheel, was

at their head. The protest was exceedingly strong

in its language, and reminded Santa Anna that

any overt act in the way of the execution of a

treaty, which had not the ratification of Congress,

would bring him under the provisions of the law

of April 20, which declared such an act to be one

of treason. The signers refused to meet in the city

of Mexico, as summoned, to ratify a treaty made
under the guns of the enemy.

Olaguibel's protest was principally denunciatory
of Santa Anna

;
but still, the whole measure of

negotiating a peace, under existing circumstances,
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was denounced. The ability and will of the Mex
ican nation to carry on the war were strongly as

serted. The same governor issued, at the same

time, a proclamation, calling upon the inhabitants

of his state to resist the invaders, and reminding
them of the ten years' war of independence. What
ever effect this may have had upon those to whom
it was addressed, the proclamation, like the protest,

was doubtless put forth to demonstrate the patriot

ism of the governor as compared with Santa Anna,
to whom he was bitterly hostile.

Other protests and proclamations soon after came

in from various quarters, and the president was

openly accused of high treason by one of the depu

ties, who carried his accusation so far as to draw

up and publish articles of impeachment. All these

demonstrations of opposition made it necessary for

General Santa Anna to proceed with great caution.

Accordingly, the projet which had been drawn up
and approved at a meeting of the ministers on the

25th, was reconsidered and modified on the 30th,

so as to answer the propositions set forth in the

projet submitted by Mr. Trist.

The American propositions required from Mexico,

as the conditions of peace, the relinquishment of

all claim to Texas, and the establishment and

recognition of the following boundary : The Rio

Grande, from its mouth until it intersected the

southern boundary of New Mexico, thence west

and south along the boundaries of that state until

they intersected the first branch of the Rio Gila,
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thence along that river to its junction with the

Colorado, and along the Colorado and the Gulf of

California to the Pacific. For this extension of

boundary, by which the United States were to ac

quire, besides the undisputed title to the State of

Texas, the territories of New Mexico and Upper
and Lower California, Mexico was to receive a

sum to be agreed upon between the commissioners.

There were many minor stipulations in the projet;

and, besides, it was required of Mexico that she

should yield the right of way across the Isthmus

of Tehuantepec, under certain guarantees and re

strictions.^

By the instructions agreed upon in the Mexican

council of ministers on the 30th of August, their

commissioners were not permitted to accede to any
one of these demands or terms. Many things were

to be urged upon the American commissioner, of

abstract rather than substantive nature. Among
them were the avowal of the motives of the United

States in carrying on the war; and the question

whether their pretensions to the territory of Mex
ico were founded in right offeree or purely in friend

ly negotiations ;
and whether the territory of Tex

as was to remain in possession of the United States

by the alleged right of annexation, or of purchase,

to be treated of with the Mexican republic.!

* Mr. Buchanan to Mr. Trist, April 15th, 1847, and Projet. Executive

Document, No 52, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 85.

t
" Instructions for the government of the Mexican commissioners, agreed

upon in council of ministers, August 29th, 1847, in view of the propositions

made by the commissioner of the United States." Diario del Gobierno.

II. Y
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The answer to each of these, had it heen made

by the American commissioner in the positive man
ner in which it was to have heen required, would

have heen of service to Mexico in the continuation

of the war, by embroiling the American govern

ment in domestic quarrels. Indeed, the same ques
tions had in substance been long previously pro

posed in the United States by the leaders of the op

position party, and published to the world and to

Mexico. In many cases, those statesmen and edi

tors had undertaken to answer them in the man
ner most beneficial to the enemy, and had founded

upon the assumed answers many an argument

against the policy of their own government in the

existing war. All these had been eagerly seized

upon and entertained in Mexico, and now her au

thorities were modeling their action after that of

their friends in the United States.

The cession of territory proposed was almost ab

solutely forbidden. All which it was permitted to

concede was the right to the territory of Texas,

and this not to the Rio Bravo as claimed, but only
to the Nueces. Moreover, various provisions were

to be insisted on, guaranteeing the payment of the

debt owed by Mexico to American citizens by the

United States, and the final payment of one half

the price of public land, as established by the Amer

ican government, for the territory so ceded. It was

forbidden to cede New Mexico or either of the Cal-

ifornias. All which was allowed in that respect

was to grant the privilege of establishing a factory
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at San Francisco, and that was to be paid for. The

right ofway across the Isthmus of Tehuantepee was

to be denied, and no privileges were to be allowed

to American commerce in the way of exemption
from duties.

The three final articles of the instructions direct

ed the commissioners to demand the evacuation of

the Mexican territory upon the signature of the

preliminaries, and before the ratification of the

treaty ;
the guarantee of the United States for the

delivery of Mexican fortresses in an uninjured con

dition, and with full armament, and the payment
of indemnity for the losses of Mexican citizens and

the expenses of the war.^

If the Mexican president really expected to gain
all which his commissioners were instructed to de

mand, certainly he must have considered himself,

as he said,
" as free as if he had just gained a dis

tinguished victory."! It is hardly possible that he

did expect that such preliminaries would be agreed

upon in the face of the projet presented by Mr.

Trist, and which he must have seen contained the

instructions of the American government to that

functionary. The care taken that he should not

be committed in full even to such propositions,

would induce the belief that at this time Santa

Anna had come to the conclusion that the violent

* " Instructions for the government of the Mexican commissioners, agreed

upon in council of ministers, August 29th, 1847, in view of the propositions

made by the commissioner of the United States." Diario del Gobierno.

t Santa Anna's Manifesto, August 23d. Executive Document, No. 65, Sen

ate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 542.
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opposition to the negotiation of a treaty rendered

it unsafe for him to conclude it, and that, giving

up all idea of it, he was already settling his plan

of operations for the renewal of hostilities. So long

as the negotiations continued, provided the hostili

ty to them could he kept within such limits as not

to compromise his security in power, the advanta

ges were on the Mexican side. Time for prepara

tion was allowed by their continuance, and the
"
respectable body of troops" at the disposal of the

president could be increased to such number as was

possible from the population of the city.

In the commission which conferred the powers

of negotiation upon the commissioners was intro

duced a proviso that their agreement should remain

subject to constitutional approbation and ratifica

tion, and strict adherence to the letter of the in

structions was enjoined. But under these instruc

tions and with such powers the members of the

commission refused to act, as they stated that it

was perfectly impossible to negotiate under them,

and " that they would assemble without the capac

ity properly to execute them."

It was promised, in reply, that the instructions

should be enlarged in their import as far as possi

ble
;
but whether they were immediately modified

does not appear from the Mexican official publi

cations.^

* Commission. Pacheco to Herrera. Hen-era, Conto Mora, and Atristaiu

to Pacheco, and Pacheco in reply, August 30th and 31st, 1847. Diario del

Gobierno.
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The conferences between the commissioners

were resumed on the 1st of August, and continued

throughout that day and the 2d. The discussion

was upon the points contained in the projet pre

sented hy Mr. Trist, and he made several conces

sions in modification of the demands of the United

States. He at first abandoned the claim to Lower

California, as his instructions did not make it im

perative for him to insist upon it. The Mexican

commissioners immediately seized upon the con

cession, and stipulated for such portion of Upper
California as would give them free communication

around the head of the Gulf of California. This

was also conditionally conceded. The territory of

New Mexico was insisted on by Mr. Trist as a sine

qua non, and the Mexican commissioners for a long
time held out against it. Finally, however, they

agreed to submit the question to their government.
The main point of difference was the possession

of the country between the Rio Grande and the

Nueces. "
If," said one of the Mexican commis

sioners, "we are to succeed in accomplishing a

peace, herein does it lie," pointing at the time to

the space included between the rivers on the map.
Mr. Trist had, however, gone to the full extent of

his powers, and somewhat beyond, when he aban

doned the claim to a portion of Upper California,

and could go no further. However, he took the

responsibility of offering to refer the question of

that country between the Nueces and the Bio

Grande to his government. The answer, he be-
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lieved, could be received from Washington in forty

or forty-five days, ad he had some hope of its be

ing favorable. With this offer the conference of

the 2d of September ended.^

Even with these concessions, and the offer on the

part of the American commissioner to refer the

question of the country between the Nueces and

the Rio Grande to Washington, which was, in fact,

an admission, on his part at least, that the original

dispute between the two countries had been on a

doubtful point of right on the part of the United

States, the terms were not acceptable to the Mex
ican commissioners, and much less to their gov
ernment.

Senor Pacheco addressed a note of instruction to

General Herrera on the 5th of September, in which

the treaty and its terms were discussed at length.

It was positively stated that Mexico would neither

cede any part of New Mexico, nor yield her right

to the territory lying between the Nueces and the

Rio Grande
;
neither would she agree to prolong

the armistice for forty-five days, until communica

tions could be exchanged with Washington.!

Having received this paper, the commissioners

appointed a meeting with Mr. Trist on the follow

ing day, and proceeded to draw up a counter projet,

and a letter of reasons with which to present him.

Both papers embodied the ultimata of Mexico, al-

* Mexican Commissioners' Report, and Mr. Trist to Mr. Buchanan, Sep

tember 4th, 1847. Executive Document, No 52, Senate, first Session of the

thirtieth Congress, p. 195. t Diario del Gobierno.



THE WAR WITH MEXICO. 343

though it is doubtful whether these were intended

to he ratified, even if agreed upon as prelimina

ries.^ Certainly they never could have been rati

fied by the United States, if they were by Mexico
;

and inasmuch as they were drawn up under super

intendence of the cabinet, and an answer was re

quested to the propositions set forth and discussed

within three days, it would appear that it was only

wished to gain that length of time before the re

commencement of hostilities.

During the period from the conclusion of the con

vention until the 5th of September, the American

general-in-chief had entertained hopes that the ne

gotiations which were pending would result in the

conclusion and ratification of a treaty. In the

mean time, various personages attached to the Brit

ish embassy were frequent visitors at Tacubaya.
These "

intelligent neutrals" attributed the various

inconsistencies apparent in the conduct of the Mex
ican president, which, unexplained, must have gone
far toward raising distrust of his good faith in the

mind of General Scott, to the peculiar nature of

Mexican politics and the difficulties by which

Santa Anna was surrounded. They knew his in

tentions as well as, if not better than, any one of

the Mexican statesmen or authorities
;

at least

they professed to, and their representations had

more effect with General Scott than the opinions

of many officers of rank, or the general feeling of

the American army ;
and this, notwithstanding

* Diario del Gobierno.
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that the latter were supported by the character

of Mexican action, exemplified by the whole his

tory of the country from the date of its independ
ence.

In the American army the conclusion of the arm

istice had occasioned feelings of profound regret

in nearly all classes. Many there were, indeed,

who wished to enter the capital of the enemy from

motives of gain, or of animosity, or because of the

glory which must be attached to its occupation by
the victorious army. Those of this class, who were

without prudence, desired nothing better than the

rupture of the armistice and the speedy recom

mencement of hostilities.

The same desire was manifested by persons of

another class, who had entirely different reasons

for entertaining it. They had no faith in the

promises of the Mexican president or the represent

ations of British functionaries, and had a fear lest

the negotiations would ultimately prove to be of

no avail. Although they desired that peace should

be concluded, and were willing for the continua

tion of the armistice so long as the enemy mani

fested good faith, yet, as no guarantee had been

demanded or obtained, they believed that the less

reliance placed upon his faith or sense, to the de

lay of military operations, the better.

The attack on the American train by the leperos,

and the tardy and apparently unwilling action of

the Mexican authorities, were considered as indica

tive of the failure of the business. When reports,
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authenticated by the observation of persons attach

ed to the army, who, on one business or another,

had obtained ingress and egress to and from the

city, of the raising of fortifications, and of the ar

rival and organization of troops, were received, the

opinion was confirmed. They were anxious that

hostilities should be resumed on the instant, lest

the fortifications of the city should be made so

strong that its capture would be exceedingly dif

ficult, if not impracticable.

To neither of these two classes did the general -

in-chief belong, although he had more personally

at stake than any of the first, and fuller informa

tion, and more ample data for his opinion, than

any of the second. His first great object was to

gain the peace. It was believed that the magna
nimity displayed in abstaining from an entrance

into the capital would be more than an offset to

the sacrifice of military glory in the pervading de

sire of the American people for the termination of

the war. The course of action having been once

commenced, it became necessary to pursue it so

long as any hope remained of a successful issue.

If it were unsuccessful, the agreement to the armis

tice and the opening of negotiations were disastrous

occurrences, not only to the authors, but to the

whole army. Important as they were, they would

not fail to cast as deep a shade over the reputations

of the general and commissioner, as the brilliancy

which would, for reason of their magnanimity,
have attached to them in case of success.
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Of the various demonstrations of opposition on

the part of Mexican authorities other than those

immediately connected with the administration,

General Scott was fully informed
; yet neither

these, nor the information that, at a council of

general officers, the question of breaking the armis

tice and attacking one of the American divisions

was seriously discussed, shook his confidence in

the good faith of Santa Anna. The information

was, however, considered so reliable, that he was

induced to cause a circular, communicating it, to

be sent to his division commanders. This bore

date on the 31st of August.^ Finally, early on

the 6 tli of September he learned that on the previ

ous evening the propositions of Mr. Trist had been

discussed, not only in the cabinet of ministers, but

in the same junta of general officers, and that they
had come to the conclusion that the terms were

dishonorable and inadmissible.

This information first induced him to believe

that the negotiations would result in a total fail

ure, and that he would be obliged to relight the

battle under many and accumulated disadvantages.
The full weight of the responsibility of making
the armistice became apparent in the shade of

doubt which rested upon the issue of the conflict.

The idea that those who had, for different reasons,

considered the conclusion of the convention as ill

advised, as it had resulted disastrously, would re-

*
Circular Letter. H. L. Scott, Acting Assistant Adjutant General, to

General Fillovv. See Appendix, No. 3.
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mind the American people that the result had heen

foreseen, and that General Scott had heen advised

of it, was forcibly presented.

In fact, the principal apprehension expressed by
the general-in-chief was, that those who had differ

ed with him, as he said, without any foundation

for their own opinion other than their own desires,

or a desire to be found in opposition to every thing

which failed, should, now that the negotiation had

failed, remind him,
" I told you so," notwithstand-

ing the asserted wise policy and weighty reasons

which had induced him to concur in it. These

persons he denominated " wiseacres and asses ;"

and, truly, he had some reason for apprehension,

for the bare and naked fact presented was, that,

with only a tithe of the information possessed by
the general-in-chief, they long before had arrived

at the true conclusion, and had, from the first, be

lieved that the negotiation would result in nothing,

except in placing the victory in the hazard of bat

tle, and that hazard greater than any which had

been experienced. This, just then, was apparent
to the general-in-chief, but it was not until he was

informed of the final decision of the military lead

ers of the enemy. The decision was manifestly

proof positive that they, at least, were at the time

willing for battle, and believed that Mexico had

some chance for success.

With the prospect of a.ny good resultant to the

convention faded all prospect of credit or glory to

its authors or advisers. That which, under the
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name of magnanimity,, had been hoped would in

crease the reputation of the chief participant in

granting it, by showing the sacrifice of " the eclat

which would have followed an immediate entrance,

sword in hand, into a great capital,"^ to patriot-

ism to the great want and wish of the American

people, peace, now was presented in its true colors,

what it really was a sacrifice of the results of vic

tory to the desire of popularity, On the desperate

chance of any thing like reason or good faith guid

ing the Mexican president or his advisers. The

whole course of the Mexican war had shown that

one great element of failure in bringing about a

negotiation had been the small numerical force of

the American army, and the apparently desperate

chance of its ultimate success. It had been be

lieved, until the 6th of September, that the desired

peace could be obtained by a sacrifice of all the

fruits of the victories of Contreras and Churubus-

co, and the embarrassment of the small American

army in more and stronger difficulties than any in

which it had been placed hitherto.

The event had come, and the belief had proved
to be a delusion. As distrust had been induced of

the good faith of the enemy upon the main point,

it was doubted upon all others. It was, to a degree,

deemed imprudent for Mr. Trist to attend the con

ference appointed for the 6th, for it was feared, and'

perhaps not without reason, that he might be seized

* General Scott's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Repre

sentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 314.
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and detained a prisoner. However, nothing of the

kind was attempted.

The interview was merely to the end of the pres

entation by the Mexican commissioners of the

counter projet and paper, which had been drawn

up with the concurrence of the cabinet of ministers,

and has been heretofore noticed. Without taking
the three days to consider upon the counter projet,

which were allowed upon the face of it, Mr. Trist

offered to answer on the following day, broke up
the commission, and the negotiations were ended. #=

It is doubtful whether any other result could

have been obtained under the circumstances at

tending the attempt to negotiate. But the course

taken by Mr. Trist, under his instructions from Mr.

Buchanan, can hardly be deemed well calculated

if he were to gain any thing by the discussion. It

would seem that in such case he either should

have had more power to concede, or should have

demanded more, and not come at once so near the

ultimata as to present the projet of the treaty at

once to the Mexican government, and allow it

three days to consider on its terms. Had it been

intended to rest the hope of peace upon the mili

tary operations, such a course would have been

the one to adopt, as it would save time. In that

ease, the failure to report at the expiration of the

time allowed for consideration, or the refusal of the

terms, wrould have been the signal for the resump-

* Mr. Trist to Mr. Buchanan, September 27th, 1847. Executive Docu

ment, No. 52, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 201.
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tion of hostilities. Such a course was probably
the one intended by Mr. Buchanan to be followed

when he instructed Mr. Trist in relation to it. But

as the circumstances of the negotiations at the

house of Alfaro were very different from any which

were anticipated at Washington, it is impossible

to say what course would have been prescribed.

Certainly that followed by Mr. Trist was not ap

proved.

The proposition to prolong the armistice for forty-

five days, until communications could be exchanged
with Washington, demonstrated Mr. Trist's pro

found ignorance of the military condition of the

American army, or his utter disregard for its safety.

Scattered in unhealthy villages near the city of

Mexico, dependent upon the good faith of the Mex
icans for all of the conveniences and many of the

necessaries of life, with a large hospital of wound

ed, and a daily and fearfully increasing sick re

port, and without the possibility of re-enforcement,

at the end of forty-five days it would hardly have

been in a fit condition for active operations. Cer

tainly not against strong positions defended by an

enemy who had free communication with the in

terior of his country, whose losses in men could be

easily recruited from the population of the city or

country, and who was only restrained from increas

ing his numbers and defenses by the stipulations

of a military convention. All history told that the

Mexicans scrupled not in the violation of treaty or

word of honor to serve their own interests. It
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could hardly have been in reason expected that

they would have been restrained by such a barrier

for the term of forty-five days, when so strong in

ducements for breaking it were presented in the

perilous position of the American army.
Mr. Trist's asserted reasons for making the prop

osition are, that he wished to commit Santa Anna
and his party to the measure of ceding a portion

of the territory of Mexico, and that the army
would be in better situation to attack Mexico at

the end of October than the 1st of September, in

asmuch as the weather would have been more fa

vorable, and it would have been increased in num
bers by the recovery of the sick and wounded.^

How long Santa Anna would have remained com
mitted had he once been committed, if his interest

advised his disavowal of the policy, may well be

questioned. It would be difficult to find many of

ficers of the army who would agree with Mr. Trist

in regard to his second reason
; and, moreover, it is

said by the same person, that, under the circum

stances, Santa Anna allowed his hopes to flatter

him that the next conflict would prove favorable

to the Mexican arms, and that he feared that the

American army would derive some advantage from

the prolongation of the armistice.! If such were

the case, certainly he must have been ready for the

conflict, and future events go still further to sup

port such a belief.

* Mr. Trist to Mr. Buchanau, December 6th, 1847. Executive Document,

No. 52, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 258. t Idem.
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The final termination of the negotiation caused

more implicit reliance to be placed upon the reports

whksh had been made of the repair and erection of

fortifications by the Mexican army. In the disap

pointment was found cause for indignation against

Santa Anna which all his previous suspicious acts

had failed to arouse. In a note addressed to him

immediately after Mr. Trist's return from the con

ference, General Scott enumerated the various in

fractions of the convention, and declared his right

to terminate it, without any regard to the forty-

eight hours' notice which had been stipulated for

in the second article. He had received informal

petitions from the city of Mexico, through the

neutrals, to allow time for the departure of the

unarmed inhabitants. He granted until twelve

o'clock on the following day for that purpose, al

though in his note to Santa Anna he stated that

such time was allowed for possible explanation,

apology, and reparation, failing in which, the arm

istice was concluded at that hour.-^

Santa Anna replied on the following day, and in

recrimination instead of apology. The infractions

of the convention and the erection of batteries were

charged upon General Scott, as well as the permis
sion of a continued course of outrageous conduct

on the part of his troops in the different villages

in which they were quartered. All of these were

notoriously false
;
but Santa Anna had taken his

* Executive Document, No. 1, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 35P.
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final stand, and put them forth with the unblush

ing effrontery which might have been expected in

a man who had just duped his adversary, by a

continued course of diplomatic intrigue, into two

weeks' delay, which enabled him to present strong

fortifications and a bold front to the invaders. In

conclusion, the Mexican president stated that it

was his belief that General Scott's threat of the

immediate resumption of hostilities was truly caus

ed by his refusal to sign the treaty (in which belief

he was doubtless correct), and intimated that he

should repel force by force with the decision and

energy which his high obligations imposed upon
him.*

During the continuance of the armistice, the

American staff had been employed, under General

Scott's direction, in refitting as far as possible, and

preparing stores of subsistence, in anticipation of

the possible failure of the negotiation. Of subsist

ence, the commissary's department had been ena

bled to obtain from the city and the country in the

vicinity rations for twenty days in advance. The

quarter-master's department was successful in refit

ting to some extent, but could obtain only a scant

supply of forage, and that of unsuitable quality.

The pay department, as well as the other fiscal

branches of the staff, had been supplied with money
by the negotiation of drafts on the United States

in the capital, and so far as the wants of the army

* Executive Document, No. 1, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 360.

II. Z
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could be by funds, they were supplied ;
but from

the delays and difficulties which had been present

ed to the passage of the army agents to and from

the city toward the close of the armistice, the sup

ply of money on hand, like that of subsistence, was

limited. The ordnance department had repaired

all the damages which the artillery and other arm

ament of the American army had sustained, be

sides refitting several of the captured Mexican guns,

and replenishing the ammunition of the light bat

teries from that of the enemy. So far as armament
was concerned, nothing could have been desired by
the Americans. The whole number of cannon of

all calibers, including the light batteries and mount
ain howitzers, was sixty-eight. Of these, a large

proportion were of heavy metal, and all formed a

train quite as large as the army, reduced as it was

by at least two thousand men through the casu

alties of Contreras and Churubusco, and the in

crease of the sick list, could handle. When nego
tiations were broken off, General Scott had under

his command not more than 8500 effectives of all

arms.

The discipline of the troops, always more or less

injured by a campaign of active service, had been

as well attended to as the duties of refitting and

repairing would allow. The positions occupied
were not, however, very favorable for the practice

of extended military evolutions.

There had occurred but few crimes of a strictly

military nature which required punishment or cor-
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rection. The number of those of a moral kind was

comparatively small, notwithstanding the repeated

complaints of the Mexican authorities, and the as

severations of the Mexican president.

When it is remembered that the American army
had been stopped short in its career of victory, and

placed in a situation of comparative idleness, it is

to be wondered at that there were no more. To
such as did occur, the correctivewas applied through
the military commissions.

The most important duty assigned to courts-mar

tial was the trial of the prisoners of the battalion

of San Patricio. Without exception, these were

deserters from the American army, and the whole

number, sixty-nine, were put upon trial. During
the continuance of the armistice, most of them

were found guilty and sentenced. Those who had

deserted during the war were sentenced to death
;

but all those who had deserted before the actual

commencement of hostilities received only corporeal

punishment and military imprisonment. To that

extent only the laws of the United States allowed

the courts to proceed when the crime was commit

ted in time of peace. Although the sentences were

passed, yet the general-in-chief disliked the duty
of ordering their execution. There is but little

doubt that, had the negotiations accomplished the

object of the war, which would have permitted the

exercise of mercy without immediate danger to the

discipline of his army, he would gladly have avail

ed himself of the opportunity to extend it
;
but as
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negotiation had not succeeded, and to have done so

would have been to offer immunity to desertion to

the enemy, such could not have failed to he dan

gerous. Undoubtedly those not too well attached

to their colors, and those at all influenced by fear,

of which classes there are always some in every

army, would have deserted to escape the danger
of the approaching conflicts. The morale of the

enemy would have been increased, however small

the loss might have been to the American army.
It followed that, during the operations which en

sued, the execution of the sentences was ordered,

and the deserters suffered their penalty.

So obvious a measure of justice, and so ordinary

a proceeding as the execution of deserters, would

hardly have excited so much remark as did this

case, had it not been the first instance of the kind

during the Mexican war. Whenever deserters had

previously fallen into custody, they had either been

awarded comparatively slight punishments, or had

been driven in disgrace from the camp of their for

mer comrades. Being the first, this execution ex

cited some considerable attention, but no regret or

distrust of its justice with Americans. Mexicans,

however, failed not to characterize it as barbarous

and unjust in the extreme, as indeed it might have

been expected they would, in their usual perver

sion of all things to the support of their own side

of any question.



THE WAR WITH MEXICO. 3/57

CHAPTER XI.

General Scott's Information concerning a Mexican Foundery His Resolution

to destroy it Orders to General Worth Order preparatory to a final At

tack upon the City of Mexico Position and Defenses of Molino del Key
Information, Opinions, and Orders concerning Attack BATTLE OF MOLI

NG DEL REY Immediate Effect upon American Army Upon Mexicans

Reconnaissance of 8th of September.

ACTING in strict good faith with the spirit of the

convention, General Scott ordered no reconnais

sances or other measures of hostility until the ex

piration of the term allowed by his note of Septem
ber 6th. As nothing of the kind had been at

tempted during the continuance of the armistice,

no information of the state or position of the Mex
ican defenses had been gained from actual observa

tion by officers. In that respect the American

army was in no better condition than when the

convention had first been concluded, more than

two weeks previously.

On the night of the 6th of September two per

sons came out of the city to General Scott, and in

formed him that many bells had been dismounted

from the steeples of the churches within the two

or three days then last past. This information,

connected with that of other persons who had ap

proached near to the Molino del Rey (a position

within a mile of Tacubaya, and under the fire of

the heavy guns of the Castle of Chapultepec), that
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they had heard the operation of boring cannon, in

duced the belief that a foundery, represented to he

in the position, was in active operation.^ As Gen
eral Scott desired time, notwithstanding his threat

ened speedy renewal of hostilities, in order to de

termine fully his plan for a final attack upon the

city, he conceived that it would be a measure of

good policy to break up the machinery and put a

stop to the manufacture of cannon, for it was feared

that the losses which the Mexicans had sustained

in the battles of Contreras and Churubusco would

be repaired.! How well founded this belief was

will be seen in the sequel.

About twelve o'clock on the 7th the general-in-

chief reconnoitered the position from the roof of the

bishop's palace in Tacubaya. He could not from

that distance discover any strong or important de

fenses, although large corps of troops were seen

taking up position near the supposed foundery. It

was thought practicable to penetrate into Molino

del Rey, and obtain the desired object without

great loss.

General Worth was charged with the execution

of the duty, and ordered to hold himself in readi

ness to attack and carry the position during the

night, to break up the machinery and any guns
which he might find, and retire before daybreak
into his quarters at Tacubaya.

* General Scott's Testimony before the Court of Inquiry. Executive

Document, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 298.

t General Scott's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Repre

sentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 355.
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While the observation was taking place and the

orders being delivered, Captain Mason, of the en

gineers, was sent to make a closer reconnaissance,

the results of which gave a fuller knowledge of the

Mexican positions.

The range of strong stone buildings, known as

Molino del Rey, nearly one mile north of the village

of Tacubaya, forms the western side of an inclosure

which surrounds the rock and castle, groves, and

fields of Chapultepec. The rock and castle are

nearly due east from the Molino, and distant about

eleven hundred yards. The guns of the castle

command the position, and also the ground for

some distance on the west, although the height

of the rock is so great that the fire at even the dis

tance of the Molino is quite plunging, and the

sight from the castle is partially obstructed by the

foliage of the groves. Of the ground to the West

and beyond it, the view is clear and uninterrupted.

The range of buildings is some five hundred

yards long, of an oblong outline, constructed of

massive stone, and within has various subdivisions

and yards. But two principal entrances to the in-

closures are presented to the exterior. One of them,
on the south, toward Tacubaya, is a gateway of

considerable dimensions
;
the other, on the western

side, near the northwestern houses, is of smaller

size. Besides these two, a few narrow doorways
and windows open in those directions.

This point was occupied by a strong corps of

troops, of the national guards of Queretaro, Puebla,
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and Oajaca, under General Leon. The doors, win

dows, and gateways were strongly barricaded, the

walls were in some places creneled for musketry,
and the azoteas were surrounded by sand-bag par

apets.

Nearly west of the northern side of Molino del

Rey, distant about five hundred yards, was the

Casa Mata, a strong stone building, creneled and

parapeted like the former, and surrounded by a

quadrangular bastioned field-work. This position

was occupied by the troops of the line under Gen
eral Perez.

Upon these two points rested the right and left

of the Mexican line. Between them, near the

northwestern angle of Molino del Rey, was planted

a battery of four guns. .In rear of the intervals be

tween the artillery and the flanks extended a con

tinued line of infantry, posted behind ditches, em

bankments, and clusters of maguey, and among
some adobe houses in the vicinity.

On the west of the Casa Mata, at a distance of

some three hundred yards, a ravine, of considera

ble depth and width, and of exceeding difficulty,

except at a point where it was crossed by a road

way, under fire of Casa Mata, extended northeast

and southwest. The roadway led to the hacienda

Morales, distant some eighteen hundred yards from

Casa Mata. About the hacienda was stationed

Alvarez's corps of Pintos.

The general direction of the Mexican line, it will

be seen, was northwest and southeast, having Casa
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Mata and Molino del Rey as points of rest for its

wings, and Alvarez's corps in readiness to threaten

a movement on the flank of an enemy in case of

an attack. The garrison of Molino del Rey had

a free communication with Chapultepec through
two openings into the inclosure which surrounded

that position. The other portions of the line could

communicate with Chapultepec and the city by
the road which ran along the north, by the side of

the aqueduct which formed that side of the sur

rounding walls.

In rear of the Mexican line extended large

fields of luxuriant Indian corn, which could serve

to screen any reserve force which might there be

posted.

The approach to the positions was by a road

leading from Tacubaya, over ground somewhat

rough and broken, through maguey hedges and

embankments, direct upon the southern side of

Molino del Rey. The inequalities of the ground
and the vegetation might screen an advance until

it had approached within one hundred yards of the

Molino.

All the ground in front of the lines was perfect

ly practicable for many hundred yards. The most

distant was of cultivated fields, but the approach

thence to the Mexican position was over ground

gently inclined, and perfectly clear until it reach

ed the maguey, which partially hid the Mexican

defenses and troops from view.

Santa Anna commenced occupying these posi-
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tions on the morning of the 7th. It is a somewhat

remarkable fact, that at the very time the Ameri

can general was ordering what he believed to be a

partial operation for breaking up a foundery, the

Mexican president was taking up position with his

main force to oppose him. This would lead to the

belief that Santa Anna had information of General

Scott's intention, and of the fact of his belief in the

existence of the foundery, if, indeed, the skillful in

triguant had not connived his receiving the inform

ation which induced the belief.

Captain Mason discovered the general character

of the defenses and positions, and the locality of

the battery. His report satisfied Worth that the

undertaking would result in something more than

a mere skirmish, and he ordered a second recon

naissance. It resulted in the verification and in

crease of the former information of the strength ofO

the point to be attacked.

On the afternoon of the 7th General Scott is

sued an order, approximating the corps of the army,

preparatory to a general attack by different routes

(as it was said) upon the capital.^ The general

hospital and depot were to be established at Mix-

coac. At that point Twiggs and Quitman were

to be concentrated on the following day. Twiggs
was directed to advance one brigade to the vicinity

of the city, by the Nino Perdido road, at six o'clock

on the evening of the 7th. That movement, it was

expected, would threaten an attack on the southern

* General Orders. No. 279. See Appendix, No. 4.
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front. Pillow was directed also to advance to the

position of the hacienda San Borja with one bri

gade, and to take command of the advanced posts

thus held by the troops of his own and of Twiggs's

division, which were to communicate freely. The

second brigade of this division he was to send to

Tacubaya, to be in readiness to support Worth's

attack, should it be necessary.

Pillow advanced to San Borja with the ninth

regiment of Pierce's brigade, the twelfth being left

to form part of the garrison of Mixcoac. The fif

teenth had been for some time in occupation of the

hacienda. Cadwalader's brigade marched to Tac

ubaya during the evening, and Riley's, of Twiggs's

division, moved down as ordered, and took post in

the hacienda Nalvarte.

During the afternoon Pillow reconnoitered in

person as far as Piedad, and obtained some inform

ation of the localities on the southern front. At

evening he learned from a person worthy of cre

dence, and who had his information from the fore

man of the foundery which had been in operation
at Molino del Rey, that it was no longer in exist

ence, and that the machinery had been removed to

the city some weeks previously ; and, further, that

if it were, the water power by which the machinery
had been moved was derived from a stream brought
in a sluice down the inclination from the hills

above Tacubaya through Molino del Rey. This

water could easily be turned from its course, and

once turned, the machinery was of course stopped,
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and the direct object of the intended attack was

effected. This information was communicated to

General Scott during the evening.

But, having made his arrangements and issued

his orders for the attack, the general-in-chief was re

solved that it should proceed, notwithstanding the

contradictory information which he had received

from other persons, foreigners, in Tacubaya, as well

as from General Pillow. He had allowed Worth

to make use of two twenty-four pounders for the

purpose of cannonading the Castle of Chapultepec

during the attack. With these, and three light

pieces in addition to his artillery, and the vicinity

of Cadwalader's brigade, it was not deemed that

there was any chance of failure, or possibility of

serious action. He expressed the belief that the

attack would be made, the duty accomplished, and

that Worth's troops, with the loss of no more than

twenty men, would be back in their quarters at

the dawn of day. In such case, if the foundery
were there, it would be destroyed ;

and if not there,

he would know it, and at small cost. With a re

ply to his information to the above effect, Pillow

returned from the head-quarters to his position at

San Borja.

Meanwhile Worth was preparing for the battle.

As the reports of the reconnaissances had convinced

him that it would be strongly contested, while he

prepared to fight it he took the responsibility of

making two principal modifications in the orders

verbally given by General Scott. The first of these
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was in the time at which the attack was to take

place. As the ground beyond the first points in

the Mexican line was not known, the entangle

ment of a corps in a long range of buildings, in the

dark, in search of a foundery whose locality was

only guessed at, was very reasonably deemed to be

an undertaking of some hazard. Worth ordered

that the attack should take place at dawn of day.

The second modification was in the end to be

gained as the result of the attack, and the reason

for the modification is to be found in the different

view which Worth entertained of the matter from

that of General Scott. He believed that he was

going to fight a battle, and he wished something

tangible as the fruit of it. He believed the Cas

tle of Chapultepec was of great importance, and as

it lay near the proposed field of battle, he wished

to extend operations to include its capture. His

order was accordingly issued to the effect that the

commanders should make dispositions for the as

sault so soon as the enemy had been routed from

the positions of his line at Molino del Hey.
As Scott believed that the affair would be but a

skirmish, and, as he contemplated making the final

attack on the south front of the city, that Chapul

tepec would be of no great importance in ulterior

operations, he thought that to attempt the assault

would induce a greater battle than he wished to

fight at the time. He would not think of an ad

vance beyond Molino del Rey, and sent to Worth
to modify his order.
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General Cadwalader and Colonel Duncan came

down from Worth's head-quarters to confer with

him upon the subject ;
but as to the assault on Cha-

pultepec, Scott was inflexible. He permitted the

change in the time, but he directed the two officers

to return to General Worth, and give him his posi

tive order that he should on no account advance be

yond Molino del Rey ;
that he should effect the

capture of that point, break up the machinery, and

at once retire into Tacubaya. And Worth modi

fied his order accordingly.

The dispositions for the attack contemplated a

vigorous assault on the center of the Mexican posi

tions, to be supported and followed by attacks on

either flank. Garland's brigade and two pieces of

light artillery, under Captain Drum, were ordered

to advance by the road from Tacubaya upon Moli

no del Rey, and to cut off any support from Cha-

pultepec. Upon his left, within distance which al

lowed those forces to support, if necessary, were to

be posted two twenty-four pounders under Captain

Huger, immediately supported by the light battal

ion. In front of the Mexican center, opposite to

the position where the battery had been observed,

a select party of five hundred, under Major Wright
of the 8th infantry, was to take position for storm-,

ing it. The second brigade, under Lieutenant-col

onel M'Intosh, and Duncan's battery, were ordered

to form further to the left, in front of Casa Mata.

On the extreme left were to be posted three squad

rons and a troop of horse, under Major Sumner.
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Cadwalader's brigade was to form in rear of the

center, in reserve. As Tacubaya was to be left

without garrison during the battle, the pickets on

the road leading thence past Chapultepec to the

city were strengthened by infantry and a piece of

artillery.^

At three o'clock on the morning of the 8th of

September, the different corps of Worth's command

got in motion for their designated positions. They
were occupied in silence and without interruption

from the enemy. While yet dark, the twenty-four

pounders opened upon Molino del Hey, and their

loud reports, and the crashing of the shot as they
tore through the masonry, alone disturbed the si

lence. Captain Mason, who was to lead Wright's

party, accompanied by Lieutenant Foster, proceed
ed in advance to assure himself in his position.

Having found certain marks, observed the day be

fore, he sent his subaltern to inform the command

ing officer, and show the route of advance
;
but so

silent was the whole Mexican line, that it was a

question of doubt with him whether the enemy had

not evacuated his lines, for he was within a few

hundred yards of positions which had been occu

pied on the previous day.

Wright promptly advanced his party in line in

the direction indicated. Upon nearing the enemy's

position, all doubts as to the resistance to be en-

* General Worth's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Repre

sentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 362.
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countered were dispelled at once. The battery,

whose location had been changed during the night,

opened heavily upon the flank of the party with

round and grape, cutting down officers and men
in fearful rapidity. The charge was ordered, and

the noble soldiers, bringing down their muskets,

rushed straight at the battery. Notwithstanding
the storm of grape and musketry with which they
were greeted, they drove the enemy from his guns,

and strove to make good the battle against over

whelming odds
;
but the infantry of the Mexican

lines, and on the azoteas of Molino del Hey, kept up
such a continuous and rapid fire, that it was impos
sible to continue the fight in any kind of formation.

Of the fourteen officers who went into action

with the command, eleven soon fell, dead or dis

abled, and with them a large number of the rank

and file. In scattered parties those unhurt kept

up a fire, but the command as a body was broken,

and fell away from the battery. The Mexican in

fantry soldiers rushed forward and reoecupied it.

They murdered every wounded man left on the

ground except Captain Walker of the Kixtli infant

ry and one private, both desperately wounded, and

both doubtless believed to be dead.

At this time Worth ordered forward three com

panies of the light battalion (one being left to sup

port the heavy guns), and battalions of the eleventh

and fourteenth regiments of Cadwalader's brigade.

All three of these corps rapidly entered into the

conflict.
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The light battalion rushed on through the rem

nants of the storming party, and the Mexicans,

being by this time attacked on the flank by Gar

land's brigade, gave way before its vigorous assault.

One company took post under shelter of a low

bank, and commenced a warm fire against the

enemy on the azoteas of Molino del Rey. Two
more were led by Captain E. K. Smith toward the

enemy's left, where they joined the troops of the

first brigade, just then making ground in the

action.

The battalions of the eleventh and fourteenth

followed their lieutenant colonels, Graham and

Hebert, and, coming under fire, commenced a rapid

discharge against the enemy in and around Molino

del Rey, and in the fields to its right.

The position in which all these troops were en

gaged was in the re-entering angle of the Mexican

line, and they were exposed to a cross fire which

cut them up severely, and rendered concert of ac

tion impossible ;
but in scattered parties they held

their ground, and mingled with the troops of Gar

land's brigade, then coming gallantly forward, and

all fought with desperate valor.

When the fire first opened upon the storming

party, and developed the immense disparity of

force with which it was engaged, Garland ordered

his brigade forward to support its attack.^ Upon

* Colonel Garland's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Rep

resentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, Appendix to the Report

of the Secretary of War, p. 137.
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Hearing the southern extremity of Molino del Rey,
the command received a heavy and destructive fire

from the azoteas of the buildings as well as from

the Mexican battery, for it had been reoccupied,

and two guns turned upon the new attack. Drum's

pieces were at once brought into action, and, the

horses being disabled, were run forward by hand

to an enfilading position within one hundred yards

of the opposing battery. Seconded by the close

fire of a portion of the infantry, they soon drove

the Mexican gunners and their immediate support

from the position, which was at once seized by the

troops advancing from the front. At this moment
the remnants of the storming party were keeping

up a straggling fire, and the light battalion, and the

eleventh and fourteenth, were coming forward at a

run.

The battery having been seized, in detached par-

ties all the troops on this part of the field became

engaged with the Mexican force. A portion of it

was outside of Molino del Rey ; for, having seen

the danger of the capture of the battery, General

Leon had led a strong sortie for its protection. He
was too late, and his troops were driven back into

the Molino. The general was mortally wounded,

and, besides, several officers of high rank, and large

numbers of soldiers, were wounded and slain.

Still the Mexicans held on to the Molino del

Rey with desperate pertinacity. Drum's guns were

turned upon the buildings, and parties of infantry
from exterior positions strove to drive the enemy
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from the azoteas. Others, searching for an en

trance, approached close to the walls, regardless of

the storm of shot which was showered upon them,

to which they replied with all possible effect. In

this confused manner the battle on the American

right was kept up ;
but the result was for a time

doubtful, and victory hung in the balance, for the

operations upon the left had not progressed suc

cessfully.

Colonel M'Intosh's brigade and Duncan's battery

had advanced to within six hundred yards of the

Mexican lines, when the fire first opened upon the

storming party. The command was halted, and

Duncan, throwing his guns instantly into battery,

cannonaded the Mexican troops upon their right.

Under his practice they soon ceased the fire in

his immediate front, and numbers took shelter in

Casa Mata and the surrounding works.

Duncan was then ordered to cease his fire, and

M'Intosh to advance his brigade to the assault.

The troops moved forward in line to within one

hundred yards of the position, when the enemy
opened from a low embankment in front of the

works, from the works, and from the buildings

within. The Americans were then within thirty

yards of Casa Mata; but the Mexicans poured such

a stream of shot upon them that the advance was

checked, and many took such cover as the em
bankment afforded

;
but that was little. M'Intosh

fell mortally wounded
;
Lieutenant-colonel Martin

Scott, who succeeded him, was shot dead
; Major
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Waite, the commanding officer of the eighth, was

disahled
; and, under these circumstances, confusion

arose, and concert of action was impossible. The

men had fallen almost by platoons and companies
in an incredibly short space of time. The config

uration of the ground favored the Mexican fire,

giving it great effect, when otherwise it would

have been aimed too high.

Still the remnants of the brigade held on, and

the officers called on their men to advance. But

nearly one third of them had fallen, the same pro

portion of officers had been killed and disabled,

and the effort to advance was unavailing. Finally

the order was passed for the brigade to fall back

and rally on the battery. It was not known from

whom the order proceeded ; many officers would

not obey it, and strove to keep their men in posi

tion. Some even persisted in the endeavor to ad

vance; but it was fruitless. A slow and disorder

ed retreat was the consequence, and during it the

enemy added greatly to the number of killed and

wounded.

So soon as the front of Casa Mata had been

cleared, large bodies of Mexican troops advanced

from the works, and enacted the same barbarities

which had been perpetrated at the battery, by slay

ing the wounded. Keeping on in force, they threat

ened to come down upon the flank of the troops

engaged about Molino del Rey ;
but Cadwalader,

seeing the movement, changed the front of a bat

talion of the fourteenth regiment to check it.
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While these events were taking place it had be

come broad day-light, and Colonel Duncan ob

served a threatening movement on the left. Santa

Anna, who was in the vicinity of the field, had or

dered Alvarez to move down on the American

flank with his whole force, and, with a cloud of

cavalry in advance, the Pinto chieftain was com

ing rapidly on. Duncan took two guns to the left

to check him
;
and as the conflict in front of Casa

Mata soon masked the fire, he was followed by the

remaining section. The voltigeur regiment march

ed to support him, and took post in the ravine to

oppose its passage. The guns were unlimbered

on the southeastern crest, and, so soon as the caval

ry approached within easy range, opened fire. Al

varez pulled up at once to a halt and withstood

the effect of a few discharges, but then the mass

of his troops reeled under them, and fell back out

of range. Two companies of voltigeurs crossed the

ravine and fell upon a detached retreating party,

of which the whole number was destroyed or

captured.

Major Sumner meanwhile brought up his dra

goons, and moving at a brisk trot to the roadway,

regardless of the destructive volleys showered upon
his flank from Casa Mata, crossed the ravine and

threatened a charge. But before the dragoons had

completed their formation, the enemy, who had

halted, recommenced his retreat, and retired to the

hacienda Morales. A twenty-four pounder, order

ed by Worth to the left, came up at the time, and
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opening fire, annoyed the retreat until the enemy
had passed its range. The dragoons held their po

sition, covering the left of the American line, un

til the close of the action.

On the right the hattle had continued to rage

without positive advantage on either side. Drum's

guns (worked at times by officers, for the gunners
more than once gave out, being wounded or from

fatigue) kept up a fire upon Molino del Rey. Par

ties of infantry were engaged firing upon the ene

my upon the azoteas, and the remainder of the

troops were at work in the same confused yet vig

orous manner, attempting to force a passage into

the building.

A party from the second artillery and fourth in

fantry attacked the southern gate, and commenced

tearing down the hacienda with no other instru

ments than muskets and bayonets, and such as the

soldiers could gather on the ground. Others, of the

third artillery, fourth infantry, light battalion, and

fragments of the storming column, which had re

joined their colors in the tumult, kept along the

western front, firing into the apertures, and climb

ing to the tops ofthe walls, wherever sheds or broken

masonry presented any thing like facilities. The

gate near the northwestern angle was attacked by

parties of these troops, mingled with others of the

eleventh and fourteenth, while the remainder were

engaged with the enemy, who still held position

to the left. The loss was heavy in every part ;
but

with determined bravery, such as seldom fails of
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ultimate success, men and officers kept vigorously
to the fight.

Finally the southern gate was dashed in, and

with loud shouts, led on hy Major Buchanan, of

the fourth infantry, and Captain M'Kenzie, of the

second artillery, the assailants entered, and engaged
at once in close combat. At first the Mexicans

would not yield, and for some time kept up a heavy
fire from windows and azoteas upon the Americans

in the court-yards below. But these pressed on

with undiminished vigor, breaking in doors and

windows, entering the houses, and climbing to the

roofs of the buildings, and engaged in hand to

hand bayonet work.

At nearly the same moment the northwestern

gate was forced, and a crowd of gallant men, gal

lantly led, rushed in, and continued the fight in

like manner. Here, too, the enemy made sturdy

resistance, and inflicted severe loss upon the as

sailants. Captain Anderson, of the third artillery,

one of the first at the gate, was severely wounded.

Captain Ayres, of the same regiment, a gallant of

ficer, who, soon after the gate had been forced, had

sprung single-handed into a crowd of more than

twenty enemies, and held his ground until sup

ported, finally died under a third wound. Numer
ous others went down, killed or wounded

;
but the

survivors, no less gallant than those who fell, con

tinued the fight with desperate energy.

At last, those Mexicans not slain or wounded re

treated from Molino del Rey toward Chapultepec,
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excepting some seven hundred officers and men
on the azoteas and in the houses, whence escape

was impossible. These hung- out white flags in

token of surrender. The assailants paused, and

Drum, who had been working his guns upon those

parts of the range of buildings to which they had

not penetrated, ceased firing. Regardless of their

own flag, some Mexican soldiers, nevertheless,

continued their volleys, which were not checked

until the main body of the garrison were clear of

Molino del Rey.
At the northern angle of the buildings, around

the adobe houses, the battle was still fiercely con

tested. Parties of the eleventh, fourteenth, and

fourth regiments were there led against the enemy.
After an obstinate contest, in which Lieutenant-

colonel Graham, of the eleventh, who, though with

four severe wounds, continued in action, fell dead

by a fifth, the position was carried, and the enemy
was driven back upon his right.

When Duncan's guns had become unmasked by
the retreat of the second brigade, Alvarez having
fallen back, his whole battery was turned upon the

enemy in and about Casa Mata. Under the rapid

and well-directed fire, the position was abandoned,
and General Perez commenced a retreat by his

right, for his direct communication with Chapul-

tepec had been cut off by the capture of Molino del

Rey. The line of retreat kept him still under Dun
can's fire, which inflicted upon him a severe loss.

The parties of troops which were following up the
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success from the right, entered the works and build

ing upon the rear of the retreating forces, capturing

thirty-six officers and soldiers. With this the bat

tle about Casa Mata ceased, and that portion of

the field was entirely won.

But a strong Mexican force, having been rallied

by General Pena y Barragan, advanced along the

road north of the inclosure of Chapultepec, with

the apparent determination of retaking Molino del

Rey. With this column was an eighteen pounder ;

but before it opened, Lieutenant-colonel Belton, the

senior officer near the angle, ordered up Drum's

guns, and a captured six pounder, served by Lieu

tenant Peck and men of the light battalion. These

three pieces opened so rapid and well-directed a

fire that the Mexican column gave way before it,

leaving the eighteen pounder. Parties from the

fourth, sixth, and eighth regiments (the two latter

of which had come down to the point after having
rallied on the left) followed close on the fugitives,

and secured the gun. It could not be removed,

for the enemy had carried off the limber and spiked

it. The carriage was therefore destroyed, and the

spike more securely driven.

Soon after, the enemy, having rallied again, ad^

vanced up the road, and extended to the right, with

the apparent intention of effecting a junction with

a portion of the force which had retreated from

Casa Mata. This attempt was checked by a rapid

fire from the American artillery, which, in the

mean time, had been increased by a twenty-four
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pounder, and a heavy volley from the infantry.

As the enemy gave way the Americans advanced,

and followed the pursuit for some six hundred

yards along the road.

Inside Molino del Rey some few old molds for

cannon were discovered and demolished
; but, sav

ing these, not a vestige of a foundery was to be

seen. An attempt was made to fire the buildings ;

but they were not combustible, and it was soon

given over. Meanwhile, a straggling fire was kept

up from the grove of Chapultepec upon such Amer
ican troops as were upon the tops of the walls

;
but

the distance was great, and the fire was only an

noying. A captured gun, brought forward by Cap
tain Glenn and a party from the fourteenth infant

ry, was served, through a gateway opening into

the inclosure, upon a redan, and a line of Mexican

troops along the front of the grove. Before this

fire, and that of some pieces fired from the angle
over the wall upon the north, the enemy, now de

moralized by the result of the battle, gave way,
and all resistance from the vicinity of his original

position was ended. Parties of soldiers, passing

through the Molino, crossed the fields and took

post in the grove ;
but they were not in force, and

the orders forbade their officers to pursue the victory.

From daylight throughout the action, the guns
of the Castle of Chapultepec had played incessant

ly upon the American troops upon the plains west

of Molino del Key. In the latter stages, several

were turned upon those in position near the north-
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western angle, engaged with the rallied Mexican

forces.

General Scott had watched the progress of the

battle from a position .near Tacubaya, and, while

it was at its height, sent an officer to order Pillow

to move up from San Borja with Pierce's and Blley's

brigades. Before those troops arrived upon the field,

Molino del Rey was carried, and the enemy had

fallen back through it into the grove of Chapulte-

pec. By General Worth's permission, General Cad-

walader again suggested to the general-in-chief the

propriety of pursuing the victory and carrying Cha-

pultepec, but he again declined adopting the sug

gestion.

When General Scott sent his order to Pillow,

that officer was already in motion. He had been

observing the operations from the hacienda Sari

Borja, and saw that what had been anticipated

would be a skirmish had proved to be a hard-fought
battle. As the American line gave way in some

places and advanced but slowly in others, while

the Mexican fire was increasing, and Chapultepec
was in constant action, it was feared that, should

an order to move up be awaited, time would be

lost, which would cause disaster
;
for Pillow's com

mand was the nearest to the field of the American

troops not engaged, and it was at the distance of

three miles
;
wherefore Riley's brigade was order

ed up from Nalvarte, and Pillow started at once

with Pierce's two regiments and Magruder's bat

tery. When near Tacubaya, he met the order of
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the general-in-chief, and, moving rapidly, arrived

on the field while the last scenes of the battle were

being enacted about the angle of Molino del Rey.
As he passed General Scott's position, he receiv

ed an order to engage his troops so far as might be

necessary to secure the victory, but he was posi

tively forbidden to adventure beyond the positions

originally designated as objects of attack. Worth,

however, was in the spirit for battle, and seeing the

arrival of fresh troops, the thought of seizing Cha-

pultepec while the enemy was broken and dispirit

ed recurred to him. Riding up to Pillow, he re

quested him to move down to Molino del Rey, to

pass through and take position in the grove, in

preparation to assault and carry the castle. Un
der the positive orders of the general-in-chief to

the contrary, Pillow refused to comply. The field

was won as far as the positions originally desig

nated by General Scott, and there being no imme
diate use for his troops, Pierce's brigade was form

ed out of range of Chapultepec, upon the plains.

Riley's brigade soon after came up and took posi

tion on its right.

Worth's troops proceeded to the task of bringing
off their dead and wounded, under the repeated or

ders of General Scott to fall back to Tacubaya.
While the work continued, it was discovered that

there was a large store of ammunition in the build

ings of Casa Mata, and a number of wagons were

sent down to remove it. Several loads were car

ried off under a fire of shot and shell from Chapul-
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tepee, and it was ordered that the remainder should

be destroyed. The whole amount left in the build

ings was not calculated upon, and its explosion

blew up the whole Casa Mata, and destroyed Cap
tain Armstrong and some ten or twelve soldiers

within and in its immediate vicinity.

When the killed and wounded had been remov

ed from the American left, Duncan's battery, the

dragoons, and the remnant of Worth's second bri

gade retired from the field. Scattered parties of

Alvarez's command advanced from the hacienda

Morales near to the further crest of the ravine, but

Magruder's pieces were opened upon them, and they
soon fell back. Pillow was ordered to send two

regiments to the Molino del Rey, to cover the re

treat of Garland's and Cadwalader's brigades, which

were directed to fall back to Tacubaya. For this

duty, General Pierce was sent down with the sec

ond and ninth regiments ;
and although the guns

of Chapultepec were served spitefully upon them,
the movement was accomplished without loss.

Cadwalader's brigade marched first from the posi

tion, and was soon followed by Garland's. When
all the prisoners had been marched off, and every
one of the American dead had been removed, the

second and ninth fell back also, and, in obedience

to General Scott's orders, Pillow's troops retired

from the plains to the west. The battle of Molino

del Rey was ended, and the enemy was allowed to

occupy the field at his leisure and inclination.

In this, the hardest contested battle of the whole



382 THE WAR WITH MEXICO.

war, the aggregate of the American troops upon
the field, before Pillow's arrival at San Borja, was

but 3447.^ That this small force attacked and

drove the enemy, at least 10,000 strong (exclu

sive of Alvarez's forces), from his formidable po
sitions and intrenchments, captured four pieces of

artillery and near eight hundred prisoners, and prin

cipally by the use of the musket, without material

assistance from heavy artillery, is most astonishing.

In view of it, it can not be denied that, as a feat

of arms, the battle of Molino del Rey was one of

the most brilliant of a war full of brilliant achieve

ments.

The loss which befell the corps which won the

victory was unusually severe. In all, 787 had fall

en, killed and wounded, f Of these, fifty-nine were

officers, comprising nearly one third of the whole

number engaged in the battle, and including the

commanders of the second brigade, of the fifth,

eighth, and eleventh regiments, of the storming

party, and of the light battalion. There was not

one of the numerous remainder of the list but was

stricken down in the advance of his corps, doing
his duty with the devotion characteristic of Amer
ican officers. Of those who fell, Colonel M'Intosh,

Lieutenant-colonels Martin Scott and Graham,

Captains Merrill and E. K. Smith, and Lieutenants

Burwell and Strong, of the fifth infantry; Captain

* Field Return. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Representatives,

first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 368.

t Return of Killed and Wounded. Idem, p. 370.
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Armstrong, of the staff; Captain Ayres and Lieu

tenant Farry, of the third, and Lieutenants Shack -

elford and Daniels, of the second artillery ;
Lieuten

ant Ernst, of the sixth, Lieutenants Burbank and

Norris, of the eighth, Lieutenant Johnston, of the

eleventh infantry, and Assistant-surgeon Roberts,

all died on the field, or soon after, from the effect

of their wounds.

The casualties among those of inferior rank, in

cluding nearly one fourth of the active force, prove

that, like their officers, the soldiers too did their

duty. Deeds of such men as those who won the

battle of Molino del Rey speak louder in their

praise than words can possibly do. The feeling of

deep sadness which was prevalent for a period aft

er the battle bore testimony to the appreciation of

their comrades, and the deep regret felt at the loss

of these brave men from the ranks of the small

American army.

Nevertheless, fought and won as the battle was,

its results were immediately nothing, except the

capture of four pieces of artillery, and the heavy
loss inflicted upon the enemy ;

for the positions

were abandoned, and the relinquishment of them
had much the semblance of a retreat. No visible

advantage was gained ; and, notwithstanding the

loss which had been sustained, the great object,

the capture of the capital, was to all appearance
as far removed as before the battle.

No injury was done to the enemy by breaking

up his cannon molds, for they were useless as they
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were. The fact was but too apparent that a battle

had been fought for an end which, when gained,

proved to be a chimera, and that all advantages
which might have been the fruit of so dearly pur
chased a victory had been relinquished without an

effort to secure them. Such an event had a most

powerful effect upon the morale of the American

army. It was the first battle which was without

immediate advantageous consequences ;
the first

where, for any reason, the field had been immedi

ately surrendered to the will of the enemy. In

consideration of this, of the small numerical force

of the army, of the heavy loss, and of the victories

which remained to be achieved before the conquest
of the capital, a feeling of anxiety nearly akin to

doubt came over the minds of many who never had

doubted before.

The blow had fallen severely upon the Mexicans

on account of the number of officers and soldiers

who had fallen or been taken prisoners. They
could not doubt but that they had been sorely

beaten, although during the continuance of the

battle the bells of the city had clamorously pro

claimed a victory. Yet the prevailing opinion with

them was, that the defeat had been only partial,

inasmuch as Chapultepec was not assaulted, and

the Americans had evacuated the field which they
had won. While they were still much in dread

of the American army, it was confidently assert

ed that the result of the action taught them the

power of defending the capital, and had convinced
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their enemy that he could only achieve the con

quest by sacrifices which would cause it to amount

to a defeat. Such were the sentiments set forth

in the Mexican journals ;^ and, although they are

not always to be implicitly relied upon, yet there

is no doubt that, as in the present instance, they
had more foundation for their opinions, they were

more truly the indices of that of the public.

The Mexican president, however, did not reoc-

cupy his lines In force. With the exception of

strong corps in and about Chapultepec, the greater

part of his beaten army was drawn back to the

city, and posted at the different garitas on its south.

The American troops reoccupied the positions

previously occupied. Worth's division remained at

Tacubaya, Pillow's returned to San Borja and its

vicinity, and Riley's brigade to Nalvarte. Twiggs
and Quitman remained at San Augustin and San

Angel, instead of moving up to Mixcoac, as had

been intended.

During the afternoon of the 8th, under the su

perintendence of Captain Lee, of the engineers,

reconnaissances were made of the south front of

the city. The enemy had a strong picket on the

Nino Perdido road, nearly a mile from the garita,

which prevented a close approach without bring

ing on an engagement, which was not allowed by
the orders of General Scott. From the steeple of

a church in Piedad, however, the principal features

* Diario del Gobierno, El Monitor Republicano, and Letters to El Boletin

Je Atlixco, September 8th and 9th, 1847.

II. B B
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of the ground were discovered sufficiently well to

show that, notwithstanding fortifications had heen

commenced in that direction, an approach was

comparatively practicable. The reconnaissance

having heen finished, the officers and their escort

fell hack, and nothing further offensive was under

taken on that afternoon or evening.

CHAPTER XII.

Occupation of Piedad Mexican Lines of Defense about the Garita of San

Antonio General Scott's Orders Reconnaissances Meeting of General

Officers at Piedad Views and Opinions Selection of Chapultepec as

Point of Attack Santa Anna's Movement of September llth Skirmish

near Hacienda Morales Movement of American Troops on the Evening

of September 1 1th Rock and Castle of Chapultepec Position of Ameri

can Batteries Operations and Cannonade, September 12th Orders for

Assault.

EARLY on the morning of the 9th, a large force

of Mexican cavalry was observed approaching the

hacienda Nalvarte. Colonel Riley at once sent

the information to General Pillow at San Borja,

and as the enemy appeared to move on Piedad,

some hundred yards to his front and left, he threw

a battalion into that village. The cavalry retired.

Pillow soon after came up with Magruder's battery,

and Riley's whole command was advanced to Pie-

dad. Pierce's brigade soon followed from San

Borja, and Cadwalader's was ordered forward to

take post at Nalvarte.

The main street of the village of Piedad runs
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nearly east and west. Its eastern continuation is

a road which intersects the causeways of El Nino

Perdido and San Antonio at points distant about a

mile from the city, and that of San Antonio some

three hundred yards from the garita of San Antonio

Ahad. West the road leads from Piedad to Tac-

ubaya. At the angle of the cross-road and that of

El Nino Perdido stood a ruined hermitage, which

was the position of the Mexican picket on the

evening of the 8th. A party of American infantry

had been sent forward so soon as the village of

Piedad had been occupied, and the picket retired.

The point was at once seized, and became the ad

vanced post of the American troops.

From this position, distant about seven hundred

yards from the garita of San Antonio, a clear and

uninterrupted view was presented of all the ground
between the two causeways to the city, and one

comparatively clear of the country west of the road

of El Nino Perdido in the direction of the garita

Belen. In the latter direction, however, the ground
was covered with vegetation, while between the

causeways it was clear meadow land, crossed by a

few irrigating ditches. Of these, the most consid

erable of all crossed the road of El Nino Perdido

some sixty yards north of the hermitage. With

high embankments on either side, it continued

across the fields to the causeway of San Antonio,

which it intersected near the junction of the cross

road from Piedad. A bridge over which the road

way of El Nino Perdido had passed had been de-
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stroyed, and as the banks were high, and the ditch

was some thirty feet wide, with considerable depth
of water and a miry bottom, it presented some ob

stacle to a direct advance along that route. Other

ditches of considerable depth and width were by
the side of the causeway, but besides these there

were few obstacles between the hermitage and the

Mexican lines of defense. The high embankments

of the ditch first mentioned served for a partial pro

tection to the troops about the position from the

fire of the Mexicans at the garita.

When the American officers first reconnoitered

from the hermitage on the morning of the 9th, the

batteries at the garitas alone, of the Mexican de

fenses, were finished. These were armed with but

two guns.^ A line of intrenchments had been

traced between the two garitas, extending diagon

ally across the meadow lands for nearly a mile,

and, at the time, a working force of nearly 12,000

men was employed upon its construction. Between

the two extremities of the line three batteries had

been commenced, and their parapets were well ad

vanced to completion. The curtains which were

to connect them had only been commenced, and,

notwithstanding that the Mexican laborers shovel

ed the earth with great celerity, so soon as the

American troops came in sight they did not pro

gress very rapidly.

*
Captain Lee's and Captain Hooker's Testimony before the Court of In

quiry. Executive Document. No. G5, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth

Congress, p. 80, 168.
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Seeing these fortifications in process of erection

upon the very front which General Scott intended

to attack, Pillow at once dispatched staff officers

to give him the information. It was several hours

hefore he was ready to proceed to Piedad, and

when he arrived there, and observed the positions

from the hermitage, he ordered that nothing offens

ive should he attempted. Pillow was directed to

hold his position, and, in case it should be neces

sary for that purpose, to order forward directly

Twiggs's remaining brigade and Quitman's divi

sion. Quitman was ordered to advance to Coyacan.

Throughout that day the Mexicans continued

their labor upon the intrenchments without inter

ruption. No reconnaissances, with a view to that

duty alone, were ordered or attempted, although
the progress of the works was seen by the officers

at the American advanced pickets. The troops re

mained quiet at their different stations, but dur

ing the night the pickets at the hermitage were

strengthened by infantry and artillery. A bridge

was also built, during the night, across the ditch

crossing the Nino Perdido road, capable of sustain

ing the heaviest ordnance.

The reconnaissances upon the enemy's works

were commenced by the engineer officers about

eleven o'clock on the morning of the 10th, and were

pushed on both causeways. With a strong escort

of infantry and the battery of mountain howitzers,

one party proceeded across that of San Antonio to

the east, sufficiently far to observe the ground be-
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tween it and the canal from Lake Xocliomileo.

These reconnaissances gave an accurate knowledge
of the enemy's positions ; hut, hy the time they
were finished, so were the works.

On the evening of the 10th, eleven pieces of ar

tillery were in hattery at and ahout the garita of

San Antonio and the works of the line. The cur

tains were finished, and were strong, and the ditch

es in their front well filled with water. East of

San Antonio, two works connected that garita with

that of La Candelaria, which was likewise strong

ly fortified and armed. The ground in front of

this part of the Mexican lines was, moreover, so

covered with inundations, that an approach be-

tween the canal and the causeway of San Antonio

was hazardous, if not impracticable.

On the following morning the reconnaissances

were continued, hut nothing more was discovered,

except that the enemy had completed his arrange
ments for defense in that quarter. He had occu

pied the lines in force, and had let the water from

the canal over the fields hetween the roads of El

Nino Perdido and San Antonio, which were hefore

dry and practicable. The whole southern front of

the city, from the garita of El Nino Perdido to that

of La Candelaria, was inundated.

During this while General Scott had been en

gaged in making preparations for the assault upon
the city, in bringing up Quitman's division from

San Augustin to Coyacan, in hearing the reports

of reconnoitering officers, in establishing a general
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depot at Mixcoac, including the removal thither

of the wounded from Molino del Rey, the spare

ordnance and ordnance stores, and the baggage
and supply trains.* On the morning of the 11th

he came in person to Piedad, repeated his observa

tions upon the enemy's lines from the hermitage,

and at a meeting of general officers, held at Gen
eral Pillow's head-quarters in that village, determ

ined a plan of attack upon the city.

At this meeting the general-in-chief, Generals

Pillow, Quitman, Twiggs, Pierce, and Cadwalader,
and Colonel Riley, were present, and many engi

neer and staff officers. General Scott commenced

by stating that, before he left the room, he should

settle his plan of attack, which would be either to

cannonade and capture Chapultepec, or to operate

against the lines of San Antonio. In case he de

termined upon the former, General Twiggs's di

vision was to be left at and in vicinity of Piedad,

in order to keep up a demonstration in that quarter.

The general-in-chief gave in extenso such informa

tion as was in his possession concerning the differ

ent routes. The ordnance officers had expressed

the opinion that Chapultepec could be reduced by
bombardment and cannonade in one day ;

and as

General Scott believed that he would have more

room, and reason to believe that he would be met

by a white flag from the city so soon as the castle

* General Scott's Question to General Worth, General Worth's Testimony,

and Captain Lee's Testimony. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first

Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 145, 201.
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1m d fallen,^ his preferences were for the attack

upon Chapultepec ;
but he was not decided, and,

having- stated his views and information, he asked

opinions.

General Twiggs coincided with the general-in-

chief, but few other generals gave any very posi

tive opinions upon the subject. Such as were given

were to a degree in favor of the attack on the

southern front, although accumulated difficulties

to such an attack had sprung up between the 8th

and llth
; yet, if the lines in that quarter were

once forced, the city was within reach. If Cha

pultepec were battered down or taken by assault,

much distance intervened before the capital was

gained. Of the defenses along that route, after

passing Chapultepec, nothing was known, except
that the citadel of Mexico, a wrork strong against

assault, was directly on the prolongation of the

Belen causeway, at its entrance into the city. But,

though inquiries were made, nothing was urged
which altered General Scott's opinion, and he gave
orders preparatory to the attack upon the Castle

of Chapultepec.

Twiggs was to occupy Piedad with his division,

and on the following morning to open a fire from

near the hermitage, on the Nino Perdido road,

against the lines of San Antonio. For that pur

pose, Steptoe's battery of twelve pounders was or

dered to report to him, in addition to Taylor's light

*
Captain Hooker's Testimony. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate,

first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 169.
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battery of his own division. Pillow and Quitman
were to march their divisions after nightfall into

Tacubaya, where they were to receive orders for

taking position to support the heavy batteries to

be planted against Chapnltepec. Officers were at

the time selecting the sites. Having given orders

to the effect, the general-in-chief broke up the

meeting and retired to Tacubaya.

During these three days Mexican action was al

most entirely defensive. The greater portion of the

army was stationed about the lines of San Antonio

and at the garitas. Chapultepec was strongly gar

risoned, and had two strong brigades within sup

porting distance. Alvarez still occupied the haci

enda Morales in observation, but he made no of

fensive movement in force.

The attention of the Mexican commanders was

most particularly given to the American corps sta

tioned at Piedad
; for, as it was nearest to the city,

and but a single line of defenses obstructed its en

trance, it was believed that the final assault would

be made on the lines of San Antonio. The belief

generally entertained in Mexico, that the battle of

Molino del Rey had been an attack on Chapulte

pec, and had failed in that respect, went to keep

up such an anticipation. The strictest vigilance

was exercised about the point of apprehended clan

ger. The noise which had been made in construct

ing the bridge on the Nino Perdido road had been

heard at the lines, and during the 10th and llth

many attempts were made by the Mexicans to dis-
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cover the nature of the construction. For the pur

pose, many officers made close reconnaissances,

and, besides, peons, leperos, and even women ap

proached the American pickets, as if engaged in

ordinary avocations. They were all warned off or

made prisoners.

On the afternoon of the llth a party of Mexican

officers advanced to the angle of the San Antonio

causeway and the cross-road, and spent some time

in observation of the American pickets at the her

mitage. They could see nothing but a party of

infantry on guard at the point ;
for the artillery,

with its caissons and horses, had been slightly

withdrawn from the road, and hid behind a hedge
of maguey. The examination appeared to satisfy

the reconnoitering officers that there was no artil

lery in position, and they returned to the garita.

Soon after, a column of cavalry, full five hundred

strong, in full costume, and with sounding trump

ets, issued from the Mexican lines, and proceeded

south along the causeway. By the time it had

reached the angle, Magruder's guns were run out

from the maguey and opened fire with round shot.

The column quickened its pace and proceeded on.

The report of the artillery being heard at Piedad,

Pillow ordered Riley's brigade to move out to the

pickets, Pierce's to be under arms at Piedad, and

proceeded in person to the hermitage. On arriving,

he sent directions to Cadwalader to move rapidly

across from Nalvarte to the San Antonio causeway,
and intercept the enemy. By the time the ines-
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sage was received by Cadwalader, the cavalry had

countermarched and retreated. It passed the line

of fire of the American guns at speed, hut did not

effect its retreat without the loss of several men
and horses. Meanwhile, the Mexican battery at

the garita opened fire upon the pickets, knocked

the hermitage to pieces, and killed one soldier
;

but the cavalry having gained the lines, the fire

ceased on both sides.

It is difficult to understand the object of this

movement, and it was beyond the comprehension
of many Mexican officers who were of the party.

It could hardly have been to verify the reconnais

sance, and to prove whether the Americans really

had a battery at that point, for the Mexican presi

dent, the secretary of war, and the whole staff of

the army were with the column. They were truly

in a situation of imminent peril, had the orders or

intentions of the American general been such as

to justify the commencement of a battle in that

quarter. All which would have been necessary to

insure their capture or destruction would have been

to run the American guns along the cross-road to

within grape range of the causeway. As Cadwal

ader would have been across the road in front, their

retreat was cut off, and the advance was impracti

cable. Whatever the object of the movement was,

Santa Anna effected it, as the Americans did not

know of the prize within their reach, and their or

ders did not permit them to open an engagement
which might bring on a battle.
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Another skirmish took place on the llth in the

direction of the hacienda Morales. A party of

American dragoons, reconnoitering in that vicinity,

fell in with a corps of Alvarez's cavalry. The Mex
icans accepted the conflict, but were soon dispersed

with the loss of a captain and several soldiers. The

dragoons returned to Tacuhaya.
Before dark on the evening of the llth, Twiggs

brought Smith's brigade and Steptoe's and Taylor's

batteries up to Piedad, and Quitman advanced his

division to Nalvarte. At nine o'clock Pillow with

drew his troops from both points and marched to

Tacubaya, leaving Riley's brigade with its proper

division. Quitman soon followed him, and shortly

after his arrival both generals received their in

structions from the general-in-chief.

The position ofthe rock and castle of Chapultepec
has been heretofore mentioned in the general de

scription of the defenses of Mexico, and of the locali

ty of Molino del Rey. The inclosure, of which that

range of buildings formed the western side, was

bounded on the south by a wall, extending from Mo-

lirio del Key to the main road from Tacubaya to the

city. It was near sixteen hundred yards in length,

and generally straight, though broken near the east

ern extremity by several projections and angles.

The wall was about fifteen feet in height, but only
of ordinary thickness, and not proof against cannon,

shot. The ground between the wall and Tacu-
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baya was somewhat cut up by irrigating ditches

and hedges of maguey, but generally level and

practicable. A redan had been constructed to cov

er a cut in the wall, about nine hundred yards from

Molino del Rey, and which, had it been armed with

artillery, would have given a flank fire along the

wall to the west. Near the southeastern angle of

the inclosure, strong barricades had been built

across the Tacubaya road, and armed with artil

lery. In rear of them and next the angle was a

lunette, with wet ditches, and armed with four

guns. This battery completely swept the direct

approach by the road as well as the level ground
west of it in the direction of Tacubaya. The in

ner side of the wall of the inclosure was provided

with wooden banquettes, enabling infantry to fire

over to support the batteries.

The eastern side was but a simple wall, and as it-

was within the line of defenses, none had been con

structed immediately connected with it. Through

it, however, the main gate opened into the inclo

sure, and from its northern and southern extremi

ties respectively, the roads led by the side of the

aqueducts of San Cosme and Belen to the city.

The northern side of the inclosure was formed by
the aqueduct of San Cosme, the arches of which

had been filled with heavy masonry. On the road

immediately to the north of the aqueduct two bar

ricades had been constructed, one near the north

eastern angle, and the other some hundred yards to

the Avest of it, both looking to the west.
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For five hundred yards immediately east of Mo-

lino del Hey, the ground inside the inclosure was

an open, cultivated field. East of the field, a deep

irrigating ditch, with embankments, running north

and south, divided the inclosure. Nearest the

aqueduct on the north, a redan breast-work for

infantry had been constructed. Thence and from

the embankments of the ditch the approaches from

the west from Molino del Rey could be swept with

a musketry fire. All the level ground inside of the

inclosure east of the positions was covered by an

ancient cypress grove. The soil was exceedingly

marshy for some five hundred yards, except on two

pathways. One of these led through the center of

the grove to the foot of the rock, and the second

and widest inside of and along the southern wall.

The rock of Chapultepec rose in the eastern part

of the inclosure to the height of one hundred and

fifty feet, and the fortifications around it and the

castle by which it is crowned formed the great

strength of the position.

The northern side of the rock was so precipitous

as to be entirely inaccessible
; for, besides being ex

ceedingly rugged throughout, there was a perpen
dicular descent of nearly fifty feet. The eastern

and a portion of the southern side were nearly as

broken and impracticable as the northern. The

southwestern and western sides, although savage

ly rugged and precipitous, were yet practicable for

infantry.

The castle was built to conform to the general
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outline of the crest of the rock, and was, therefore,

quite irregular ; hut, nevertheless, the principles of

the engineer's art had, in the main, "been attended

to. The northern front was, in general, a parapet
wall of heavy masonry, with a semicircular projec

tion at ahout its center, giving a flank fire in the

direction of the Molino del Hey, and along the road

north of the aqueduct of San Cosme. The eastern

front had no parapet immediately surrounding it,

hut was formed hy a terrace huilt on the highest

point of the rock.

A little space intervened between the terrace and

the southern parapet wall, at the eastern extremi

ty of which was a semicircular bastion for one gun.

For some thirty yards west the parapet was gener

ally straight, but there a semicircular projection,

corresponding in position to the one on the north,

gave room for the location of several guns. West

of the semicircle was the only gateway into the

castle. Beyond the gateway to the southwestern

angle, the trace was that of a cremalliere line, which

gave a fire of two guns from its flanks upon the ap

proach from the southwest, as well as upon the

ramp leading up to the castle.

The western front, which was quite narrow, was

in the form of a priest-cap, and was covered by the

only ditch about the work. It was some twelve

feet wide and ten deep.

The buildings inside these fortifications were the

military college of Chapultepec and its dependen
cies. The college was once the palace of a Span-
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ish viceroy, and was heavily and solidly built, as

Spanish buildings generally are. It occupied a

large portion of the enceinte, and extended to the

terrace on the east, though a considerable space

was left between the building and the parapets of

the northern and southern fronts, and still more be

tween it and the western. A solid splinter-proof

had been constructed around the southern, western,

and northern sides of the college, covering the walls

of the lower story. The western part of the roof

was likewise covered by a heavy frame-work oftim

ber for a bomb-proof; but, although well piled up
with sand-bags, the work had not been completed.

A parapet wall, strengthened by sand-bags, extend

ed around the whole azotea. By this, a musketry
fire was secured upon the walls from the azotea as

well as from the windows of the upper story, which

were left open.

On the west of the college, some detached stone

buildings, furnished with sand-bag parapets around

their azoteas, overlooked the walls from a short

distance.

Eleven pieces of artillery were mounted upon
the works. Two twenty-four pounder howitzers

were in the semicircle on the northern front, one

eight pounder at the southeastern angle, two six-

teens and an eight-inch howitzer in the large semi

circle on the south front, three pieces of small cal

iber on the cremalliere line, and two iron thirty-

two pounders in the priest-cap. Besides this arma

ment there were two small four pounder howitzers
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upon the terre-plein of the south front, which might
have heen intended for the defense of the gateway.

All the guns on the west were covered hy splinter-

proofs of timber and sand-bags, solidly constructed.

The roadway from the base of the rock to the

castle ran from the southeastern base along the

southern declivity to a round battery about half

way up the hill, at a point opposite the western ex

tremity of the fortification. Turning there in a

sharp angle, it a-cended to the gate. The southern

and exterior side of the roadway was protected by
an earthen parapet for its whole distance. The

round battery at its angle was armed with a four

pounder, which could be used to sweep the road

way, or an approach from the west along the south

ern exterior wall. Outside of this battery was a

breast-work for infantry, looking southwest, and

giving a fire along the road by the southern walL

The western declivity of the rock was mined

about half way up the ascent, but the saucissons

were laid over the ground, and only extended to the

ditch of the priest-cap. Immediately below the

mines a redan had been constructed, affording a

front of fire for about fifty muskets, toward the

vs--?-?t, and along the center path through the grove.

There were no exterior defenses immediately
around the northern, eastern, or eastern portion of

the southern fronts. The ground between the base

of the rock and the exterior walls of the inclosure,

besides being principally covered by the grove, was

cut up by walls and aqueducts.

II. C c
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The castle and its dependencies were under com

mand of General of Division Don Nicolas Bravo,

a leader celebrated in the Mexican war of inde

pendence, and prominent in the whole history of

the country. A strong corps of infantry held the

woods west of the rock, occupying the intrench-

ments and ditch on the verge of the grove, and the

redan covering the cut in the south wall of the ex

terior inclosure. Two large brigades, under Gener

als Pena y Barragan and Rangel, were in position

around the western base of the hill, and in the bat

teries on the Tacubaya road. A garrison of near

2000 men, under General Bravo's immediate com

mand, occupied the castle and the exterior defense

on the west. The total of the defending forces was

at least 6000 men.

Positions had been selected by the American

engineer and ordnance officers on the llth for three

heavy batteries against the castle and its depend
encies.

The first was on the direct road from Tacubaya,
which led past Chapultepec to the city. It was

in the vicinity of the hacienda Condesa, on the

outskirts of the village, and looked to the south

front of the castle.

The second was near the road from Molino del

Rey, distant about eight hundred yards from the

village, and looked to the southwestern angle of

the fortification.

The third was on the prolongation of this road,

behind a short aqueduct south of Molino del Rey,
and in close vicinity to that range of buildings.
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Batteries Nos. 1 and 2 were in process of con

struction during the night. As No. 3 was near

Molino del Rey, and it was not known whether

that point were not occupied hy the enemy, its

commencement was delayed until the following

day.

Quitman was ordered to support batteries Nos.

I and 2, and early on the morning of the 12th he

moved down to the hacienda Condesa with the

main body of his force. His left was extended

through the suburbs and fields in such manner as

to support the second battery.

Pillow's troops were to occupy the ground on

the west of Chapultepec. He was ordered to take

position on the battle ground of the 8th before

dawn, and, if the enemy were not in possession of

Molino del Rey, to seize and occupy it. If the

position were held by the enemy, he was to drive

him out of it with the assistance of the fire of bat

tery No. 2, and to hold it for the support of the

battery to be planted in the vicinity.

Pillow moved out to the plains at three o'clock in

the morning, and organized a select party of light

troops, under Lieutenant-colonel Hebert, for the

purpose of seizing the position. So soon as day

broke, Captain Hooker rode down to the mills, and,

as they were unoccupied, Hebert's party advanced

at a run. The enemy observed the movement, and

opened fire from Chapultepec ;
but it had no effect,

and Molino del Rey was seized without loss. The

remaining troops of Cadwalader's brigade were sent
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round by Casa Mata to the position, which was

thus securely occupied. The ninth and fifteenth

regiments, Magruder's battery, the mountain how

itzers, and Major Sumner's dragoons, were left

upon the plains, out of range of Chapultepec, in

observation of Alvarez's troops. These were under

arms about the hacienda Morales, and at times

threatened an advance.

At seven o'clock the American batteries Nos. 1

and 2 opened upon the castle. No. 1 was armed

with two captured sixteen pounders and one eight-

inch howitzer, and No. 2 one siege howitzer of like

caliber and one twenty-four pounder. All of the

cannon were served with rapidity against the ene

my's works
;
but some were without platforms, the

distance was near twelve hundred yards, and, for

a time, many shot flew wide of their mark.

The enemy, who had previously given his at

tention to the troops on the plain west of Molino

del Hey, turned all his guns which would bear

upon the batteries. They had not much effect, for

the Americans were well sheltered by their para

pets, and partially hidden in the bushes.

The fire from and against Chapultepec was un-

remitted throughout the morning, except for a short

time', in which the Americans were engaged in lay

ing their platforms. When these were finished,

the practice was exceedingly good, and every shot

struck. But the distance was so great that it is a

matter of surprise how it could have been deemed

possible that the castle could be reduced by artil-
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lery alone. The batteries were efficient as counter

batteries, and it is true that the shot and shell

crashed through the walls of the college inside the

works, and killed quite a number of the garrison ;

but the parapets were entirely uninjured, and the

Mexican fire was kept up vigorously for some time.

A sixteen pounder and an eight-inch howitzer were

brought forward, to be placed in battery at the third

position which had been selected
;
but the parapets

had not been constructed, and the enemy's fire was

so severe that the work was for a time impractica

ble. The cannon were therefore taken to the north

ern side of Molino del Eey, and thence were served

against the enemy's pickets.

Toward noon, however, the Mexican fire began

visibly to slacken. Under the American practice

one eight-inch howitzer had been disabled in the

castle. Another casualty was the explosion of an

iron thirty-two pounder, which had destroyed some

thirteen of the garrison.

The falling off allowed the engineer officers to

proceed with the construction of battery No. 3,

and during the afternoon it was armed and open
ed fire. A ten-inch mortar was brought up and

planted on the left of this battery, and thence the

castle was bombarded until dark.

During the day General Quitman and staffmade

a close reconnaissance of the batteries on the Tac-

^
"haya road, at the southeastern angle of the inclo-

surt, of Chapultepec, which gave a knowledge of

their ocality and strength. The enemy kept up
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a lively fire upon the reconnoitering party from the

castle and lower hatteries. Strong parties of in

fantry came out, and opened upon it with musketry.

Quitman, however, completed his reconnaissance,

and fell hack, with the loss of seven wounded

Pillow, too, had heen observing the approaches

from Molino del Hey. Parties of his troops kept

up a straggling fire from the walls of the build-

ings upon the Mexican troops in the intrenchments

on the verge of the grove. The range was far too

great, and the fire was perfectly harmless. This

the enemy soon discovered, and became quite care

less
;
but the mountain howitzers were brought

down from the plains, and opened fire through an

archway. They soon drove the enemy to cover in

some confusion, besides annoying a large body of

troops from the garrison of the castle, which had

taken shelter from the cannonade in the woods.

While the cannonade against Chapultepec con

tinued, the demonstration which Twiggs had been

ordered to keep on the lines of San Antonio had

been duly executed. Steptoe's battery had been

located near the hermitage on the Nino Perdido

road during the night, and opened fire at the break

of day. For some hours it was rapidly continued,

and doubtless diverted the attention of the enemy
from the batteries in process of erection about Cha

pultepec. Indeed, many Mexicans believed that

* General Quitman's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Rep

resentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 410.
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the main attack was to be made on the lines, and

that the cannonade of Chapultepec was the feint.

The Mexican president was, however, not of the

number, and about noon the fire from the lines of

San Antonio slackened, and was after that time

continued only at intervals.

Santa Anna had given his attention to both

points of the American attack, but particularly to

Chapultepec. While he kept a large force around

the garitas of San Antonio and El Nino Perdido,

he made inquiries of General Bravo, at different

times, whether he wanted re-enforcement. At

Bravo's request, he ordered the battalion of San

Bias to re-enforce the infantry in the woods west

of the castle. Toward night he came in person to

the position, and had a conference with Bravo rela

tive to its defense. Santa Anna had determined

to withdraw the troops from the grove, and limit

the defense to the castle alone. Bravo insisted

upon the defense of the woods as of vital import

ance, and, after some discussion, Santa Anna yield

ed his opinion.^ The battalion of San Bias had

been withdrawn, but Bravo was assured that he

should be strongly re-enforced in that quarter in

case of an assault. The troops were not immedi

ately sent, in order to present as few as possible to

the American missiles.

In anticipation of the necessity of carrying Cha

pultepec by assault, General Scott had ordered the

collection of scaling ladders and other materiel on

* General Bravo's Report. El Monitor Republicano.
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the 12th,^ and they were in readiness during the

afternoon. Toward evening-, when it hecame evi

dent that the cannonade and bombardment alone

would avail but little, he contemplated ordering

the immediate storrn of the castle. His object was

to prevent the repair of any damage which might
have been inflicted, and the partial recovery of

moral force on the part of the garrison, deemed to

have been much impaired, during the cessation of

fire through the night, f But when he received

the reports of his engineer officers, it was already

late, and the arrangements necessary for the as

sault were not fully completed. He therefore de

layed action until the following morning, and the

cannonade continued until nightfall.

The Americans had lost but a very few men

during the day, and the only damage done to ma
terial was the breaking of the stock of one of the

captured sixteen pounders. This threw it out of

action
;
but all other cannon were kept in lively

play until the final cessation of the fire.

At dark General Pillow drew the ninth and

fifteenth infantry, and Magruder's battery, from the

plains, where they had been in observation, down

to Molino del Rey, which was thus held by his

whole force. The American dragoons had return

ed to Tacubaya. Parties of Alvarez's men cross

ed the ravine, and occupied the abandoned posi-

* General Worth's Testimony before the Court of Inquiry. Executive

Document, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 201.

t Captain Lee's Testimony. Idem, p. 143.
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tion; but they did not attempt a near approach

either to Tacuhaya or Molino del Hey. Except
the changes brought about by these movements,

on the evening of the 12th the troops of either

army occupied the same positions which had been

held throughout the day.

Dming the evening Generals Pillow and Quit-

man were summoned to General Scott's quarters to

receive their instructions for the final assault. For

this duty, a storming party 250 strong had been

organized from each of the veteran divisions of

the army. That from Worth's was to report to Pil

low, and from Twiggs's to Quitman. The ladders,

crows, and other implements were all in readiness,

and the plan of attack and the time of the assault

were all which remained to be determined.

At the meeting, General Scott explained the

ground and the nature of the defenses to the ex

tent of his information, and several plans and modi

fications were proposed and discussed
; but, in gen

eral, the orders finally determined upon and issued

were the following : The American batteries were

to be repaired during the night, and were to open
with all their strength at early dawn both upon

Chapultepec and the lines of San Antonio. Eight
o'clock was the hour fixed for the cessation of those

against Chapultepec, and for the advance of the

two divisions, re-enforced by the storming parties,

upon their several routes of attack. Quitinan's

was along the Tacubaya road, upon the batteries

at the base of the hill, and over them and the wall
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of the exterior inelosure to the castle. Pillow's lay

through Molino del Rey, over the intrenchments

on the west of the grove, and through the grove to

the same end. Worth was ordered to be under

arms in Tacubaya, in readiness to support Pillow's

attack. Twiggs was directed to send one brigade

to within supporting distance of Quitman ;
the

other he was to retain to support the batteries on

the Nino Perdido road, and to keep up the diversion

in that quarter as much as possible. With orders

to this effect, the meeting broke up, and the general

officers returned to their stations.

In the early part of the night a brisk skirmish

took place between the advanced pickets on the

Tacubaya road. Under the belief that re-enforce

ments were moving into Chapultepec, Quitman
ordered a gun to be advanced from battery No. 1,

and discharged several times in that direction.O

After this fire had ceased, the troops about the dif

ferent positions were quiet, and the batteries on

both sides were silent.

A slight noise about Chapultepec told that the

garrison was preparing for the following day, and

at the American batteries parties were at wrork re

pairing platforms and parapets. Throughout the

American lines all the soldiers laid upon their arms,

awaiting the dawn of day.

The course of events and the evident prepara

tions had told all that the morrow was to see the

final effort of the army. It was felt that success

and the object of the campaign, the capture of the
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capital, was then to be obtained, or the alternative

of defeat and disaster was to befall the army for

the first time since the commencement of the war.

While, therefore, preparations for the struggle were

made without dread, and with a firm determina

tion to do and dare all for the victory, yet, under

all the circumstances, under the influence of the

delays which had occurred, of the armistice, of the

absence of all direct result to the battle of the 8th,

the knowledge that during the three succeeding

days the enemy had been strengthening his posi

tions, and the immense disparity of force which

still existed, it can not be wondered at that those

who reflected at all upon the situation of the army,
looked upon the approaching conflict with an anx

iety with which none previous had been antici

pated.

CHAPTER XIII.

Dispositions for the Attack on Chapultepec Storming of the Castle Assault

of Batteries on the Tacubaya Road Of Barricades on the North of Cha

pultepec Pursuit along the Belen Road Capture of Battery Storming

of Garita Belen Santa Anna's Efforts for Defense Pursuit along the San

Cosme Road Capture of Work at the Angle of Aqueduct of Barricade

Storming of Garita San Cosme Entrance into Mexico Retreat of Mexi

can Army Deputation to General Scott Occupation of the City.

THE morning of September 13th broke brightly,

and at the earliest dawn the full power of the

American batteries was again directed upon the

Castle of Chapultepec. The batteries on the Nino
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Perdido road likewise opened, and continued a

lively fire upon the lines at San Antonio. The
Mexicans replied promptly from both places, and

for some hours the cannonade on both sides was

as quick and rapid as it had been at any time on

the previous day.

The greater strength being directed against Cha-

pultepec, General Bravo was convinced that that

point would soon be assaulted, and wrote to Gen
eral Alcorta, the Secretary of War, demanding the

re-enforcement which had been promised him.^

The note was received, and submitted to Santa

Anna, who was at the time at the house of Affaro
;

but he gave no immediate attention to the requisi

tion. Some time later Bravo sent orders to General

Rangel to march his troops into the castle, for, from

the state of American preparations, he believed that

the assaulting columns were about to advance.!

But Generals Rangel and Peiia y Barragan were

stationed at the batteries on the Tacubaya road,

and at the barricades on that to the north of Cha-

pultepec. Both refused to move to the castle with

out the orders of Santa Anna; therefore the di

rect defense against the American assault from the

west was to be made by the garrison of the castle

and its immediate outworks, and the troops in the

intrenchments on the west of the grove.

The preparations of the American commanders

were rapidly progressing. The storming parties

from the veteran divisions had arrived at the posi-
* General Bravo's Official Report. El Monitor Republicano. t Idem.
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tions whence the two assaults were to be made,
and the ladders and other material were brought
forward. Quitman, however, had a storming party
from his own division, to which he gave his ladders

and other implements for assault.^ As his ad

vance from the hacienda Condesa brought him im

mediately under the fire of the enemy's batteries

on the Tacubaya road, and lay along that road and

the level ground on its west and north, he held his

troops in hand about the hacienda until the desig

nated moment for the assault.

The corps of Pillow's division, having more com

plicated ground and a greater variety of duties,

were in the mean time variously disposed. The

first obstacle to be overcome in the advance from

the west being the intrenchments on the verge of

the grove, whence musketry fire could sweep the

open ground between them and Molino del Rey, it

was intended to turn them. For this purpose, a

battalion of voltigeurs was posted at the southern

extremity of the buildings, in positions for advanc

ing upon the redan covering the cut in the south

ern wall of the inclosure, which being taken, the

grove could be penetrated, and the intrenchments

attacked in reverse. In rear of this battalion was

posted the storming party from Worth's division,

which was to support the assault on the redan, if

necessary, or, if not, to follow the movement, and

take the advance after the foot of the rock was

* General Quitman's Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House

of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 411.
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gained for the immediate assault upon the castle.

To favor the movement upon the redan, two pieces

of Magruder's light hattery opened fire from the

vicinity of Molino del Rey, and forced the Mexican

troops in the position to keep close under the shelter

of their parapets.^

The mountain howitzers opened fire upon the

intrenchments through the narrow gateway open

ing from Molino del Rey into the inclosure. Close

at the gate, the first hattalion of voltigeurs was held

in readiness for the direct advance. This corps was

to move across the open ground at a run, cross the

intrenchments, and enter the grove, where it was

to join with the troops of the second hattalion.

The whole were then to heat through to the foot

of the hill, clearing the way to that point, where

the regiment was to form as a supporting force.

The ninth and fifteenth regiments were to follow

and sustain the assault, and were drawn up in a

court-yard near the voltigeurs.

The battalions of the eleventh and fourteenth reg

iments, and two pieces of Magruder's hattery, all

under Colonel Trousdale, were posted at the north

western angle of Molino del Rey, for the double

purpose of watching Alvarez (who had again ad

vanced from the direction of the hacienda Morales

to within observing distance, though beyond six

pound range), and the position of Peria y Barragan
on the northern road by the aqueduct. Except

* General Pillow's Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House

of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 401.
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under a contingency, this corps was to hold its po
sition until the castle fell

;
hut in case re-enforce

ments were seen to he entering the castle, it was

to engage them at all hazards.^

In order that the victory might not he left to

any uncertainty, while these dispositions were he-

ing made, Pillow sent a request to General Scott

that Worth's division, which was to support his as

sault, should he posted nearer the scene of action

than Tacubaya. General Scott so ordered it
;
hut

Worth was already in motion for the purpose. Be

fore he arrived at Molino del Rey, the time for prep

aration had expired, and Quitman had sent word

to Pillow that he was ready for the assault. Pil

low had not quite finished his preparations, and

during the few minutes which intervened hefore

the arrival of General Scott's staff officer, the heavy

guns of battery No. 3 poured successive discharges

of heavy grape and shell into the grove. The or

ders for the cessation of fire were soon received
;
the

American batteries, heavy and light, ceased at once,

and the attack commenced.

Lieutenant-colonel Johnstone led his voltigeurs

rapidly down from Molino del Rey to the level

ground about the redan which he was to assault,

keeping close under the southern wall of the inclo-

sure, to protect his men from the artillery fire of the

castle. The stormers under Captain M'Kenzie,

second artillery, followed close after. When the

* General Pillow's Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Houa

of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 402.
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advance of the voltigeurs came within musket

range of the redan, the Mexican infantry behind

its parapet arose and commenced a lively fire.

Johnstone immediately ordered his companies to

deploy and reply advancing, which they did with

so much effect that the enemy was driven from

the work before the rearmost company was in line.

The whole battalion, rushing through two ditches

across the path and over the parapet, entered the

redan, and through the cut into the grove, joining

with the main force which had advanced through
the gateway of Molino del Rey.
The Mexican batteries on the west of the cas

tle had obtained the range of the gateway during

the morning, and kept up a heavy fire of shells

for half an hour before the advance. The effect

was but to annoy the troops in position, and to ren

der them somewhat restless, for they were protect

ed from the splinters by the walls of the build

ings. Under the circumstances, Cadwalader, who
was the senior officer immediately at the point,

was anxious to commence the assault, and sent

to advise Pillow of the existing state of things.

The mountain howitzers, meanwhile, were served

through the gateway, under the fire from the cas

tle and from the intrenchments
; for, notwithstand

ing the distance, the enemy kept up heavy dis

charges of musketry. They had somewhat shaken

his line along the point of the grove, when, as the

heavy guns ceased firing, Pillow arrived, and or

dered Colonel Andrews to advance the first bat-
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talion of voltigeurs. The corps, issuing through
the gateways, deployed forward at a run, and with

a shout, which told the determination for victory,

rushed straight at the intrenchments. The Mexi

cans delivered a scattering fire, and gave way, for

Johnstone's soldiers were at the moment breaking
into the grove through the redan. Both battalions

of voltigeurs took the cover of the trees, and, engag

ing the enemy, beat him back through the woods

in the direction of the castle.

Seeing the first point gained, Pillow ordered the

howitzer battery and the ninth and fifteenth regi

ments to move forward in support. These troops

passed the gateway and deployed in the field, and

Pillow mounted and took the advance.

Meanwhile the attention of the garrison in the

western portions of the castle was given to the as

sault in this direction. The guns in the priest-cap

and on the flanks were depressed, and sent heavy

discharges of grape over the heads of the retreating

Mexicans. The four pounder in the round bastion

at the angle of the roadway kept up a raking fire

on the road by the southern wall, which was sus

tained by a continued stream of musketry from the

intrenchments in its front.

The American advance was continued, though

slowly, under the heavy fire, as well as that of the

retreating Mexican infantry. It was difficult, for

the ground was wet and boggy, and the moral and

physical effect of the Mexican shot, crashing and

tearing as it did through the foliage, was such as

II. D D
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in some cases to render the men averse to leave the

shelter of the trees. Pillow placed himself in the

front, and by his well-seconded efforts, a continued

movement was established, although the nature of

the ground caused the corps to he thrown into some

disarray. Advancing in this manner, the troops

drove hack the enemy and reached the short open

space at the foot of the hill. There they were halt

ed to allow the stormers to take the front, and to

form in support. But M'Kenzie, having his party

in close formation, had not been able to keep up
with the advance over the boggy ground. He had

not arrived at the base of the hill before the enemy
rallied in the redan half way up the acclivity, and

opened fire thence, as well as from the round bas

tion and the intrenchments in its front. The gall-

ing fire rendered immediate movement necessary,

and Pillow, who had just previously been wound

ed, ordered the assault.

The mountain howitzers sent a few canisters, and

the voltigeur regiment threw a volley up the hill

from the base south of the redan. That regiment

immediately followed, led by Lieutenant-colonel

Johnstone and Major Caldwell. At the same time,

Captain Hooker, who was on the left, repeated the

order, and brought up the nearest body of infantry,

for the voltigeurs were without bayonets. Cap
tain Chase, of the fifteenth infantry, led his com-

pany up to the redan from the north. The Amer
icans pressed forward so rapidly that the enemy
made short resistance, and fell back to the main
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work. The voltigeurs, ninth and fifteenth, follow

ed close after, passed the redan, and gained the

crest of the hill. A Mexican engineer officer was

at the time in the act of firing the saucisson of the

mines, but the fire of the American advance dis

abled him. The saucissons were immediately cut,

and that element of danger was effectually de

stroyed.^

As the Americans rose over the crest, the Mex
ican artillery in the priest-cap opened heavily with

canister, and the troops on the azoteas and at the

windows commenced a rapid rolling discharge of

musketry, and many of the assailants fell killed or

wounded. Of the former was Colonel Ransom, of

the ninth, who died gallantly at the head of his

regiment. As the troops were at the time without

ladders with which to scale the walls, further im

mediate advance was impracticable. They there

fore kept in the rocks, and opened fire upon the

Mexican artillerymen who were not more than

fifty yards distant.

A mountain howitzer was brought up and open
ed upon the round bastion, which was commanded

by points of the hill already gained. Its fire, and

that of a party of voltigeurs closely delivered, soon

drove out the enemy, and the point was at once oc

cupied. The effect of the rifles and muskets di

rected upon the main work was soon apparent from

* General Scott's Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of

Representatives, 6rst Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 378, and General

Bravo's Report.
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the cessation of the artillery fire, although the in

fantry, from roofs and windows, still kept up a

stream of musketry upon the assailants. These,

however, kept close hehind the rocks of the height,

awaiting the arrival of the storming party and the

ladders, and in the while using their weapons with

deadly effect upon all of the garrison who present

ed themselves in sight and within range.

Meantime Captain M'Kenzie arrived at the base

of the hill, and, finding that the other troops had

preceded him in the ascent, in obedience to Pil

low's order he led his party rapidly up. It climb

ed over the rocks and made its way to the advance,

but the troops around the crest were so closely

posted that it was difficult for the stormers to get

through. The ladders were not yet up, for the men
of the carrying party had thrown them down in the

grove, and for the most part engaged in the combat.

Being disabled from active advance, Pillow had

sent Cadwalader up the ascent to give immediate

attention to the movements of the assault. Seeing
the state of affairs, that officer at once sent parties

to collect and bring up the ladders. While this

work was being accomplished, other troops came

up in support.

While advancing through the grove, Pillow had

received a message from Worth that his division

was outside Molino del Rey, in readiness to support

the attack. In answer, Pillow requested that a bri

gade should be advanced through the buildings to

take post in the woods, as, in case of a check, time
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would be lost in bringing re-enforcements forward

by the flank through the narrow gateway. Worth

ordered Colonel Clarke's brigade to advance, and

that corps came rapidly forward. To shelter the

troops from the shot which was falling in the grove,

Pillow ordered them to be posted on the slope of

the hill. The eighth and fifth, and a party of the

sixth regiment, went up the ascent.

The sixth was, however, ordered around the

northern base of the rock, to cut up the fugitives

from the castle
;
for the Mexican garrison was al

ready shaken by the near approach, and many were

attempting to make good their escape.

The New York and second Pennsylvania regi

ments of Quitman's command soon after came

through the bastion and cut, which had been car

ried by Johnstone's command, and, passing through
the grove, commenced ascending the hill. By the

time they had joined the rear of the forces already

in position, a number of ladders had been gathered

and taken up, and the final assault commenced.

The Mexican artillery fire having been silenced,

the troops most in advance had only been awaiting

the ladders to make the last attack. When they
were brought up, parties from different corps, run

ning quickly forward over the rugged though short

space between the crest of the hill and the ditch,

leaped in, and at once planted their ladders. Lieu

tenant Armistead, of the storming party >
led the

way, and, as the ladders were raised, Lieutenant

Selden first mounted to scale the walls. From
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azoteas and windows the Mexicans redoubled their

musketry fire, which killed Lieutenants Rogers and

Smith, of the stormers, who were urging on their

men, struck down Selden, and with him several

soldiers who had been the first to follow his exam

ple ;
but the assailants in the ditch clustered thick

around the ladders already planted and constantly

being raised. Many fell wounded or dead, yet

their places were immediately taken
; and, finally,

Captain Howard, of the voltigeurs, gained the para

pet unhurt. Captain M'Kenzie and many of his

party, Captain Barnard, of the voltigeurs, with the

colors of his regiment (the first in the work), Lieu

tenant Bennet, of the 15th, and a crowd of gallant

officers and men, followed after. Long ladders were

brought up and laid across the ditch, and, with a

shout of victory, the great body of the troops rushed

over, under fire from the buildings inside of the

castle, and the priest-cap was gained.

Further down the hill, Lieutenant-colonel John-

stone led a party of voltigeurs and soldiers of other

regiments over the round bastion and up the road

way, directly upon the gate of the castle. From
the south front of the college, and from the east

ern terrace, the enemy fired heavily upon these as

sailants. Lieutenant Reno's mountain howitzers,

which were with the advance, were opened upon
the terrace in reply, while the soldiers used their

rifles and muskets against the enemy in the win

dows and about the parapets so effectually that his-

fire soon slackened. Running up the roadway,
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the party entered at the gate, and joined the ad

vance of those assailants which had entered over

the priest-cap. The advance was pursued, and the

enemy was rapidly pushed from the eastern terrace

and the whole southern front of the castle. Many
Mexicans, in their flight, jumped down the steep

eastern side of the rock, regardless of the height,

while the Americans pelted them from the parapets.

This part of the castle being won, and finding

the enemy still strong in the lower batteries, and

contesting the assault along the Tacubaya road

with vigor, Johnstone posted a party of voltigeurs

and other troops on the southeastern angle of the

castle. These opened a heavy fire upon the ene

my's rear, which soon told, and insured his retreat.^

Meanwhile the whole castle had been occupied.

Different parties entered at different doors of the

college, and although the Mexicans kept up a re

sistance for a time, it was soon overcome
;
but

while it lasted the American soldiers showed more

ferocity than had been exhibited by them during
the whole course of the war. The remembrance

of the murder of their wounded comrades on the

field of Molino del Rey was still fresh, and, where

resistance was made, quarter was rarely given.

General Perez was killed fighting ;
Colonel Cano,

engineer of the castle, and a host of inferior officers

and soldiers, fell in the tumult
;
and although the

*
Testimony of Lieutenant-colonel Johnstone, Captain Hooker, and Lieu

tenant Bennet, before the Court of Inquiry in the case of Major-general Pil

low. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 158, 172, and 221.
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struggle lasted but a few minutes, it was not until

the soldiers were satiated with revenge, and the

first fury consequent upon the successful assault

had passed away, that the bloodshed was put a

stop to. But, in the midst of the melee, Generals

Bravo, Monterde, Noriega, Dosamantes, and Sal-

dana were taken prisoners, and protected from in

jury.

While the struggle continued on the terre-plein

and inside the college, parties of American officers

and soldiers made their way through the different

rooms of the building to the azotea. Major Sey

mour, of the ninth infantry, tore down the Mexican

flag, and, soon after, the standards of the eighth and

fifteenth regiments of infantry, and the New York

Volunteers, were thrown out from the highest points

of the castle. The shouts of the victors announced

to Mexico that Chapultepec, the strong defense on

the west of her capital, was jn possession of her

enemy.

When the fire of the heavy batteries ceased, Gen
eral Quitman advanced his storming party along
the Tacubaya road to within two hundred yards
of the lower batteries. Several buildings at that

point afforded partial shelter. The enemy in the

batteries kept up a heavy fire of artillery and mus

ketry, which cut up the soldiers severely. The di

rect advance was not immediately persisted in.

The volunteer regiments advanced to the point in

support of the stormers, but there their point of di-
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rection was changed ; they were ordered to cross

the fields and make their way over the southern

walls of the inclosure.*

General Shields led the South Carolina, New
York, and Pennsylvania troops to that attack, but

the batteries were turned upon them with destruct

ive effect. Shields was severely wounded ;
Lieu

tenant-colonel Baxter, who commanded the New
York regiment, was mortally injured; numerous

other brave officers and soldiers fell, and the South

Carolina troops alone reached the wall at the des

ignated point.

The New York and Pennsylvania regiments in

clined strongly to the left, crossed several ditches,

and entered at the redan, through which John-

stone's battalion and Mackenzie's stormers, of

Pillow's command, had passed. Continuing on

through the grove, as has been seen, they follow-

ed the corps which had ascended the hill, into the

main work of Chapultepec.

The South Carolina troops breached the wall

with picks and crows at a point between the redan

and the batteries.

Meanwhile battery No. I reopened its fire upon
the different Mexican positions. Lieutenant Hunt,
who had reported to Quitman with a section of

Duncan's battery, served his guns upon points

where the Mexicans mustered thickest to oppose

the advance of Pillow's command, then around the

* General Quitman's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Rep

resentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 412.
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crest of the hill. Battery No. 3 likewise opened
over the heads of the troops, and fired several shot

into the castle to assist the assault which has been

described. General Smith, whose brigade had been

held to support Quitman's assault, extended to his

right, to protect the right flank of the attacking

column from any force of the enemy which might
advance along the aqueduct from the city.

When the South Carolina regiment had made

its way through and over the wall,* Quitman or

dered the advance direct upon the batteries. The

storming parties rushed down the road, and were

received with a storm of musketry and canister,

which cut them up and retarded the advance for

a time. Major Twiggs, of the marines, who com

manded, fell dead. Captain Casey, of the second

infantry, who led the party from the second divi

sion, was severely wounded ;
Lieutenant Gantt, of

the seventh, of the same party, was killed, and a

large number of the rank and file likewise fell.

But the troops held their ground and pressed on,

until, finally, the castle above having been taken,

they entered the Mexican barricades with a portion

of the rifle regiment which had been advanced

from the right of Smith's command.

A part of General Rangel's brigade sustained the

conflict for a few minutes, but the greater portion

had commenced to retreat vCiien Johnstone's party

opened fire from the castle above. Smith's brigade

* General Quitman's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Rep

resentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 413.
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was brought rapidly forward, and in a short time

the struggle, although deadly while it lasted, was

finished at the lower batteries. In it the gallant

Colonel Xicotencatl, commanding the battalion of

San Bias, fell dead at his post, in a manner which

would have done honor even to the noble Tlas-

calan whose name he bore.

In the mean while the grounds around the east

of the rock had been cleared of the enemy by the

fire from the castle and parties which had descend

ed the hill for that duty. The battalion of the

sixth infantry, which had been sent round the base

of the rock from the west, continued its march,

driving the enemy's parties before it to the eastern

gate of the inclosure. Some effected an escape

thence along the causeways, but the greater num
ber were intercepted and taken prisoners by the

troops of Quitman's command then coming through
the lower batteries. Some had endeavored to escape

observation in the dense foliage, but all were final

ly dispersed, taken prisoners, or slain.

Inside the castle the confusion was, as usual

after an assault, extreme. The success had re

lieved the minds of all of any apprehension as to

the final results of the operations of the army, and,

in the intoxication of the moment, efforts to enforce

order in the work were unavailing. Pillow, who
had been brought up, and was the first general of

ficer in the castle, Cadwalader, and other superior

and staff officers, endeavored to cause the troops to

form
; but, upon the appearance of their generals,
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the soldiers gave vent to their enthusiasm in long
and continued cheers, and forgot the orders the next

moment. Finally, Cadwalader made himself heard

from one of the balconies of the college, and order

commenced to be restored.

So soon as the batteries and the prisoners taken

near them, of which there were several hundred,

had been secured, Quitman ordered the rifle regi

ment to take the road to the garita Belen in pur
suit. In person he ascended to the castle to make

observations and to collect his troops. All the vol

unteers of his division were there at the time, for

when the South Carolinians had passed the wall,

they marched up the main roadway, by the flank,*

and entered the castle by the main gate. When
Quitman arrived the troops were forming, and, hav

ing given orders for those of his command to follow

him, he descended to conduct the operations on the

Belen road, where the pursuit had already com

menced.

While the attacks upon the castle of Chapulte-

pec and the batteries on the Tacubaya road had

been successfully executed, another engagement
had taken place on the north of the inclosure.

From the angle of Molino del Rey, Colonel Trous-

dale advanced with a section of artillery and a por

tion of the fourteenth regiment to within observing

* Colonel Gladden's Testimony. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate,

first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 137.
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distance of the barricades near the eastern angle of

the inclosure. The battalion of the eleventh, and

the remaining section of Magruder's battery, were

left to watch the movement of the enemy's cavalry.

The position to which Trousdale advanced was

exposed to the fire of the castle from the semicircle

on the north, which caused serious annoyance.

Believing that he saw re-enforcements entering

the castle, he determined to advance. Lieutenant

Jackson was ordered to move forward with his

guns, and a party of the fourteenth regiment to fol

low in support. Before the pieces were unlimbered,

a heavy fire of cannon and musketry was opened
from the barricades, besides that from the castle

above. Under it, the horses of the pieces were

nearly all killed and disabled, the drivers and can

noneers much cut up, and the supporting force was

instantly checked. The soldiers found some shel

ter and held their ground ; and, with great exer

tions, Jackson got one of his pieces from under the

direct fire, and opened in reply to the enemy. With
this the point was held until the castle was car

ried, and the Mexicans around the barricades com
menced a retreat.

In the mean time, Trousdale had come forward

to restore order, and had been twice severely wound

ed. Lieutenant-colonel Hebert j oined the regiment
from the angle of Molino del Rey ;

and when the

enemy commenced his retreat, the troops advanced,

seized the gun which had been served upon them,

and turned it on the enemy.
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The eleventh infantry, during this time, had driv

en hack a party of cavalry which came down within

range of its position. It fell hack quickly hefore a

volley, and the appearance of Worth's first hrigade,

the light hattalion, and a section of Duncan's guns,

which were moving along the front of Molino del

Rey to take position for pursuit along the San Cos -

me road to the capital.

Worth arrived at the angle while the fire upon
Jackson's section and the fourteenth regiment was

continued and heavy. He ordered Captain Ma-

gruder to withdraw the pieces, and threw a portion

of Garland's hrigade to the left of the road, to take

the barricades in flank. These troops came in as

the enemy retreated, and the point was carried.

This having heen accomplished, the ditch was filled

up, and the artillery and troops of the command
were advanced along the designated route in pur
suit.

During all these operations General Scott had

heen observing the progress of events from Tacu-

baya. When the castle had been carried, he came

forward to that point. The great body of the troops

was still there when he arrived, and, having made
a reconnaissance from the azotea of the college, he

issued his orders for their disposition. Clarke's

brigade was to rejoin Worth ;
Cadwalader's to fol

low and support him
;
the fifteenth regiment was

designated to form the garrison of Chapultepec ;

the ninth ordered to support Quitman ;
and heavy

ordnance was ordered forward to the different com-
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mands from the siege train. Having given these

directions and seen the troops in motion, some time

afterward he proceeded in person to the scene of

Worth's operations.^

The routes from Chapultepec to the capital have

heen "before mentioned
;
the most southerly, as

running a little north of east, to the garita Belen,

and the other, first north to the suburb of San Cos

ine, and there turning at right angles, continuing

through that suburb to the garita of the same

name. The defenses on these routes exterior to

the garitas had heen principally constructed during
the armistice and the days immediately succeeding
it. Being out of view until after the fall of Cha

pultepec, they were necessarily unknown to the

American officers. Although they had been con

structed on a general plan, for covering the inter

mediate ground as well as the direct approaches

by the causeways, yet the manner of the attack

was such as to render it necessary to refer only to

the points of defense directly on the routes.

Both of these were by the side of the aqueducts,

which, supported on arches of heavy masonry, af

forded certain advantages both to assailant and

defender.

After the fall of Chapultepec, the operations of

the American army, which in the early part of the

* General Scott's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Repre

sentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 381.
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day, had been directed to the attainment of that

great object, became detached and directed upon
different points. General Scott intended that the

greatest force should be sent and employed on the

route to San Cosine, while Quitman was to ad-

vance cautiously on that to Belen, and keep up a

diversion.^ Quitman did not so understand it, but

made a fierce attack, and the operations upon both

routes became of a positive character.

The rifle regiment had already become engaged
with the enemy at a battery about midway be

tween Chapultepec and the garita Belen, when the

main body of Quitman's command was in readi

ness to move forward from the batteries on the

Tacubaya road. The forces had been detained

about that point, engaged in replenishing ammuni

tion, and in filling up the ditches to allow the

passage of the artillery.

The troops which took the route to Belen were,

besides Quitman's proper division, Smith's brigade,

and portions of different corps, which, becoming de

tached in the confusion of the operations about

Chapultepec, had been led thither in search of

their colors or to join in the battle. Of these, the

largest was the battalion of the sixth infantry,

which had passed north of the rock of Chapultepec,

and, being without orders, had taken that route

with the advancing forces. Subsequently the ninth

infantry joined under General Scott's orders, and

* General Scott's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Repre-
"

sentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 382.



THE WAR WITH MEXICO. 433

throughout the day Captain Drum's company of

artillery served in this direction.

After the fall of Chapultepec, the Mexican forces

had formed in the battery with which the rifles had

become engaged. Strong corps were also posted

on either flank, in and about works which connect

ed with the angle of the San Cosine aqueduct on

the north, and works on the Piedad road to the

south. Drum had left his pieces beyond the ditches

of the barricades on the Tacubaya road, and at first

served a captured four pounder on the retreating

Mexicans and the battery at which they made a

stand. An eight-inch howitzer having been brought

forward, it was opened in that direction, and the

rifles, springing from arch to arch, gained points

within range of the battery, whence they opened a

sharp fire. The remaining troops of the command
were coming forward when the enemy abandoned

the point.

The fire of the howitzer had been highly effect

ive, the rifles were pressing closer every instant,

and at the moment Lieutenant-colonel Duncan

opened two of his pieces on the flank of the posi

tion, within four hundred yards.
* Worth's column

was at the time advancing along the San Cosme

road
; and, seeing the state of things, and a route by

which his artillery could get within range, that

general had ordered the movement, which, executed

with celerity, assisted in gaining the point.

* General Worth's and Quitman's Reports. Executive Document, No. 1,

House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 392, 415.

II. E E
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Quitman's whole command having come up to

the battery, he reorganized it for an attack upon
the garita. The rifles and South Carolina troops

were mingled in the advance, and, passing from

arch to arch, approached the enemy's position at

the batteries around the garita Belen. The remain

der of the command followed in the same manner
;

but Captain Drum served the eight-inch howitzer

and a sixteen pounder without shelter.

The enemy made a stout resistance, and sent

showers of round shot, grape, and musketry down

the road, which cut up the artillerymen, and told

fearfully upon the infantry soldiers who did not

keep within the arches. For annoying those who

did, the enemy moved a large corps out on the Pie-

dad road, within musket shot on the south, which

opened a galling flank fire. The American artille

ry was turned quickly in that direction, and with

a few well-directed discharges of canister, deliv

ered through the arches, dispersed it. The advance

on the garita was continued under the heavy fire

of the enemy, which could be only effectively re

plied to by the artillery. The distance was, how

ever, gradually lessened, the enemy gave way, and

finally Quitman, coming to the front, ordered a di

rect advance upon the battery. It was carried with

small loss at twenty minutes past one o'clock in

the afternoon,

The Mexican troops retreated into the city, and

Quitman's whole command was soon compactly-

up with the captured work. The rifles and South
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Carolina regiment advanced along the aqueduct to

within one hundred yards of the citadel, which was

still silent. Drum's ammunition had heen expend

ed, but he advanced an eight pounder captured at

the garita, and served it upon the retreating enemy.
Further advance, however, was soon rendered im

practicable.

Santa Anna, who had been engaged in prepar

ing the defense of other points, came up with a

heavy re-enforcement and made good the battle.

Enraged at the bad defense which General Terres,

the commander at the garita, had made, the presi

dent met him with bitter reproaches, and struck

him in the face. He posted a large force of infant

ry and several guns in the batteries on the Paseo,

a broad road running north from the garita Belen,

re-enforced the citadel, and stationed infantry in

the houses to its east. From these points a terrific

fire of artillery and small arms was poured upon
the American troops, under which but few attempts
were made to advance.

The rifles and South Carolina regiment lay close

behind the aqueduct ;
other troops lay under cover

of the parapets of the captured work, and in the

buildings of the garita, while the remainder kept

in the arches to the rear. From the citadel and

Paseo the artillery fire of the enemy was concen

trated upon the garita, and the shot tore through
the buildings every instant. In spite of the heavy

fire, Captain Drum continued to serve his eight

pounder. His men fell rapidly, and details had
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been twice furnished to supply their places. As

the ammunition of this gun too was expended,
Drum fell mortally wounded. The piece was
drawn hack under cover of the parapet, hut hardly
was it sheltered hefore Lieutenant Benjamin and

the first sergeant of the company fell stricken in

like manner. Like their captain, these had been

unsheltered during the advance throughout the

afternoon.

Under the heavy shower of shot, shell, and mus

ketry, it was in vain to advance, or even to attempt

to bring up ammunition with which to recommence

a reply. During the remainder of the afternoon

the Americans about this point confined them

selves to holding the captured positions. The en

emy several times attempted sallies from the citadel

and houses, and made demonstrations of attacking

the right flank
;
but his parties were generally small,

and were at once driven back by the fire of the in

fantry and riflemen posted in that direction. Two

companies of infantry were thrown out to a small

work on the left, which had been abandoned, to

protect that flank. The main body of the Amer
ican troops remained about the garita and in and

behind the arches of the aqueduct until nightfall.

Then the Mexican fire ceased.

General Worth was re-enforced by three squad
rons of dragoons soon after the fall of Chapultepec
and the barricades on the northern road. His com
mand steadily followed the retreating Mexicans

along the route by the aqueduct of San Cosme,
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until it was halted to allow the fire of Duncan's

guns to favor Quitman's advance.

During the halt Captain Magruder brought up
his battery, and, supposing other American troops

to be in advance, he proceeded on until he found

himself in presence of the enemy, posted in strong

force in and about a work at the angle of the aque
duct. He was unsupported except by a command
made up of scattered detachments, in all number

ing about sixty, which had become separated from

their corps and wandered in this direction. The

enemy several times issued from his works with

an apparent intention of seizing the battery, but

soon fell back before the fire of the guns.^

The second brigade had meanwhile rejoined

Worth's division, and the advance in force was

continued. Magruder's battery was drawn back,

masked by the dragoons. Garland threw out de

tachments from the second artillery and fourth in

fantry, under Captain Brooks and Lieutenant Grant,
to the left, while another, under Lieutenant Gore,

advanced direct upon the enemy's work. The as

sailants were few, but, nevertheless, after a short

conflict, the enemy retired into the suburb. The
American parties pursued him rapidly along the

aqueduct until they gained a barricade midway
between the captured work and the garita of San

Cosme. From this point, however, they were with-

*
Captain Magruder's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Rep

resentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, Appendix to the Report

of the Secretary of War, p. 195.
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drawn, for the breaking up of the corps, and the

confusion incident to the quick pursuit of the vic

tory, had rendered a reorganization necessary.

The main strength of Worth's division had come

up to the vicinity of the captured work. Two of

Magruder's guns were located at embrasures look

ing along the main street of the suburb, and the

two remaining on the west looking to the road from

Tacubaya. While the scattered parties were being

collected, Cadwalader, having reunited his brigade,

came up to the position.

During this halt, the enemy having brought up

artillery which had been withdrawn from the garita

San Antonio, reoccupied the barricade previously

taken and abandoned by the Americans. Thence,

as well as from the houses in the vicinity, he kept

up a lively fire
;
but a slight angle in the aqueduct,

some distance in advance, gave shelter to many
troops, and the remainder were posted behind the

houses.

General Scott arrived soon after Worth was

ready for the advance. The points of the enemy's

position had been discovered by a reconnaissance

made during the halt. Worth was ordered to push

on, to carry the garita, and^ if possible, to penetrate

before dark to the Alameda. Cadwalader's bri

gade was left to hold the captured work at the an

gle of the aqueduct. Worth advanced his whole

division along the road under shelter of the angle

in his front.

Upon reaching that point, further direct advance
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was exceedingly difficult, if not impracticable.

The Mexicans served a gun and howitzer from be

hind the first barricade with great rapidity, and

sent showers of musketry from the house-tops.

Under these circumstances, Worth ordered Gar

land's brigade through the aqueduct into the build

ings on the right, and Clarke's into those on the

left of the road. Both corps quickly took posses

sion of the houses, and commenced making their

way through them to the front. The Mexicans

held on to the barricade until a mountain howitzer

from the roof of one of the occupied houses opened

upon them, when they quickly withdrew their

pieces into the battery at the garita, around which

their principal force was stationed.

During the occurrence of these events several

pieces of heavy caliber had been advanced to the

work held by Cadwalader, but so constant was the

enemy's fire along the street of the suburb that no

opportunity was afforded for locating them.

The barricade having been abandoned, the Amer
ican advance was continued on either side of the

aqueduct, through and over the houses. A depot
of engineer tools having been captured, material

for this kind ofmovement was afforded, and, though

necessarily slow, it was continuous. Two mount

ain howitzers, one located on the azotea of the

Church of San Cosme on the right, and one on that

of a commanding building on the left, were kept
in lively play upon the garita.

But the Mexicans would not easily yield. Hav-
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ing made the dispositions around the citadel and

the garita Belen, which had checked Quitman,

Santa Anna had come up to San Cosme, and his

troops fought well. The assailants were, however,

working their way on either side of his point of de

fense, and from windows and roofs were pouring a

stream of musketry and canister with accurate

aim. By five o'clock in the afternoon they were

nearly up with the houses ahout the garita, and

Worth ordered a light gun to he advanced to the

barricade in its front.

Lieutenant Hunt, of Duncan's "battery, took it

forward at a gallop, under a fire which killed and

wounded five out of nine men, and the piece was

served upon the enemy through the embrasure of

the barricade.

Toward night the troops had all approximated
to the garita, and though, from the nature of the

operations, the corps were much scattered, yet all

were waiting the signal for the advance. Captain

M'Kenzie, whose storming party had rejoined its

division, and been in the front during the opera
tions of the afternoon, being nearest the position of

the enemy, advanced upon it with his party. His

movement was quickly supported by all the differ

ent corps engaged in the vicinity, and the garita

was quickly carried. The enemy, much cut up by
the American fire, made but short resistance. He
retreated and carried off one of his cannon. The
other was seized by the assailants, and served upon
the retiring parties until they were out of range.
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Worth fixed his head-quarters for the night at a

house some hundred yards from the garita. His

troops were posted about it, and in rear as far as

the angle of the aqueduct.

When the general-in-chief had arrived at the

scene of action, he had ordered the three squadrons
of dragoons which had accompanied Worth in his

advance to return to Tacubaya for the defense of

that point. After Worth had advanced in execu

tion of his orders, he returned in person to the

vicinity of Chapultepec, whence he ordered the

troops, still under Twiggs's command at Piedad, to

join those engaged in the city.^ Riley's brigade

wras sent to report to Worth, and Steptoe's battery

to rejoin Quitman's division
;
but these troops did

not arrive at their destinations until some time

after dark.

The demonstration from the Nino Perdido road

had been kept up until after the fall of Chapulte

pec. As the greater number of the guns had been

withdrawn from the enemy's lines soon after that

event, the cannonade ceased on both sides.

During the night, General Quitman's command
was engaged in the construction of epauleinents

for a heavy battery. Before dawn they were com

pleted, and one twenty-four, one eighteen pound

er, and one eight-inch siege howitzer, with a full

supply of ammunition for all, were in position.

The new battery was under Captain Steptoe,

* General Scott's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Repre

sentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 382.
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who had left his twelve pounders in reserve to the

rear.

General Worth, being within the city, ordered

Captain Huger to place a twenty-four pounder and

a ten-inch mortar in hattery near his head-quar

ters soon after dark. At nine o'clock they opened
in the direction of the Plaza. But few shot or shell

were fired
;
but the demonstration of a bombard

ment had the desired effect.

A council of Mexican general officers was set

ting at the time in the citadel, and it was de

termined to withdraw the beaten army, and give

up the capital to the conquerors without further

struggle. The determination was executed with

as much celerity as possible. Many soldiers, how

ever, deserted in the confusion; and care was tak

en, before leaving, to liberate all the convicts in the

city prisons. The object of this was, that they

should assist in a mode of warfare determined

upon and set forth in a proclamation soon after ne

gotiations were broken off. Preparations had been

made for it by arming the lowest class of the popu

lation, and covering the azoteas with the paving
stones of the torn-up pavements of the different

streets.

As many pieces of artillery as could be transport

ed were taken with the retreating army. None

were removed from the citadel, as it was in close

vicinity to the American position, and the removal

might have given the alarm. By one o'clock on

the morning of the 14th, the Mexican army, as a
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body, had left the capital, and taken the northern

road to Guadalupe Hidalgo.

At the same hour a deputation from the Ayunta-
miento to the American general-in-chief presented

itself at Worth's head-quarters near the garita San

Cosine. It was sent under an escort to Tacu-

baya, where General Scott received it at about

four o'clock.

At the interview, the deputation requested terms

of capitulation in favor of the Church, the citizens,

and the civil authorities. General Scott promptly
refused to sign any capitulation, inasmuch as the

city had been virtually in his possession from the

time of the lodgments of the preceding day ;
and

he declared that his army should come under no

terms not self-imposed.^ With an answer to such

effect, the deputation returned to the city.

Worth pushed forward his reconnoitering parties

early on the morning of the 14th. At five o'clock

his main body advanced as far as the Alameda,

where, in obedience to General Scott's orders, he

halted to await further instructions.

At dawn of day Quitman received a white flag

from the citadel, with the information that the

place had been abandoned. He immediately took

possession of it, and placed a regiment in garrison.

The remainder of his command marched to the

Plaza and occupied the palace.

When the capital had been evacuated by the

* General Scott's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, House of Repre

sentatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 383.
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Mexican army, a gang of thieves and leperos had

entered the public buildings. At the time of Quit-

man's arrival they were engaged in plundering,

but were soon cleared out, and order was apparent

ly restored in that quarter.

General Scott soon after entered the city, and

established his head-quarters temporarily in the

palace. For some hours all things were quiet

about the town
;
but when the different corps had

dispersed to take quarters, the liberated convicts

and disbanded soldiers commenced a straggling

fire from the house-tops, which caused serious an

noyance. The Ayuntamiento was immediately
called upon to take measures for checking this

kind of warfare, and the troops were at once vigor

ously employed against those engaged in it.

The streets were swept with grape and canister,

and the heavy guns were turned upon the houses

whence the fire proceeded. Each of them was

given up to plunder, and the soldiers were ordered

to spare none found within them. They were

plundered, but the soldiers would not execute the

latter part of the order in full. But, except these

designated houses, none were robbed, and, in gen

eral, the soldiers committed no outrages certainly

none in comparison with that which might have

been expected under the existing circumstances.

It was not until the morning of the 15th that

the disturbance was finally checked, and, mean

while, several officers and soldiers of the army had

been killed and wounded. On that day the city
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became quiet, order was in a great measure re

stored, and the troops were quartered in the differ

ent parts of the town. Hospitals were established,

and the comfort and care of the sick and wounded

were at last attended to in a manner.

On the 14th, 16th, 17th, and 18th, General Scott

issued stringent orders, requiring the observance

of strict discipline on the part of his soldiers, and

prescribing the limit to the occupation of quarters.

By that of the 17th, a contribution of $150,000 was

imposed upon the capital. The method of its ex

penditure, for the benefit of the sick and wounded
of the army, and for replacing the lost and damaged

clothing, was established.^ The amount was to

be collected by the Ayuntamiento, and paid in four

weekly installments. Saving this small amount,
no other contribution was levied upon the city of

Mexico at that time.

The strength of the American force which was

in the field during these final operations, which

resulted in the fall of the Mexican capital, includ

ing the storming of Chapultepec, of the batteries

on the Tacubaya road, and the advance on and

capture of the works on the causeways of San Cos

ine and Belen, did not exceed, in the aggregate,

6800 men. The various losses which had occurred

in the different preceding actions, the increase of

the sick list, and the necessary garrison for the de

pot at Mixcoac, had reduced the force which orig-

* General Orders, NOB. 284, 286, 287, and 289. Executive Document, No.

1, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 386-390.
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inally marched from Puebla, but 10,738 strong of

all arms, to that number. From the nature of the

operations, not more than one third of the numbers

upon the field had been employed directly on one

point at the same time. At all of them the defend

ers were greatly superior, besides having the ad

vantage of position.

The great dependence of the Mexicans had been

upon the Castle of Chapultepec, strong, and strong

ly situated as it was, and many had believed that

it was impregnable. The anticipation was cherish

ed, that if the American army failed in the assault

upon it, it would retreat from the valley, and that

the glory of successful defense would belong to

Mexico. But when Chapultepec fell before the

vigorous assault, the moral as well as physical

effect of the capture opened the way for the en

trance into the capital. All the confidence, all the

prestige of victory which had belonged to the Amer
ican army, was at once restored

;
the hook upon

which hung the hope of Mexico was broken, and

with it what moral force remained to the mass of

her defenders.

Twelve officers, including, besides those who
have been mentioned, Captain Van Olinda, of the

New York troops, Lieutenants Sidney Smith, of the

fourth infantry, and Cantey and Moragne, of the

South Carolina regiment, fell under mortal wounds,

and sixty-six others were stricken during the con

tinuance of the operations. One hundred and twen

ty soldiers killed, and six hundred and sixty-five
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wounded, made the aggregate of the loss of the

army eight hundred and sixty-three.^

That so small a force, bravely led, should, under

any circumstances, have captured the strong points

of Mexican defense, and penetrated the capital,

would have heen cause of wonder and admiration,

even with the brilliant and successful deeds of the

army throughout the war, and those of the 19th

and 20th of August in fresh remembrance.

Effected as the last conquests were after vexa

tious delays, and the consequent abandonment of

all previously-gained advantages, and against the

strongest points of the Mexican lines, and these

fortified during the delay, the deeds speak trumpet-

tongued in praise of the bravery of the troops and

of their gallant leading. All remark, all comment,
all verbal praise on these subjects is unnecessary.

None can deny that better troops or braver officers

have seldom or never shown their prowess to the

world than those who stormed Chapultepec, and,

through it, the capital of Mexico. The disposi

tions and details of the operations may perhaps be

criticised, but the astonishing success silences cavil

or complaint concerning the conduct of the troops

or the execution of the attacks, either from enemies

or those who would judge impartially.

* Return of Killed and Wounded. Executive Document, No. 1, House of

Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 470.
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CHAPTER XIV.

OBSERVATIONS Agreement to the Armistice The Battle of Molino del Key
Events and Dispositions between the 8th and 12th of September The

Storming of Chapultepec The Attacks on the Guritas of Belcn and San

Cosme Reflections.

THE operations of the American army during the

interval between the 7th and the 14th of Septem

ber, in which it lost 1652 men and officers in kill

ed and wounded, were the result of the armistice.

They were the immediate consequence of the fail

ure of the negotiations which Mr. Trist carried on

during its continuance. The ultimate object of the

operations was the capture of the city of Mexico,

and, in effect, that object had been gained by the

battles of Contreins and Churubusco. This fact

was admitted by the Mexican commissioners for

the convention, believed in by the intelligent neu

trals of the British embassy, the conquest was

claimed by the American general -in-chief in his

official report, and was apparent to all who were

present and.witnessed the existing state of affairs.

The narrative of the operations has been brought
to the attainment of the object, to the capture of

the enemy's capital, and the cause and its effects

may be subjects for observation. The first of these

is the agreement to the armistice.

1. "Should continued success attend your opera-

tions, you may, some time before, be met by a prop-
osition to treatfor peace, with an intermediate arm-
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istice. No such proposition will be entertained by

you without your beingfirst satisfied that it is made

in good faith, and without your being in possession,

or being put by stipulation in possession, of such

commanding positions as will insure good faith on

the part of the enemy"*
2.

" The department need not fear that 1 shall,

early or late, consent to any truce without placing
the United States upon a safe footing for negotia

tions"^

The first of these extracts is from a letter of Gen
eral Scott to General Taylor of the 12th of June,

1846, giving instructions for the guidance of the

latter general, and the second from his letter to the

Secretary of War of the llth of April, 1846. In

both, a full guarantee of the good faith of the enemy
appears to have been considered by the general-in-

chief as requisite to the agreement to an armistice.

Certainly military prudence and propriety demand
ed no less

; for, when the attempt is made to con

quer a peace by force of arms after diplomacy has

failed, it is an evident truth that the object is not

to be obtained by sacrificing military advantages,

which, if pursued, must force the enemy to accede

to the terms proposed, or to experience great losses.

And yet General Scott's course of action, in

agreeing to the armistice of the 24th of August,
was precisely contrary to that which he had laid

down for his subordinate, and which he announced

* Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 326. t Idem, p. 926.

II. F F
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as that which he should pursue. With a small

army he had marched upon a perilous expedition,

had necessarily abandoned his communications in

the course of the operations, had conquered his en

emy hy a wonderful combination of fortunate cir

cumstances, aided hy the gallant conduct of his

army. Had the victory heen pursued and Mexico

been taken, his position would have been safe.

Had any point been acquired which would have

insured the speedy conquest of the capital in case

of the failure of negotiations, then the conditions

which the general-in-chief had before prescribed as

necessary before such an arrangement should be

made wrould have been fulfilled. In that case

the negotiation might with all prudence have been

entered upon with the hope of good results. But

nothing was gained which might serve as a guar

antee, and nothing was strenuously demanded at

the time when General Scott was in such position

that he could demand it.

The claim for the surrender of the Castle of Cha-

pultepec, indirectly set forth, was abandoned
;
not

for any military reason, although at that time Cha-

pultepec was not considered as of any great import

ance by the general-in-chief. It was abandoned,

as it was said, to soothe the national pride of Mex

ico, which would not permit the negotiation of a

treaty without this gratification. That the nego
tiation was impossible without it was the declara

tion of British officials and Mexican leaders. That-

it was impossible with it is evidenced by the facts,
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and the result of the negotiations carried on during
the continuance of the convention.

Sacrifices to Mexican pride had been made

throughout this whole war
;
but of all the sacrifi

ces, none had been so dangerous to the American

army, the honor of the country, or the success of

the cause as this. The army was the first thing

compromised in the case of the failure of the nego

tiations, or of a subsequent attack upon the capi

tal, and with it all else.

For it, retreat was out of the question. It was

difficult in itself, still more difficult from the na

ture of the country and the routes, and a hospital

of over a thousand sick and wounded soldiers for

bade any thing like the attempt ; for, with Mex
ican enemies, elated by the success of their intrigue,

if not of their arms, the fate of the wounded, if left

behind, would soon have been accomplished ;
that

of the main army would hardly have been prob

lematical. Nothing could in reason have been an

ticipated but for the American forces to take the

city of Mexico or to perish in the attempt. They
did take it in the event, and proved that, in the

bravery and efficiency of his troops, the American

general had one guarantee which did not fail him.

But the splendor of the victory achieved under so

many disadvantages, although that victory coun

teracted the effect of the armistice upon the ulti

mate success of the cause of the United States, and

added to the glory of the American arms, can not

cover up the facts that the armistice was entered



452 THE WAR WITH MEXICO.

into, that both of these were placed in jeopardy,

and that for the capture of the city of Mexico,

which was at the time in the power of the assail

ants, the blood of 1652 gallant men was subse

quently required.

The various reasons which may have presented

themselves to General Scott have been noticed

heretofore. The desire of the American govern
ment and people for peace certainly was a reason

in favor of putting forth most strenuous exertions

to obtain it. But it can not be quoted as a reason

for endangering the army upon so doubtful a point

in the pursuit of the object, and with the army, the

prospects of ever obtaining peace upon advantage
ous terms.

The coincidence existing between the terms sug

gested, and in a manner agreed upon, in the corre

spondence which took place while the American

army remained at Puebla, and those actually con

cluded at Tacubaya, proves that General Scott did

not enter into the measure without consideration,

and also that he put faith in the representations

of Santa Anna. Whether he would have done so

had they not been backed by the counsel of the

British minister and those connected with his em

bassy, is very doubtful
;
but even with that coun

sel, the very nature of the final proposition, which

required him to give up all the advantages of the

victory, and to take all the risks of defeat, was suf

ficient to have demonstrated the danger, and pre*

vented the assumption of so great a responsibility.
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The scheme was successful, so far as Santa Anna

actually promised that it should be, for negotiations

were entered upon ;
but they failed, and left the

American army and arms in a far worse condition

than if they had never been opened.
Santa Anna was allowed to choose between the

chance of personal profit by the conclusion of the

war, or ofprobably gaining a victory and a perpetu
ation of power by the renewal of hostilities. Cir

cumstances, and, notwithstanding the asserted be

lief of American functionaries, probably his own

inclinations, induced him to choose the latter, and,

as has been seen, he did not hesitate to violate his

engagements with his confiding adversary in order

to secure himself, after his course of action had

been once determined upon.

Different opinions have been expressed in rela

tion to this measure. By some it has been regard
ed as a display of magnanimity, and the voluntary

assumption of grave responsibility in the pursuit of

the ends of the war. By others it has been con

sidered as a measure undertaken for political ag

grandizement, and the result of a short-sighted in

fatuation, which led to misplaced confidence in the

faith of a man noted for his bad faith in politics,

and almost without an equal in the intrigues of

diplomacy. Whichever of these opinions is correct,

the measure was unsuccessful, and therefore most

unfortunate for the principal actors upon the Amer

ican side, as well as for the army.

The responsibility of it must rest with General
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Scott. In his own language, made use of at a time

when the army was in a situation far less danger

ous than when in rear of the city of Mexico, with

that capital, a large army, and near three hundred

miles of country hetween it and its hase of opera

tions,
"
the question of an armistice or no armistice

is most peculiarly a military question, appertaining

of necessity, if not of universal right, in the absence

of direct instructions, to the commander of the in

vading forces"* The evident truth contained in

the ahove was asserted when it was, for the pur

pose of disputing the power which it was supposed

Mr. Trist was attempting to arrogate to himself.

The basis for the opinion was the paramount im

portance of the safety of the army. If it were a

correct one at Jalapa on the 7th of May, it was no

less so at Tacuhaya on the 24th of August. It

would seem that if the same opinion had been en

tertained, and reference had been made to his for

mer letters for the necessary steps to secure the

safety of the army, they would have backed the

representations of Worth and Pillow with General

Scott, and saved a portion, if not all, of the loss in

cident to the operations which took place between

the 7th and 14th of September.

Nothing can be found in the dispatches from

Washington to justify a belief that any such con

vention as that agreed upon at Tacubaya had ever

been contemplated or authorized by the executive

* General Scott to Mr. Trist. Executive Document, No. 60, House of

Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 960.
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of the United States. On the contrary, the contin

gency upon which an armistice was to be granted
was declared to be the definite conclusion and rati

fication of peace.
^ Moreover, the disapprobation

which had been expressed of the convention of

Monterey, agreed to by General Taylor when not

so much hazard of disaster was incurred, might
have told how such an armistice as that of Tacu-

baya would have been received. The matter was

never directly commented upon by the authorities

at Washington, and for the probable reason that

the news of it, and of the final assault and capture

of the city of Mexico, reached them at nearly the

same time. The error was for a space lost sight of

in the splendor of the military achievements of the

army which immediately preceded it, and of those

which were its atonement. As the great military

operations of the war were finished with those

achievements, in the natural dislike which all gov

ernments, and especially republican governments,
have for censuring a general made popular by the

glorious success of his army, the agreement to this

convention was passed over. But that it was over

looked by the authorities at Washington does not

detract from the facts of the case, nor even give it

the sanction of the executive. Nor would such

sanction be of any avail. The armistice must rest

upon its own merits in the judgment of history,

and the responsibility must rest upon the proper

* Mr. Marcy to General Scott. Executive Document, No. 60, House of

Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 962.
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authors of it
;
and when it is said that it was ill

judged and unfortunate, let those who fought in

the subsequent actions testify whether the opinion

is erroneous.

The battle of Molino del Rey.

Upon partial information, and in spite of the

contradictions which have been mentioned in the

narrative, General Scott ordered the execution of

this battle for the purpose of capturing and destroy

ing a foundery supposed to exist within the range
of buildings. It was, however, intended to be a

partial operation, and only commensurate with the

supposed importance of the object to be gained.

The idea that it would prove to be such an opera

tion might very well have been entertained, so long

as it was understood that the foundery was defend

ed only by a small force, and that the intention of

attack was kept secret from the enemy. But how
it could have been believed that such a position as

Molino del Rey could be assaulted in the night,

carried, the machinery broken up, and that the at

tacking force could retire into Tacubaya before

morning, having suffered a loss of not more than

twenty men, is indeed inexplicable ;
for it is made

to appear that the fact of the Mexican troops tak

ing up position was one reason for ordering the at

tack;^ and before it was executed, certainly, it

was well known that the enemy's position was

strong, and strongly fortified.

* General Scott's Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate,

lirst Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 355.
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Whoever the persons were who brought General

Scott the information concerning the reputed found -

ery on the night of September 6th, whether intel

ligent neutrals or spies in General Scott's employ,
the information was false. The fact that Santa

Anna commenced moving his troops to the field

on the morning of the 7th would indicate that he

knew that the attack would be made at that point ;

and the care which had been taken to select the

position, and to throw up fortifications, would show

that he had had the occurrence for some time un

der consideration. In all probability, the Mexican

president caused the information which induced

the American general to order the attack
; for, if

he did not, and had no reason to believe that it

would be made at Molino del Rey, why did he

move so large a force to the very strongest point

of his lines, and that most distant from the city,

when the positions about the garita of San An
tonio were comparatively undefended ? It is not

probable that the movement could have been in

tended to threaten Tacubaya, for an attack by
Mexican troops upon such a force as Worth's divi

sion alone, in good defensive position, would hard

ly have been attempted. Moreover, in such case,

the defenses prepared about Molino del Rey would

have been unnecessary.

If Santa Anna really did bring about the opera
tion by causing false information to be conveyed
to the American general, it is but another instance

where his skillful intrigue caused a course to be
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adopted by his adversary which relinquished every

advantage, and in which, according- to all proba

bility, he should have been defeated. If he did

not, then the conception of the attack, made as it

was, must attach to General Scott, and the facts

speak for themselves whether the movement was

well judged or not.

It might very well have been deemed proper, in

consideration of the great strength of the Mexican

force, and its proximity to the American lines, to

have struck a powerful blow, which would have at

once crushed a large portion of the defending army,

and, by pursuing the victory, to have carried the

strong point of the western lines, the Castle of

Chapultepec. Such was Worth's opinion, and, as

the attack was made, it was doubtless the proper

one. Something would then have been gained by
the operation, and the American army would have

been at least one step nearer the capital. But a

general battle like that should have been fought

with the whole disposable force of the army, and

not with three small brigades, seven light and two

heavy pieces of artillery, while the nearest troops

to be depended upon for re-enforcement were at the

distance of three miles from the field, and the most

distant at least ten, at San Augustin.

It may be said that it was necessary to leave

troops to watch the other portions of the line.

Pierce's and Blley's brigades were advanced in the

direction of the left, and, as they were, it would

appear that they were sufficient for the purpose ;
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especially as they were withdrawn thence .during

the action by General Pillow, and ordered to the

field by General Scott. Smith's brigade and Quit-

man's division were left in idleness at San Angel
and San Augustin. The only reason which can

be assigned for their inactivity is to be found in the

very mistaken ideas entertained of the undertak

ing, for it was perfectly practicable for them to

have been upon the field. If it was not, the bat

tle should not have been commenced until it was.

The object for which the battle was fought was

not commensurate with the importance of the

movement, as it -proved, or the effort which would

have been required for success in any case. A little

reflection upon the mechanical process of gun cast

ing might have sufficed to show it. It is slow in

the best of founderies, and it was well known that

that at Molino del Rey, or any other in Mexico,

did not stand in any such category. The Ameri

can army was provisioned for twenty days, and

was not large enough to detach any very consider

able force on foraging expeditions to increase the

supply; wherefore, if the capital of Mexico did

fall, it was to fall in that period. Under the sup

position that twenty guns (certainly a large esti

mate) had been finished and located in battery,

can it be believed that such an increase of Mexi

can armament could have caused such a loss as

did befall the American troops at Molino del Rey,
and they not have been in possession of some key,

some approach to the capital ? If so, let reference
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be made to the armament, and the returns of kill

ed and wounded of Monterey, of Cerro Gordo, of

Contreras, and Churubusco.

Nothing was here intended by the general-in-

chief except the destruction of a foundery which

had not even existence, and which, if it had, could

have been effectually stopped by the simple opera

tion of cutting off the water
;
an operation attend

ed with no danger, and not half an hour's labor.

The approach to the city in any contingency, or

the seizure of any permanent advantage, was not

intended
; nay, it was positively forbidden to the

general who conducted the immediate operation

upon the field.

The conduct of the battle has been severely cen

sured by both military men and civilians, and in

many cases the censure has fallen heavily upon
the general who immediately directed the troops

engaged. That it has been censured shows that

its result was not satisfactory, and that a great loss

was encountered without any apparent advantage
commensurate with it

;
but it does not prove that

General Worth, whose duty it was to execute the

order, failed either in skillful disposition or brilliant

execution.

Let it be remembered that he was to attack a

Mexican force immensely superior in numbers,

posted in line in the form of a re-entering angle ;

that the flanks of this line rested upon heavy build

ings strongly fortified, with the right flank farther

protectedby a ravine and Alvarez's strong numerical
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force, and the left by the inclosures and Castle of

Chapultepec ;
that the Mexican artillery was post

ed in the angle whence it could sweep all ap

proaches from the front, and that the whole field

of operations was under the fire of the castle
;
that

the attack was not to be an operation where the

general could take time to use his artillery, neces

sary to reduce the strong positions, but that the

very nature of the orders required that the victory

should be the speedy result of a sudden attack
; and,

moreover, that the force with which it was to be ac

complished amounted in the aggregate, of officers

and soldiers, of the staff, of artillery, cavalry, and in

fantry, to but 3447, and that the work was accom

plished at all will be sufficient to show good conduct

on the part of the troops and their commander.

The principal objection which has been urged

against General Worth's dispositions, and that, too,

by friends of the general-in-chief, is that he order

ed an attack by infantry upon the positions, when

artillery would have reduced them without direct

assault, or have rendered their conquest an easy
matter.^ Had it not been that the nature of the

orders forbade an attack by artillery, such an ob

jection would have been well founded. But light

six pounders are not the guns with which to re

duce heavy fortified buildings, and two twenty-
four pounders would have required more time for

the work than was anticipated or allowed.

*
Lieutenant-colonel Hitchcock's Letter to Courier and Inquirer. Execu

tive Document, No. G5, Senate,' first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 527.
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As for the infantry assault, it was made in a

manner which promised success as strongly as any
other. The nature of the Mexican position forhade

the concentration of the whole force upon one point

to the neglect of others, except that effected by the

attacks of the storming party and Garland's col

umn. These, made as they were, supported each

other, and concentrated the greatest force upon Mo-

lino del Rey, while a force was left to engage the

other portions of the line.

The movements in support of the battle after its

commencement were simple, but they were made

at the proper time and at the proper place. I speak

of the advance of the light battalion and of Cad-

walader's troops to the support of the storming par

ty as it fell back, of the junction with Garland's

column, and ofLieutenant-colonel Duncan's prompt
movement to the left against Alvarez, and his sub

sequent fire upon Casa Mata.

As for the conduct of the officers and troops, and

the management of the artillery, under the heavy
fire about Molino del Rey, it was as glorious as

ever displayed on any field. It was confused, it is

true, but storming is always a work of confusion,

and after it is once entered into, bravery, discipline,

and perseverance must do the work. The genius
of the general, unless seconded by them, can do

but little at such period of the battle.

Whatever may be said of the execution of the

attack, the nature of the action proved conclusively

that it was exceedingly fortunate that, at Worth's
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representation, the time of assault had been post

poned from the night until the dawn of day. It

would hardly have been possible to have surprised

the Mexican army in such force as it was certain

ly not if the attack were anticipated by Santa

Anna. Unknown as the intricacies of Molino del

Rey were to the assailants, had the attack been

made in the night, darkness and confusion in the

commencement of the battle would have been add

ed to the other difficulties to be overcome. In that

case, close as the battle proved to be without them,

it would in all probability have resulted in a disas

trous defeat instead of an unprofitable victory.

Pillow's movement to the field from San Borja
and Nalvarte was unauthorized, although General

Scott ordered it about the time it was commenced.

Nevertheless, it was perfectly proper under the cir

cumstances, which were apparent to him at the

moment, and he arrived on the field in time to pur

sue a victory, had such been General Scott's inten

tion. There is but little doubt that his fresh troops,

supported by Worth's, could have carried Chapul-

tepec at once. The moral effect of the beating

which the Mexican troops had received could not

have been other than dispiriting at the moment,
and one more vigorous push would have gained an

advantage worth the battle.o

But the advance was forbidden, and a retreat

from the field ordered
;
an operation injurious to

the moral force of the American troops, and which

relinquished whatever advantage had been gained
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by the victory. The field of battle was given up
to the enemy if he chose to occupy it, which show

ed that, at the time, it was believed that the battle

had been somewhat useless
;

for the foundery had

no existence, and if the field of battle had been

worth fighting for, for the furtherance of future op

erations, certainly it was worth holding.

To end the operations of the day, two regiments
were sent down to Molino del Rey to cover the re

treat of victorious troops ;
for what purpose, unless

to give the victory as much the semblance of a re

treat as possible, it is difficult to imagine.

The result of this battle could not have increased

the confidence of the Mexican troops in an encoun

ter with their enemy upon any ordinarily fortified

position. To the extent of a severe blow upon the

enemy at the recommencement of hostilities, it was

doubtless beneficial to the American cause
;
but

it was more than counterbalanced by the moral ef

fect of it upon the American troops.

The abandonment of the field had the effect of

causing the Mexicans to believe that the Castle of

Chapultepec was stronger than perhaps it was in re

ality, for under no other supposition could they ac

count for the fact that the victory was not pursued.

This may have been of ultimate advantage to the

Americans in the course which was finally adopt

ed, but its immediate consequence wras the con

centration of the main Mexican force on the south

ern front of the city, which General Scott at the

time intended to attack, and the completion of the
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strong lines of defense in that quarter. If its ulti

mate consequence were the abandonment of Moli-

no del Rey by the enemy, it was an advantage,
for the approach to Chapultepec lay through that

range of buildings ;
but the advantage was a hy

pothetical one, which none could have foreseen at

the time. Certainly General Scott did not foresee

that, in the event of attacking Chapultepec, Moli-

no del Rey would bo found unoccupied ;
for he

troubled himself no more about it until the llth

of September, and then it was a question whether

the enemy had not possession of it. He certainly

might have had, had he felt inclined.

It is almost needless to quote military authori

ties upon the orders given by the general-in-chief

for the battle of Molino del Rey. Were all quoted
in full which they contravened, they would swell

a volume. No military writer can be found who
recommends an attack upon an enemy's strongest

point by a force but half of that which is unques

tionably disposable, especially when his numbers

are in themselves greatly superior. But one max
im of Napoleon's, sound as all of that great man's,

appears to be peculiarly appropriate to the case,

and of which all the provisions were violated.
" It is an approved maxim in war never to do

what the enemy wishes you to do, for this reason

alone, that he desires it. Afield of battle, therefore,

which he has previously studied and reconnoitered,

should be avoided, and double care should be taken

where he has had time to fortify and intrench. One

II. G G
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consequence deducible from this maxim is, never to

attack *a position in front which you can gain by

turning."

Here the attack was made at the point desired

by Santa Anna, on positions perfectly known to

his officers, fortified and intrenched
;
and that, too,

not in full force, not with any great end in view,

but with a small command, and in pursuit of a

fancied object not worth one tenth of the loss which

was suffered, and not worth one particle of the risk

which was incurred. Moreover, had the American

army attacked on the south front of the city, com

paratively unfortified at that time, Chapultepec,

Molino del Rey, and all other positions on the west

would have been turned. If the capital were

gained, the communications would have been re

established, and those points of defense would have

fallen by their own weight.
" Show me the man who has committed no faults

in war" says Turenne,
" and he will be one who

has seldom made war :" a truth which should al

ways be remembered when military operations are

criticised
; for, truly, the task of commanding an

army is great enough to entitle the officer to all

the glory which may be awarded to successful dis

position. But when a general, after a series of

most hazardous operations, which have resulted in

almost complete success, abandons all military ad

vantages in the hope of gaining a doubtful political

point, and, having lost that point, takes the first

step to recover himself by attacking his enemy's
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strongest position in small force small not only
in comparison with that of the enemy (for that

was in keeping with the whole course of action

throughout the war), hut small in comparison with

that which was disposable ;
and then, when the

victory has been gained at great sacrifices, and

against all probability, he refuses to pursue his ad

vantages, and even falls back at once from the

field, certainly his operations may justly be the

subject of remark.

But the battle was finished, the troops were with

drawn from the field, and, with the acquisition of

some 632 prisoners and three pieces of artillery,

and with his own force diminished by 784 of the

flower of his army, the American general-in-chief

found himself in precisely the same situation which

he occupied in the morning. The problem of the

capture of the Mexican capital was still open for

solution.

Events and dispositions between the 8th and 12th

of September.
On the 7th, the American general-in-chief hoped

that the reconnaissances of his officers would prove

that the approaches on the southern front of Mex
ico were more favorable than the approach by Cha-

pultepec.^ The hope was founded upon the gen
eral knowledge of the ground, as derived from or

dinary maps and from the people of the country.

No reconnaissances had been made in that direction

* General Scott's Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate,

first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p 355.
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during the armistice, and none before the occur

rence of the hattle of the 8th. On the evening of

that day one was pushed in that direction, and

the commencement of a line offortifications was dis

covered, as well as a partial armament ;
hut as the

enemy occupied a position on the road of El Nino

Perdido, a close reconnaissance could not he made,
and no full information was obtained at the time.

When Piedad was occupied by the troops of Pil

low's command on the morning- of the 9th, and the

Mexican pickets retired from their position at the

hermitage, at the angle of the cross-road with that

of Nino Perdido, the whole position was open to

observation. And certainly, if the American gen
eral had been able, or had felt inclined to attack, his

hopes as to the eligibility of the approaches by the

south front were realized. The obstacles were but

two ditches, both passable for infantry, the unfin

ished line of fortifications, and the ground between

the American outposts and the capital was practi

cable for infantry, as was proved by the presence
of the Mexican troops upon it. But two guns could

bear upon the approaches from the hermitage at

the time. The question whether the approach by
the south front, over such ground and partial de

fenses, was more eligible than to attack and carry

the Castle of Chapultepec and the works inter

mediate to the city, which might well have been

supposed, although they were not known to exist,

and, finally, the citadel, was at the moment one of -

easy solution. It was especially so, inasmuch as
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on the previous day every advantage which had

been acquired for the attack on Chapultepec had

been relinquished, and that work was in as good a

condition for defense as it had ever been.

A short cannonade from heavy guns on the Nino

Ferdido road at the hermitage would have effect

ually stopped the work upon the intrenchments,

and have shaken the covering Mexican forces. It

need have lasted no longer than the time in which

American working parties were employed in bridg

ing the ditches, and Quitman's and Twiggs's troops

were marching from Coyacan and San Angel to

the field. An attack then made with vigor would

have carried the line, and the city must have been

open to assault through the suburb of San Antonio.

From the suburb the streets could have been swept
to the palace, and the result of the combat was by
no means problematical, if the American troops be

haved with any thing like their ordinary conduct.

The heavy guns of the army were at Mixcoac,

two miles and a half from Piedad, and if action

had been immediately taken, the only delay which

would have been actually necessary was that re

quired to place them in position. This view of the

case presented itself forcibly to those who first oc

cupied the hermitage, and hence the messages sent

by Pillow to the general-in-chief to inform him of

the existing state of things, and to request his per

sonal examination of the ground.

General Scott did not order an attack at the time,

and various reasons have been urged for his want
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of action. On that day lie said that he was not

going to fight a "battle on ground chosen by the en

emy ;^ a wise determination, and one which it was

to he regretted had not been earlier arrived at.

But the lines of San Antonio were not the posi

tions which the enemy had chosen. They were

points which he was necessarily forced to defend

since the American army had fallen back from Mo-

lino del Rey, and abandoned that route of attack

for the time, unless, indeed, he was to give up the

defense altogether. As they were the weakest

points in the whole circumference of the city ac

cessible to the American army, they were most nat

urally presented for its attack, wherefore Santa

Anna was obliged to occupy them in strength.

Nevertheless, numerically strong as he was, it can

hardly be believed that he desired to receive battle

at that point, while his fortifications were unfinish

ed and his artillery out of position. If so, and if

he were prepared at the time, why were his fortifi

cations so diligently continued ?

To have attacked and carried the point with

ease, it was necessary to move upon it rapidly and

in force. Unfortunately, here, where reconnais

sance was perfectly practicable, and where the

whole field was open for observation even to the

city, it was deemed necessary to reconnoiter close

ly, when such an operation, no matter how evident

the necessity, had been dispensed with from the

* Lieutenant Ripley's Testimony before the Court of Inquiry. Executive

Document, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 185.
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battle of Contreras to the field of Molino del Rey.

At the very time when it was perfectly easy, and

when the whole system could be discerned at a

glance, so far as it was necessary to discern it in

order to effect an entrance, the 9th, 10th, and the

morning of the 1 1th were consumed in observation
;

and the reconnaissances were not confined to the

unfinished defenses of the lines of San Antonio, but

it was endeavored to find a route by which they
could be turned. After the American army had

attacked and carried the strongest works of the en

emy at Churubusco and Molino del Rey by direct

assault, it was endeavored to avoid unfinished

works by penetrating the lines still further to the

east, between the garitas of San Antonio and La

Candelaria; all of which would have been desir

able if it had not been for the loss of time, but that

which was consumed permitted the completion of

the intrenchments, and made the eligibility of the

approaches accessible to the assailants a matter of

some doubt.

The time thus consumed was also made use of

in establishing the depot and general hospital at

Mixcoac
;
a necessajy proceeding, but one hardly

requiring the whole three days. The order for the

establishment had been issued on the 7th, and it

had been intended that the work should have been

completed on the 8th, which it certainly would

have been had not the battle of Molino del Rey
been fought on that day. It can not be doubted

that, in the uncertainty which hung over the re-
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salt of the negotiations for peace during the armis

tice, it would have been the part of good policy to

have established this depot and hospital before the

recommencement of hostilities
;
then the delays

would have been avoided, and the whole Amer
ican army would have been in hand for immediate

operations.

Notwithstanding the fortifications around San

Antonio, on the morning of the llth, when the de

termination was taken to assault Chapultepec, the

southern route was to all appearance the least for

midable against an assault. There the forcing of

a single point carried the whole line, and the city

was open. On the western route, the first point to

be gained was the strongest of all on the south

and west, and when that was gained, the assail

ants were yet at a distance of two miles from the

city, with the positive certainty of running upon
the citadel if the direct route were pursued, and

the probability of encountering other defensive

works.

The question had evidently been deeply consid

ered by General Scott, and unless he had received

some secret intimation from the enemy, it must be

believed that he depended for success upon the

moral effect of the loss of Chapultepec upon the

Mexican government and army. Why else was it

believed that a white flag would be sent from the

capital so soon as it fell ?

The inundations which covered the ground in

the direction of San Antonio on the morning of the
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llth were considered obstacles of some magnitude
to the approach in that direction. Firm ground
was afforded for the erection of counter batteries

against Chapultepec, and it was known that the

ground thence to the city was in the main easy

and practicable. It was fair to suppose, as was

supposed, that the fortifications on the road to San

Cosme were less perfectly armed and less formida

ble than those upon other routes, inasmuch as that

road was the most distant from the positions of the

American army, and as it was perfectly evident that

the great losses of artillery must have left the Mex
ican general without a sufficient number of guns.

But with all these anticipations of the nature of

the positions beyond Chapultepec, the moral effect

of its capture must have been the principal depend
ence for the victory ;

otherwise one battle at San

Antonio, fortified and strengthened even as it was,

had the effect of two at Chapultepec and the gari-

tas of the city. If dependence were placed upon
the belief that. Chapultepec would involve the cap
ital in its fall, then the future operations could be

left in a manner out of the question, and that which

was presented was, which was the most eligible

point of the two for immediate attack. One gen
eral officer, who was not to share in the assault,

and one engineer officer, supported General Scott's

opinion ;
all others inclined to the belief that San

Antonio was the true point of attack.

The diversion on San Antonio and the cannonade

of Chapultepec.
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The diversion was necessary, but whether it had

all the effect which has been attributed to it by

some, may well be doubted. Santa Anna was in

person near Chapultepec on the 12th and on the

morning of the 13th, and as many Mexican troops

were about the position as could well be handled.

His presence would indicate that the President con

sidered that Chapultepec would be the ultimate

object of attack
; nevertheless, he kept a strong

force about the garita San Antonio.

The movement of Pillow's and Quitman's divi

sions from Piedad and its vicinity to Tacubaya
after night, prevented the attention of the enemy
to the batteries which were being located. Two
of these were constructed during the night with

out interruption ; and, what was of greater import

ance, the enemy was not aware of the movement

until Pillow was in position on the fields west of

Molino del Rey. Then it was too late for him to

garrison it in such strength as to render it neces

sary for that general to fight a battle to obtain pos

session. It was accordingly seized, and the first

important step was gained without other opposi

tion than that from the distant fire from Chapul

tepec.

Of the effect of the cannonade proposed to be

opened upon the castle, an exaggerated opinion

had been entertained. It was believed that, after

being cannonaded for one day, it would be so shat

tered that it would be abandoned by the enemy,
-

or reduced to such a state that it could be readily
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carried by assault.^ If this opinion were founded

upon ordinary data, the distance from the points

at which it was intended to erect the batteries

must have been misjudged. Certainly no breach

ing battery, composed of guns of ordinary caliber,

was ever efficient at the distance of twelve hund

red yards.

As batteries for annoying the garrison, and as

counter batteries, they were highly effective, and

were as well located as the nature of the ground

permitted. There is no doubt that the moral effect

of the cannonade was great upon the evening of

the 12th
;
but that more had been expected, is evi

dent from the fact that the immediate preparation

for the attack was not ordered until so late on the

afternoon of the 12th of September that it was im

possible to execute it on that day. In consequence,

the night was allowed the enemy to re-enforce, re

cover, and repair, if he thought proper, and the play
of the batteries necessarily ran into the second day.

The storming of Chapultepec.

The general plan of attack ordered by General

Scott on the evening of the 12th contemplated a

positive assault by both of two columns, without

regard to the practicability of the different routes.

The force was nearly equal on each, but he had

almost the whole army in the vicinity of the field,

which was demanded by the vital importance of

carrying the point. Indeed, every thing depended

*
Captain Hooker's and Captain Huger'a Testimony. Executive Docu

ment, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 169, 131.
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upon it, as the western front had been chosen, and

the vigorous cannonade and assaults on the morn

ing of the 13th were such as were called for by the

crisis.

Of the particular arrangements of each assault,

it may be remarked, that Quitman's had either too

much or too little of a positive nature about them.

He was operating against the most difficult front,

and the nature of his ground afforded him but little

opportunity for combination. He was to attack

points from which the fire swept the whole ap

proach, and unless he could turn them under a

flank fire, and march over the wall of the inclosure,

there was no chance of success in any thing but a

direct assault.

The direct assault was the first which was or

dered, and it was the first which was checked also.

The advance upon a battery along a roadway
flanked on either side by deep ditches, is no easy

undertaking. Difficult as it was in this case, if it

were intended to continue it before the fall of the

castle, it is hard to perceive any reason why the

storming parties were advanced to within two hund

red yards of the batteries, and halted under a heavy
fire

;
for nothing dampens the ardor of an assault

ing force so much as a halt ordered in the midst of

the advance, and before any thing is gained.

The direct advance being delayed, the attempt
to turn the batteries and march over the wall to

ward the castle was made, but only one regiment"

succeeded in passing it near the east, and that one
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was too late to participate in the actual assault of

the castle. Two others moved so far to the left as

to enter where the troops of the western column

had previously passed, which showed that that

force at least might have been spared the exposure
of the advance on the Tacubaya road, and the

flank march under fire of the batteries.

It has been claimed that the final assault on the

lower batteries took place before the entrance into

the castle from the west. This has been controvert

ed by the sworn testimony of several witnesses of

high character and standing. It certainly did not

take place before the South Carolina regiment

passed the wall of the inclosure,^ and as that reg

iment inarched up the roadway to the summit of

the rock by the flank, f the opposition must have

been over at the time.

In regard to the halt of the storming parties, as

the troops which inclined to the left to cross the

fields were not intended to assault the batteries,

under whose flank fire they passed, either in front,

flank, or rear, it is difficult to see any reason for it,

if they were able to continue on at the time.

There certainly could have been none, if the as

sault were soon after to be continued against the

batteries without re-enforcement, and while they
were uninjured by other forces, and in full and un

interrupted play. It may be said that Smith's bri-

* General Quitniau's Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate,

first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 413.

t Lieutenant-colonel Gladden's Testimony. Executive Document, No. 65,

Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 137.



478 THE WAR WIT H MEXICO.

gade was not immediately in supporting position.

If support were needed, three regiments of volun

teers were close behind the storming parties, and

diverged from the very point at which the latter

were halted.

Pillow's attack from the west was, from the na

ture of the ground, the first to he successful, and

that general spared no precaution to insure that it

should he. Indeed, the immense importance of the

point required no less, and all which skillful dis

position and determined assault could do was in

readiness to he executed in any emergency. It

can hardly he doubted that his assault would have

been successful even against greater resistance than

was encountered.

The precautions taken to insure the first import

ant step, the entrance into the grove, by the ad

vance of Johnstone's party on the redan outside of

the wall, under cover of the fire of Magruder's guns,

at the same time that the first battalion of volti-

geurs pushed at the front line of the intrenchments,

which had before been shaken by the fire of the

mountain howitzers, gave every chance of the sue-

cess which was so speedily and happily obtained.

Thence, the success of the assault depended great

ly upon its celerity ;
and the speedy advance of the

ninth and fifteenth regiments in support, as well as

the personal exertions of the general in the front

of the attacking column, were in keeping with the

necessity. The immediate assault, after arriving

at the foot of the hill, and before the storming par-



THE WAR WITH MEXICO. 479

ty came up, was also necessary. In consequence,

the vigor of the assault was kept up, and lodg

ments were effected, which insured the fall of the

place so soon as the ladders should he "brought for-

ward
;
and what was of the most vital importance

to the success of the assault, hoth in a moral and

physical point of view, the enemy was prevented
from firing his mines.

The moral effect of the explosion of mines is well

known
;
and if, as would have been the case at Cha-

pultepec, had they been ignited, the whole side of a

rocky hill thrown upon the head of the attacking

column had added to it the physical effect of its

destruction, the success of the assault might have

been doubtful. Certainly it would have been de

layed, and would have been attended with a much

greater sacrifice of life.

The storming party was out of position when the

voltigeurs arrived at the foot of the hill, but, with

this exception and its consequences, every corps

which had originally been put in motion for the

assault came in at the designated time and place.

Captain M'Kenzie had reasons for delaying his

advance, which made this exception one of una

voidable occurrence rather than the fault of any
one. He had taken off his percussion caps and

thrown out priming. Intending to depend upon
the bayonet alone in the assault, and to push di

rectly up the hill, it was of importance for him to

keep his command compact and as much uninjur

ed as possible until the crisis. By attending, per-
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haps, too much to these, he was behind his time at

the foot of the hill. The speedy assault of the oth

er troops on the redan made up for the delay, and

the castle was taken with less loss, though not

quite so speedily as it would have heen had the

stormers been immediately in position ;
for had

they rushed up the hill and entered at once, while

the Mexican artillerymen were serving their pieces,

the troops would have encountered the fire in full

force. As it was, by the fire of the troops around

the crest of the hill the parapet was cleared of the

enemy's infantry, his gunners were driven away or

shot down, and when the stormers came up and the

assault took place, it was made under the enemy's
fire from the azoteas and windows alone.

The request which was sent by General Pillow

to General Worth, that he should advance one bri

gade through Molino del Rey to be within easy

supporting distance, was a measure of prudence.

Made as it was by the former general when he was

leading his troops in rapid advance, it showed that,

in the excitement of the moment and of first suc

cess, nothing was lost sight of which might event

ually be necessary for the conquest of the main

point. As it proved, the presence of the brigade

was not of necessity to insure the fall of the castle,

but it might have been, and it did no injury and

delayed no operation.

It has been intimated that it might well have

been dispensed with, and that Worth could then

have moved his force around the northern base of
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Chapultepec, in order to fall upon the rear of the

forces engaging Quitman,^ and to distract the at

tention of the enemy in general. General Scott

mentions having sent an order to such an effect to

Worth. But Pillow knew only that Worth was

ordered to support him, if necessary ;
and had he

known of the order, it would have made slight dif

ference. Under all circumstances, the movement

was perfectly useless, and if Worth ever received

the order, he made no effort to put it into execution.

General Scott knew that there were armed barri

cades on the road by which the movement must

have been made, and that those must fall when

Chapultepec was carried. He must also have seen

that the fall of the castle would have insured that

of the batteries which checked Quitman's advance.

Moreover, Pillow's advance had been uninterrupt

ed at the moment when the order was issued, and

he was in a fair way for success. Why, then, was

it ordered that Worth's troops, which had been

placed in position to support him, to guard against

a contingency which, if it had happened, would

have rendered their presence of most vital import

ance, should engage in an undertaking which

would have been accomplished in case Pillow was

successful, and was perfectly useless in case of his

defeat, and that, too, at the very moment of the

crisis ?

In consequence of Pillow's arrangement of his

* General Scott's Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate,

first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 380.

II. H H
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own troops, and his request for the advance of

Clarke's brigade, six battalions and the storming

party were present on the west front of the castle

when the entrance was effected. The force was

still further increased by the arrival of the New
York and Pennsylvania regiments. By this com

bination of arrangement and fortune, the greatest

mass of the American troops was present, ready
for action upon the decisive point. Although the

whole number was not immediately used, and not

absolutely necessary, as it proved, yet such a dis

position is required by the general rules of military

art
;
and where the troops are of the proper kind, it

never fails of success, and it did not fail here.

The rapid advance through the fields and grove,

and, the continued ascent of the hill, opened the

way for the capture of Chapultepee. The castle

was, in effect, taken, and the collection of a force

about the western front provided against all chance

of defeat, and insured its fall. At the same time,

a force was brought forward, which, from its com

manding position, would be sufficient to bring down
all exterior works both on the Tacubaya road and

on the north.

An attack commenced, led, and supported as this

was, could hardly have failed under almost any op

position. As it proved, the success was as brilliant

as the object was important. Of that importance it

is hardly necessary to speak. But when it was

obtained, the batteries which had before held the

assailants of Quitman's and Trousdale's commands
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in check, fell at once, and were occupied by the

American troops. The advance by both the roads

of Belen and San Cosme was open to the Ameri

can army. The Mexican troops, beaten and bro

ken, were in rapid retreat
;
and the moral effect of

the fall of the strongest point on the west of Mex
ico could not but have been of the greatest import

ance, since the western front had been chosen for

attack. It is true that no white flag was sent from

the city to welcome the conquerors, and that much

opposition remained to be encountered before the

triumphant entrance into the Mexican capital ;

but the road was opened, and by one route it

was comparatively easy under skillful guidance.

The first great point in the final struggle had been

gained, and the success of that struggle was in

sured.

All the moral force of the American army was

restored at the moment when Pillow's victorious

troops crossed the parapet of Chapultepec, and in

the pride and exultation of the moment none

doubted that the great victory of the war had been

accomplished, and that the final object of the cam

paign was within reach. The various jealousies

which had place in the American army at a later

date had no place then
;
and the congratulations

of friends, the acclaiming shouts of the soldiery, as

the commander of the western attack was borne

wounded into the Castle of Chapultepec, which

had been the end of his dispositions and his efforts,

and the commendations of the general-in-chief soon
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afterward, told at that time of the importance of the

capture, and to whom its glory belonged.

The attacks on the garitas of Belen and San

Cosme.

The subsequent movements both on the Belen

and San Cosme roads had the great element of

success, celerity. It would probably have been

better had Quitman's movements been of a less

positive character, and if they had stopped short

of the garita ;
for he ran upon the citadel, and the

fire from that work inflicted the greatest loss which

the American army suffered on the afternoon of

that day. The immediate and vigorous assault

must have had a very beneficial moral effect, be

sides that of keeping a large force in men and ar

tillery employed in that direction. "Worth's move

ments were thereby favored. But direct advance

into the city by the Belen route was impracticable

without storming the citadel. That was no easy

undertaking ;
for the work was bastioned, mounted

fifteen guns, $nd was surrounded by deep wet-

ditches. No further advance was attempted, and

Quitman's command, including Smith's brigade,

was stationary at the garita of Belen, and under a

heavy fire from two o'clock until nightfall. The

gallant bravery of the attack, and the stern de

termination to hold the point at all hazards, can

not be too much admired in the general or his

troops; but whether the object was worth the

loss, when the San Cosme route was the most prac

ticable, and when General Scott was sending there
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a force which would insure the entrance, may well

be doubted.

Worth's movements were such as might have

been expected of him in the pursuit of the victory.

They were characterized by celerity until celerity

became incompatible with prudence, and mean
while by a careful observation of the points of the

whole field of operations. He was therefore en

abled to assist Quitman's advance against the first

intrenchments on the Belen road.

The necessary delay at the angle of the aqueduct
in reorganizing, caused the necessity of retaking
the barricade intermediate between his position

and the garita of San Cosme, which had previous

ly been occupied by the advanced parties ;
but

when the movement was finally undertaken, it

was steady, and such as could not fail of success.

It might have been easy to have carried both bar

ricade and garita at an earlier period of the day, by

advancing, as Quitman advanced, along the aque

duct, gaming temporary shelter in the arches
;
but

the advance through the houses was quite as cer

tain of ultimate success, and was attended with a

less loss of life than such a one would have been.

Time was not immediately pressing ; and, indeed,

so that the last defense was carried on that after

noon, and the enemy thereby prevented from

strengthening his positions, it was better that the

night should put a stop to the operations while the

troops were in hand, than if, without a full knowl

edge of localities, they should have been spread
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over the city. The latter would probably have

been the case had the entrance been effected ear

lier. It would hardly have been possible to have

prevented the escape of the Mexican army with

such train as was actually carried with it. Unless

it were an object to do so, the military operations

of the American army were sucessfully finished

with the capture of the garita of San Cosme. As

it was, all of any importance were ended with it,

for the occupation of the palace was unopposed,
and the street fighting of the liberated convicts

and leperos, although annoying and vexatious, was

without any positive effect upon the great question

of hostilities.

The campaign which had been commenced by
the advance from Puebla, was brought to a close

by the capture and occupation of the city of Mex
ico. The little army of 10,500 men, which had

taken the field on the 7th of August, after having
been diminished by sickness and the casualties of

battle more than one third of its effective numbers,
on the 14th of September was within the enemy's

capital, triumphant. It had marched from Puebla

to Mexico, had turned the capital and presented it

self in the rear, and had won the city in the battles

of Contreras and Churubusco. Every military ad

vantage which it had acquired was surrendered by
the convention of Tacubaya to a doubtful prospect

of negotiation. If its situation had been danger-
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ous in its first attack, it was still more so, by many
fold, wrhen the second was about to be entered

upon. Yet, in spite of all obstacles, it had triumph
ed repeatedly, both in regaining the advantages
which had been sacrificed and in pursuing those

regained, whenever it had been allowed the oppor

tunity. It had fought through a bloody field in

search of an uncertain obj ect, but it had not failed

to triumph even there, against every disadvantage.

Opportunity had been lost, time thrown away, and,

finally, it had attacked the strongest point, had

carried it, and, over such obstacles as are seldom

encountered by an invading force, had borne the

banner of its country to the palace of the supreme

powers of Mexico.

In all these military operations, the unsurpassed

valor of the soldiery and the skill of the officers

had borne the burden which had been imposed, in

creased as it was by the sacrifices of all advant

ages, and by the effect of the mistaken confidence

in the faith of a man noted for his perfidy, but in

none more eminent and in none more successful

than in that by which he practiced upon the Amer
ican general and the commissioner.

The army that had broken the Mexican strength

on so many fields had burst through every barrier,

and before its repeated assaults the fortifications

of Mexico, their powerful armament, her 35,000

defenders, had all given way, beaten and dispersed,

and the occupation of the capital, long anticipated,

was accomplished.
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In the face of so many obstacles, that it was ever

gained is cause of wonder; and even now, when

every event of the strife is fresh in memory, the

mind can hardly realize that it has not been a

dream. It has passed, and, in the ever-changing

excitement of the public, that which so lately was

the all-absorbing subject of interest upon the west

ern continent has been in a measure forgotten.

But the effects of the deeds of arms will not soon

pass away. They are not developed for good or

for evil. The great consequences which, in the

wisdom of God's infinite power, must flow from

the war in Mexico, in great measure lie hid in the

future, and years on years must be required for

their demonstration.

CHAPTER XV.

Situation of General Santa Anna His Action Blockade of Garrison of Pue-

bla Movement of Troops from the Northern to the Southern Line ofOper
ations March of Re-enforcements from Vera Cruz Affairs at Paso de

Ovejas, Puente Nacional, and Cerro Gordo Advance of General Lane's

Command Affair at Huamantla Affair at Atlixco Observations and Re

flections.

FOR some days after his evacuation of the capi

tal, General Santa Anna kept his head-quarters at

the city of Guadalupe Hidalgo. From that place

he sent parties to assist in the straggling warfare

which had been undertaken by the leperos and-

liberated convicts. They were, however, too small
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to be efficient, and, being composed of the troops

of Alvarez's command, they plundered their own

countrymen in the capital instead of making war

upon the Americans.

The predicament of the President of Mexico was

indeed a sad one. His great preparations of mili

tary strength and his skillful diplomacy had proved

unavailing for the purposes of successful resistance.

With the remnant of his numerous army, he found

himself outside of the capital of his country, with

out subsistence and without money, and without

the means of obtaining either. Public and private

resources were alike exhausted. For the period

during which hostilities had continued after theO

armistice, and, indeed, for the greater portion of its

continuance, he had supported the army by a loan

effected on public and private securities through
Mr. M'Intosh, the British consul, who was so con

spicuous in the negotiations with General Scott.

That last method of raising funds was lost by the

fall of the capital, and the necessity was forced

upon Santa Anna of breaking up the remaining

corps which were under his command. His policy
for future operations was to attack the communi
cation of the American army. Had the country

along the route been exceeding rich, he doubtless

would have kept the whole force together. As it

was not, he took the course of ordering a column

of troops, numbering about 3000, under General

Herrera, to march on the northern road to Quere-

taro, the place fixed upon as the temporary seat of
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government. A portion of the force was disband

ed, and with the remainder, principally of cavalry,

Santa Anna inarched upon Puebla. The amount

of the remainder has been variously stated at from

2500, of all arms, to 8000. The actual number

was doubtless between the two, and varied on each

succeeding day, according to the number of deser

tions, Dr the accession of guerilla and robber bands.

Before the movement was commenced, Santa

Anna gave his attention to politics, and for the first

step he resigned the presidency, and, by a decree,

devolved the power upon the judges of the supreme
court of justice. The announced motive for resign-

i tig was the earnest desire which he had for serving

his country in the field, and the distance of the pro

posed theater of operations from the center of pop
ulation and resources. In a circular, which bore

date on the 16th of September, these motives and

reasons were more fully set forth, accompanied by

many protestations of devoted patriotism, and

many vaunts of the exertions which he had made
tor the defense of the capital. Although the last

were highly colored in the exuberance of Mexican

style, yet they were for the greater part based upon
facts. It is true, nothing was said about the ne

gotiations with General Scott, by which he had

endeavored to secure advantage to himself in the

event of either alternative of victory or defeat
;
nor

was it said that, being without the means of sus

taining a large force in the field or of attaching it

to his cause, he was unwilling to encoitiiter the
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hazard of remaining in the chief magistracy dur

ing the first indignation consequent upon the loss

of the capital. Under the circumstances, it was al

most impossible for him to continue in power for

any length of time ; and, notwithstanding all his

exertions both for himself and his country, he might
in reason have expected to be put to death by the

first mob of leperos which would collect in any city

which he might enter. His resignation was there

fore, like most of his acts, one of policy ;
and while

he and his friends spared no representation which

the facts would allow to sustain his reputation, he

proceeded to demonstrate his devotion by such mili

tary operations as the nature of circumstances per

mitted.

The American garrison of Puebla, consisting of

about 500 effectives and 1800 invalids, under com

mand of Colonel Childs, occupied the positions

which have been mentioned in a former chapter.

The greater body of the force had remained within

the immediate vicinity ofthem after the main army
had marched upon the capital. For some weeks

subsequent to that event, no decided demonstration

of hostility had been attempted against the garri

son, though cabals and conspiracies were rife among
the populace, and no opportunity was lost of assas

sinating any straggling soldier who ventured alone

beyond the protection of his comrades.

The first news received by the Poblanos of the
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operations about the city of Mexico was favorable

to the Mexican cause, and they demonstrated their

joy by a ringing of bells, and collecting in a mob
in the Plaza of the city. A few shot and shell sent

from Fort Loretto, and the advance of a few com

panies of infantry into the Plaza, put a stop to the

bell ringing, and dispersed the crowd. As the sub

sequent accounts did not verify the first rumors,

nothing further in the way of Mexican rejoicing

was manifested for several succeeding days.

During this time, however, the guerillas of the

neighborhood were organizing under General Rea,

and the populace being fairly aroused, with that

re-enforcement, on the night of the 13th of Septem

ber, the open demonstration of insurrection was

commenced. On that night a fire was opened from

several streets of the city, in the direction of the

cuartel San Jose, the depot in the town. It ceased

during the day on the 14th, but on that night it re

commenced from every point whence a fire could

be directed, and continued, after the manner ofMex
ican revolutions, for twenty-eight days and nights.

The enemy had complete possession of all parts

of the town, except the quarter in the vicinity of

San Jose, and immediately under the guns of Gua-

dalupe and Loretto. His principal energy was dis

played in robbing the stores and houses of the bet

ter classes of the inhabitants in every portion of the

city occupied by the guerilleros. The operations

against the garrison were confined to the incessant

though distant fire from azoteas and windows upon
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any Americans who showed themselves. The gar

rison replied to the fire with artillery and musket

ry whenever an opportunity was presented, but in

the main the defense consisted only in the exercise

of vigilance.

After some days of annoyance, the Mexicans at

tempted to turn a small stream of water which sup

plied the garrison, hut were unsuccessful. Failing
in this, the guerilleros occupied houses which com

manded the course of the stream through the Amer
ican quarter, and annoyed' those who were obtain

ing water with a distant fire.

The great proportion of Mexican cavalry ena

bled the enemy to drive off most of the live stock

in the vicinity ;
but it was not attempted until two

well-directed parties of the garrison had succeeded

in securing fifty head of cattle and four hundred

sheep.

General Santa Anna arrived at Puebla from Gua-

dalupe Hidalgo on the 22d, with a heavy re-en

forcement for the besiegers. He had employed the

interval in attempting to obstruct the road between

Mexico and Puebla, to oppose the march of any re

lieving force from the main American army. Sev

eral miles east of Rio Frio had been broken up and

rendered difficult by felling large trees across it,

Mnd several bridges had been destroyed, but further

than these nothing was executed in that way.
The presence of the late president was the occa

sion of loud manifestations of joy on the part of the

besiegers, and a general ringing of bells announced
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it to the garrison. A few shot and shell sent from

Fort Loretto put a stop to the rejoicing, as they had

done on a previous occasion. From that day until

the 25th the attack was but partially kept up.

On the 25th Santa .Anna summoned Colonel

Childs to surrender, offering him free passage with

the troops of his garrison either to the main Amer
ican army or to the Castle of Perote. He stated

that the Mexican force in and about the city of

Puebla numbered 8000, and that he should pro-

ceed to an immediate and vigorous assault unless

his terms were accepted. Childs of course refused

the offer.^ Contrary to his expressed determina

tion, Santa Anna made no demonstration of attack

on the 25th or 26th. On the 27th, however, it was

resumed, and the Mexican troops made more posi

tive demonstrations of vigorous assault, but in ev

ery instance their attacking parties were driven

back with loss.

Until the 30th of September the besiegers used

no artillery, but on the night of the 29th, two six

pounders were placed in position to bear upon San

Jose from the south. On the following morning

they opened a fire somewhat noisily, which was

kept up throughout the day. It was replied to by
a twelve pounder, located at a traverse on the Pla

za, near the cuartel. But the artillery fire was in

effectual on both sides, and the parties kept their

positions.

*
Correspondence. Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representa

tives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 1029.
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It being known that an American column was

on its march from Vera Cruz, and expected soon to

arrive, on the 1st of October General Santa Anna
marched from Puebla with 4000 men. His avow
ed purpose was that of disputing the pass of El Fi

nal. He took with him the artillery which had

opened against the Americans on the previous day,

and that kind of fire ceased from the time. The

annoyance of musketry from the streets and houses

was, however, persisted in.

On the 2d, a party of 50 men was advanced from

San Jose, and penetrated through and over the

walls of houses to a point opposite to a barricade

thrown across the street leading to the west. After

a short struggle, the Mexicans were driven from it

with a loss of 17 killed, and the barricade, which

was of cotton bales, was fired and consumed. A
prominent house in the vicinity, whence the enemy
had directed a vexatious fire, was blown up, and

the party retired, having, after a severe labor of

twenty-four hours in cutting its way through the

walls, accomplished its object, and relieved the gar

rison from the greatest annoyance from the west.

Another sortie ordered on the same day was not

so successful. The designated building was enter

ed, but the Mexicans were in great strength, and

the party was ordered to fall back.

On the 6th and 8th two sorties were made from

the hill of Guadalupe, both of which succeeded in

driving back parties of the enemy which occupied

buildings near the Tivoli gardens, south of San
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Jose. On the 8th, the enemy received a consider

able re-enforcement. A close demonstration was

attempted on his part, but it resulted in nothing

except loss to those who made the attempt.

On the 10th, the firing which had been kept up
on the American positions slackened, and on the

night of the llth it ceased altogether. On the

morning of the 12th the enemy began to retire from

his positions, and two companies were advanced

toward the heart of the city from San Jose. In

the endeavor to cut off the retreat of a party of

Mexicans, one of these companies became engaged
with a body of near 500 lancers. It was charged

upon from different directions
;
13 of its number

were killed, and four wounded. The other compa

ny came up in time to take part in the affair, and

the lancers were dispersed with loss. Soon after,

the column of American troops which had been

expected arrived, and the blockade and annoyance
of the garrison of Puebla ceased.

During the continuance of the affair, from the

13th of September to the 12th of October, a con

stant vigilance under the harassing fire had been

exercised, and men and officers of the garrison had

kept steadily to their stations. Seventy-two had

fallen, of whom nineteen were killed. The loss

of the Mexicans is unknown to Americans, and

probably to their own authorities.
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No official dispatches from the army under Gen
eral Scott were received at Washington of a later

date than that of June the 4th,^ in which the

general had made known the extent of his sup

posed grievances, and announced his intention of

making his army a self-sustaining machine, by

abandoning his communications and withdrawing
the garrison from Jalapa, until as late as November

following, when the ofncial reports of the operations

of the valley ame to hand. As no definite plan

of the extended operations of the war had been

treated of in the letters of General Scott, filled as

they were with complaints, the War Department
was in the same situation which it had occupied

at an earlier period with reference to General Tay
lor. It was under the necessity of supporting oper

ations, of the extent and object of which it was in

a measure ignorant. The recruits and re-enforce

ments which it had earliest put en route for Vera

Cruz, it has been seen, were for the most part

brought up by M'Intosh, Cadwalader, Pillow, and

Pierce, and arrived at Puebla in time to march

thence to Mexico.

On the 30th of April Mr. Marcy had addressed a

letter to General Scott, requesting his views with

reference to the operations on the northern line.f

The dispatch had been intercepted, and, in the ab

sence of interrogatories, General Scott made no

* Mr. Marcy to General Scott, October 22d, 1847. Executive Document,

No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p.

1009. t Mr. Marcy to General Scott, Aoril 30th, 1847. Idem, p. 922.

II. 1 1
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suggestions and offered no advice upon the sub

ject.

General Taylor treated of the matter in two let

ters. Inasmuch as he did not deem the force which

would be at his disposal, after having garrisoned

Saltillo, Monterey, Camargo, and Matamoras, suf

ficient to enable him to maneuver confidently in

the direction of San Luis, he was in favor of hold

ing a defensive line, and of sending all the surplus

troops to the support of General Scott's column.*

Accordingly, on the 15th of July, instructions were

sent from Washington for the suggestion to be car

ried out. Having received them, General Taylor
issued his orders on the 16th of August for the

commands of Generals Lane and Gushing, and a

regiment of Texan horse, to embark at Brazos San

Jago forVera Cruz. With these movements of

troops, the inactivity which had existed in the

north of Mexico since the battle of Buena Vista

was officially recognized, and even the idea of ad

vancing upon San Luis was abandoned, as it might
well have been at an earlier period.

The operations in that section of country had for

a long time been confined to the convoy of trains

and the changes of position, rendered necessary by
the discharge of one set of troops and the arrival

of another. The surplus force had for some months

been distributed in temporary camps of instruction

* General Taylor to the Adjutant General, May 28th and June 16th, 1847-

Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of the

thirtieth Congress, p. 1147 and 1177.
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along the Rio Grande, and, with the scarcity of

numbers, as well as the evident impossibility of ef

fecting any diversion in favor of the main advance

on the capital by the long and tedious march upon
so unimportant a point as San Luis, the proper dis

position of the force which was disposable was at

last made.

Before the arrival of any portion of it at Vera

Cruz, a column had marched from that point to the

interior, consisting of eleven companies of recruits

for the different regiments of the regular army, two

companies and a platoon of volunteer cavalry, and

with two six pounders in all, the column num
bered near 1000 men, and was under the command
of Major Lally, of the ninth infantry.

The march was commenced on the 6th of Au

gust, and was uninterrupted as far as Paso de Ove-

jas ;
but as the points on the road had been en

tirely abandoned, the guerilleros had enjoyed full

opportunity for organization, and by that time were

in far greater force than three Weeks previously,

when Pierce's column had passed up. Under Gen

eral Juan Soto, the governor of the State of Yera

Cruz, who had figured in the defense of Alvarado,

some 2000 or more men were in the field, ready

for annoying the march of any convoy. On the

10th they commenced operations against Lally's

column by firing upon it as it approached Paso de

Ovejas. As the fire, delivered at long range, failed

to distract the American troops, a more positive

operation was attempted.
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Occupying the ruins of a stone house upon L al

ly's right and front, the guerilleros opened thence

a heavy fire, and, at nearly the same time, strong

parties attacked the rear guard and the center of

the train. As this was composed of sixty-four

wagons, the American order of march had been in

two wings, one in front and one in rear, while the

center of the train was protected "by a guard.

When the fire was received in front, the six

pounders were advanced, and opened upon the Mex
ican position. The whole of the advanced wing,
with the exception of two companies left to protect

the head of the train, was soon after ordered for

ward. A charge was directed, and was success

fully, though most confusedly executed. The troops

were all recruits, and although they followed their

officers with alacrity, they could hardly he made
to understand the purport of their orders.

The point in front heing carried, the march was

continued, for the attacks on the front and rear

had been repulsed, as well as a movement on the

head of the train, which had heen attempted while

the greater portion of the advanced wing was en

gaged in attacking the ruins.

In the course of the skirmish, two American of

ficers and nine men had heen wounded. The Mex
ican loss was trifling.

The column remained at Paso de Ovejas on the

llth, and on the 12th continued the march to

Puente Nacional. There the guerillas were post

ed in force, occupying the fort on the height south
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of the road, the hills beyond the bridge on the

north, and the houses on the west bank of the

river. They made no show at first, either in the

old fort or in the houses. The bridge was barri

caded, but unoccupied. Under the belief that the

whole resistance which would be encountered

would proceed from the heights on the north of

the road, the six pounders were advanced toward

the hacienda, with two companies of infantry in

support. Before the point was reached, the enemy
showed himself in the old fort and in the houses,

besides forming in greater strength on the northern

heights. He at once opened a fire which drove

the American infantry to cover under the parapet
of the bridge, and forced the artillery to retire after

a few rounds of canister had been discharged at the

enemy immediately in front. So soon as the guns
were out of musket range, one was opened upon
the old fort from the road. Under cover of its fire,

a party advanced to attack it. The other gun was

hauled up a hill upon the right, whence it was di

rected, over the heads of the troops still occupying
the bridge under the parapet, against the gueril-

leros on the heights beyond. The enemy soon

abandoned the old fort and the houses, and his fire

from the heights was sensibly diminished. A small

party of infantry advanced over the barricade to

the houses, and as other troops came up it was

cleared away, the train brought forward, and the

enemy retired.

One officer and ten soldiers killed and mortally
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wounded, and four officers and thirty-six soldiers

wounded, were the losses experienced hy the Amer
icans in the affair. The Mexicans suffered from

the fire of the artillery, but their speedy retreat

prevented a severe loss.

During the 13th, the column was detained at

Puente Nacional, awaiting the arrival of re-enforce

ments, which had heen requested from the govern
or of Vera Cruz after the occurrence of the affair at

Paso de Ovejas. On the 14th it marched to Plan

del Rio. The train and hospital were left at that

place, under a guard of one company and of the

broken-down men of the column.

On the morning of the 15th, the remaining forces

were advanced to secure possession of the pass of

Cerro Gordo, which it was anticipated would be

found occupied by the enemy. On arriving at the

mouth of the pass, a musketry fire was received

from the hill sides, and the enemy was found in

occupation of Santa Anna's old lines of the 18th

of April.

The American six pounders were opened and

played while the infantry was forming for the at

tack. Three companies were soon sent in the

chaparral on the right of the road, and, after some

sharp firing, the enemy fled from the hill sides in

that direction. Three other companies were sent

at nearly the same time to carry the lines south of

the road. Lieutenant Bidgely, of the fourth in

fantry, who commanded, led his party by the route

pursued by General Pillow on the 18th of April,
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and made his dispositions for attacking battery
No. 2. The men were undiscovered until within

a few yards of the enemy, and then, running quick

ly forward, they carried the position in spite of the

noisy fire of muskets,, escopetas, and a dismounted

nine pounder, with which they were received.

No. 2 being carried, the enemy fled from Nos. 1

and 3. During the night of the 15th a party was

sent up the pass, which removed a barricade con

structed across the road near the base of Cerro

Gordo. On the following morning the main hill

was occupied.

In this affair of Cerro Gordo, the American loss

was three soldiers killed and ten wounded.

As it had been learned that re-enforcements were

on their way, on the 16th a party of dragoons was
sent to the rear to meet them. But the Puente

Nacional was found to be occupied by the enemy,
and on the 17th the dragoons returned. Then

Lally moved on in the direction of Jalapa.

On the 19th, when within one mile and a half

of the city, the command was fired upon by a gue
rilla posted under cover of a stone wall on the

hill side near the road. Two soldiers were killed,

and the commanding officer and six soldiers were

wounded. A few discharges of artillery drove the

enemy away with loss, but the advance was de

layed until near nightfall. The city was not

reached until after dark, and, as an officer sent

with a message to the alcalde was fired upon in the

streets, no attempt was made to enter until the, fol-
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lowing morning. Then, the friendly disposition of

the inhabitants being avowed, the town was quiet

ly occupied.

By this time the list of wounded and sick had

increased to more than two hundred. The animals

of the train were completely broken down. A long

halt was necessary for the purpose of reuniting and

refitting the command, and for some days no further

attempt was made to advance.

By the 20th of September a considerable num
ber of troops had arrived at Yera Cruz from the

northern line of operations. At that time General

Lane marched thence with one regiment of Indiana

volunteers, one of Ohio, two battalions of recruits,

five small companies of volunteer horse, and two

pieces of artillery. The whole force numbered

about 2500 of the different arms.

On the second days' march, when near the ha

cienda of Mango del Clavo, a party of guerillas

was observed. A company of Louisiana horse was

detached in pursuit, and after a smart skirmish the

guerilla was dispersed.

Two days subsequently, as the command was

leaving Paso de Ovejas, the rear guard was fired

upon and an officer was killed. No other serious

interruption took place to the march to Jalapa,

where a junction was effected with Lally's column.

In the mean time, information of Childs's situa

tion at Puebla was received, and although the com

mands were much in need of rest, and the train of
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repair, the whole force soon after marched forward,

leaving Jalapa again ungarrisoned.

Rumors of the concentration of a Mexican force

on the road between Perote and Puehla were re

ceived on the march, and they were confirmed to a

great extent upon arriving at the castle. It was

believed that the opposition was to he encountered

at the pass of El Final, and the strength of the col

umn was increased by a company of mounted rifles

and four of volunteer infantry, besides three field

guns from the Castle of Perote. The advance was

continued.

General Santa Anna had not occupied the pass

of El Pinal, but, with his force of 4000 men of dif

ferent arms, and six pieces of artillery, had taken

post at Huamantla, a town some miles north of the

main road and east of the pass. His object must

have been to allow the train of the American coL

umn to become entangled in the defile, and to fall

on the rear guard with his whole force
;
but if he

supposed that he would be neglected, he must have

counted upon the character of the American troops,

which were nearly all raw,

Lane, however, received information of his posi

tion on the 8th of October. He parked his train

at the hacienda of San Antonio Tamaris, which

was garrisoned by the regiment of Ohio volunteers

and a battalion of three companies of recruits, with

two field guns. On the morning of the 9th the re

maining forces marched by a route diverging from

the main road toward Huamantla.
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Santa Anna was not prepared for this approach,

nor did the Mexican pickets discover it until the

advanced guard of the American column was with

in three miles of the town. Several parties of

horsemen were then discovered by the Americans

making their way in retreat through the interven

ing fields. Captain Walker, whose company of

mounted rifles and the volunteer cavalry consti

tuted the advance, ordered a gallop in pursuit.

The infantry and artillery under Lane's immediate

command continued the march. The thick hedges
of maguey on either side -of the road soon conceal

ed Walker's movements from the column in rear,

hut a heavy fire from the town announced the com

mencement of the engagement. The movements

were therefore hastened to support it.

Walker had dashed rapidly into the town, and

attacked a "body of ahout five hundred lancers, sta

tioned, with two pieces of artillery, in the Plaza.

They were soon driven from the guns, and the

greater number were dispersed ; but, heavy re-en

forcements coming up to their support, the disor

derly pursuit of the Americans was checked. They
were severely cut up, especially the company of

mounted rifles. Walker was killed, and the great

er portion of the whole loss sustained by the Amer

ican troops in the affair (thirteen killed and eleven

wounded) fell upon his command.

Upon the arrival of the infantry, Lane ordered

Colonel Gorman to enter the town with his Indi

ana regiment on the west, Colonel Wynkoop to ad-
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vance on the east with his battalion and the artil

lery, and Captain Heintzelman, with six compa
nies of recruits, to penetrate at a point on the right

of Wynkoop. Lally's command was held in re

serve.

Gorman's regiment arrived first and opened fire

upon the enemy. Seeing the arrival of a large in

fantry force, the Mexicans gave up the contest and

fled, leaving the two guns, from which Walker had

driven them, and a considerable store of ammuni

tion, in the hands of the Americans. The troops

of the column entered the town, which they held

throughout the night.

The train was brought up on the following day,

and the march to Puebla was continued. That

city was entered on the 12th, while the guerillas,

which had been annoying Childs for some thirty

previous days, were in the act of abandoning it.

Lane's advanced troops were in time to deliver a

few shots at the retreating enemy as he hurried

away ;
but resistance was over, the occupation was

quietly effected, the garrison was relieved, and or

der to a certain extent was restored in Puebla.

The retiring Mexican forces fell back upon At-

lixco, the temporary seat of the state government.

By the 18th of October a considerable number had

been collected and was in position with two pieces

of artillery. GeneralRea commanded them. Lane,

hearing of the state of things, ordered a movement

upon the point of the force which had arrived with

him at Puebla.
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The column marched at eleven o'clock on the

19th, and, having made seven Spanish leagues by
four o'clock in the afternoon, fell in with the ad

vanced pickets of the enemy. The cavalry, having
been detached to examine a hacienda on the route,

was not immediately at hand, and the column was

halted. The enemy advanced a few parties, which

opened a fire of escopetas, and made other demon
strations of fighting ;

but when the cavalry came

up and the column advanced, they became confused.

Lane sent a squadron of horse against them, and

they fled. The cavalry pursued for a mile and a

half, when the guerilleros made a stand and opened
a noisy fire. Upon the appearance of the artillery

and infantry, however, they again took to flight,

having received a few shots. The dragoons follow

ed, and, within a mile and a half of Atlixco, came

upon the main body, posted on a hill side, in a

dense growth of chaparral. The horsemen imme

diately dashed into it, but the enemy made little

resistance. His men were cut down in great nunir

bers, and, on the reappearance of the infantry, the

whole guerilla force fled in utter confusion, pursued
as far as practicable by the American cavalry.

The length of the march, the heat of the day, and

the fatigue of the skirmishes, had broken down the

horses of the cavalry so much that the continued

speedy pursuit was impracticable. It was not un

til after nightfall that the whole command reach-^

ed Atlixco, having marched ten Spanish leagues

since eleven o'clock of the morning. General Lane
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deemed it unsafe to enter at night and incur the

risk of a street fight. He posted his artillery on a

height which commanded the town, and opened
fire. It was continued for three quarters of an

hour, when Colonel Brough's and Major Lally's

commands were directed to enter cautiously. The

danger of resistance, however, had passed, the gue-

rilleros had fled, and the Ayuntamiento waited upon
Lane to beg that the town might he spared.

On the following morning the town was search

ed for arms and ammunition. General Rea had

succeeded in carrying off two pieces of artillery and

their equipment to Matamoras, a small village

eleven leagues beyond Atlixco. Such arms as were

found were destroyed, and Lane returned to Pue-

bla, having lost but one man killed and one wound

ed in the whole affair, although he had inflicted a

severe chastisement upon the enemy.

In these isolated minor operations on the Amer
ican line of communications, whatever of strength

remained to the beaten army of Mexico was broken

and dissipated. Thenceforward no force of any

great number of troops, under any regular com

mander, appeared in the field against the invaders.

General Santa Anna's operations were such as

were left to him, and those alone, which, if suc

cessful, would have had a beneficial effect upon the

cause of his country or his own interest
;
but the

conduct of his troops in the various affairs in which
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they were engaged, proved fully that the work of

demoralization was complete. Although the fall

of the Mexican capital did not put a stop to the

operations of guerillas and robbers, yet it broke the

center of all resources. A vigilant military police

was all which was necessary to complete the con

quest of Mexico. Mexicans knew that such was

the case, and as well as any, Santa Anna believed

it. In one of his proclamations, issued previously

to the advance of the American army from Puebla,

exhorting his fellow-countrymen to defend their

capital, he made use of the strongest arguments to

impress upon them the vital importance of its pos

session at any cost. The whole history of Mexico,

from the time of Cortez to the date on which he

wrote, was appealed to in support of the position

which he assumed. Now that the American army
held the capital, the truth was presented in fearful

force, and the evidence of it could not fail to para

lyze the efforts of the general and troops. In this

state of feeling, the vigor which was necessary for

success in any undertaking, and especially w
rhen

it was known that re-enforcements were on the

inarch from Vera Cruz, was nowhere put forth,

and it is doubtful whether it could have been.

The blockade and annoyance of the garrison of

Puebla was but the mockery of a military opera

tion for any positive end. If it were intended to

starve out the garrison, a larger force was requisite

than any at Santa Anna's disposal, to keep up the

blockade and to beat the re-enforcements, which
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must have been his plan of operations. The result

of the affair at Huamantla soon proved it, and the

final effort of the Mexican general resulted in a

disgraceful failure.

Of all the many vicissitudes of Santa Anna's

eventful life, none could have been more full of re

markable incidents, and in none did he display his

energy and talent for preparation more than in the

occurrences of the Mexican war. He had come to

his country from exile, was hailed as her defender,

had raised a large army, had lost it at Angostura,
had quelled a revolution in the capital, and had

raised another army, which had been dissipated be

fore the assault of the invaders on the lines of

Cerro Gordo. Denounced and proscribed, he had,

nevertheless, held power, partially recovered his

popularity, and raised again another army, the

largest ever in the field on Mexican soil since the

Spanish conquest, had fortified the capital, and de

fended it by intrigue and arms until defense was

impossible. He still kept the field in such man
ner as he was able, and finally ended his opera
tions at Huamantla.

Such continued ill fortune has rarely attended

the efforts of so able a man as Santa Anna. Had
a leader of a so extended genius, with his perfect

knowledge of the resources of Mexico, been at the

head of brave troops, there can be no doubt what

the result of his operations would have been. But

the spirit of the troops was not in keeping with the

talent of the commander. The moral force was
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wanting. Frittered away as it had been in the

countless revolutions of Mexico, shaken as had

been the remainder at the battles of Palo Alto, Re-

saca, and Monterey, before he commenced opera

tions, his efforts on the field could not compare
with those in the cabinet. And it can not, in truth,

be denied by any friend of Santa Anna, that with

all his ability, there is to be seen in all of his posi

tive military operations an, instability of purpose in

the very crisis of battle, which will never fail to

ruin any general, however great his talent, who
does not command troops already of good and brave

character. A general who acts in such a manner

never inspired a courageous sentiment, none such

ever induced brave conduct. But the magnitude
of Santa Anna's plans, the celerity of his marches,

and the skill of his intriguing diplomacy, justly

entitle him to fame, despite his faults and his vi

cious moral character.

The movements of the American troops in these

last operations were almost entirely accidental, and

were guided by no' object except that of endeavor

ing to penetrate Mexico to the theater of Scott's

operations. Such directions were all which could

be given from Washington, and such was the pur

pose which was naturally presented to the com

manders upon starting fromVera Cruz. By the

abandonment of his line of communications with

Vera Cruz, General Scott had precluded himself

from receiving any information of the state of af

fairs in his rear> and of directing the movements
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of re-enforcements. Indeed, he was without au

thentic information of the march of any from the

base until after the completion of the operations

in which they took part, although rumors of the

position of Lally's command at Jalapa reached him

during the armistice. But he gave no immediate

orders, nor could he give any. The chiefs of the

different columns were left to themselves, and with

such mixed troops as they commanded, and inex

perienced as they were, their operations were emi

nently irregular and uncertain, although successful.

The ultimate cause of these disturbances on the

line of communication may he found in the system,

adopted by the United States, of depending in war

upon volunteers for a fixed period of time. This

induced the necessity of discharging the first levy

in the early part of the summer. But the imme
diate cause is to be seen in the discharge which

actually took place forty days before the troops

were entitled to it. By that discharge General

Scott entailed upon himself the necessity of await

ing the arrival of the new regiments of regulars,

and gave Santa Anna an opportunity of recover

ing from the effects of the battle of Cerro Gordo.

The delay gave time for the negotiations at Pue-

bla, and, through them, gave rise to the armistice

of Tacubaya. Every great battle in which the

American army was engaged after the 18th of

April owed its necessity to the discharge of that

body of troops from Jalapa ;
for General Scott at

the time, after deducting the garrison of Vera Cruz,

II. K K
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had 12,000 men for the advance into the interior.

Had he left 2000 effectives for the garrisons of Ja-

lapa, Perote, and Puebla, with that reduction, and

an estimate of 2000 for invalids and disabled sol

diers, he would still have had 8000 men with

which to have marched to Mexico. At the time

no garrison of strength was in the city, no fortifica

tions were erected, and nothing was prepared to

oppose him. The capital could have at once heen

occupied and held, and an effective check would

have heen put to the gathering and organization

of any large force of the enemy.
He did actually march on Mexico when it was

fully prepared for defense, and had a garrison of

35,000, with an army of 10,500 soldiers. He had

conquered, notwithstanding the sacrifice of every

advantage as it was gained. Can it he douhted

that he could have occupied it at once had he made

the attempt ? Fifteen days, at the utmost, were suf

ficient for the march from Jalapa to Mexico. Ten

days would have heen sufficient to have organized
and located a garrison of 4000 men, which would

have held the capital. The returning volunteers

could have convoyed a train to Vera Cruz, while

the garrisons on the route were temporarily re-en

forced hy the volunteers for the war. The new
levies would have landed in time to have return

ed with the convoy from Vera Cruz, and to have

supplied the places of the discharged troops.

It is true that if these movements had been

made, Santa Anna would have been in position to



THE WAR WITH MEXICO.

annoy and harass them, hut whether they would

have been as dangerous to the American cause as

those which were put into execution is a question

which requires little reflection for an answer
;
for

the great battles would have been avoided, and the

garrisons kept up on the line of communications.

CHAPTER XVI.

Delay in Movements of American Army Organization of Mexican Govern

ment under Pena y Pena Action of the new Government with reference

to General Paredes with reference to General Santa Anna Removal of

Seat of Government to Queretaro Meeting of Mexican Congress Diffi

culties of Mexican Government Intrigues and Discussions in Congress
Election of President Anaya Action of his Government Appointment
of Commissioners Meeting of the Governors of States Adjournment of

Congress Remarks.

As had been the case immediately after the con

summation of previous great enterprises, the main

American army was inactive for a long period sub

sequent to the fall of the Mexican capital, on ac

count of circumstances and the policy adopted by
the American functionaries, but principally on ac

count of the scarcity of numbers. Time was there

fore allowed the Mexican leaders to reorganize their

government, which had been ended by the resig

nation ofSanta Anna at Guadalupe Hidalgo. Pres

ident, ministers, Legislature, and army in fine,

all the elements of Mexican national authority,

were dissipated and dispersed over the whole ex

tent of the country. Had the policy of the invad-



516 THE WAR WITH MEXICO.

ers been that of conquest, and had they been in

immediate present force, a few steps would have

insured it. But the strength necessary for him to

take those steps was not at the time at the dispos

al of the American general, nor did his own views

counsel such action, if it had been. The somewhat

anomalous spectacle was presented, partly from

necessity and partly from intention, of a victorious

army holding possession of the enemy's capital,

and quietly watching the organization of a govern
ment which might, perhaps, conclude a treaty, if

such were indeed the spirit of the Mexican nation

and its leaders. The alternative was not regard

ed that this same government, if it became strong,

might become the instrument of further trouble

some hostilities, in case Mexican pride, caprice, in

trigue, and falsehood should defeat negotiation, as

they had done that conducted by Mr. Trist at the

house of Alfaro. It is somewhat remarkable, so

soon after the unfortunate result and termination

of that discussion, that the American general and

commissioner should have desired that the govern
ment which had so fully and completely deceived

them should resuscitate itself. But so it was, and

there was this in favor of the policy of permitting
it : Santa Anna had given up his power, and an

other president, of a different order of talent, was at

the head of affairs, if the Constitution of Mexico

were adhered to in the succession which had been

prescribed by the Constitution and by the decree

of Santa Anna.
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Senor Pena y Pena, the president of the Supreme
Court of Justice, upon whom devolved the exercise

of executive power, had been the minister of for

eign relations under Herrera. Through his means,
the attempt at settling the matters in controversy

by the mission of Mr. Slidell had been brought
about. There existed but little doubt as to his in

clination to conclude a treaty, although there was

much as to his power to make such a peace as

would be acceptable to the United States. His

inclination alone, however, was more favorable to

the ends of the American government than was

that of any agitator who might attempt to seize

what power remained, or might be saved to the

executive of a Mexican government, for the old

method of securing favor by an appeal to the na

tional prejudices and the necessity of maintaining
Mexican honor was adopted by the chiefs of mili

tary factions. Had they once succeeded, the slight

hope which remained ofpeace, and which the Amer
ican general was willing to cherish, was gone.

The organization of Pena y Pena's government
was commenced at Toluca on the 2 7th of Septem

ber, 1847. On that day the President addressed a

circular to the governors of the several states, an

nouncing his assumption of power and the partial

formation of a cabinet, by the appointment of Don
Luis de la Rosa as minister of foreign and intern

al relations. A second circular of the same date,

over Rosa's signature, contained what was called

the "
programme" of the new administration. It
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was chiefly an avowal of liberal principles in the

administration of internal affairs, and of a desire

to save the nation from the fate which evidently

awaited her, should she remain in the state in

which she was, without any organized govern
ment. It was more calculated to obtain the sup

port of the different state authorities than to set

forth any immediate policy in relation to the ques

tion of hostilities with the United States. Indeed,

the only portion of the circular of either president

or minister which contained any allusion to the

matter was in that of Rosa, which, among other

things, restored the freedom of the press. In that

there can only be seen an intention to admit the

consideration of the question.
" His Excellency the Provisional President earn

estly desires to have a thorough knowledge of the

true opinion of the nation with respect to the mo
mentous questions to which the war of invasion

has given rise. As the press is the principal organ
of that opinion, his excellency would desire that

the liberty of the press should be subjected to no

other restrictions than such as morality and public

order require."

Such strength as the newly-established govern

ment could derive from the recognition of the rep

resentatives of the different neutral nations present

in Mexico was gained at once
;
but its position

was far from being secure against internal enemies,

even in the event of its being undisturbed by the

invading army. The various factions which had
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distracted Mexico during the whole war, and even

while the enemy was at the gates of the capital,

did not cease their quarrels after the consumma
tion of his success. The first measures taken by
Rosa in his new capacity were for preventing the

chance of the overthrow of the new government

by a domestic military force.

The first agitator who received attention was

General Paredes, who had returned from his exile,

and was quite willing to seize any opportunity
which might present itself for furthering his scheme

of establishing a monarchy. He had not been 'idle

during his absence, most of which he had spent at

Paris. It is beyond doubt that he received no lit

tle verbal encouragement while at the court of St.

Cloud, and the intrigues which he soon set on foot

prove that he intended to act upon it. He quitted

Europe soon after hearing the news of the Ameri

can victory of Cerro Gordo, and for the alleged

purpose of assisting in fighting the battles of his

country.^ It is, however, more probable that he

came on account of the unpopularity which, it

might well be believed, would, after that event,

attach to Santa Anna. In that unpopularity his

downfall might have been confidently anticipated,

and in the ensuing anarchy Paredes could take the

chances of revolution, and could renew the consid

eration of his schemes.

He landed at Vera Cruz from a British packet
on the 14th of August, under an assumed name,

* Manifesto of Geueral Paredes, Tulancingo, September 29th, 1847.
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and made good his escape from the city within ten

minutes, and hefore the governor was aware of his

arrival. 1* After the fall of the city of Mexico, he

offered his services to the government for the pur

pose of conducting military operations against the

Americans
;

hut Pena y Peiia's administration

treated him with neglect, which Paredes ascribed,

and perhaps very truly, to the fact that the Provis

ional President had heen the chief actor in the at

tempted negotiations with the United States while

minister of relations under Herrera's administra

tion, and to the revolution which, headed hy Pa-

redes, had thrust his faction from power. Wheth
er the motive were or were not that of revenge,

the administration of Pena y Pena did not commit

the error of fostering the aspirant who had hefore

overthrown the government, while it was attempt

ing to save the country from the evils of war. Rosa

issued an order to the various governors and com-

mandantes generales of the different states that he

should he seized wherever he could be found, and

reshipped into exile,f If that were impracticable,

he was to he conducted a prisoner to Acapulco, the

favorite depot for refractory Mexican politicians.

The effect of this order was to force Paredes to con

fine his intrigues to private circles, inasmuch as he

was not placed in command of any body of troops,

and had no opportunity for working upon those fa-

*
Correspondence, Colonel Wilson and others. Executive Document,

Np. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p.

787-798. t Manifesto of General Paredes.
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vorably disposed to the existing government. So

much of the order as related to his seizure was not

executed, nor is it known whether it was attempt
ed to carry it into effect.

The second and most important of the military

chieftains who were proceeded against was Santa

Anna. On the 7th of Octoher a communication

was addressed him from Toluca by Rosa, in which

he was ordered to give up the command of his

troops, for reasons so various and so remarkable

that they will best appear in the words of the dis

patch.
" His Excellency the Seiior Provisional President

of the Republic, feeling profoundly his duties to

his country, convinced of the necessity of estab

lishing in the nation public morality, and of giv

ing more energy to the discipline of the army, al

most extinguished by our civil dissensions
;
desir

ing, moreover, to manifest to the people of the city

of Mexico and other points now in possession of

the enemy that their lot is not indifferent to his

excellency ; considering, in fine, that in every coun

try, well organized, the generals of an army an

swer before a tribunal for the faults which they
have committed, and even for the misfortunes

which have befallen their campaigns, has resolved

that your excellency deliver up the command of

the army to his
1

Excellency the General of Division

Don Manuel Rincon, and, until that chief may
present himself to receive it, temporarily to his Ex

cellency General Don Juan Alvarez."
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The dispatch concluded by directing the ex-

president to fix his residence at such point as he

pleased, until a council of war could be ordered to

investigate his case. It was received by Santa

Anna soon after the affair at Huamantla, and the

celerity which he showed in obeying its dictates

goes far to induce the belief that he was quite

willing to give up the command of which he was

deprived, even if it had been any thing substantial,

which, in the beaten and disorganized state of his

forces, it was not. Having reoccupied Huamantla

after Lane's advance from that place on the 16th

of October, Santa Anna issued an address to his

troops, in which his patriotism and delicacy were

set forth as his reasons for obedience. But, proba

bly in return for the various uncomplimentary in

nuendoes concerning his public immorality and his

military incapacity which Seiior Rosa had treated

him to, he endeavored to show that much blame

must fall upon the new government for displacing

him from the command at the moment when he

was about entering upon successful operations.
" When we anticipated," said he,

"
obtaining a

triumph for the country over our invaders, accord

ing to the combinations to which you are no stran

gers, and while I was exclusively occupied in car

rying on hostilities against the enemy, as you well

know, which object alone brought us in this direc

tion, I received the surprising communication of

Don Luis de la Rosa, Minister of State and War,
in which he informs rne that, by order of his Ex-
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cellency the President of the Supreme Court ofJus

tice, charged with the supreme executive power

hy the appointment which I made to that effect

in my decree of the 16th of last September, I am
to deliver the command of this body of troops to

his Excellency General of Division Don Manuel

Bincon, or to Don Juan Alvarez of the same rank."

To finish his address hy another blow upon the

administration of Pena y Pena, which, however

much it was intended to prove his patriotism, said

little for his discipline, if the order were such as

required obedience, he said, "I depart from you
and the theater of war perhaps to sacrifice myself
to the vengeance of my enemies, or to effect an in

glorious peace, which I did not wish to grant, be

cause it was repugnant to my conscience." With

this, Santa Anna retired to Tehuacan, in the State

of Oajaca, and for a time refrained from meddling
with public affairs.

In the mean time, the seat of the Mexican gov
ernment had been removed to Queretaro, and the

Congress had been summoned to meet at that

place. The two principal personages who had

been disposed of were not all, however, who inter

fered with the speedy and complete establishment

of the power of the new administration, or the

adoption of its proposed course of policy. General

Bustamente, during the continuance of the strug

gle about the capital, had been in the western de

partments in command of a considerable force. By
the destruction and dispersion of Santa Anna's
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army, he found himself at the head of the most re

spectable body of troops in the republic. It was

intact, had never met the American troops, and,

being at the greatest distance from them, was most

formidable to any party of its own countrymen

against whom its leaders saw fit to pronounce. As
all great Mexican chieftains are accustomed to do,

Bustamente likewise issued his proclamation. In

it the evils and misfortunes of the war were laid

at the doors of the generals charged with the con

duct of it, and it was intimated in pretty positive

terms that, in the opinion of the proclaimer, he

was able to conduct it to a glorious issue. At the

same time, he deplored the fate which had sepa
rated him from that portion of the army which had

been called to meet the invaders.

Bustamente commenced to approximate his

troops to Queretaro, and it was believed for a

time that he would overturn the new administra

tion, if it attempted any negotiation for peace.

By the latter part of October a quorum of Mex
ican deputies had assembled at the new seat of

government. Thither, too, had flocked a host of

intriguants for the different candidates for the of

fice of president ad interim, which that body was

about to elect. Crowds of needy officers, soliciting

pay and employment, thronged about the city, and

being anxious to demonstrate their patriotism, and,

moreover, fearful lest the conclusion of a treaty of

peace would do away with the necessity of their

services, they were strong in their denunciations
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of any peaceful consideration. In the natural

course of things, they sided with the partisans of

those candidates who endeavored to secure popu

larity by loud-mouthed exclamations concerning
the honor of the country, and the necessity of con

tinuing the war at all hazards and to all lengths.

In the turmoil and confusion, many deputies he-

came nervous concerning their own responsibility,

and left the city for a time. The transaction of

business was delayed. In the interval, before Con

gress could be reassembled, Pena y Pena added to

his cabinet by appointing General Mora y Villamil

Minister of War and Marine. That officer was

known to be strongly in favor of peace.

To strengthen the government, a Congress of the

governors of the different federal states was sum
moned to meet at Queretaro, in order that counsel

might be given in reference to the course of policy

to be pursued with regard to the reorganization of

the government of the Union, and to the question

of peace or war.

This was necessary on the former point, for vari

ous objections, not without foundation, had been

raised on the part of the different oppositions to

the tenure by which Pena y Pena held the execu

tive authority, and he was by no means strong

enough to disregard them
; but, before the gov

ernors had assembled, affairs had become so far

quiet in Queretaro that a sufficient number of

deputies for the transaction of business returned

thither, and Congress commenced its sessions.
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The first duty which devolved upon it was the

election of a Provisional President, to serve untiJ

the 8th of January, the period fixed upon for count

ing the votes given for the Constitutional President

of the Republic. So soon as it had entered upon
this duty, political strife was as high as ever.

Some five or six candidates were in the field,

each with powerful supporters. The partisans of

Santa Anna were busily at work, with the ap

parent intention of ruining the enemies of their

chieftain if it were impossible to perpetuate his

power, and consorted with one faction or another,

as was for the time most consistent with such an

end.

The two greatest parties were the Puros and the

Moderados. The Puros had no particular fixed

policy in regard to either peace or war. Some of

their leaders desired a perpetuation of the war, be

cause of the ancient popularity of the cry of resist

ance to the invaders, and a dislike to relinquish so

excellent a theme for treatises and discussions.

Others desired it as a means of forcing the United

States to take the whole country. In the violence

of political hatred, others again appeared to have

forgotten the presence of the invading army in the

capital of the republic, and only talked of their old

party issues.

The Moderados were to a great extent supporters

of Pena y Pena, and were in favor of peace, if it

could be made on any thing like advantageous
terms. Still, even they talked loudly and in Mex-
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lean style of the necessity of sustaining the honor

of the country.

The various political discussions delayed action

on the principal point of duty until November.

By the llth of that month, the claims of the rivals

having heen discussed, the Moderados settled upon
one candidate. A few Puros joined them, and

General Ariaya was elected to the office for the

short space which intervened hefore the 8th of

January. The event caused great umbrage among
the mass of the Puros, and many deputies threat

ened to withdraw from Congress, and thereby put
a stop to its discussions and session. Nevertheless,

the threat was not carried out, and Aiiaya entered

upon the duties of the executive.

In the address of the new President, his policy,

with reference to the question of peace or war, was

not disclosed, except in so far that he declared that

he had taken the office with a firm determination

never to seal the dishonor of his native land. The

reply from the president of Congress avowed noth

ing more positive as the sentiment of that body.

So far as airy thing distinctly expressed was con

cerned, the inclination of either President or Legis

lature in reference to peace or war was an open

question.

Afiaya's acts, however, soon spoke more plainly

on the subject. In the formation of his cabinet

he retained Peria y Pen a, Rosa, and Mora y Villa-

mil, who were compromised in favor of negotia

tions. Bustamente was appointed the command-
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er-in-chief of the army, which was the effectual

way of securing him and his command to the sup

port of the government.
A short correspondence had taken place hetween

Senor Rosa and Mr. Trist on the subject of nego

tiations,^ and it was generally stated and believed

that Pena y Pena had been upon the point of nam

ing commissioners to conclude a treaty. Anaya
carried out the measure, and in the latter part of

November they were actually appointed. At the

time it may have been a measure of policy on his

part, similar to that which Santa Anna had adopted

during the armistice. Subsequent events, however,

prove that the disposition of the other authorities

of the government was favorable to the negotiation.

But few demonstrations of popular or legislative

approbation of the measure had been manifested.

Indeed, so far as the popular voice had any thing

to do with the decision, it was almost invariably

raised against any thing of the kind. Pronuncia-

mientos in favor of the war were rife in every de

partment, and in Oajaca, Jalisco, and Guanajuato

they ended in something like revolutions, inas

much as a few shots were fired and a few discon

tented spirits were slain.

From Tulancingo, Paredes came out with a man

ifesto, endeavoring to keep alive the spirit of war.

He pronounced in favor of the plan of Iguala, his

long-cherished scheme.

*
Correspondence. Executive Document, No. 52, Senate, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 229.
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Santa Anna, toq, added his manifesto to keep

up the excitement, and from his retirement at Te-

huacan strove to vindicate his conduct, and to ren

der that of existing authorities unpopular.
The state of affairs within the vicinity of Quer-

etaro was no better than that existing without.

The opposition of the Puros, which had been so

noisily set forth in their avowed determination to

break up Congress by departing, had taken the

turn of fierce discussion. Various resolutions con

cerning the honor of Mexico and the necessity of

prolonging the war were introduced, debated, and

disposed of in different ways. One set, the most

violent in favor of war, and which declared that it

was dishonorable and inexpedient to sell any part

of the national territory, and which denounced any
authorities who should attempt it as traitors, was

rejected. This was conceived to be a strong dem
onstration in favor of peace.

Nothing further was effected in Congress upon
the great question, so far as its public proceedings
went. On internal affairs and the organization of

the government many projects were discussed, and

adopted or rejected. These caused no little tur

moil and confusion in the chaos of politics, but

were of little interest to any save Mexicans.

A proposition was made by one of the deputies,

which was, perhaps, as well suited as any which

could be made to the situation of the country at

the time. It was rejected with indignation. Its

end was for a dissolution of the federal compact,
II. L L
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and for allowing every state to take care of itself.

This was about the existing state of things, except
that the American army was taking care of a good

ly number, and several of the remainder were in a

state of anarchy and confusion.

The army was also a subject of discussion, and

various plans were proposed to increase it. The

great obstacle to the success of any of them was

the want of funds. There was not a sufficiency

of thenl to pay what troops were still with their

colors, to say nothing of the hungry swarms of of

ficers at Queretaro.

The governors of the states had met as they had

been summoned, but they were no more positive

in their advice or their acts than was the national

Congress. They first put two questions to the

government (then Pena y Pena's), to which they
demanded immediate and explicit replies.

1st. In what character they had been called to

gether, and whether the government would submit

to their decision ?

2d. Will the government make known with

clearness and frankness the programme of its poli

cy with regard to peace or war ?

In reply to these questions, it was stated on the

part of the government that they had been sum
moned in the character of advisers

;
that the gov

ernment would be able, in some measure, to submit

to their decision
;
and that it was more inclined to

open or continue negotiations than to prosecute

the war.
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Upon this, the first avowal of policy, the gov
ernors commenced and continued their discussions

with but little unity or effect. Finally, about the

middle of December, they broke up, having arrived

at the conclusion that they would support the gen
eral government in the discharge of its duties to

the extent of the constitutional means demanded

of them. This somewhat unnecessary declaration,

had the Mexican government been firmly estab

lished, was, nevertheless, of considerable import
ance as the case stood, for it was not always that

they were willing to do as much, even where it

was expressly laid down as their duty.

About the time of the adjournment of that coun

cil, Congress too began to fall away. Hardly a

sufficient number of deputies were left for the

transaction of ordinary business, and finally the

body broke up and adjourned. All things of im

portance were left to be disposed of by the succeed

ing Congress, which was to meet in January.

Something had been gained toward the conclu

sion of a treaty. The administrations of Pena y
Pena and Afiaya had been reorganized as the con

stitutional government of Mexico from September,

1847,, to January, 1848. During that period it

was generally believed that they were inclined to

negotiate. The avowal of such inclination had

been once distinctly and publicly made, and the

commissioners on the part of Mexico were actually

appointed. No administration had ever attempted
or effected any thing of the kind since the com-
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mencement of the war. The fact that these two

were able to remain in power, even nominally,

against the almost innumerable intrigues and ele

ments of discord which existed, showed plainly

that the first step had been taken in good faith,

and that the consideration of the subject had at

last been consented to. With Mexico, and na

tions such as Mexico, this has always been a most

difficult matter of diplomacy.

But, saving this and the appointment of com

missioners, Senores Conto, Cuevas, and Atristain,

nothing definite on the question of peace or war

was effected by the governments of Pena y Pena

and Anaya. The action of the commissioners was

delayed from different causes.
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CHAPTER XVII.

American Military Action after the Fall of Mexico Policy of General Seott

Disposition of Troops on Line of Communication His intended Action

Correspondence Instructions from Washington Military Contributions

Recall of Mr. Trist Action of General Scott of Mr. Trist Quarrels

among General Officers General Order, No. 349 Causes -Observations

Movement of Re-enforcements from Vera Cruz Arrival at Mexico Af

fair of Matamoras Intended Expeditions to Zacatecas and San Luis

Unauthorized Negotiations Delay of Expeditions Reasons Observa

tions Occupation of Pachuca Reorganization of the Army Occupation
of Toluca of Cuernavaca Guerilla Robbery at Santa Fe Expeditions

to Tehuacan and Orizaba Conclusion of Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo

Observations Recall of General Scott.

THE first disposition of troops made by General

Scott after the capture of Mexico was for the pur

pose of securing his line of communications, which

had been so long neglected. Prior to the 13th of

October he had been employed in arranging the

internal affairs of his army, and in preparing his

official reports of the battles and operations in the

valley. The occupation of the city was undis

turbed, except by a few unimportant riots, which

were quickly quelled. The troops were engaged
in the work of refitting and repair. The hospitals

of the army were established, and attendance in

some sort was afforded to the sick and wounded,
of which they had received but a meager share for

the first days subsequent to the battles. Subsist

ence for the small number of troops of which the

American army was composed was easily obtained.

All the difficulties which had been experienced in
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raising money on the lower points of the route had

vanished. Drafts on the United States sold readi

ly and at a high premium.
The government of the city was intrusted to

General Quitman, but the Mexican civil authori

ties were retained in their places under him. The

usual regulations and revenue laws were enforced

with slight modifications.

The policy of General Scott with regard to the

continuation of the war continued to be the same

as that which he had pursued from the time of

leaving Puebla. He was without definite instruc

tions, and \vas without the necessary means of at

tempting any immediate offensive military opera

tion. The wish that the Mexican government
should become sufficiently firm in its establish

ment to enable it to make a treaty of peace appears

to have been predominant. For furthering that

end, and for the demonstration of a spirit of con

ciliation, Generals Rincon and Aiiaya, both mem
bers of the Mexican Congress, were liberated with

out parole.

During the month of October it was rumored in

Mexico that General Taylor had advanced from the

north as far as San Luis Potosi, and it was feared

that he might be forced to continue his march to

the capital. Under this supposition, General Scott

sent him instructions to leave the city of Queretaro

to his right, in order that he might not disturb the

elements of peace collecting at that point.^
* General Scott to General Pillow, October 3d, 1847. Executive Docu-
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The information possessed of the state of affairs

upon the route to Vera Cruz was almost entirely

unofficial, and most of it came through Mexican

channels. By the 13th of October the accounts of

a large column of troops being on its way to re-

enforce the main army became so authentic, that

General Scott issued a circular letter to the un

known commanders of them concerning their dis

tribution. Two or three posts, of from 500 to 750

men each, were to be established between Vera

Cruz and Jalapa. Jalapa was to be garrisoned
with a force of from 1200 to 2000. The force at

Puebla was to be increased to the same number.

If, after these dispositions, any surplus remained,

it was to await the orders of the general-in-chief

at the latter city.^

On the 27th of October he wrote to the War De

partment, transmitting the reports of the affairs at

Huamantla and Puebla (which had reached him

in the interval), and the circular of instructions.

In the accompanying letter, the movements which

he had in contemplation, as those which were im

mediately to succeed those which he had ordered,

were set forth as follows :

" After establishing the new posts below, as in

dicated in my circular letter of instructions (Oc
tober 13th), I hope to have the means of occupying

Atlixco, some eighteen miles from Puebla, and

ment, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 1017.

* Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 1028.
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Toluca, the state capital of Mexico, forty miles

hence, and perhaps Orizaba, but probably shall

not attempt any more distant expedition without

further re-enforcements, or until I shall have re

ceived the views of the department submitted in

my report (No. 34) of the 18th ultimo.
" There is still some slight hope that negotia

tions for a peace may soon be renewed, but on this

subject Mr. Trist, our commissioner, will no doubt

fully report to the State Department."^
About the last of October, a column of troops, in

escort of a large train of empty wagons, marched

to Yera Cruz for the purpose of bringing up sup

plies of munitions and clothing. With it went

home many officers of different grades (wounded,

disabled, and supernumerary). Among them was

General Quitman, who was succeeded in his duties

as governor of Mexico by General P. F. Smith.

Quitman's division of volunteers was broken up^

and the different regiments were temporarily as

signed to the first and second divisions of regu

lars.

The ensuing month was one of inactivity at the

American head-quarters, and nothing was attempt
ed which might materially affect the question of

peace or war in the way of military operations.

On the 17th and 18th of November, however, dis

patches arrived from Washington which put the

general-in-chief in possession of the views of his

* Executive Document, No 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 1027.
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government in relation to future action, and also

of information of the recall of Mr. Trist.

Since the issue of instructions relative to raising

military contributions, the authorities at Washing
ton had awaited the result of the experiment, and

the effect which it might have upon the enemy.
The dispatches of General Scott from Jalapa had,

however, put an end to any anticipations of present

effect from direct contributions. It was intended,

nevertheless, that the system should be carried out

at the earliest practicable moment, and upon the

1st of September, Mr. Mason, at the time Acting

Secretary of War, wrote to the general-in-chief,

giving him renewed instructions upon the subject.

They were based upon the belief then entertained

that General Scott had succeeded, or would soon

succeed, in his attempt upon the capital. The mat

ter was treated of at some length as follows :

" The obstinate persistance of the Mexicans in

refusing to treat, their utter disregard of the rules

of civilized warfare, and the large expenditures

which we are compelled to make, has impressed on

the President the firm conviction that those rights

of exacting contributions from the enemy, which

are conferred by the acknowledged law of nations,

should be exercised. Your remarks in your dis

patch, No. 28, dated at Jalapa, May 20th, 1847,

have been carefully observed. Your circumstances

are since materially changed ;
and if, as we doubt

not, you have triumphantly entered the city of

Mexico, the President directs me to call your at-
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tention to the dispatch from this department of the

3d of April last, a copy of which is herewith in

closed. The property-holders of .Mexico have no

claim to find in the market afforded by sales to

our army an actual pecuniary benefit resulting

from the war. They must he made to feel its evils
;

and it is earnestly hoped and expected that you
will not find, in your present circumstances, a ne

cessity to adhere to your opinion expressed in your

dispatch referred to, that a resort to forced contribu

tions will exasperate and ruin the inhabitants, and

starve the army. Contributions may be exacted

from cities, or states, or wealthy individuals, and

payment made for provisions and other supplies

brought to the camp, or collected in kind. It is

not improbable that men of wealth and means may
profess to belong mainly to the peace party ;

and

it may be apprehended that they will be driven

from their pacific position by coercive proceedings.

But, however such an effect may be apprehended,

it is more probable that their exertions to promote
a termination of the war will be made more serious

and efficient when they feel the oppressive evils ,of

the state of war. Judging from the cruelties and

atrocities which are reported in different parts of

Mexico to have been inflicted by the Mexicans,
whenever an opportunity presents itself, on a sol

dier or weaker party, there is no hope of their re

ciprocating kind, generous, or humane exercise of

the rights of war on our part; and, without re

taliating such disgraceful atrocities in kind, every
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dictate of duty to ourselves requires that we should

not abstain from the exercise of our rights of ex

action from the enemy, The mode and extent of

exercising this right is, and must be, left to your

discretion, but it is earnestly hoped that you will

put the system into operation to the utmost prac

ticable extent. The safety and subsistence of the

troops under your command will, of course, not be

placed in jeopardy by the desire to enforce this

system, if you find that in its exercise such a re

sult will follow."*

On the 6th of October, and before any official

dispatch of the operations about Mexico had reach

ed the War Department, Mr. Marcy, depending on

such information as he had received through un

official channels, wrote at length on the method

of prosecuting the war in future. As every over

ture of peace had been met by Mexico with a re

fusal, and as the last had been repaid by the bad

faith displayed by the Mexican authorities in the

negotiations pending the armistice of Tacubaya,
the general tenor of the instructions was, that in

creased severity should be used against the enemy,
and especially the guerilleros. The additional in

structions in regard to contributions are contained

in the following extract :

" Permit me to invite your attention to the dis

patch from this department of the 1st ultimo (a

copy of which is herewith sent), and urge the sug-

* Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 1005.
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gestions therein contained upon your particular

consideration. The burden of sustaining our forces

in Mexico must be thrown upon the people of that

country. Its resources should be resorted to in

every manner consistent with the usages of civil

ized war for that purpose, and it is hoped that

your situation is such as will warrant you in mak

ing this resort at least to the extent required for

the support of our army. The men of means who
have willingly contributed aid to support the Mex
ican army, should be forced to contribute to the

support of ours."^

With these dispatches from the War Depart
ment came others from Mr. Buchanan, Secretary

of State, to Mr. Trist. Mexican accounts of the

negotiations, carried on at the house of Alfaro,

were received in Washington by the 6th of Octo

ber. The surprise and indignation of the Presi

dent and cabinet at the manner in which they
had been conducted on the part of the Mexicans,

arid especially at the counter projet of their com

missioners, was extreme. The statement which

was made concerning an offer to submit the ques
tion of the territory between the Nueces and Rio

Grande to the government at Washington, having
been made by Mr. Trist, was not at first credited.

As it was evident that but little was to be hoped
from the Mexican government if it continued in

its previous course of action, it was believed that

* Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 1007.
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the continuance of the commissioner at the head

quarters of the army could be productive of no

good. He was therefore recalled. In case he had

concluded a treaty at the time of the receipt of

the letter, he was instructed to bring it with him

to Washington. If he were in negotiations at the

time, they ^ere to be broken off at once, and the

commissioner was not to delay his departure to

await the communication of any terms which

might be offered on the part of Mexico.^

By the 25th of October Mr. Trist's accounts of

his proceedings were received, and the truth of

the statement of his offer was ascertained. His

course of action was entirely disapproved, and by
the direction of the President his recall was reiter

ated.!

It was intended that the military commander

should thenceforward be the channel of communi
cation between the belligerents, and in the dispatch

of October 6th Mr. Marcy directed General Scott

to notify the Mexican government of Mr. Trist's

recall. In reference to any renewal of negotia

tions, he was instructed as follows :

" Should they offer, through you, terms of ac

commodation, or propose to enter into negotia

tions, the President directs that such propositions

be forwarded without delay to him
;
but it is not

expected that your movements or measures for

* Mr. Buchanan to Mr. Trist, October 6th, 1847. Executive Document,

No. 52, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 91.

t Executive Document, No. 52, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 94.
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carrying on hostilities will be relaxed, or in any

way changed."^

General Scott soon took, certain steps in obe

dience to his instructions. His first order for the

commencement of the new system was issued on

the 25th of November. By its provisions, the ex

portation of uncoined bullion, bars or ingots of the

precious metals, was prohibited until the orders of

the government at Washington could be made

known. As the beginning of levying contribu

tions, the payment of rent for any buildings, either

public or private, required as quarters or store

houses for the army, was forbidden. f

As no re-enforcements had arrived at the capital

by the end of November, the strength with which

to press hostile operations was wanting. The

present inability was announced to the War De

partment by the general-in-chief, in his dispatch

dated November 2 7th.$

In the mean while, arid soon after Mr. Trist had

received his letter of recall, the Mexican commis-

sipners -appointed by President Anaya arrived in

the city of Mexico. The American commissioner

did but little to obey Mr. Buchanan's instructions.

It is true that on the 27th he wrote that he was

about to return to the United States, but on the

* Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, 'p. 1009. t General Orders, No. 358.

t Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 1031.

Executive Document, No. 52, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 96.
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day after the receipt of his letters^he sent informa

tion of the state of things to Queretaro by Mr.

Thornton, the acting British charge d'affaires.*

On the 24th he wrote to a confidential friend that,

if the Mexican government would make and carry

through a treaty of peace on the basis of the projet

originally proposed, he was resolved and commit

ted to carry it home with him.f

Whether this positive disobedience was coun

seled by the general-in-chief is questionable. On
the 4th of December he wrote to the Secretary of

War that Mr. Trist would go down in the next

train.$ He may have so understood it, but, in

place of Mr. Trist, the next train took down a

lengthy epistle from that functionary to the Secre

tary of State, explanatory of his proceedings, laud-

atpry of his own diplomatic talent, of General

Scott's military action and general capabilities, of

the great stroke of policy (in his asserted opinion)

of the Tacubaya armistice, and announcing in posi

tive terms his intention of disobeying the orders of

his government. Some of the most striking par

agraphs of his letter were denunciatory of a gen
eral officer to whom he believed he owed his recall.

Their exceeding bitterness, which, if any thing,

surpassed that demonstrated in his correspondence

* Executive Document, No. 52, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 100. t Idem.

t Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the 30th Congress, p. 1034.

Executive Document, No. 52, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 231-266.
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with General Scott during the early part of his

Mexican career, would go far toward showing that

he had much to do in bringing about an unfortu

nate controversy which occurred a short time pre

vious to the date of his letter.

In his letter of the 27th of November to Mr.

Marcy, General Scott wrote, in reference to the

duties which devolved upon him with reference to

peace, after announcing the fact of the appoint

ment ofMexican commissioners, as follows :

" These

commissioners are understood to be now in this

city, but they have not called on me or submitted

to me any proposition whatever, although the gov
ernment at Queretaro has been informed that I

shall at all times be ready to send home any com

munication looking to a renewal of negotiations

from that government. It is doubtful, however, I

learn indirectly, whether the Mexican government
or its commissioners will adopt that course."^

In reference to his proposed movements upon the

arrival of re-enforcements, of the approach of which

under Generals Butler and Patterson he had re

ceived official information, he said,
" On his (Gen

eral Butler's) or Major-general Patterson's arrival

here with 4000 or more re-enforcements, over and

above the eastern garrisons, I shall dispatch the

surplus, or a force equal to it, to occupy the min

ing districts within miles of Zacatecas
; and,

should the surplus be sufficient, I shall also occupy

* Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 1031.
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the mining district of San Luis de Potosi, unless

propositions of peace on the part of Mexico, of such

a character as to give strong probability of their ac

ceptance by our government, combined with an

evident steadiness of purpose at Queretaro, may
probably cause me not to disturb the government
at that place, but to pass it some distance to the

right and left."*

The views which were expressed at the time in

reference to the collection of revenue were of some

length, but they were not considered definite, as

indeed they could not be, for but little time had

been devoted to the study of the question.

None of the proposed operations were, however,

carried out, and the extracts quoted can only be

taken as many others, as avowals of intentions.

That expressed of leaving the city of Queretaro on

the right and left, shows that the continuance of

negotiations, in the face of the orders and policy

of the government at Washington, was still anx

iously desired, and that it was to be promoted even

at the expense and detriment of the proper milita

ry measures of occupation. If the expeditions to

Zacatecas and San Luis had been sent forward,

and the government at Queretaro, with the corps

of Mexican troops in its vicinity, had been neglect

ed, the communication of both with the main army
would have been cut off. Larger columns than

could well have been spared would have been re-

* Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 1032.

II. M M
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quired to keep it open, provided the Mexican gov
ernment continued hostile. Experience had shown

that dependence was not to be placed upon appar
ent steadiness of purpose on its part.

It had been intended to dispatch a second train

to Vera Cruz about the 1st of December, but re-

enforcements did not arrive at the head-quarters

of the army, and on account of the small numeri

cal fqrce present, the movement was delayed.

There were but about 6000 men fit for duty in

Mexico and Chapultepec. Another reason for the

delay may be seen in the state of things which ex

isted in reference to -good feeling among general

officers. Before the 1st of December, difficulties

and disputes, which had been for some time in

progress, broke out between the general-in-chief

and his highest officers. With almost any other

army, under ordinary circumstances, they would

have gone far to produce serious disasters. As it

was, they did produce a state of things more akin

to the anarchy which reigned at Queretaro than

that harmony and concord which should charac

terize the conduct and management of an army in

an enemy's country.

General Scott had experienced some difficulty in

making out his official reports of the operations of

his army in the valley. In his drafts many things
were set down as having been executed in obe

dience to his orders, which in the reports of his

subordinates were attributed to fortune, or to their

own immediate conduct of the troops upon the
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field. Some matters which had been of the great-

est importance in securing the victory in particu

lar operations, General Scott claimed exclusively.

His subordinates gave an entirely different version

of them. The differences were particularly appar
ent in the reports of Generals .Worth, Pillow, and

Quitman. Twiggs was the only one of the four

generals of division with whom the general-in-

chief had no dispute upon the subject. Imme

diately after the entrance into the capital, it was

apparent that General Scott was determined to

insist upon appropriating to himself the principal

glory of all the operations. It may be regarded as

a needless measure on his part that he attempted

to secure it, for all history might have told him

that the greater portion invariably falls to the lot

of the commander. It may be, that all which

could be appropriated was deemed to be necessary

for political effect, and as an offset to what might
be unpopular in the conduct of the campaign, es

pecially to the Tacubaya armistice.

The quarrel with Worth took place but a short

time after the occupation of Mexico. While speak

ing of the operations of his division at the garita

San Cosme, that officer was rebuked by the gener-

al-in-chief for his claim to have been the first in

the city. Worth's fiery spirit would not brook the

reproof; and although an explanation was made

by General Scott, yet, as many causes of difference

of an anterior date remained to be explained, the

remembrance of which had been previously sacri-
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ficed to the necessities of the service, he refused

such as was offered. Friendly intercourse between

the two ceased from that time.

About the 1st of October a correspondence pass

ed between Generals Scott and Pillow, in which

the attention of the latter was called to what was

denominated errors in his official reports. He was

requested to make 'changes which would give the

credit of ordering certain important movements to

the general-in-chief. The spirit of the whole cor

respondence on the part of General Scott, and the

desire which prompted its commencement, is seen

in the following extract from his letter to General

Pillow of the 2d of October :

u General S. is sorry to perceive in General P.'s

report of September 18th a seeming effort, no doubt

unintentional, to leave General S. entirely out of

the operations of September 13th."^

In the continuation of the correspondence, Gen
eral Pillow stated that the facts, as originally set

forth in his reports, were, according to his belief,

true. He recounted the occurrences at some length,

and stated the corroborating circumstances. With

these, nevertheless, he waived his recollection of

the facts in deference to that of General Scott, on

account of the friendship which had hitherto exist

ed between them. He changed his reports in the

particulars which General Scott desired, 'although

some, which in his opinion were erroneous, in ref-

*
Correspondence. Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representa

tives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 1015-1020.
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erence to the operations at Contreras, were left

unaltered. Accompanied by the explanations as

they were, the alterations were not acceptable,

and on the 4th of October the general-in-chief broke

off the correspondence, which had, until that time,

been friendly and complimentary on the part of

both officers, by a strictly formal note, in style and

manner the very reverse of those which had pre

viously passed.

The difference with Quitman related to his op
erations at the garita Belen. In the report of the

general-in-chief he was immediately charged with

haste and imprudence, if not disobedience of or

ders. It was stated that certain orders had been

repeatedly sent to .him, during the afternoon of the

13th of September, in order to prevent his too rapid

advance, and that he had been informed that his

operations were to be a diversion in favor of Worth's

assault.^ Quitman had never received the orders,

and searched in vain to find the staff officer who
had borne them. His correspondence with the

general-in-chief upon the subject was courteous,

but he took the first opportunity of leaving the

country, on account of the inadequacy of his com

mand to his rank of major general.

Were any evidence wanting to show the inco-

herency of many of the military operations of the

American army, the disputes of the general-in-chief

with three generals of division would be fully suf-

*
Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 382.
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ficient. It might well have been expected that

discrepancies upon minor points would have exist

ed in some cases
;
but where the differences were

so many and so material, there must have been

bases for the claims of the subordinate generals.

The fear which General Scott manifested in his

correspondence with Pillow that he should be left

entirely out of the operations of the 13th, proved
that he was not altogether satisfied with the share

which he had had in their direction. In their ex

ecution he certainly had none, for he was, at the

time, at a distance of one and a half miles, at Tac-

ubaya. This, with the meager credit which was

given to Worth, in an inaccurate statement of his

operations at San Cosme, in which the credit of

first entering the city was given in greater part to

Quitman, and the indirect censure of the latter

general, would go to induce the belief that General

Scott feared that the glory of his subordinates

would surpass his own. That this was the case

was more fully demonstrated during the month of

November.

On the 22d of October, a mail from the United

States, which had come up with Lane's command,
reached the city of Mexico. In it were contained

various newspapers, all full of the news of the bat

tles of the 19th and 20th of August. Of original

communications from the armythere were but few.

One of these, which was laudatory of General Pil

low, having been rendered ridiculous by the inter

polations of editors in New Orleans, was the sub-
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ject of much criticism. No action upon the sub.

ject was taken until the following month by the

general-in-chief.^

About the 10th of November a mail came through
from Tampico, and in a newspaper published at

that place was a copy of a letter from the army,

originally published in the United States. This

was concerning the operations of Worth's division,

and the credit of different matters was given in

great part to that general.! The facts concerning

the adoption of the Chalco route were set forth at

some length ;
and as it appeared from the account

that General Scott had been induced to take this

first important step toward the reduction of Mex

ico, and to abandon the project, at first entertain

ed, of attacking Mexicalcingo, by the representa

tions and at the instance of General Worth, and

on information, the result of Lieutenant-colonel

Duncan's reconnaissance, the attention of the gen-

eral-in-chief was at once aroused.

The letter brought out General Order No. 349,t

in which an order from the War Department, strict

ly forbidding the writing of letters by officers of

the army, which might find their way to the pub
lic press, until one month after the termination of

the campaign to which they related, was quoted.

In the order of the general-in-chief, the two letters

which had been received were denounced as "scan-

* Executive Document, No, 65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 385. .t Washington Union, September 29th, 1847.

t Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con-

gress, p. 454.
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dalous," "infamous," and "despicable," with va

rious other qualifications of their character. The

great cause of difficulty was that, in the order,

Generals Pillow and Worth were charged with

having written, or caused to he written, the two

letters, for the purpose of "puffing themselves,"

and "
malignantly excluding others," in insinua

tions so strong that it was impossible to mistake

them. As the authors of the letters, they were

characterized as " conceited" and " envious." Be

ing thus publicly and unscrupulously held up to

the indignation of the army, the two generals then

next in rank to the general-in-chief would not rest

quiet under the imputations. Both at once ad

dressed letters demanding an explanation. None

was given in the answers of the acting assistant

adjutant general, although, in that to General

Worth, it was intimated that the order referred to

the letter signed
"
Leonidas," which had been pub

lished in New Orleans, and in those to both Worth

and Pillow it was admitted that the general-in-

chief had no legal proof concerning the authorship
of either of the denounced productions.

This being the case, it was evident that, under

the apprehension lest these accounts of the battles

in the valley of Mexico should give too much glory

to his subordinates, the general-in-chief had taken

the step x)f appealing to the popular sentiment of

his army against the supposed conduct of the two

officers next in rank to himself. Than this pro

ceeding, it would have been difficult to have found
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one more injurious to the moral discipline of the

army ; and, as the result proved, it was injurious

to the fame of the general-in-chief.

In the mean time, Lieutenant-colonel Duncan,
from whose letter the ohnoxious article republish-

ed in the Tampico newspaper had been in great

part compiled by a friend in the United States, and

published by that friend without his knowledge,
avowed himself the author of the Tampico letter,

and declared that it had been written without the

knowledge, consent, or approbation of General

Worth or of any other person. The ground of pro

ceeding against Worth on account of the letter

was thus swept away; but Duncan was imme

diately arrested.

General Pillow had other matters in dispute

with which he was engaged at the time. On ac

count of aspersions put forth against him, in the

presence of several officers, by the general-in-chief,

in his absence, concerning the removal of two small

howitzers from the Castle of Chapultepec, which

it was intimated he intended to appropriate to him

self, he had demanded a court of inquiry. The

finding of the court contained an error of fact, and

certain conclusions were based upon it which Gen
eral Scott approved. General Pillow requested

that the case should be referred back to the court

for its consideration. The general-in-chief refused

to grant the request, and from the refusal General

Pillow appealed to the War Department. The

matter contained in his appeal, and the reasons
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which were therein suggested as those which prob-

ahly influenced General Scott's action, as well as

the expressed determination to send a copy of the

appeal direct to the War Department, were made
the ground of his arrest, which took place on the

21st of November.

Having heen refused any explanation or redress

for the insults contained in General Orders No.

349, General Worth likewise appealed to the War
Department, and in his appeal stated the sub

stance of heavy charges which he intended to pre

fer against General Scott. They were compli

mentary to the commander-in-chief neither as re

garded his honor as a gentleman nor his conduct as

an officer; hut, certainly, were no more insulting

than the published calumny of which Worth was

one of the objects. The disrespect which was

manifested was, however, made the ground of his

arrest, and before the 1st of December it was ef

fected.

In observing these occurrences and the order of

the various events,, certain remarkable coincidences,

which throw some light upon the causes of them,

must not be overlooked. The first letter, arriving

in October, had occasioned no immediate action.

At that time no intimation of Mr. Trist's recall had

been received in Mexico. Before the issue of Gen
eral Orders No. 349, rumors to the effect that his

mission was to be ended had reached the army.-

In the disapprobation of the commissioner's con

duct which the recall demonstrated may be found



THE WAR WITH MEXICO. 555

a reason for commencing proceedings against Worth

and Pillow
; for, of all the general officers then in

Mexico, they two were those only who had openly

opposed the agreement to the Tacuhaya armistice

without a guarantee of the enemy's good faith.

As their opposition to that fatal measure was like

ly to be no less creditable to them than the glory

of their military achievements, it became a matter

of policy with those who had advised and coun

seled the convention to crush them. Whether

Trist's advice was given to General Scott to induce

him to issue General Orders No. 349, or whether

Scott, desirous of shielding himself by the arroga-

tion of all military honors, and crushing those who
had opposed his delusion in the important matter

of the armistice, took the step without advice, are

questions of not much importance to the argument.
The facts that one of the obnoxious letters was in

Mexico before the recall of Mr. Trist was rumored,

and that with the rumor of the recall came the

Tampico letter, and that the denunciatory order

came forth from head-quarters- immediately after,

speak for themselves.

Before Pillow's arrest the actual letter of recall

had been received, and to show whether Mr. Trist,

who was living under the same roof and in the

closest intimacy with General Scott, ardently de

sired the arrest, if, indeed, it were not made at his

immediate instance, it is only necessary to read his

animadversions against General Pillow, and his

confident expression concerning the ruin of his
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character. These were put forth in his letter of

December 6th to the Secretary of State, and in

connection with an expression of the belief that

his own recall was owing to Pillow's private rep

resentations to the President. After speaking of

the state of things existing in Mexico at the date

of his letter, he wrote,
" Of all this the President

knew nothing, and the supposition by which he

allowed himselfto be governed (under the influence,

doubtless, of private representations from an in

triguer, who, to the deep disgrace of our country,

as she will ere long deeply feel, on beholding the

picture, faint though it will be, of the unimagina
ble and incomprehensible baseness of his character,

pollutes this glorious army by his presence) made

the state of things in this country
'

entirely the

reverse of that which actually exists
,'
and which al

ready existed when his determination was form

ed.'
5^ The superlative hatred displayed in this

rare "
specimen of diplomatic literature and man

ners," when it is remembered that its author was at

the time of its composition a fellow-lodger with Gen
eral Scott, requires no argument to show his grati

fication at the arrest of the officer to whom he at

tributed the cause of his recall.

How far he was right in his supposition that it

did originate with the individual who received the

odium of it at the hands of Mr. Trist it is not the

purpose to inquire. It is, however, certain that

* Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 245.
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General Pillow was the personal friend of the Pres

ident, and had he used any influence to effect the

recall of the commissioner, there would have been

wanting no better evidence to show that he acted

with reason, and for the dignity and interest of his

country, than is to be found in the letter from

which the above extract is quoted. Certainly no

man who so palpably disobeys the direct instruc

tions of his government, and whose spirit is capa
ble of entertaining such vindictive and violent feel

ings, and who, withal, is accustomed to give them

so free a vent in his official correspondence, can be

a fit repository for so delicate a trust as that of ne

gotiating a treaty of peace with a foreign nation.

When the various schemes and intrigues in which

Mr. Trist was a participant, and which his pres

ence brought about, all ending in the disastrous

convention of Tacubaya, are remembered, it may
well be considered cause of regret that, if Pillow's

representations of his total unfitness for his station

did actually cause his recall, they were not made

to the President at an earlier day. The loss of the

army in the operations subsequent to the armistice

would have been avoided, and when negotiations

for peace were carried on, they might have been

in a manner more consonant with the honor and

dignity of the United States.

By the arrests which had occurred, in the man-

ner and for the reasons which have been recount

ed, the army was deprived of the services of two

general officers. Two more were to leave in the
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downward train which General Scott had intend

ed to send about the 1st of December. At his own

request, Twiggs was detached from the command
of his fine division to take the post of Governor of

Vera Cruz. Pierce was about to leave the country,

with the intention of resigning. If they left im

mediately, and before the arrival of re-enforce

ments, there would have remained present in Mex
ico but two general officers for duty besides the

general-in-chief. One of these, Smith, was the

governor of the city, and Gadwalader alone was

available for any detached operation. The com

mand of the troops had devolved upon officers of

inferior grades ;
and although none doubted their

capacity, yet the scarcity of officers of rank, even

as high as field officers, fit for duty, which had

long been an evil in the American army, rendered

the loss of the services of such as were, in their

proper positions, still more seriously felt. This

state of the army may well have been a reason for

the delay of the expedition, as well as the small

number of troops which were present at the capi

tal. On the 7th of December, however, re-enforce

ments began to arrive, and on the following days
different columns of Generals Patterson's and Cush-

ing's commands, and the troops of Lally's column,

came in. The proposed convoy was then sent to

the sea-board.

General Lane's command had been halted at
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Puebla, in obedience to the circular letter of the

general-in-chief of October the 13th, and the estab

lishment of posts, as directed in paragraphs of that

letter, had been in great measure accomplished.

This had, in part, occasioned the delay of the ar

rival of re-enforcements, although General Patter

son had commenced the establishment of the posts,

under orders from the Secretary of War, before he

received the circular.

The remaining corps from General Taylor's line

of operations had arrived at Vera Cruz soon after

Lane's departure thence, and they were soon joined

by several regiments of volunteers for the war, late

ly organized in the United States. By the mid

dle of October over 350*0 troops were encamped at

Vergara, awaiting the organization of transport

ation to march into the interior. In the mean

while, several expeditions of Texan rangers were

sent out, which had some effect in breaking up the

haunts of the guerilla bands in the neighborhood.

Garrisons were established at the Puente Nacional

and the Rio San Juan. A regiment of volunteers

had been sent forward to the former place some

weeks previously, and had broken up the guerillas

in that quarter in a few active operations. On the

17th of October the thirteenth regiment of infant

ry marched to that place with a convoy of wag
ons. It was to form the permanent garrison.

On the 1st of November Patterson marched with

about 3000 men from Vera Cruz. On the 4th he

arrived at the Puente Nacional. While there, he
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received a proposition from Padre Jarauta, a guer-

illero who had been infesting the neighborhood for

some previous time. The padre had quarreled

with Zenobio, and their parties had even come to

blows, before he had taken that theater of opera
tions. Being annoyed and distressed by the move
ments of the garrison of Puente Nacional, he offer

ed to give up the occupation of a guerillero, and to

return to his clerical profession, upon a guarantee
of his personal safety. Patterson would give him
no explicit guarantee, and the envoy from the guer
illa priest returned with so unsatisfactory an an

swer that Jarauta gave up the idea of quitting the

service upon which he was engaged. But he at

once changed his locality, for his party was com

posed of such atrocious robbers that the Mexican

authorities even would not submit to its presence.

Leaving the thirteenth regiment at the Puente

Nacional, Patterson continued his march on the

5th, taking with him the Maryland and District

of Columbia regiment of volunteers, which had

formed the first garrison. On the 8th he arrived

at Jalapa with 2600 men fit for duty. A halt was

made at that point, and the train of the command
was sent back under an escort to Vera Cruz, to

bring forward the necessary supplies for the post

which was to be established.

In the mean while, re-enforcements of volunteer

regiments, and of recruits for the regulars, had con

tinued to arrive at Vera Cruz, and by the latter

part of November, when Patterson's train returned
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to Jala/pa, two columns, one of near 4000 volun

teers, under General Butler, and one some 1300

strong, under Lieutenant-colonel Johnstone (made

up of the escort of the first train from Mexico and

detachments of recruits), were nearly ready for the

route.

Having located the garrison at Jalapa, Patter

son marched thence, and taking with him a por

tion of Lane's command from Puehla, continued on

and arrived at Mexico. A regiment of Ohio vol

unteers was established at Rio Frio, and the line

of communication between the city of Mexico and

Vera Cruz, being garrisoned at Rio Frio, Puebla,

Perote, Jalapa, the Puente Nacional, and the Rio

San Juan, was secure for the passage of any re

spectable escort.

General Butler's and Lieutenant-colonel John-

stone's commands arrived in Mexico on the 17th,

18th, and 19th of December, making the total force

present in the valley of Mexico near 15,000 soldiers

of all arms.

During the advance of these columns of troops

General Lane had conducted an expedition from

Puebla against the enemy. Having learned that

he was in some force at Matamoras, a town dis

tant fifty-four miles from Puebla, where there was

a considerable depot of munitions of war and other

public property, he marched with one hundred and

sixty mounted men and a piece of artillery at seven

o'clock on the evening of the 22d of November.

At seven o'clock on the morning of the 23d the

II. N N
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command arrived at Matamoras. The advanced

guard of the enemy was encountered as the town

was approached, and quickly driven in upon the

main body. The whole Mexican force fled, and

the Americans entered the town, having inflicted

a considerable loss upon the retreating enemy with

out sustaining any. Three pieces of artillery, a

large quantity of ammunition, several hundred

muskets, sabers, and escopetas, one hundred horses,

and a quantity of medical stores, were captured.

Twenty-one American prisoners were released, and,

being mounted on the captured horses, were added

to the force. Such of the captured property as

could not be removed was destroyed, and on the

morning of the 24th the command commenced its

return march toward Puebla.

While moving through the mountain pass of

Galaxara, the enemy made his appearance in con

siderable force in front. He was quickly driven,

after a scrambling skirmish, in which one officer,

Lieutenant Ridgely, of the fourth infantry, was

killed, and several other Americans wounded. No
other direct opposition was encountered, although
the enemy hovered on the flanks, outside of can

non range, during the day, and on the evening of

the 25th the detachment reached Puebla.^

In preparation for enforcing the new system of

*
Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, second Session

of the thirtieth 'Congress, p. 86.
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policy which he had been ordered to adopt, on the

15th of December General Scott issued General

Orders No. 376, in which he announced the inten

tion of occupying the republic of Mexico until the

latter should sue for peace. The payment of rev

enue to Mexican authorities was forbidden, and

various monopolies, which had hitherto been for

the benefit of the state, were abolished.^ The

details of taxes which it was intended to impose
were not published, but the general features of the

taxes were announced.

On the 17th of December, in a letter to the Sec

retary of War, it was stated that a military move

ment would take place soon after the arrival of

General Butler's and Lieutenant-colonel John-

stone's commands, which were just then within

close vicinity. It was said, after announcing their

arrival,
" And in a week I propose to dispatch one

column to San Luis de Potosi. When, or whether

I shall have a sufficient independent force for Zaca-

tecas, is yet to me quite uncertain. The San Luis

column, with a view to Tampico and in part to

Zacatecas, is the more important, and may be en

larged to perhaps 7000 men."t

The re-enforcements arrived, but no movements

were ordered or undertaken. By this time Mr.

Trist had become deeply engaged in his unau

thorized negotiations, with the assistance of Mr.

M'Intosh, the British consul, and others connected

* Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 1050. t Idem, p. 1047.
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with the British embassy. It may he well to re

member that the consul was directly interested to

a large amount in the value of the Mexican bonds,

and in the mints of the city of Mexico, which he

had leased for a term of years from Santa Anna,

when the latter had needed funds for preparing his

defenses against the American army. The part

which this individual had borne in the Puebla cor

respondence, and in the arrangement by which

General Scott had been induced to agree to the

armistice, was well known
; yet he continued to be

on intimate and friendly terms with the American

general-in-chief and commissioner. His mercantile

house was the house of deposit for the funds of the

general, and he was consulted in the matter of the

taxes to be imposed, and other revenues to be col

lected. Indeed, a memoir on the subject of the

precious metals,^ which General Scott sent home
to Washington, has too much in favor of the pro

tection of the mints, and other branches of the bus

iness in which Mr. M'Intosh had a direct interest,

to allow much room for a doubt upon the subject,

even if the fact of his intimacy at general head

quarters did not favor the idea that he had a par

ticipation in drafting it.

The recommencement of negotiations by an un

authorized person may have been a reason for the

delay of the proposed expeditions. If there were

any prospect of their success, and the general-in-

*
Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 1051.
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chief had chosen to take the responsibility, and

given the authority, it was a cause for it. The

reasons assigned in a letter to the Secretary of

War of December the 25th, had they been put
forth in another manner, would have been good
reasons to have spread before the Mexican author

ities. It was said that the expedition was unable

to proceed on account of the want of supplies. If

this were the case, and it was understood by the

enemy, his functionaries would have been admon

ished to take advantage of a season of necessary

inactivity, and to hasten their proceedings in favor

of peace, if, indeed, they were in reality to be en

tered upon.

It is certain that no intimation of Mr. Trist's

employment at the time was given to the Secreta

ry ofWar
;
and although the belief was expressed

in the latter part of the letter that in the course

of the next month propositions for peace would be

submitted by the incoming Mexican government,

yet the success of any treaty which it might agree

upon the general-in-chief held to be improbable.^

Nothing in reference to the treaty or prospect of

negotiations was stated as an excuse for the delay

of military operations. The reasons for that delay

took the usual form of complaints against the de

partments at home, and of a statement of difficul

ties and annoyances.

For a long period the army had received no sup-

*
Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 1049.
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ply of clothing from the United States. It had

been supplied at Puebla with articles manufactured

in the country, hut they had given little satisfac

tion, and were of exceedingly perishable material.

The first train from the city of Mexico to Vera Cruz

had for its principal object the supply of the army
in that particular. When it arrived at Vera Cruz,

the depot of clothing had been diminished by the

issue to the volunteers of the different commands

which had passed through, although that kind of

force was not entitled to the allowance by law.

The train brought up no supply ;
and that the de

pot had not been able to fill the requisitions, and

that the volunteers should have come from the

United States and from Brazos Santiago without

stores of clothing, were made the subjects of bitter

complaint.^ They were, indeed, matters about

which complaint might very well have been made,
and the inconveniences and annoyances which must

always necessarily result from such wants can only

be properly appreciated by military men. The

fault lay in the system of the government, and in

the law for the organization of the volunteer force,

as much, if not more, than in the proceedings of the

quarter-master general or other departments of the

staff. But whether the want of the clothing was

a sufficient reason for delaying an expedition of

troops which were supplied at the time, and when
it was necessary to depend on the supply contain-

* Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 1047.
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ed in the country, for some months at least, until

the matter could be rectified by action at Wash

ington, may be doubted, if, indeed, the expedition

were of any importance, and it had not been

thought expedient to delay movement in order to

watch the chances of negotiation.

Among other complaints of the general-in-chief,

and that which apparently cost him the greatest

distress, was the bad moral condition of the army.
This was set forth in his letter of December the

25th in the following language :

" With excessive labor I had brought the old

regiments volunteers as well as regulars favored

by our long but necessary halts at Vera Cruz, Ja-

]apa, and Puebla, to respectable degrees of disci

pline, instruction, and economy. The same intol

erable work at general head-quarters is to be per

petually renewed, or all the credit of this army for

moral jcondVict, as well as gallantry and prowess
in the field, will be utterly lost by new arrivals,

and there is no hope of bringing up to the proper

standard distant posts and detachments. These

can not be governed by any written code of orders

or instructions sent from a distance. I do not

mean to accuse the re-enforcements generally of

deficiency in valor, patriotism, or moral character.

Far from it
;
but among all new levies, of what

ever denomination, there are always a few mis

creants in every hundred, enough, without disci-

pline, to disgrace the entire mass, and, what is in

finitely worse, the country which employs them.



56 8 THE WAR WITH MEXICO.

My daily distresses under this head weigh me to

the earth."*

This remarkahle paragraph, which sets forth so

truly and in such strong language the absolute

necessity of good moral discipline in an army for

the security of its own and its country's honor,

contains, at the same time, an assumption of the

credit of disciplining the old troops, a complaint
of the intolerable nature of the service, and, it may
have been, an excuse for delay in military opera
tions for the purpose of instruction. Each of these

may well be the subject of remark.

The moral conduct of the army, in the operations

which led to the capture of the city of Mexico, was

indeed admirable
;
but how far it was owing to

any exertions directed from head-quarters, except
that for the establishment of military commissions

for the punishment of offenders, may well be ques
tioned. Little instruction had been given to the

troops at Vera Cruz, a great portion of the army
was detached while head-quarters were at Jalapa,
and although, during the stay at Puebla, such

corps as were present were well and strictly drill

ed, yet the ordinary rules of garrison service re

quired no less
;
and if the orders for such instruc

tion had not issued from head-quarters, the gener-
al-in-chief would have failed in the most obvious

part of his duty. He took no personal part in the

instruction except attendance upon a few reviews,

* Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the 30th Congress, p. 1048.
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nor did his staff. As for that kind of work being

intolerable, if it were, it was high time for an offi

cer who found it so to throw up his commission.

However, over 3000 of the troops which marched

from Puebla were recruits and new levies, which

had been present at that point but a few days, and

had had no opportunity of profiting by the intolera

ble labors, in favor of military morality, at head

quarters. The good conduct of that portion of the

army, then, could form no part of the boast.

As for the means which had been made use of

to keep up a state of good moral discipline, which

is and was considered so necessary, a few glances

at the state of things in the city of Mexico may
not be out of place.

There is nothing more demoralizing to a large

body of men than the idle occupation of a large

and luxurious capital, and the most stringent reg

ulations, both for the inhabitants and the soldiery,

are generally required for the prevention of out

rages. As it was in Mexico, the outrages and rob

beries which were committed were, for a long time

subsequent to the occupation, trifling and unim

portant, and, in comparison with those common

among the Mexicans themselves, they sunk into

utter insignificance ;
but with the period of inac

tivity, these outrages increased in frequency. A
fruitful cause of them may be found in the vices

openly permitted by the governor and the general-

in-chief.

Whenever allowed, there invariably follows in



570 THE WAR WITH MEXICO.

the train of an army an indefinite number of all

sorts of vagabonds, and this class was by no means
a small one in the train of the American army.
Gamblers of all complexions, from the genteel

black-leg down to the thimble-rigger, were there
;

and a company, composed in great part of them,
had even been organized for service in the course

of operations in the valley. They were (like one

of native spies, made up of the scourings of the

jails of Puebla, and commanded by a native robber

and outlaw) independent, and received their in

structions from the inspector general of the army.
But little is known of their military services

; but,

shortly after the occupation of the capital, they
commenced operations at their legitimate business.;

indeed, this had been carried on at every city

where a halt had been made of sufficient length to

permit the practice of any measures of moral dis

cipline. Before the entrance into Mexico, gam
bling had not been allowed by the American mil

itary authorities
; nay, in many cases it had been

positively prohibited ; but, in spite of the prohibi

tion, it had flourished, and did flourish for some

time after the occupation of Mexico. No very strin

gent measures were taken with the bankers who
followed the business, and in the month of Novem
ber the door was thrown open. Licenses were

granted by General Smith at the rate of one thou

sand dollars per month for one set of tables. The

speed with which this tax was paid, as well as the

number of licenses granted from time to time, told
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plainly to what an extent the vice was indulged

in. Officers and soldiers, in great numbers, were

attendants at the different hells, which varied in

degree as much as the talents and capitals of their

keepers.

A more effective instrument for the destruction

of any thing like morality, either with the old

army or with the re-enforcements, could hardly

have been imagined. It had its effect, and did

produce something like the state of things so much
dreaded by the general-in-chief.

From this very cause, thus legally permitted and

sanctioned, there happened an event some little

time subsequently, which in truth did disgrace the

army, and, what was infinitely worse, the country
which employed it. I allude to an attempt at rob

bery, committed by an officer of the regular army,
three of Pennsylvania volunteers, and an organized

band of soldiers and employees of the quarter-mas

ter's department. The event is still so fresh in

the memory of the army, and, it is feared, of others,

that no further allusion to it can be required.

The discipline of the army was but little pro

moted by the issue of such orders as No. 349, in

which the lieutenants of the general-in-chief were

openly held up to the "contempt and indignation"

of "
all honorable officers" who loved " their coun

try, their profession, and the truth of history," upon

suspicions which had at the time assumed no le

gal shape, and which proved to be, as they were,

ridiculously false. How could it have been ex-
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pected that two generals of division, whose lead

the greater portion of the army had followed to

victory, could enforce that salutary discipline con

sidered so necessary, if the same contempt and

disrespect were manifested by their subordinates

which were shown in published orders ? And such

manifestation was invoked by the very order. How
could it be believed that the harmony of the pub-

lie service in subordinate branches could be sus

tained, when discord existed in the higher depart

ments ?

To add to the disreputable state of things which

existed, a venal and prostituted press, in connec

tion with the head-quarters of the army, lent all

the influence of which such a thing is possessed.

The existence of such a nuisance may well be

commented upon. From the time at which the

American army had first entered the Mexican re

public, the sweepings of the newspaper offices had

followed it, with those of other occupations. The

press of the United States is sufficiently licentious

at home, but there it is kept in check by its own

license, which pits one editor against another.

There, moreover, the public opinion of a nation of

freemen can and does control the general charac

ter of the instrument, which its workers constant

ly, and with such questionable modesty, proclaim,

when most licentious, to be the palladium of lib

erty. At different posts in Mexico, persons but lit

tle qualified for the business, except in the manual

execution of it, set up offices, and issued forth
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sheets as full of nonsense as many which give their

proprietors an excuse for idleness at home. They
were useful in so far as they were vehicles for the

publication oforders
;
hutthe little use ofwhich they

were in that way was more than compensated hy
their mendacity (more effectual than that of oth

ers, inasmuch as it was supposed that they spoke
ex cathedra), and the publication of different move

ments, as well as their discussions of different

measures of policy. They were under surveillance,

it is true, but the very fact of the existence of such

things as they were comported but little with the

dignity of the army. Many editors in the United

States sounded the praise of these newspaper abor

tions, and announced them as pioneers in the

march of intellect and enlightenment in Mexico.

Even statesmen publicly expressed a coincident

belief. Nevertheless, they were regarded by many
officers, if not, indeed, the large majority, not only

as useless, but as a positive disgrace.

One of these establishments followed the head

quarters of General Scott, and was his official or

gan for the publication of orders, and for all kinds

of job-work in the way of printing blanks, &c., by
which a liberal patronage was allowed to the

drunken character at its head. This person, of

course, sided with his patron in his official quar

rels, and, so soon as they became known, he did

not fail to attack those with whom he had differ

ences by hints, sarcastic pieces, and innuendoes, as

well as open condemnation. And all this was un-
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der the immediate eye of the general-in-chief, and

with the knowledge, if not at the instigation, of

the acting inspecting general of the army.
That the daily distresses of the general-in-chief

on account of the state of moral discipline existing

among his troops should have weighed him to the

earth was most certainly to be regretted, for the

public service must necessarily have suffered by
the complete prostration of the head of the army.

But, fortunately, notwithstanding the existence of

very many causes and elements of immorality, the

state of things at the date of the letter was not

quite so bad as might reasonably have been antic

ipated. Not many murders or robberies had been

committed by Americans, and certainly not near

so many as would have been justifiable, had the

right of retaliation been exercised upon the Mexi

can ladrones and leperos.

To have put a stop to the increasing evil, it

would appear that active operations would have

been the immediate and effectual remedy. Idle

ness would have ceased, and with it its accompa

nying effect. The allurements and vices of the

capital would have been escaped ;
and another

consideration of no small importance was, that the

sick list, that unfailing attendant upon close quar
ters in Mexican convents, would have been sensi

bly diminished.

It may have been intended that the depression

of the commander-in-chief, of which the causes

were indirectly laid at the door of the authorities
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at home, should appear as the effect of persecu

tions. A little reflection, however, might have

sufficed to show, that when an officer who disoheys

the orders of his government, keeps his army in

idleness in a large city, gives his consent to the

public license of vice, quarrels with his generals

upon unfounded suspicions, appeals for support

against them to the mass of his army in general

orders, and permits the existence of a venal press,

which is engaged in puffing one class to the ma

lignant exclusion of others
;
that when he attempts

to pull down the edifice of his wrongs and difficul

ties to crush the authorities of his government by
the disclosure of their persecutions, some portion

of the material must fall upon himself, and that,

like the blind chieftain of Israel, he too must lie

broken amid the ruins.

In the mean while General Scott had completed
his study of the revenues of Mexico, and had near

ly finished an order fixing the amount of the direct

taxes and the duties to be collected upon the pre

cious metals, and prescribing the methods of col

lecting them. This order (No. 395^) was promul

gated on the 31st of December, and the first par

tial step for its execution was taken about the same

time, by sending the ninth regiment of infantry,

under Colonel Withers, to the town of Pachuca, in

the neighborhood of the mines of Real del Monte,

some sixty miles northeast of Mexico. At that

* Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session oi

the thirtieth Congress, p. 10G3.
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point there was an ass.ay office, to which it was

known that a large amount of bullion would soon

be sent
;
and as the Mexican authorities would

seize the duties if it were not occupied, the detach

ment was made to collect them.

The three divisions of regulars were reorganized

into three brigades, as there were no major gener

als to command them
;
both Worth and Pillow

being in arrest, and Twiggs, who, though but a

brigadier, had long been in command of a division,

having left for Vera Cruz. In the reorganization,

no division was left entire. Indeed, had the effect

of entirely breaking up the esprit du corps which

existed in the organization under which victory

had been won been aimed at, it could not have

been ordered other than it was. Portions of the

first, second, and third divisions were found in each

of the three brigades, which were commanded by

Smith, Cadwalader, and Colonel Riley.

Soon after the issue of General Order No. 395,

another partial measure of occupation was effected

by the location of the greater part of Cadwalader's

brigade at Toluca, within forty miles of the capi

tal, for the purpose of collecting the direct taxes

imposed upon the State of Mexico from that vicin

ity. But the mass of the army remained in inac

tivity, except some parties of cavalry, which were

employed from time to time in service against the

guerillas.

A detachment was in a few weeks sent to Cu-

ernavaca for the purpose of collecting revenue.
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All of those located at Pachuca, Toluca, and Cuer-

navaca, made up but little more force than one

of the divisions of the army under the former or

ganization. Smith's and Riley's heavy brigades,

and Butler's and Patterson's large divisions of vol

unteers, remained in garrison. The number of

troops was too great to be conveniently accommo
dated in the city of Mexico, and therefore Riley's

brigade was located at Tacubaya, Patterson's divis

ion at San Angel, and a portion of Butler's was en

camped at Molino del Rey. The other portion,

and Smith's brigade, were quartered in the city.

Columns of troops continued to traverse the

route between Mexico and Vera Cruz, consisting

both of re-enforcements and the smaller escorts to

the downward trains. No important interruption

was experienced by any of those proceeding to the

sea-board, but Zenobio's guerilleros were lying in

wait along the route for the purpose of plundering

any loosely-conducted train of merchandise. The

traders of the different cities on the route had be

gun to take advantage of the American tariff of

Duties, and, as negotiations had commenced, they

made all haste to bring forward into the interior

as heavy quantities of merchandise as possible, be

fore the return of peace should bring about the old

oppressive system. Each column of American

troops which marched from Vera Cruz was accom

panied by large trains of pack-mules laden with

II. O o
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goods, of which the owners endeavored to avail

themselves of the protection of the escorts. In

many cases, the accumulation of public and pri

vate property in the trains was greatly dispropor

tionate to the size of the escort.

Zenobio took advantage of these circumstances,

and on one occasion, on the 4th of January, 1848,

he cut up a small detachment of mounted rifles,

constituting a rear guard, and ran off with 250

pack-mules laden with merchandise from the rear

of a train as it passed the village of Santa Fe.

He was satisfied with this success, however, and

made no further attempt to molest the escort or to

interrupt its advance. Lieutenant-colonel Miles,

who commanded it, had information that he was to

be attacked at or near Cerro Gordo, and sent in

formation to that effect to General Marshall, who
was then at Jalapa with an upward column, hav

ing been detained at that point by the sickness of

his troops. In compliance with Miles's suggestion,

Marshall sent a force to Cerro Gordo from Jalapa
to co-operate with the advancing column, and this

disposition prevented the attack, if, indeed, Zeno

bio seriously contemplated it.

The various annoyances of the guerillas caused

a column of newly-arrived troops to be sent during
the month of January to occupy the towns of Cor

dova and Orizaba, on a more southerly route from

Vera Cruz to Mexico, for about those towns Zeno

bio and other guerilla chiefs had held their head

quarters for some previous months. The occupa-
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tion was for the purpose of breaking them up, and

to effect the collection of the imposed contributions.

Colonel Bankhead commanded the troops sent

from Vera Cruz for the purpose, but while he was

on his march, Orizaba was occupied by other forces

which had come down from Mexico.

On the 18th of January General Lane marched

from that city with a mounted force of about 350

men, made up of detachments of the third dra

goons, mounted rifles, and Texan rangers, for the

duty of scouring the country and driving the guer-

illeros from the roads. Having received informa

tion of Santa Anna's position at Tehuacan, Lane

resolved to attempt his capture. After passing

Puebla, he turned off the main road to the south,

and, after marching all night, occupied two large

haciendas, situated in a lone region of country,

where the men and horses of the command were

concealed during the day. The Mexican residents

of the hacienda were held close prisoners until

dark. On the evening of the 22d, the command
marched in the direction of Tehuacan, and, pro

ceeding about five miles, met a carriage with an

escort of ten or twelve armed men. The escort

was at once disarmed, but the occupant of the car

riage produced a written safeguard over the signa

ture of General Smith, and upon this the whole

party was allowed to proceed. Lane continued on

over a difficult and rocky path for over forty miles,

and just at break of day arrived at Tehuacan.

Major Folk's command of dragoons and rifles im-
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mediately surrounded the town, and the Texan

rangers, under Colonel Hays, entered it at once.

But the bird had flown. Santa Anna had been

warned of the approach of the party by one of the

escort which had been encountered during the early

part of the night, who had been sent back for the

purpose by the occupant of the carriage. He had

barely time to make his escape with his family

and an escort, leaving all his personal effects and

baggage. These, with the exception of the ward

robe of his wife, were quickly plundered by the

troops of the command.

Lane remained at Tehuacan until the 24th, and

on that day marched for Orizaba. He entered it

on the 25th without opposition. A guerilla which

had been in the town evacuated it on his approach.

A quantity of government property was seized and

sold for the benefit of the United States.

On the 26th a letter of submission was received

from the Ayuntamiento of Cordova, and on the 28th

the general started for that place with a detach

ment. The town was entered and taken posses

sion of. Six American prisoners were released.

Hearing that Colonel Bankhead's march from

Vera Cruz had been delayed, on the 31st Cordova

was evacuated, and being joined by the temporary

garrison of Orizaba en route, the whole command

returned to Puebla. From that city the march

was directed through Tlascala by a northern route

to the city of Mexico. Passing through the town

of San Juan de Teotihuican, a guerilla, under the
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Mexican Colonel Manuel Falcon, was encountered

and dispersed, with the loss of 17 slain. A quan

tity of muskets and lances, besides stores of mili

tary clothing, were captured and destroyed. Lane's

command entered the city of Mexico on the even

ing of the 6th of February.*
Colonel Bankhead had been delayed by the diffi

culties of the route from Vera Cruz to Orizaba, but

they were finally overcome, and soon after he took

quiet possession of both that place and Cordova.

During the month of January, the collection of

portions of the military contributions which had

been imposed upon the State of Mexico was slowly
effected. Those imposed upon the states upon the

eastern part of the line were also gathered in.

By the 2d of February Mr. Trist's unauthorized

negotiations had resulted in the treaty of Guada-

lupe Hidalgo, of which the terms will be hereafter

noticed. So soon as this treaty was concluded,

General Scott at once abandoned any intention

which he might have had of moving forward in

force until after the reception of the action of the

home government.! This, indeed, was natural

and politic, and could have been considered in no

degree strange, had he not previously announced,
from time to time, that he was about to advance

*
Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, second Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 89.

t Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 1082.
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in the execution of his orders, while, at the same

time, he knew perfectly well that the unauthorized

negotiations were progressing. The course of ac

tion which he adopted was not in keeping with

that integrity of command which he insisted upon
so strongly in his communications with the War

Department and the American commissioner dur

ing the spring and summer of 1847. The facts

that he allowed a person entirely unauthorized,

nay, positively forbidden, to carry on negotiations

with the Mexican authorities
; that, on partial rea

sons, he refrained from any but very partial opera

tions in pursuance of the action which had been

prescribed for him, even after he had repeatedly

announced his intention of obeying his orders
;
and

that, upon the conclusion of the treaty, he indirect

ly expressed his determination to await the decis

ion of his government, would induce the belief

that he was willing that the positive orders of the

President should be disobeyed in an important mat

ter, that he countenanced the disobedience, and,

meanwhile, was unwilling to assume the responsi

bility of the measure, although he was undoubt

edly the chief representative of his country then

present in Mexico. It may well be considered

that it was his duty to have prevented any such

proceedings, unless undertaken with his consent,

given with the knowledge or conviction of their

expediency. Certainly he would have allowed no

officer of the army or citizen follower of it to have

carried on such a negotiation. Why, then, the
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ex-commissioner, who had no more power than

either ?

Had General Scott taken the responsibility in

the outset, and withheld the information of Mr.

Trist's recall from the Mexican government ;
had

he openly announced the commencement of nego
tiations with his sanction, and his conviction of

their expediency and speedy success, to the Secre

tary of War, and meanwhile done all in his pow
er, and all which he did do, and prepared his col

umns for immediate movement upon an unfavora

ble issue, or for striking at once upon any Mexi

can force about Queretaro which might demon

strate an opposition to his future advance, he would

have been acting the part more suited to the posi

tion of a great commander. Whatever might have

been said of his judgment, his actions would have

been in good faith with the American as well as

the Mexican government. His disobedience would

have been open, and for reasons
;
and if (as did act

ually occur) the treaty proved successful, he would

have had the glory of it. His conduct must have

met the decided approbation of his government,
and certainly would of his countrymen, for nothing
is more natural than for the popular voice to shout

the praises of successful disobedience.

The state of things was very different from that

which existed when the experiment of the armis

tice of Tacubaya was made under his orders and

sanction. Then, he relinquished every military

advantage ; here, he would have given up none of
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which he was in possession, and he would have

been in position to break up any threatening op

position. Then, the Mexican army, in strong po

sitions, numbered over 25,000 men ; at this time,

the enemy had nowhere more than 5000 troops

imbodied. Then, in a word, the Mexican army

possessed all the physical elements of strength,

while the American army was in a dangerous sit

uation. If he could then have taken such a re

sponsibility, at the imminent hazard of the total

destruction of the army, he certainly could have

taken that of this negotiation, if it were expedient

and necessary. In that case, affairs would have,

at least, been conducted in a frank and open meth

od, and the appearance of a trick for cheating his

government into a peace would have been avoided.

The trick was indeed useless, for peace was the

end and object of the war
;
and had it been ob

tained in a direct and honest manner, if it were

accepted, the government must have supported

him, as well as the commissioner, so far as related

to the negotiations. As it was, neither got any

glory, for the general-in-chief had only a passive

share in them by allowing them to proceed, while

he avowed his intention of prosecuting hostilities.

The intriguing policy of the commissioner, and his

rare correspondence, insulting as it was to his gov

ernment, caused him to experience a severe rebuke

at the hands of government and people, notwith

standing his successful treaty.

That General Scott did not countenance Mr.
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Trist's conduct, and had no share in it, is a useless

remark for those who would separate the action

of the two. They lived together, without other

messmates, and to suppose for an instant that dur

ing all that time they were ignorant of each oth

er's plans, when every arrangement and every event

showed plainly that those of the one were laid to

suit those of the other, is too absurd an idea to be

entertained.

Soon after the conclusion of the treaty, rumors

reached Mexico that General Scott was to be su

perseded in the command of the army by the or

ders of the government. The orders were actually

received on the 18th of February, and, turning

over the command to General Butler, on that day
he finished his official action as commander-in-

chief in the Mexican war.

CHAPTER XVIII.

Expiration of General Anaya's Term of Service as President of Mexico

Reaccession of Pena y PeBa Failure of Mexican Deputies to assemble

Causes Schemes of General Paredes Pronunciamiento at San Luis de

Potosi of Don Juan Alvarez Action of Santa Anna Of Pena y Pena's

Government Conclusion of the Treaty Receipt of the News in Mexico

Armistice.

THE presidency of General Anaya expired by its

limitation on the 8th of January, 1848, and Peiia

y Pena again assumed the direction of Mexican

affairs in virtue of his office as President of the Su-
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preme Court of Justice. The avowed peaceful pol

icy under which both his former brief administra

tion and that of Anaya had been able to continue

in power was persisted in. The cabinet of the re

turned president was composed of the same per

sons who had held place for the last few previous

months in the different departments. Indeed, the

composition was entirely the same as that which

existed under Anaya, except that he and Pena y
Pena had changed places, the latter being the

president, while the former performed the duties

of a secretary. Rosa held the portfolios of state

and treasury, Riva Palacios of justice, and Anaya
succeeded Mora y Villamil as Minister of War.

The commissioners appointed by Anaya contin

ued in their offices, and in their negotiations, direct

and indirect, with Mr. Trist, which had been de

layed for a short time by the receipt of the letter

of recall of the American commissioner. So soon

as he was determined to continue the negotiations

in spite of his instructions, they commenced their

business.

It was confidently said, in the early part of Jan

uary, that the government felt itself strong enough
to carry the measure through, if peace were the

end of the executive of the United States. The

great difficulty was in collecting a sufficient num
ber of deputies to form a quorum of Congress.

Seventeen new members had been at Queretaro

by the 25th of December, and their early attend

ance at the temporary capital was looked upon as
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an evidence that the business of peace would be

speedily accomplished. The favorable augury

proved fallacious when the time for action arrived,

for no quorum was present. The government of

Anaya had put forth every effort to secure the at

tendance of the members, and in the address which

Pena y Pena had issued immediately after assum

ing power, he had urgently called upon them to

assemble. No physical obstacles were placed in

their way by the American genera], for at this time

not only was he abstaining from any movement in

advance, but any member of the Mexican Con

gress who desired passports through his lines could

have them for the asking.

But, about this time, the state of things in vari

ous parts of Mexico, ever unsettled, became more

so than usual, on account of the intrigues of the

various military leaders. As their outcries were

principally against the measures of peace, and the

rabble crews by which they were re-echoed were

in many cases of respectable numerical strength,

in this state of affairs may be seen the reason for

the non-attendance of the deputies. Pronuncia-

mientos and counter pronunciamientos were rife

all over the country during the months of January
and February.

In several places the partisans of Paredes at

tempted to get up the cry of " Viva nuestra regna,
Dona Luisa Fernanda de Bourbon" which showed

that the agitator was still at work at his old

schemes
;
but no further success attended his ef-
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forts than to induce the leperos to indulge in a

few shouts in some of the larger towns.

Padre Jarauta, who had come up from the tier-

ra caliente to the vicinity of Mexico, was endeav

oring to instigate the people to carry on the war
;

but he was so great a nuisance in any vicinity

where he located himself, that the inhabitants

were glad to be rid of him on any terms.

Don Juan Alvarez, having no particular employ,
ment for his Pintos, and not caring to attack the

American troops, took post in the State of Mexico,

near Sultepec. To that place the state authorities

had retired upon Cadwalader's approach to Toluca.

There Alvarez pronounced against any considera

tion of peace, and in favor of raising men and

money for the support of the war. His first active

step was for breaking up what remained of the

government of the State of Mexico, by seizing the

governor, Olaguibel. He deprived him of his lib

erty, and even threatened to put him to death.

The threat was not executed. The Pinto chief

tain soon began to carry out his views in relation

to raising money and men, but whether for the

prosecution of the war or for furthering his own

intrigues, he knows best himself. He seized the

mines of Tlamascaltepec, and all the silver upon
which he could lay his hands. He took possession

of a quantity of arms belonging to the state, and

recruited his force. His operations kept the peace

able inhabitants in the vicinity of his head-quar
ters in a perpetual state of alarm, but his
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tile action against the Americans was to annoy
Clarke's command at Cuernavaca by the seizure

of provisions.

The movements of this partisan were doubtless

at the instigation of Santa Anna, who, while un

disturbed at Tehuacan, issued different manifestoes

against the existing Mexican government and its

policy, and in vindication of his own conduct. He
had even claimed to be still the provisional presi

dent and commander-in-chief during Anaya's ad

ministration, and at its close his partisans strove

zealously to bring about his return to power. As

the negotiations which took place pending the

armistice of Tacubaya had failed to bring about a

peace, and as he had taken the alternative of act

ing with bad faith, he could now only take the po
sition of opposition to any thing like peace on the

terms proposed, and he complained that the in

cumbent executive was about to enter into a ne

gotiation which he had refused because it was dis

honorable to the nation. It was asserted that his

efforts to avert the paramount disaster were the

cause of his sacrifice.

Taking place at the time when it did, and being

directed immediately against Olaguibel, a known

enemy of the ex-president, the pronunciamiento

could have had no other end than that of assisting

another made by the governor and authorities of

the State of San Luis de Potosi in favor of Santa

Anna. As the latter was made by constituted

authority, and was immediately directed against
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the policy of the federal government, it was con

sidered as most alarming, and at once received im
mediate attention at the hands of the government
of Pena y Pena. Several of the states adjacent to

San Luis joined in the movement, and the plan
which was promulgated openly accused the gov
ernment at Queretaro of failing to take measures

for carrying on the war, and of treasonable cor

respondence with the general of the invading

army.
Both Pena y Pena and Rosa answered the ac

cusations contained in this so-called "rebellious

document." Rosa's address contained the most

detailed answer, as well as the most distinct avow
al of policy. While it was not behind the docu

ment of the pronunciados in its assertion of the

necessity of defending the national honor, yet it

was such a one as would most effectually defend

the course of the administration. The difficulties

against which it contended were alluded to, and

it was claimed, not without reason, that the exist

ing government was that which had been formed

when the nation was without a head, and all the

elements of either strength or order were in utter

confusion. The inability of the government to

carry on the war was laid at the door of others,

and one of the principal causes was said to be the

action of Santa Anna in allowing the dispersion

of the different corps of the army. In speaking of

the state of that body, it was asked,

"What was the government to do with an army
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whose officers and soldiers were almost naked,

without arms, and discouraged by the results of

the battles in the environs of the capital in which

they took part ? It was to clothe and feed them,

to prevent their dispersion at whatever cost, to

arm them, and to reorganize them into bodies fit

for service. The government has discharged this

duty to the extent of its means, clothing the sol

diers, scantily it is true, and feeding them, though
not so abundantly as desired."

The policy in reference to the negotiations for

peace was boldly set forth, and in the expressions

concerning it may be found the reasons why the

Mexican government would not send commission

ers to Washington, and for the action of Mr. Trist

and General Scott. By that action in continua

tion of negotiation, the Mexican government was

allowed its desired prestige, and Rosa seized upon
it, to answer the accusations of the pronunciados.

" The statement and insinuations," said he,
" of

the revolutionists, that an ignominious treaty of

peace has been concluded, is a calumny. It is a

calumny to assert that the national government
has humbled itself to send propositions of peace to

the cabinet at Washington, or that it has been of

fered, in order to terminate the war, advantages
which the same cabinet did not exact. His Ex

cellency the President authorizes me to give the lie

to these calumnies, and to assure you that, in the

midst of the misfortunes of the country, the nation

al honor has not been tarnished, and will not be
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under the present government, even should the con

dition of the republic become worse than it is."

" The government, then, has understood the na

tional will in relation to the war. It believes the

Republic is resolved upon sustaining the war at

every peril, if the invader exacts conditions of

peace ignominious to Mexico. But it is also re

solved to make peace, if the end of putting a stop

to the calamities of a bloody and disastrous contest,

which has been so long continued a contest of

which the frightful evils have thus far fallen prin

cipally upon Mexico, but which, by an immutable

principle of the eternal laws of justice which gov
ern nations, must one day be felt in all their sad

consequences by the United States of America

can be accomplished."

The avowal of policy thus skillfully put forth,

with the assertion of the intention of defending the

national honor, and the prophecy of ultimate in

jury to the United States, which might quiet ap

prehension on the one subject and flatter revenge
ful desires on the other, was undoubtedly that

truly entertained by PefLa y Pena's government at

the time. At all events, the avowal had the best

verification in the course of action pursued a ver

ification which is rarely found in the acts of Mex
ican authorities, and by no means universal in

those of any nation.

The crisis had come, and the struggle of words

in reference to the question of negotiation was to

be gone through with. Of words I say, for neither
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pronunciados nor government had many means of

supporting a contest in arms, and neither could

move what few they possessed any great distance

from their own immediate localities. The com-

mandante general of San Luis did not agree with

the civil authorities of the state, and military ac

tion in that quarter was not to be expected. Don
Juan Alvarez was too well satisfied with his local

ity about the mines of Tlamascaltepec (which was

excellent for his Pintos, from the nature of the

country, and inaccessible to American troops,

should they attempt to pursue him) to give up his

supremacy there for a doubtful political point,,

which he cared nothing for personally, so long as

he could plunder his friends with impunity. En
emies he could not plunder, and, he did not attempt

it, and he remained perfectly quiet in regard to

any active operation against the government.
Pena y Pena had the greater regular force about

Queretaro under Bustamente, but that vicinity was

not so quiet that any portion of it could be spared

for distant service against domestic enemies. More

over, any such attempt would have given the

strongest argument to the pronunciados in favor

of the treachery of his. administration, f6r it could

have been said that it neglected the evident safety

of the temporary capital for the purpose of turning

the national arms against those whose only crime

was a desire of maintaining the national honor at

any hazards.

The answers of Pena y Pena and Rosa met the

II PP
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crisis promptly and skillfully, but the demonstra

tions of hostility were not so soon allayed that a

quorum of deputies could, or rather would, be as

sembled at Queretaro. The excuses made by the

absentees for their non-attendance were, in some

cases, that they were sick, and in others, that they
were unable to defray the expenses of the journey.

But the real reason, with deputies so fearful of be

ing compromised as the Mexican deputies and au

thorities generally proverbially are, is to be seen

in the unsettled state of affairs, which was such

that it was for a time difficult to form a definite

idea of the result of the struggle. Those in favor

of peace were timid, and those opposed to it feared

to fill the quorum by their presence ; and, that the

measure might be consummated, various circulars

were continually issued by the government urging

attendance, but they were of little avail, although

many deputies drew their traveling allowances

from the different state authorities.

On the 21st of January there were only twenty-
five members of the new Congress present, arid al

though on the 24th there were nearly fifty, yet the

number did not immediately increase^ notwith

standing the different urgent calls which were

made upon the absentees. At a meeting of pres

ent deputies, held early in February, it was order

ed that the absentees should be denounced as trai

tors unless they were in their seats by the 20th of

the month. None came, however, and affairs re

mained entirely in abeyance.
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In the mean time, the revolutionary movement

in San Luis ceased from want of sustenance, and

although Alvarez and other pronunciados held out,

yet they assumed a less hostile attitude toward

the government of Pena y Peiia. The treaty of

Guadalupe Hidalgo having been concluded, the

administration boldly announced the fact in a cir

cular to the governors of the states, over the sig

nature of Rosa, dated February 6th. The ne

cessity of submitting the question to the decision

of Congress, and of enjoying the armistice (to be

agreed upon) in the mean while, was strongly ad

vocated, The terms of the treaty were not imme

diately made known, although the President prom
ised that they should be so soon as the matter

came before Congress, and that at that time he

would give an exposition of the necessities which

had induced him to agree to the negotiation. The

tone of the document was such as to favor the be

liefthat the government felt satisfied in its strength

at the time, as the revolutionary movements had in

a manner subsided.

However, the knowledge of the conclusion ofthe

treaty had no effect in hastening the assembly of

the tardy members. Parties and cabals opposed
to the peace were at work in every town to delay,

if, indeed, they could not defeat the ratification.

Some of the terms of the treaty in some way be

came public, and formed fruitful subjects for dis

cussion. The first account, and those which were

probably allowed to divulge themselves by the



596 THE WAR WITH MEXICO.

Mexican commissioners, in order to give a favora

ble impression, were, that Mexico was to receive

some millions of dollars. But it soon became

known that New Mexico and Upper California

were ceded to the United States, and the cession

was cause of sufficient opposition to keep the mem
bers of Congress at home.

The answers of the governors of the states to

Rosa's circular were for the most part either strict

ly non-committal, or were in opposition to the ne

gotiated treaty. Most of them contained com

plaints that the terms had not been fully and im

mediately made known, in order to give opportu

nity for popular discussions. But adverse and

cautious as was the action of most authorities, no

immediate pronunciamiento against the govern
ment was made, except by the Ayuntamiento of

the city of San Luis, which declared that Pena y
Pena and the members of his cabinet were traitors,

and that the State of San Luis was no longer bound

by the acts of the general government. The gov
ernor of the state, notwithstanding his late loudly-

proclaimed hostility to the administration and the

treaty, arrested the pronunciados, and dissolved

the Ayuntamiento for its unauthorized action.

During the months of February and March an

element of Mexican discord was eliminated by the

departure of Santa Anna. After his quarters had

been beaten up by the approach of Lane's party to

Tehuacan, he applied to the government at Quere-

taro for passports to permit him to quit the coun-
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try, which were granted without delay. He also

applied to the American commander for a pass

port, which General Butler gave at once. With
these the ex-president proceeded ta the coast, and

took his departure from Antigua with all conven

ient speed, having been escorted from Jalapa to

that point by American troops. He had doubtless

given up the hope of any success in his intrigues,

or of being able to perpetuate his power in case

they were successful. The active exertions of his

partisans ceased so soon as he had left the country.

While Congress remained without a quorum at

Queretaro, Generals Mora y Villamil and Quijano
were commissioned on the part of the Mexican

government to negotiate the terms of the armistice

stipulated for in the treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo.

These officers arrived in the city of Mexico on the

17th of February, the day preceding General But

ler's succession to the command of the American

army, and the action of the American commander

in reference to the matter fell upon him. Although
he could hardly recognize the validity of the treaty,

or the propriety of Mr. Trist's negotiations, for he

had received the orders of the United States gov
ernment to send that individual out of the coun

try, yet Butler did not deem it prudent to check

the course of affairs, inasmuch as the faith of the

United States was apparently pledged in the mat

ter, and, moreover, it might prove that, unauthor

ized as the treaty was, it would be acceptable to

the home government. He therefore appointed
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Generals Worth and Smith as commissioners an

the American side, and the negotiation of the terms

of the armistice was commenced on the 29th of

February.
The first demands of the Mexican commissioners

were, as usual, arrogant in the extreme, and were

to the effect that the American army should imme

diately retire from the country. They were at

once negatived, as well as other demands of a sim

ilar nature. The convention which was finally

agreed upon contained, so far as military opera

tions were concerned, only the stipulation that

neither party was to advance during its continu

ance. But various concessions in respect to the

civil government of occupied towns were made on

the part of the American general. The collection

of the military contributions for the months of Feb

ruary and March was suspended, with a view to

final relinquishment in the event of the ratification

of the treaty. The stipulation contained in article

6th of the convention was remarkable, from its pe

culiarly Mexican character, as well as from the con

cession made by it. The fact of its being demand

ed showed the policy of the Mexican government,

and, probably, that it had given up all hope of as

sembling a quorum of Congress without new elect

ors, to which this article had reference. It read as

follows :

" Article 6th. Whenever an election is to >be held

in any town or place occupied by the American

troops, upon due notice thereof being given to the
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commanding officer, he shall march the whole of

his force out of the limits of such town or place,

and there remain with them until after the hour

at which such elections should be concluded, leav

ing within the town or place only the force neces

sary for the security of his barracks, hospitals,

stores, and quarters."

"And no person belonging to the American

army shall by any means, or on any consideration,

attempt to obstruct or interfere with any elections,

in order that they may be conducted according to

the Mexican laws. In Vera Cruz, the troops shall

retire within the walls of the fortifications, and

there remain until the election is concluded."^

The article quoted is in keeping with the whole

document, which, like others of a similar nature,

gave up many moral and physical advantages to

the enemy. Unlike them, however, it was the

consequence of a treaty actually agreed upon, and,

so far as the Mexican government was concerned,

by persons duly authorized to act. If the govern
ment had any stability, these concessions could be

made with a show of safety. Nevertheless, it was

a matter of no small risk on the part of the Amer
ican general to agree to the convention

;
not on

account of the relinquishment of military advant

ages, or of the opportunity afforded for the re-es

tablishment of the enemy, for operations had al

ready been so long delayed that all which Mexico

could do was doubtless at the time accomplished.
* " Army of Mexico," General Orders, No. 18, March 6th, 1848.
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But, in the event of the failure of the treaty in the

United States or in Mexico, the responsibility of

the delay must have fallen upon those who, on the

strength of a stipulation contained in a treaty made

without authority, agreed to a convention so full

of concessions to the enemy.

Agreed to as it was, the armistice went into ef

fect, having been approved at Queretaro and Mex

ico, by the 5th of March. Elections were there

fore appointed for deputies and for different state

officers.

During the progress of the events recounted in

the few last chapters, various occurrences had tak

en place in California, New Mexico, and upon the

western coast of Mexico. The isolated operations

in these distant regions, perhaps, had little effect

upon the main question of the war, inasmuch as

possession of the territories treated of had been ob

tained at a previous period ;
but they belong to the

history of the war with Mexico. As the point has

been nearly reached where it will be necessary to

speak of the action of the American government
on the treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo and the close

of the war, these isolated operations will form the

subject of the succeeding chapter.
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CHAPTER XIX.

Affairs in California and on western Coast of Mexico Preparations for na

val Operations Seizure of Guyamas Seizure of Mazatlan Affair at Mu-

leje-^Affairs at La Paz and San Jose at Guyamas and San Bias Second

Attack on San Jose Affair at San Antonio at Todos Santos Affairs in

New Mexico and Chihuahua General Price's Movement to Chihuahua

Occupation of the City Aflair at Santa Cruz de las Resales.

No active opposition was offered by the inhabit

ants of Upper California to the government of Col-

onel Mason, and, saving the complaints and verbal

demonstrations of hostility usual in all conquered

countries, that department was at peace from the

time of the capitulation of Cowenga. In Lower

California, however, the case was different a short

time after its occupation had been effected. A
command, under Lieutenant-colonel Benton, of the

New York regiment of California volunteers, had

been stationed at the capital of the department, the

town of La Paz, soon after General Kearney's de

parture for the United States, and the authority

of the North American republic was proclaimed in

the lower as well as the upper province. The force

was too small to compel obedience at any great

distance from the station, and although many
Lower Californians professed to be satisfied with

the change of flags, yet discontent prevailed, and

the authority over the greater part of the country
was but nominal. No actual attack, however, was

made for some time, and the garrison of La Paz
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was called upon for no other active service than

that of observation.

Early in the month of October Commodore Shu-

brick made preparations for commencing naval op
erations against the different Mexican towns on

the Pacific coast. His intention was to strike the

first blow at Mazatlan, the most important com
mercial town on that coast, with a view of estab

lishing there the tariff of duties to be collected as

a part of the military contributions. At the time

of sailing from Monterey, it was expected that

Lieutenant-colonel Burton's command could be

spared to take part in the proposed expedition, and

that the Congress frigate and Portsmouth sloop of

war, under Captain Lavallette, would be met off

Cape St. Lucas.^ But, upon arriving at San Jose,

Lower California, the commodore found such an

existing state of things that it was deemed inex

pedient to withdraw the force from La Paz. He
also thought it proper to hold possession of San

Jose, which had been once previously occupied

and abandoned, and for that purpose stationed

there a command of five officers and twenty men.f
In the mean time Captain Lavallette had employ
ed himself on an expedition up the Gulf of Cali

fornia, and was not immediately fallen in with, as

had been anticipated.

* Commodore Shubrick to the Secretary of the Navy, October 8th, 1847.

Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, second Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 1072.

t Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, second Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 1074.
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He had early been at San Jose, and having failed

in meeting the commodore, he left his reports and

put to sea with the two ships under his command.

Having fallen in with a vessel hound to the port

of Guyamas, he confiscated a portion of the cargo

subject to seizure, and, with a view of putting a

stop to the trade, proceeded up the gulf to that

port. On the evening of the 16th of October the

two vessels anchored in the outer roads, and on

the following day entered the inner harbor of Guya
mas. The Mexican flag was displayed on a fort,

which apparently was one of some strength, and it

was determined to attack the town.

Suitable positions having been selected, the ves

sels were warped to them, and a thirty-two pounder
was planted on one of the islands in the harbor.

Daylight on the morning of the 19th found the

American vessels within range of the Mexican fort,

but the enemy showed no disposition to open fire.

Captain Lavallette sent a summons by the hands

of Captain Montgomery, who was authorized to

grant a delay of two hours in case of refusal, for

the purpose of allowing the removal of the women
and children. The Mexican commandante, Colo

nel Campuzano, requested five hours for delibera

tion, and believing that he could not increase his

force materially in that time, Montgomery granted
it. At the expiration of the five hours the answer

was received, and was a positive refusal.

Meanwhile night had come on, and not a gun
was fired by either party during its continuance.
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A party of Americans landed a seven pounder on

another of the islands within range of the shore,

and at sunrise a single shot from the Congress

gave the signal for action. The cannonade con

tinued for three quarters of an hour without any

reply. At the expiration of that time a white flag

was displayed on shore in token of surrender. The
town was occupied, and it was found that the Mex
ican garrison had evacuated it during the night,

taking all the guns and munitions of war contain

ed in the place.

Having issued a proclamation establishing a

tariff and other regulations, Captain Lavallette or

dered the destruction of the fortifications, and leav

ing the Portsmouth to watch the town, proceeded
in the Congress to join the squadron, which he

found at San Jose.^

On the 8th of November, the Independence

razee, Congress frigate, and sloop Cyane, sailed

thence, under Shubrick's command, for Mazatlan.

The harbor was entered on the evening of the 10th,

and by ten o'clock the s'hips were in positions for

action. At seven o'clock on the following morn

ing the town was summoned, but Colonel Telles,

who commanded the Mexican garrison, refused to

surrender, or even to see the officers who bore the

summons. He tore the paper to pieces in the

presence of his troops, but, saving this exhibition

of ill temper, he attempted no action against Amer-

*
Captain Lavallette's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, sec

ond Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 1075.
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lean men or material. After burying his guns
and munitions, he evacuated the town, and answer

ed the summons to the effect that, as he was at

the camp of " Palos Prietos," beyond the reach of

the American commander, he was not of necessity

obliged to surrender. At one o'clock Shubrick

landed with a strong party, and Mazatlan was

quietly occupied under a convention regulating

the terms of occupation, which was entered into

with the civil authorities.^

The place being considered one of great import

ance, fortifications were commenced, and the com

modore addressed applications to Generals Scott

and Taylor, and to Colonel Mason, suggesting that

troops should be sent thither for the purpose of

holding it. General Scott received the applica

tion by the 2d of December, but it was out of his

power to force a garrison through to the Pacific at

once.f It was manifestly out of the question for

General Taylor to attempt any thing of the kind,

and Colonel Mason would have been obliged to

raise any force which he might have sent in Upper
California. Nevertheless, Mazatlan was held for

several succeeding months by the naval forces,

without any other interruption than that occasion

ed by the annoyances of several small parties of

the enemy in the vicinity. In order to disperse

them, several minor expeditions were sent out from
* Commodore Shubrick's Report and Papers. Executive Document, No,

1, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 1089-1096.

t Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of

the thirtieth Congress, p. 1035.
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time to time, which several times brought them to

skirmishes. These put a stop to their marauding
to a degree, and the forces on land were left com

paratively quiet.

During these events, an attack had been made

on the Mexican village of Muleje, on the eastern

shore of Lower California. It was the point of de

barkation of troops, and of communication, from

the province of Sinaloa. As different parties thence

had entered California for the purpose of fomenting

insurrection, Commander Selfridge first caused it

to be blockaded by a small vessel fitted out for the

service. On the 30th of September he entered the

anchorage in the sloop-of-war Dale. It was soon

found that the place was in possession of Mexican

forces, and on the same evening a small schooner

was cut out from a creek in the immediate vicinity.

On the 1st of October an officer was sent ashore

with propositions to the alcalde of the village to

the effect that he was to preserve a neutrality

during the war, that he was to surrender all arms

and other public property, and to abstain from all

intercourse with Mexico. He refused to accept

them, and referred to the military commandant of

the forces from Sinaloa and Pineda. This person

sent to Selfridge a communication remarkable for

its insulting tenor. Upon receiving it, Selfridge

organized a party for landing, and at two o'clock

in the afternoon sent it ashore under Lieutenant

Craven, covering the landing by a fire from the

ship. The enemy was quickly driven away, and
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the village was held until nightfall. On the fol

lowing morning the Dale weighed anchor and sail

ed for La Paz.^

The Mexican forces in Lower California having
been organized under Pineda, he soon proceeded to

attack the American posts at La Paz and San Jose.

On the 16th of November, a party, nearly 300

strong, made a positive attack upon Lieutenant-

colonel Burton's position, but it was repelled, with

considerable loss to the assailants. The American

loss was one killed and two slightly wounded.

The enemy, however, continued to blockade the

place by land, and a few skirmishes ensued from

day to day until the 8th of December. Then the

Cyane, which had been sent by Shubrick for the

relief of the American posts, arrived, and the ene

my retired from the immediate vicinity.

San Jose was attacked on the 19th of November

in much the same manner, and with a like result.

Lieutenant Heywood's small party resisted the at

tack until the 21st, when two sail (whaling ships)

appeared in sight, and the attacking force retired.

So soon as they received intelligence of these

affairs, Commodore Shubrick and Colonel Mason
both sent re-enforcements to the different posts.

The enemy continued in the field, but for some

weeks abstained from making any positive attack,

hoping to draw any party which might march

against him into a disadvantageous ambuscade.

* Commander Selfridge's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate,

second Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 1196.
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In the month of November the Dale relieved the

Portsmouth at Guyamas, but, since the first seiz

ure of the place, the enemy had recruited his par

ties in the vicinity to such an extent that it was

impossible for the small American force present to

prevent his occupation of the town. On the 17th

Commander Selfridge landed with about sixty-five

men, and a skirmish ensued, in which he was

wounded. The enemy was subsequently driven

from the place, without further loss on the part of

the Americans.^

In January, a party from the United States

store-ships Lexington and Whiton landed at San

Bias, and captured a boat and a few old guns. No

attempt was made to hold possession of the place.

Besides this affair, a few minor operations occur

red in the vicinity of Guyamas, in which the ene

my was worsted, with small attending loss on the

part of the Americans.!

During the latter part of the month, the insur

gents in Lower California recommenced active op
erations against the American posts, and reduced

Heywood's party at San Jose to a very critical sit

uation. On the 22d a considerable force appeared
in the vicinity of that place, and succeeded in cut

ting off two midshipmen and six others, who were

engaged at some little distance from the garrison.

Having received information of the state of things,
* Commander Selfridge's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate,

second Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 1102.

t Lieutenants Bailey and Chatard's Reports. Executive Document, No.

1, Senate, second Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 1127.
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Shubrick dispatched the Cyane from La Paz to

the relief of the place. She arrived at San Jose

on the 14th of February, and found it still in pos

session of Heywood's party, which, however, was

suffering severely from want of provisions and from

sickness.

The garrison was not over-supplied at the out

set, and a number of poor people of the village

were of necessity included in the number to be

fed. The place had been blockaded by the Cali-

fornians since the 22d of January. On the 4th of

February they approached and opened fire upon

any of the garrison who exposed themselves. This

annoyance continued until the 6th, when a sortie

was made, which had the effect of driving them

into the hills for that day. On the 7th, however,

they returned, and took possession of all the vil

lage, except the buildings actually occupied by
the garrison. Firing was kept up between the

parties until the 15th, by which the Americans

lost Midshipman M'Lanahan and three others kill

ed, and four slightly wounded.^ On the morning
of the 15th a party landed from the Cyane, under

Commander Du Pont, and, after a brisk skirmish,

in which the Californians suffered severely, and

the Americans lost four in wounded, succeeded in

driving the enemy and relieving the garrison,f

From this time, offensive operations on the part
* Lieutenant Heywood's Reports. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate,

second Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 1143.

t Commander Du Font's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate,

second Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 1138.
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of the Californians ceased, and the two posts were

left undisturbed.

On the 15th of March Lieutenant-colonel Bur
ton sent a party to San Antonio, distant five leagues
from La Paz, where a considerable force of the en

emy was stationed. The march was made, the

enemy's party was surprised and dispersed with

loss, a few arms and munitions destroyed, and the

prisoners taken at San Jose were released.^

During a subsequent period, parties under Com
mander Du Pont and Lieutenant-colonel Burton

vscoured the country, and put down all opposition

on the part of the inhabitants. Burton brought
the enemy to a skirmish at Todos Santos, and rout

ed him, with severe loss. The Americans lost

none.f Pineda and other chiefs soon surrendered,

and the disturbances in California were at an end.

Affairs remained comparatively quiet for the sub

sequent duration of the war, though it was not

until the month of August, 1848, that official in

formation of its termination was received at Mon

terey by Colonel Mason.

On the 30th of March, however, Commodore

Shubrick, at Mazatlan, received General Butler's

order promulgating the armistice which had been

entered into at Mexico, and took steps at once to

insure the observance of its terms on the western

coast of Mexico.

* Lieutenant-colonel Burton's Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Sen

ate, second Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 1149.

t Idem ibidem, p. 1154.
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During the year 1847, General Price adminis

tered the government of the department of New
Mexico without serious interruption, and early in

1848 he formed the determination of proceeding
south with a command, for the purpose of opera

ting against the enemy in the State of Chihuahua.

Having made arrangements for the civil and mili

tary government of his proper department, on the

8th of February he marched from Santa Fe with

a command consisting of three companies of Uni

ted States dragoons (one acting as light artillery),

six of Missouri horse, two of Missouri infantry, and

four companies of Santa Fe volunteers (three of

horse and one of artillery).

The march across the Jornada del Muerto was

accomplished in safety, and the city of Chihuahua

was approached in the early part of March. When
within a short distance of it, Price was informed

by the Mexicans of the conclusion of a treaty, but,

fearing their dissimulation, he paid no attention to

the report. Chihuahua was occupied on the 7th

of March, and having learned that the enemy, in

some force, was in position at Santa Cruz de las

Rosales, sixty miles distant, Price determined to

pursue and attack them.

He marched on the morning of the 8th with a

force of about 250 mounted men, and arrived in

front of the enemy at sunrise on the 9th. Imme
diate arrangements were made for attacking the

place, and it was summoned. Governor Trias,

who commanded, requested delay, on account of
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the information of the conclusion of the treaty,

which he assured General Price was correct and

reliable. Price suspended the attack for a few

days, hut mean while he blockaded the town, and

sent back for his artillery.

Nothing having been received confirmatory of

the report of the conclusion of the treaty upon
which Price chose to rely, and the re-enforcements

having arrived, on the morning of the 16th dispo

sitions were made for a positive attack. Two bat

teries, comprising in all ten pieces of light caliber,

were located on the northwest and west of the

town, and the mounted troops were placed in sup

porting positions. At half past ten o'clock they

opened fire, which was maintained for about an

hour. The Mexican force numbered about 900,

and had eleven pieces of artillery of different cali

bers, besides several wall pieces. With these the

American fire was returned with spirit, though
without much effect.

It was reported that a large force of the enemy's

cavalry was in position threatening the American

rear. Price at once withdrew his whole command
to an eminence about three quarters of a mile from

the town. The movement was regarded by the

enemy as one in retreat, and loud cheers announced

his satisfaction. However, the report proved to be

without foundation, as only a small party was seen,

and that was quickly dispersed.

It was determined to make a more positive as

sault, and the batteries were located in their former
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positions. The fire was resumed on both sides, and

the American troops were dismounted and disposed

around the town. Under cover of the cannonade

they quickly entered it, and desultory fighting was

kept up until nightfall, when the enemy surren

dered.*

In this action the American loss was one lieu

tenant, two corporals, and one private killed, and

nineteen wounded. According to evidence sub

mitted to the American general, the enemy lost

two hundred and thirty-six in killed, besides many
wounded an almost incredible disparity. Gov
ernor Trias and forty-two officers were taken pris

oners, and all the artillery and munitions fell into

the hands of the Americans.

The superior officers were liberated on parole,

and Price returned to Chihuahua with his com

mand. There he remained until the receipt of

official information of the conclusion of the treaty

of peace.

* General Price's Report. Executive Document, No 1, Senate, second

Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 113.
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CHAPTER XX.

Political Condition of the United States Policy of the Administration Rec

ommendations of President Polk Action of Congress Instructions to

General Scott Action of the Government in reference to the Dispute of

the General Officers Court of Inquiry Result Action of the Govern

ment on Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo Its Ratification.

State of Things in Mexico under General Butler Affair of Sequalteplan

Condition of Mexican Government Session of Congress Action upon
the Treaty Its Ratification by Mexican Congress.

Evacuation of Mexico by the American Army General Observations.

THE political condition of the United States at

the opening of Congress in December, 1847, was

materially different from that which had existed

one year previously. The progress of the war had

shown the people that the burden of expense, al

though heavy, was not so overwhelming as had

been anticipated during the elections of the former

year, and the continued hostility of Mexico, in

spite of the offers of accommodation, had induced

a belief in the necessity of maintaining the con

test. More than all, the glory of the military

operations of Buena Vista, Vera Cruz, Cerro Gordo,

Contreras, Churubusco, Molino del Rey, Chapulte-

pec, and the Garitas, with the host of minor af

fairs, had kept alive the military excitement of the

nation, and done away with the impression which

had been produced by the inactivity of the Amer
ican army after the battles of Palo Alto and Resaca

de la Palma, and the operations at Monterey. The
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complaints on that head had entirely ceased, for

the great goal which had long heen in view had

been reached, and the American army was in the

capital of the Montezumas.

In the various public discussions which took

place, the administration party, of course, support

ed the measures of President Polk and his'cahinet.

The assaults of the Whigs were less noisy than

those which had heen made during the canvass of

the previous year, hut still many distinguished

leaders of that class continued in bitter denuncia

tion of the conduct of the executive both in the

commencement and prosecution of the war. Their

course of conduct had the effect of diminishing

their own popularity more than that of the admin

istration. The argument made by the supporters

of it, that these leaders were indirectly affording

assistance to the enemy, as, indeed, they were and

had been, began to take effect, and many imme
diate leaders of the opposition averred a different

sentiment from that promulgated in the speeches

of Mr. Clay and Mr. Webster. In this state of

things, being desirous of opposing the measures of

the administration, but fearful of compromising the

party by an opposition to the war and withhold

ing supplies, which it could be plainly foreseen

would be unpopular, and therefore disastrous, the

Whig majority in the House of Representatives

found itself at the opening of the 30th Congress.

The policy of the government in reference to the

continuation of hostilities was presented by Mr.
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Polk in his message, and was treated of at some

length. In so much as related to coercive meas

ures, it was the same as that which General Scott

had been ordered to adopt by occupying the coun

try and raising military contributions. In answer

to the questions proposed,
" In what manner ought

the war to be prosecuted ? and what should be

our future policy ?" it was said by the President,
" I can not doubt that we should secure and render

available the conquests which we have already

made, and that with this view we should hold

and occupy with our naval and military forces all

the posts, towns, cities, and provinces now in our

occupation, or which may hereafter fall into our

possession ;
that we should press forward our mili

tary operations, and levy such military contribu

tions on the enemy as may, as far as practicable,

defray the future expenses of the war."^

In reference to the subject of indemnity, the

course which had been looked to as that to be ulti

mately followed, and had been provided for by the

prompt seizure of New Mexico and California, was

recommended in the following paragraph :

" In the mean time, as Mexico refuses all in

demnity, we should adopt measures to indemnify
ourselves by appropriating permanently a portion

of her territory. Early after the commencement
of the war, New Mexico and the Californias were

taken possession of by our forces. Our military

* President's Message. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, first Session

of the thirtieth Congress, p. 12.
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and naval commanders were ordered to conquer
and hold them subject to be disposed of by a treaty

of peace."
" These provinces are now in our un

disputed possession, and have been so for many
months

;
all resistance on the part of Mexico hav

ing ceased within their limits, I am satisfied that

they should never be surrendered to Mexico.

Should Congress concur with me in this opinion,

and that they should be retained by the United

States as indemnity, I can perceive no good reason

why the jurisdiction of the United States should

not be extended over them. To wait for a treaty

of peace, such as we are willing to make, by which

our relations to them can not be changed, can not

be good policy ;
while our own interests, and that

of the people inhabiting them, require that a stable,

responsible, and free government, under our au

thority, should as soon as possible be established

over them."^

The ultimate action of the government in case

Mexico continued in her refusal to negotiate was

spoken of, but, as the necessity was not imme

diate, such action could only be considered as con

tingent.
" With a people distracted and divided by con

tending factions, and a government subject to con

stant changes by successive revolutions, the con

tinued successes of our arms may fail to secure a

satisfactory peace. In such event, it may become

*
President's Message. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, first Session

of the thirtieth Congress, p. 12.
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proper for our commanding generals in the field to

give encouragement and assurances of protection

to the friends of peace in Mexico in the establish

ment and maintenance of a free republican govern

ment, of their own choice, able and willing to con

clude a peace which would be just to them, and

secure to us the indemnity we demand. This

may become the only method of obtaining such a

peace. Should such be the result, the war which

Mexico has forced upon us would thus be convert

ed into an enduring blessing to herself. After find

ing her torn and distracted by factions, and ruled

by military usurpers, we should then leave her with

a republican government, in the enjoyment of real

independence and domestic peace and prosperity,

performing all her relative duties in the family of

nations, and promoting her own happiness by wise

laws and their faithful execution."
"

If, after affording this encouragement and pro

tection, and after all the persevering and sincere

efforts we have made, from the moment Mexico

commenced the war, and prior to that time, to ad

just our difference with her, we shall ultimately

fail, then we shall have exhausted all honorable

means in pursuit of peace, and must continue to

occupy the country with our troops, taking the full

measure of indemnity into our own hands, and must

enforce the terms which honor demands."*

The action indicated in these paragraphs is in

*
President's Message. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, first Session

of the thirtieth Congress, p. 15.
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keeping with the system of exceedingly gradual
coercion which the United States had adopted and

followed from the first. Although the levy of con

tributions might be considered as the next step to

taking permanent possession, yet the intermediate

one suggested by Mr. Polk was such as proved that

the previous declarations of the administration con

cerning the object of the war had been made in

good faith
; for, notwithstanding the complete suc

cess of the American army, and the ease with which

the conquest of Mexico might have been consum

mated, that object was yet disavowed as it had

been. It was only looked to as a last resort, after

the intermediate step had failed. That interme

diate step being the attempted establishment of a

stable government in Mexico by the countenance

and protection of the American forces, would in

duce the belief that the administration desired

nothing more than such territory as could be fair

ly demanded as indemnity. The proposed course

of action was doubtless counseled more by a wise

foresight of the interests of the United States than

for the purpose of benefiting Mexico (as, indeed,

must have been the case in the pursuit of true

policy), yet it was truly said that it could not fail

to give great advantages to that distracted country
over any even which she had possessed at the

breaking out of hostilities. It was the course, in

fact, partially followed by Mr. Trist and by Gen
eral Scott

;
and had their action been based upon

it from the first and frankly avowed, the message
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of the President might have been quoted by them
as partial authority.

The recommendations made to Congress for pro

viding for the support of the war were to author

ize such loans as might be required to fill the

treasury to the amount of the estimated expendi

tures, and the raising of ten additional regiments
to the regular army to serve during the war, as

recommended in the report of Mr. Marcy.^
The public debt of the United States had been

increased, from the commencement of Mr. Folk's

administration to the opening of Congress, by the

sum of twenty-seven millions eight hundred and

fifty-nine dollars and seventy-eight cents. f A very
small sum, when the various military operations

which had been accomplished in two years are re

membered, and also that a tariff modified to suit

the free trade policy of the Democratic party had

been the principal source of revenue.

The amount of the loan which Congress was

called upon to authorize in order to provide for the

expenditures of the government until the close

of the fiscal year ending on the thirtieth of June,

1849, in the anticipation of the continuation of

the war, was eighteen millions five hundred thou

sand dollars. But with this estimate, no allow

ance was made for the amount of military con

tributions to be collected from Mexico, and the

loan was to be reduced by such amount. As a

* President's Message. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, first Session

of the thirtieth Congress, p. 15. t Idem ibidem, p. 23.
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further means of raising revenue, a war duty upon
tea and coffee was urged, as it had previously been,

as well as a graduation of the price of the public

lands. It was hoped that these two measures

would considerably increase the resources of the

government.^
These principal recommendations, and various

others of minor importance, went before the Amer
ican Congress, and their discussion in the different

houses soon commenced. The policy of the ad

ministration was of course denounced by the op

position, although it had no distinguishing princi

ple by which it was guided, and its leaders sug

gested no method of settling the difficulty. Bills

were early introduced into the House of Represent
atives for the provision of the different re-enforce

ments of men and means demanded, and although
their progress was delayed by attacks upon the

policy of the executive, yet the sentiment of the

country was such that it was evidently a matter

of necessity for the Whig house to pass them.

The measure of establishing civil governments
in New Mexico and California was, however, of a

different complexion, and the matter of the proviso,

which had delayed the action of the former Con

gress upon the appropriation for diplomatic pur

poses, was still a subject of discussion. It was,

moreover, wanted for a question in the approach

ing presidential contest by certain members of both

*
President's Message. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate, first Session

of the thirtieth Congress, p. 24, 25.
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parties, who, while they were willing that it should

be used for the furtherance of their own views,

either for opposition to the administration or for an

increase of sectional popularity, cared not to see so

faithful a cause of agitation done away with by
the establishment of territorial governments. In

the absence of any treaty with Mexico, and of any

acknowledged title, was found a sufficient argu
ment to prevent legislation upon the subject, al

though it was not sufficient to prevent the dis

cussion of the allowances or prohibition of negro

slavery within the territories in question.

The first new provision for the war being mone

tary, the action of the War Department was con

fined to forwarding recruits and material as fast

as they were raised, or the latter became necessary,

to Mexico, and to the different instructions for a

change of policy, contained in the dispatches which

have been referred to.

On the 14th of December, Mr. Marcy sent the

President's Message and his own annual report to

General Scott, and to the former he was referred

for the views of the President in regard to the

prosecution of the war. The orders contained in

the accompanying letter were in great measure a

continuation of those before given for raising mili

tary contributions. In regard to the policy indi

cated in the message, of supporting the Mexican

government, the secretary wrote as follows :

" Our object is to obtain acceptable terms of

peace within the earliest practicable period, and it
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is apprehended that this object can not be speedily

attained without making the enemy feel that he

is to bear a considerable part of the burden of the

war."
" Should there not be at this time a government

in Mexico of sufficient stability to make peace, or

should the authority which there exists be adverse

to it, and yet a large and influential portion of the

people really disposed to put an end to hostilities,

it is desirable to know what prospect there is that

the latter could, with the countenance and protec

tion of our arms, organize a government which

would be willing to make peace, and able to sus

tain relations of peace with us. It is presumed
that your opportunities of knowing the disposition

of the people of Mexico will enable you to furnish

your government with correct information on this

subject, and the President desires to be furnished

with your views thereon."^

The dispatch from which the above is extracted

was not received by the general-in-chief before the

latter part of January.! By that time Mr. Trist's

unauthorized negotiations had so far progressed

that it could have had no influence upon his ac

tion. The course which he followed must have

been determined long before, although the strong

ly expressed desire for the speedy conclusion of a

treaty may have confirmed him in the determina-

* Mr. Marcy to General Scott. Executive Document, No. 60, House of

Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 1037.

t General Scott to Mr. Marcy. Idem, p. 1081.
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tion of awaiting the. decision of the authorities at

Washington on the treaty, before continuing his

advance, during the time intermediate between the

receipt of the dispatch and the conclusion of the

treaty.

Before any further instructions were issued from

the War Department, the dispatches of the general-

in-chief and Mr. Trist, which left the city of Mex
ico early in December, arrived in Washington.
Mr. Trist's voluminous and bitter communications

to the State Department gave information of the
"
incomprehensible and unimaginable" impractica

bility of his character, which, indeed, had been so

fully demonstrated in his previous proceedings as

to induce his recall. Besides the dispatch of the

general-in-chief of the date of December 4th, there

was contained in the package transmitted by him
a duplicate of his letter of July 25th, full of com

plaints and insubordinate expressions against the

department (and which it might have been con

sidered would have increased the reputation of the

author as the victim of persecutions, especially as,

notwithstanding them, he had been successful in

his military operations), and the charges against

Generals Worth and Pillow, and Lieutenant-colo

nel Duncan, and the accompanying papers.

The existence of such a state of things in Mex
ico as was revealed by these documents could not

be viewed otherwise than with deep regret. A
mutinous commissioner, who openly avowed his

disobedience, and made use of his state correspond-
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ence as a vehicle of slander and calumny, was

about to undertake unauthorized negotiations

which might well have been expected to compro
mise the United States, and to complicate the dif

ficulties which already existed in the way of ne

gotiation ;
and a general-in-chief taking care to

forward a letter at least highly disrespectful, and

whose charges against his officers highest in rank

announced that he had quarreled seriously in his

own camp and for an insufficient cause, and whose

dispatches plainly told that he had but little re

spect for his government, and that he intended to

secure justice to himself on the strength of his

military reputation these two were the apparent

chief representatives of the United States, and well

might the state of things create anxiety at Wash

ington.

The action of the President and cabinet was not

immediate, and full time was taken to consider the

various questions which arose as to the manner of

correcting the evil state of things. It was not un

til the 13th of January, 1848, that orders were is

sued in relation to the matters.

The charges against General Worth were those

of which the illegality was most clearly present

ed
;
for they were for disrespect contained in the

matter of an appeal from the general-in-chief to

the Secretary of War concerning
" General Orders

No. 349." The President could not recognize the

right of General Scott to make such charge, and

to bring an officer to trial thereon, while the accu-

II. R A



626 THE WAR WITH MEXICO.

sations which he had made against his superior,

according to the method prescribed by law for pre

senting them, remained uninvestigated. He there

fore ordered that the charges against Worth should

be laid aside, until those preferred by him against

the general-in-chief should be disposed of. 1*

The charges which General Scott had preferred

against General Pillow were exceedingly volumin

ous, comprising eighteen pages of written matter.

Although the latter officer had been arrested for

sending an appeal directly to the Secretary of War,
and for the matter therein contained, yet the first

alleged offense was omitted in the charges, and

the matter of the appeal was but slightly noticed.

The substantive matter consisted of the alleged

production of the " Leonidas" letter, of alleged

errors in his official reports, and of the substance

of remarks made by him concerning the effect of

the battle of Molino del Rey upon the energies of

the general-in-chief. The various official com

mendations which had been lavished upon Gen
eral Pillow in General Scott's reports and corre

spondence, of which several were ostensibly the

consequence of his own personal observation, were

entirely falsified by the charges. Had they been

true, and based upon substantial facts, General

Pillow would justly have been presented in a very

unenviable position before the country.

* Mr. Marcy to General Scott, January 13th, 1848. Executive Document,
No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p.

1040.
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These charges, those against Lieutenant-colonel

Duncan, which were for the authorship of the
"
Tampico" letter, and those preferred by General

Worth against General Scott, were considered as

subjects for immediate investigation. By the or

ders of the President, all of them wrere to he inves

tigated by a court of inquiry, and, in consequence
of the difficulty, the general-in-chief was relieved

from the command of the army, in compliance with

a request contained in his letter of the date of June

4th from Puebla. Generals Worth and Pillow,

and Lieutenant-colonel Duncan, were to be released

from arrest
; and, after the court had finished its pro

ceedings in the matter of the charges preferred by
Worth against Scott, it was intended that those

preferred by the latter against the former should

be taken into consideration.^

These instructions and orders were received in

Mexico, and caused the relinquishment of the com
mand of the army to General Butler, as stated in

a preceding chapter.

The court first met at Puebla, but after a short

session adjourned to the city of Mexico, where it

commenced business on the 16th of March. Prior

to this date, certain efforts were made to induce the

parties to put a stop to the proceedings (which it

* Mr. Marcy to General Scott, January 13th, 1848. Executive Document,

No. 60, House of Representatives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p.

1040.
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was feared, from the nature of things, could but be

discreditable to the service), by dropping the dif

ferent matters of controversy and withdrawing the

charges. In consideration of the decision and ac

tion of the authorities at Washington, General

Worth did withdraw his charges, although against
the wish of General Scott, who assumed, as he

said,
" an attitude of defiance" toward his accuser.

The action of the general-in-chief in reference to

the charges prepared by himself was in some re

spects similar
;
for the reasons that he had applied

for a court-martial on General Worth, and that his

application had been refused, that Worth had been

released and restored to command, and that he had

been stricken down from his high position; and

others, he refused to prosecute the case against

Worth. In regard to Duncan, the action of the

government was alleged as a cause for withdraw

ing the. charges entirely, provided Lieutenant-colo

nel Duncan would make certain admissions con

cerning the alleged errors in the "
Tampico" letter.

Duncan refused, although he professed regret in

case any of the statements there made were actual

ly erroneous. He believed them to be true, and

would not take simple statements, without other

evidence, as proof of their error. Nevertheless,

General Scott withdrew the charges.

In Pillow's case, in view of nine considerations,

not in connection with the matter of the charges,

of which the truth was reasserted, General Scott

declined to prosecute before the preliminary court



THE WAR WITH MEXICO. 629

without being ordered to do so.^ This course was
not acceptable to Pillow, whose honor was too

deeply affected by the matter to allow him to rest

quiet under the various scandalous imputations.
After combating the considerations urged by the

general-in-chief in a paper submitted to the court,

he presented a second, in which he made a strenu

ous and urgent application for it to issue its order

for him to prosecute. f General Scott replied, and

on account of the inconvenience to which he would

be subjected, awaiting the decision of the authori

ties at Washington on the action of the parties, he

consented to go on with the case.J The proceed

ings of the court commenced at once.

They were tedious and lengthy, and after being
carried on in Mexico until the 21st of April, the

court adjourned to the United States. It con

tinued its sessions at New Orleans, Louisville,

Frederic, and Washington, and finally closed and

submitted its finding and opinion on the 1st of

July, 1849. The substance of them is contained

in the following closing paragraphs :

" On reviewing the whole case, it will be seen

that the points on which the conduct of General

Pillow has been disapproved by the court are his

claiming, in certain passages of the paper No. 1,

* Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 3. t Idem, p. 5-10. t Idem, p. 11.

" No. 1," a paper furnished at the request of one Treaner by General

Pillow, containing memoranda concerning the battle of Contreras not origin

ally published in newspapers. See Executive Document, No. 65, Senate,

first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 389.
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and in his official report of the battles of Contreras

and Churubusco, a larger degree of participation in

the merit of the movements appertaining to the

battle of Contreras than is substantiated by the

evidence, or he is entitled to
;
and also the lan

guage above quoted, in which that claim is re

ferred to in a letter to General Scott."^
" But as the movements actually ordered by Gen

eral Pillow at Contreras on the 19th were emphati

cally approved by General Scott at the time, and

as the conduct of General Pillow in the brilliant

series of operations carried on to such triumphant
issue by General Scott in the valley of Mexico ap

pears by the several official reports of the latter

and otherwise to have been highly meritorious

from these and other considerations, the court is of

opinion that no further proceedings against Gen
eral Pillow in the case are called for by the in

terest of the public service."!

Thus far the court went in reference to the con

duct of General Pillow, but it was not its duty,

nor did it attempt to express an opinion or to give

the facts which were elicited concerning the con

duct of his prosecutor. In the previous portions

of the finding, every serious accusation and charge

against Pillow was reported as not substantiated.

But while the prosecutor had failed in proving the

authorship of any published letter from the de-

*
Correspondence. Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representa

tives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 1019.

t Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress, p. 335.
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fendant, or those immediately connected with him,

the latter had proved that five different productions

had been written by officers of the staff of the gen-

eral-in-chief, all highly laudatory of him, and of

which two were with his knowledge and consent

written for publication.^ The first of these was

an introduction to a series of intercepted Mexican

letters from the pen of Lieutenant-colonel Hitch

cock, and contained laudations of nobody else but

General Scott. He stated that he gave authority

for it, and once that, had the printer's account been

presented, he would have paid it out of public

money; and this had been published before the

issue of General Order No. 349, in which self-puff

ing was so strongly and justly condemned ! The

second of them was written in January, 1848, by
the same person, who read the greater portion of it

to General Scott, and with his knowledge sent it

to a friend in the United States, who was expect
ed to use the material of it for publications of his

own. The friend was a violent partisan, and pub
lished it entire, by which the authorship was dis

played. The letter was full of mendacious abuse

of Worth, Pillow, and Duncan, and of the most

scurrilous character. The attempt to prejudice the

public mind in the United States against officers

already in arrest and awaiting trial was one which

required little reflection to be condemned, as it

*
Testimony of General Scott, Captain Huger, Captain Lee, and Lieuten

ant-colonel Hitchcock. Executive Document, No. 65, Senate, first Session

of the thirtieth Congress, p. 48, 49, 55, 89.
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was, by many, if not all of the respectable officers

of the army.
The whole effect of the proceedings of the court,

and of the testimony elicited before it, which was

published as it was given, was to clear the fame

of General Pillow from the cloud which for a time

had rested upon it, on account of the vindictive

abuse of a party press and the scandalous nature

of the charges, backed as they were by the pres

tige of the general-in-chief of the victorious Amer
ican army. They too produced the impression,

and truly, that the whole affair of the different

quarrels had its origin in unfounded suspicions and

jealousy on the part of the general-in-chief, and

that the army and the country had been disturbed

by a scandalous quarrel without any reasonable

cause, to the injury of the reputation of the service.

Another effect which was probably produced, and,

if it were, it was one of great import to the prose

cutor, was, that the Whig party dropped the serious

consideration of his name as the candidate for the

presidency.

General Scott's subsequent letters to the depart

ment, being received at Washington after the let

ter of supersedure had been sent, were, of course,

unanswered except in one instance. Soon after he

was relieved from the command (February 20th,

1848), he addressed a lengthy epistle of complaint
to Mr. Marcy, in which his wrongs and grievances
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were recounted in extenso, in no very respectful

manner. This production was called for by the

Whig House of Representatives for publication.

The call brought it out, but it also brought out Mr.

Marcy's reply, which was so complete a vindica

tion of his conduct that the effect of the complaints
in the letter of General Scott was absolutely worse

than nothing for the benefit of himself or of his

partisans.^

The treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo wras received

at Washington about the 20th of February. The
result of the unauthorized action on the part of Mr.

Trist had not been seriously anticipated, and it was

not without a full sense of the various extraneous

circumstances which had attended the conclusion

of the treaty, that the matter was considered by the

President. Nevertheless, as the commissioners on

the part of Mexico had been duly authorized to

act by the existing government, and as they had

acted with a full knowledge of the recall of Mr.

Trist, it was believed that the treaty was as far

binding upon Mexico as an unratified treaty could

be. Of course it was not upon the United States,

in any manner, without the action of constitutional

authority.

The terms of the treaty were in many things

the same as those contained in the projet original

ly carried out by Mr. Trist, so far as related to

boundary. By them the territories of New Mexi-

*
Correspondence. Executive Document, No. 60, House of Representa

tives, first Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 1218-1270.
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co and Upper California were given to the United

States, and Mexico relinquished all claim to Texas

or the country between the Nueces and the Rio

Grande. In consideration of the extension ac

quired by the boundaries of the northern republic,

Mexico was to receive the sum of fifteen millions

of dollars, to be paid by installments, and in addi

tion to this, the United States were to. assume the

debt owed by Mexico to their citizens. The gross

amount allowed was, with this addition to the fif

teen millions to be paid, nearly twenty millions of

dollars. The treaty was encumbered with certain

stipulations concerning the grants of land made by
Mexico within the ceded territories and Texas, and

others concerning protection to be given from the

Indians to the northern frontiers of Mexico. An
additional and secret article gave the right of de

lay in the ratification, in case it were impossible

for Mexico to comply with the stipulation contain

ed in the treaty itself.

After some time spent in consideration, Mr. Polk

determined to refer the matter to the Senate, and

on the 23d of February sent the treaty in. His

accompanying message was one of reference rather

than of recommendation, but in regard to the arti

cles relating to grants of land and to Indian pro

tection, as well as the secret article, it was sub

mitted whether they should not be rejected.

The committee of the Senate on foreign relations

reported the treaty without amendment on the

28th of February, and it at once became the sub-
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ject of discussion in secret session. It was violent

ly opposed for many reasons, but was finally rati

fied, March 10th, 1848, by the vote of thirty-eight

yeas to fourteen nays, with amendments which

obviated the difficulties presented in the articles

referred to.^ This having been done, the legisla

tive action of the United States in regard to the

treaty was accomplished. For consummating the

measure and exchanging the ratifications, which

was permitted by one of the amendments to take

place at the seat of the Mexican government in

stead of at Washington, Messrs. Sevier and Clif

ford were appointed commissioners. They pro

ceeded at once to Mexico, and by the time of their

arrival, the government of that republic had made
some progress toward such an establishment that it

could take action in the matter of the ratification.

The military operations which had taken place

while General Butler held command of the army
in Mexico were but operations against the gueril

las on the route of communication, and within

striking distance of the capital. Of these the most

important was one under General Lane, directed

against Padre Jarauta. Lane marched from Mex
ico on the 17th of February, with a command of

some four hundred men, dragoons, rifles, and Texan

rangers. Taking unfrequented and sometimes cir-

* Executive Document, No. 52, Senate, first Session of the thirtieth Con

gress.
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cuitous routes, he advanced on Tulancingo, where

he hoped to surprise General Paredes and Jarauta,

who had lately been there with his party. Lane

entered the town on the 22d, hut Jarauta had left

three days before. Paredes had remained and bare

ly escaped capture. In a few days information

was received that Jarauta was in position at Se-

qualteplan, a town in the mountains, seventy-five

miles north of Tulancingo. By a forced march that

distance was accomplished, and the place reached

by daybreak on the 25th.

The Texans entered the town at a gallop, and,

having received a fire from a quartel on the out

skirts, continued on and engaged the enemy with

in it. Polk's dragoons and rifles came up and took

up the affair at the first quartel, from which the

enemy was soon routed with loss. The fight was

kept up for some time in the streets, but finally

the whole guerilla, sorely cut up and dispersed,

took refuge in flight. One hundred and twenty
Mexicans fell in the affair, which had the effect of

putting a stop to Jarauta's operations, either in a

military or plundering way, for some time. The

Americans had six men wounded.^

In some manner, during the continuance of the

engagement, fire was communicated to the thatch

ed roofs of some houses, and the whole village was

soon in flames. Various excesses were committed

by the troops in the confusion, which were not

* General Lane's Official Report. Executive Document, No. 1, Senate,

second Session of the thirtieth Congress, p. 95.
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very vigorously repressed, and gave good ground

for bitter complaints on the part of Mexican in

habitants. Lane returned to Mexico on the 1st of

March, and the armistice prevented any future

operations.

The American army remained in the positions

which it held at the conclusion of the convention,

and, saving its occupation, Mexico was as much in

peace as that distracted country usually is. The

diligences were placed upon the roads, business

was brisk, as the merchants hastened to make the

most of the American tariff, and the anticipation

of the speedy ratification of the treaty was enter

tained by many. Nevertheless, there were as many
who seriously doubted whether it would be ratified

by the Mexican Congress in time to be exchanged
at Washington on the 2d of June, as was general

ly understood to be necessary for its validity.

The elections which were held during the armis

tice resulted in the choice of General Herrera as

the president, and the election of the full number
of deputies. As before, however, the latter were

exceedingly dilatory in assembling at Queretaro,

and it was not.until the 3d of May that a quorum
of Congress was present. Pena y Pena delivered

his message to the Senate and deputies in person,

in which he strongly urged upon them the import
ance of acting upon the treaty, which was to de

cide the fate of Mexico as a nation. The reply of
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Elloriaga, the president of the Congress, was of a

complimentary nature to the Provisional President,

and so far was indicative of the predominance of

peaceful policy, though necessarily it could not be

looked upon as an index of action.

The first business to be transacted was the elec

tion of a provisional president, for the official votes

were not all in. Those of one state had doubtless

been delayed in order to relieve the incoming ad

ministration from any responsibility of the treaty,

and to leave it, as well as any advantages, with

that of Pena y Peiia, which was already compro
mised. Pena y Peiia was elected to serve for the

short period, and the treaty was laid before Con

gress on the 10th of May.
The same evening there were various indica

tions of a pronunciamiento, and, in consequence,

the troops present at the temporary capital were or

dered immediately under arms. The disturbance,

however, proved to be nothing, and, inasmuch as

Congress had met, every thing was favorable to

the ratification. The government had made a

forced loan for the purpose of defraying certain ex

penses attending the action of Congress to the

amount of one hundred and fifty thousand dollars,

and doubtless some refractory members were in

duced to give their support to the treaty by the

means of it. The sentiment of the country about

this time took a turn in favor of peace. Paredes,

Almonte, and Jarauta were moving about the

states of the north, and endeavoring to keep up the
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war excitement
;
but they were too late, and their

efforts produced no positive action.

After a lengthy and fiery discussion, on the 19th

of May the treaty was ratified by the deputies of

the Mexican Congress by a vote of fifty-one to

thirty-five. Upon the receipt of this intelligence,

Messrs. Sevier and Clifford at once left Mexico for

Queretaro. They arrived there on the 24th, and

on the same day the treaty was ratified by the

Senate by a vote of thirty-three to four. The

treaty was complete, and on the 30th the respect

ive ratifications of the two governments were ex-O

changed. But this did not take place until a dis

cussion of the matter and an explanation, called

for by Rosa, had obtained from Messrs. Sevier and

Clifford an unauthorized "protocol" concerning cer

tain articles affecting titles of land and the rights

of Mexican citizens in the ceded territories. This
"
protocol," though not sufficient to affect the valid

ity of the treaty, was yet sufficient to raise some

excitement at an after period. The war, however,
ceased from the date of the exchange of the ratifi

cations.

The certainty of the event being known at the

head-quarters of the army, General Butler an

nounced on the 29th of May that the wrar was

ended, and that the object of it a treaty of peace

just and honorable to both nations had been duly
ratified. In the same orders, the directions for the

conduct of the homeward march were issued.

Preparations had for some time been in progress,



40 THE WAR WITH MEXICO.

and the troops at the different outposts at Toluca,

Cuernavaca, and Pachuca were ordered in. Pat

terson's volunteers marched from the capital for

Vera Cruz on the 30th of May, and the other di

visions followed from time to time.

On the morning of the 12th of June the Ameri

can guards were relieved by troops of the Mexican

army, and the American flag on the palace was

struck, under a salute from Mexican batteries.

The Mexican standard was run up with the like

compliment, and immediately after, Worth's divi

sion, the rearmost of the army, marched from the

capital. It was at once occupied by the Mexican

troops, and the functionaries of the government en

tered it on the same day.

As the different columns of the American army
arrived at Jalapa, they halted to await the prepara
tion of transports at Vera Cruz, and as they were

ready, marching quickly through the tierra ca-

liente, sailed thence for the United States. The
evacuation of the northern as well as of the south

ern line was rapidly accomplished, and during the

month of July the territory of Mexico was entirely

freed from the presence of the invading army.
The volunteers were discharged from the service

upon their return, the regiments of the regular

army for the war were disbanded according to the

law of their organization, and the veteran regi

ments of the line, or such of them as were left

after the continued scenes of battle from first to

last which they had gone through, were scatter-
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ed at the different posts throughout the United

States.

By this war the United States acquired an im

mense extent of territory, of which the value and

consequence are yet to be developed. It is too

soon to tell the effect to be produced by the acqui

sition. Such consequences as have followed it

immediately could in no manner have been im

agined or foretold. Difficulties have followed as

they invariably follow the consummation of all

human desires, either personal or national. Party

strife has found abundant aliment in the various

questions which have arisen concerning the dispo

sition of the conquest. The discovery of the aston

ishing amount of gold within its limits has already

given scope for the exercise ofhuman avarice, which

may prove, as in other days and under other cir

cumstances, most eminently disastrous. But the

effects remain to be seen, for the wisest statesmen

are seldom aright in their predictions of conse

quences which are to flow from such causes as al

ready have existence. Certainly it would be no

easy matter to foretell them in this age of ever-

changing progression, when the world is continual

ly convulsed, and event follows event with such

startling rapidity. Some consequences, however,

are apparent, and, as the more immediate, may be

commented upon.

The uninterrupted success of the American arms

II. S s
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in the course of the war, and the conspicuous valor

of the troops, have raised the warlike reputation of

the nation to a higher degree than ever hefore it

had attained, notwithstanding the success which

often attended its armies and navies in conflicts

with those of the greatest power of the earth. The
success was indeed unexampled, and must forever

be a subject of congratulation. It has teen al

ready, and the glitter of military renown has been

seized and used by politicians for party purposes.

A victorious general has been elevated to the chief

magistracy of the country, in the admiration of the

people for military virtue, of which the popular
criterion is, and must be, military success. With

this, however, the good qualities of the individual

have exercised their influences. Not the least of

them is the single-hearted devotion to the service

of the country apparent in many of his deeds and

his official communications. Indeed, it may be be

lieved that to that he owes his elevation to the

proudest civil position of the western continent, if

not of the world. If so, in the effect there is proof

of the true method of obtaining the end of lauda

ble ambition. " Be just and fear not; let all the

ends thou aimest at be thy country's, thy God's, and

truth's." A course of conduct in accordance with

this precept has seldom failed of success, if success

were desired, and it failed not in the case of the

present President of the United States. To have

complied with it strictly would indeed have been

difficult, for no man is or can be sufficiently free
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from the faults and follies of human nature to ful

fill the requirements. Errors were undoubtedly
committed in the action of the general in his con

duct of the war, which have been noticed in the

foregoing narrative, as they appeared to the author.

But his military operations were successful in their

despite, and when taken in connection with the

popular belief in his patriotism, all of them were

overlooked. Statesmen and generals were cast

aside, and, being nominated, the power of his pop

ularity gave the Whig party a president. He has

appeared upon the public stage in a new character,

and upon his action, yet to be accomplished, the

world and his countrymen will pronounce a judg
ment in future days.

The military operations of the war, whether upon
the northern or southern lines, or in the distant

portions of the country of Mexico, have their chief

recommendation in the bravery and hard fighting

of the army. System was wanting throughout,
and the various difficulties and inconveniences in

separable from the policy of the United States, in

depending upon a volunteer or temporary army in

any war, were fully apparent. The latter caused

faulty action on the part of the authorities at

Washington, and this, undoubtedly, to some extent,

caused the various errors of the different generals.

All errors combined made the army throughout
most of the operations but little more than a for

lorn hope in numerical strength, and left it unsup-

plied with many necessaries in material.
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The causes of its triumphs, when laboring under

many disadvantages, must be looked for in the

character of the troops and in the various moral

deficiencies on the part of the enemy. The bravery
of the army did much, and its action astonished

the world
; yet it must not be supposed that, had

it not been aided by the peculiar state of the Mex
ican nation, it could ever have achieved such tri

umphs. Aided as it was, its operations were of a

peculiar nature, and, save in some of the details

and minor movements, can never be safely quoted
as military precedents, except in case of hostilities

on the same field and under similar circumstances.

It may be that, at some future day, the cause of

some of the evils confidently predicted by Mexi
cans as necessarily befalling the United States in

consequence of the war, will be found in the very
success of their armies

;
for if the same system is

pursued in a conflict with another power, if the

same tardiness in preparation at the outset, the

same disregard of the military art, and the same

rash enterprise characterize the conduct of the war

as characterized that of the war with Mexico on

the part of government and generals, disasters, and

those, too, of a serious nature, must inevitably en

sue. The duty of preparation will be a new one

when presented to the government, and in case of

the occurrence of the contingency, it will remain

to be seen whether the wisdom of a future Con

gress, the energy of a future executive, and the

bravery and discipline of a future army, can main-
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tain the reputation for warlike prowess which has

heen gained.

The conduct of the war on the part of the United

States, in so far as it was carried on in accordance

with the requirements of the spirit of the age in

favor of humanity to non-combatants, and the

treatment of conquered enemies, was remarkable.

But few instances can he stated where the conduct

of officers and soldiers in this regard was discredit

able to their country. The example was not fol

lowed by Mexican authorities or people, and their

conduct in the few events of their success was such

as still further to degrade the national character.

But the effect of the war upon Mexico has been

and will continue to be greatly beneficial. The

first great apparent good is that the prestige of the

army of the country, which had been such an in

cubus from the time of its independence, and ever

so ready an instrument in the hands of factious of

ficials for raising pronunciamientos and discords,

has been entirely swept away. It now appears in

its true colors both at home and abroad, worthless

and imbecile as it really is, and can hardly ever

regain the preponderance in national affairs which

it enjoyed before the war.

That this has been the case is demonstrated by
the comparative quietude which has existed in

Mexico since the conclusion of peace, and the at

least apparent stability of a government adminis

tered upon something like republican principles.

The intercourse with citizens of the United States,
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which has been one of the consequences of the

war, can not be otherwise than beneficial to Mex

ico, and it may be that in future time she will

truly follow the example of the northern republic.

But before that time the superstition of her people

must be eradicated. The primary causes for that

end may have had place already, and the event

will be gradually developed, if the improvement
of the world is to be accomplished, to an extent,

by the regeneration of Mexico. Otherwise the

temporary benefits which she may have derived

will soon be overshadowed by the clouds of super

stition, and domestic difficulties and foreign wars

will continue until the last of the Spanish-Mexi

can race shall have passed away.
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No, 1,

Memoranda concerning Chalco route, given on the \Mh of Au

gust by Capt. R. E. Lee, of the Engineers, at the time on duty

at Gen. Scott's quarters, and subsequently acting chief engi

neer of the army, to Capt. James L. Mason, of the Engineers,

on duty with Gen. Worth, for the guidance of the latter in his

movement around Lake Chalco.

"From Chalco to Tuiscingo, about four miles, the road is repre

sented good. The causeway, about five miles long, from Tuiscingo

to Tuliahualco, though probably partially under water, is prac
ticable. The road passing south of the lake between those points

is represented to be rough, and longer. From Tuliahualco you

can communicate with the north side of the lake by the cause

ways leading to San Francisco, and by a good road to Istapalapa

or Ayotla. The causeway is partially submerged with water,

though practicable for foot or cavalry.
" There is said to be a direct road from Tuliahualco to San

Augustin, though rough. A smoother road, if not interrupted by
the rise of the lake, passes near the border of the lake to Xocho-

milco, a village of six or eight thousand inhabitants
; by keeping

the boats abreast of the column, the communication with the north

side of the lake can be kept up to that point.
" From Xochomilco the road is said to turn off from the lake

toward San Augustin, and places you upon the main Acapulco
road to the city of Mexico. There may probably be a route near

er the lake shore, by which the communication with the north

shore maybe continued until the rear of Mexicaldngo* is reached."
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Ko, 2,

LIEUT. COL. DUNCAN'S REPORT OF HIS RECONNAISSANCE.

"
Chalco, Mexico, August 14th, 1847.

"
GENERAL, I have the honor to submit the following report

in relation to the route between this point and Tuliahualco, a re

connaissance of which I have just completed.
" The road from Chalco to Tuliahualco passes around Lake

Chalco, along the base of the hills that form the valley ;
it passes

through the villages of Tuiscingo, Tesumpa, Tetelco, San Juan,

and Tuliahualco
;
there are several other small villages and ha

ciendas within a short distance, say one or two miles from the

road
;
the road is not only practicable, but, as a whole, excellent,

and, as far as the reconnaissance was made, not easily obstructed

or defended. All accounts agree that the road from Tuliahualco

to San Augustin is good, and every indication showed that this

road must even be better than the part included in the reconnais

sance.

" From Tuliahualco to San Augustin is differently estimated

from three and a half to four leagues, say ten miles at most.

" I left this place with an infantry command at five o'clock this

morning, and returned at two P.M.
;
the distance from Chalco to

Tuliahualco is about five leagues.
" The reconnoitering party consisted of twenty-five dragoons

and three hundred and thirty foot, rank and file, supported by a

command of three hundred men stationed at Tuiscingo, and an

other command of three hundred in supporting distance of the

Tuiscingo command.
" I saw some cattle on the slope of the hills, though not very

many. The road passes through a fertile region, and must furnish

ibrage in abundance [dry forage]. Grain was inexhaustible. I

made few inquiries in relation to supplies of any kind, for reasons

unnecessary to mention.

"
Very respectfully, your most obedient servant,

(Signed)
" JAMES DUNCAN,

" Brevet Lieutenant Colonel.

"
Major-general Worth," &c., &c.
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No. 3.

CIRCULAR LETTER TO GENERAL OFFICERS.

"Head-quarters of the Army, Tacubaya, August 31st, 1847.

" GENERAL, I am instructed by the general-in-chief to say

that, although he has full confidence in the faith of the Mexican

government, yet he has reason to believe that, at a meeting of

general officers in the city of Mexico yesterday, the project of

breaking the armistice was discussed, with a view, perhaps, of at

tacking some one of our divisions.

"
Although the general-in-chief does not consider this a probable

event, yet he desires your division to be held compact, that it may
be prepared for any contingency.

"
I am, very respectfully,

" Your obedient servant,

(Signed)
" H. L. SCOTT, A. A. A. G.

"
Major-general Pillow, U. S. Array, Commanding Third Division."

No, 4,

GENERAL ORDERS, No. 279.

"
Head-quarters of the Army, Tacubaya, September 7th, 1847.

" All the corps of the army will be approximated as soon as

practicable, for a. united attack, by different approaches, upon the

capital.

"For this purpose, the sick and wounded, the spare means of

transportation, tents and stores of Quitman's and Twiggs's divis

ions, will be placed in general hospital and dep6t at Miscoaque
without delay, when those divisions will respectively evacuate San

Augustin and San Angel, and march to the general dep6t to re

ceive instructions.

"It is expected that Quitman's division will be at the general

depot by twelve o'clock to-morrow.
" Some time this evening, about six o'clock, Twiggs will advance

a brigade by the San Angel road to within two or three miles of

the city. He will receive particular instructions for this brigade,

and also for the hour of evacuating, to-morrow, San Angel, which
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will probably be after Major-general Quitman has passed toward

Miscoaque.
"
Miscoaque will be the general hospital and depot of Pillow's

division also, who will this evening re-enforce the hacienda now

occupied by the 15th infantry on the Piedad road. This post,

and the brigade advanced on the San Angel road, will communi

cate with each other freely.

Major-general Pillow will command those advanced forces, and

cause one of his brigades to be at the archbishop's palace, Tacu-

baya, at seven o'clock this evening, there to report to Major-gen

eral Worth. All the troops to be advanced this evening may be

out the whole night.
"
By command of Major-general SCOTT.

(Signed) H. L. SCOTT, A. A. A. G."

THE END.
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